
 
 

(Established pursuant to section 103 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development  
and Construction Act 2009 as the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton  

and Wirral Combined Authority) 

 
MEETING OF THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION  

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

 
 
To: The Members of the Audit and Governance Committee 
 
Dear Member, 
 
You are requested to attend a meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee 
to be held on Wednesday, 28th July, 2021 at 2.00 pm in the Authority 

Chamber - No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP. 
 
The meeting will be live webcast. To access the webcast please go to the 
Combined Authority’s website at the time of the meeting and follow the 
instructions on the page. 
 
If you have any queries regarding this meeting, please contact Shauna Healey 
on telephone number (0151) 330 1086. 
 

Yours faithfully 

 
Chief Executive  

 
WEBCASTING NOTICE 

 
This meeting will be filmed by the Combined Authority for live and/or 
subsequent broadcast on the Combined Authority’s website. The whole of the 
meeting will be filmed, except where there are confidential or exempt items.  
 
If you do not wish to have your image captured or if you have any queries 
regarding the webcasting of the meeting please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer on the above number or email 
democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk.  
 
 A Fair Processing Notice is available on the Combined Authority’s website at 
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-
Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf 
 

 

mailto:democratic.services@merseytravel.gov.uk
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf


 

 

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

GOVERNANCE 
 

1. APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR  

 To appoint a Chair of the Committee.  
 

   

2. APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIR  

 To appoint a Vice-Chair of the Committee.  
 

   

3. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

   

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

   

5. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  

 To consider the minutes of the last meeting held on 03 March 2021.  
 

  (Pages 1 - 4) 

6. CYCLE OF MEETINGS AND FORWARD PLAN 2021-22  

 To consider a report of the Monitoring Officer providing Members with the 
cycle of meetings and forward plan for 2021-22. 
 

  (Pages 5 - 10) 

7. INSURANCE CLAIMS REVIEW  

 To consider a report of the Deputy Chief Legal Officer providing a review 
of personal injury and motor insurance claims for the period 1st July 2020 - 
30 June 2021. 
 

  (Pages 11 - 16) 

INTERNAL AUDIT 
 

8. INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE  

 To consider a report of the Head of Internal Audit providing an overview of 
the internal audit work completed in respect of the Combined Authority in 
the fourth quarter of 2020-21, in accordance with the Internal Audit Plan 
2020-21, and the first quarter of 2021-22, in accordance with the Internal 



 

 

Audit Plan 2021-22. 
 

  (Pages 17 - 54) 

9. RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE  

 To consider a report of the Head of Internal Audit providing an update in 
respect of the system of corporate risk management and the activity that 
has been undertaken in embedding this system during the fourth quarter of 
2020-21 and first quarter of 2021-22.  
 

  (Pages 55 - 92) 

10. HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL REPORT AND OPINION 2020-21  

 To consider a report of the Head of Internal Audit providing the Head of 
Internal Audit’s Annual Report and Opinion in respect of Liverpool City 
Region Combined Authority for the financial year 2020-21.  
 

  (Pages 93 - 124) 

11. CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  

 To consider a report of the Head of Internal Audit providing the updated 
Code of Corporate Governance for the approval of the Committee. 
 

  (Pages 125 - 152) 

FINANCE 
 

12. LCR COMBINED AUTHORITY EXTERNAL AUDIT 2020-21 AUDIT 
STRATEGY  

 To consider a report of the Executive Director of Corporate Resources to 
provide Members of the Committee with details of the proposed audit 
approach to be adopted by the Authority's external auditors, Mazars, for 
the audit of the 2020-21 financial statements. 
 

  (Pages 153 - 192) 

13. LCRCA STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2020/21  

 To consider a report of the Executive Director of Corporate Resources to 
provide the Members of the Audit and Governance Committee with a copy 
of the draft LCRCA Statement of Accounts 2020/21 for their consideration 
 

  (Pages 193 - 326) 

14. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS  

   
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 
 

 
 

At a remote meeting of the Audit & Governance Committee held in the 
Authority Chamber - No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP on Wednesday, 3rd 
March, 2021 the following Members were 
 

P r e s e n t: 
 
Councillor Edna Finneran Overview and Scrutiny Committee  Knowsley MBC 
Councillor Christine Howard Overview and Scrutiny Committee Sefton MBC 
Councillor Helen Cameron Overview and Scrutiny Committee Wirral BC 
Councillor John Pugh Overview and Scrutiny Committee Sefton MBC 
Councillor David Baines LCRCA St Helens BC 
 
 
30. APOLOGIES  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Maher, Morgan, Watson, 
Whitley and Williamson. 
 
31. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest received for this meeting.  
 
32. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  
 
 Monitoring Officer, Jill Coule, provided the Committee with an update on the work of 
the standards review into the Code of Conduct. Officers had been working in concert 
with constituent authorities to secure an agreed version of the Code of Conduct and 
Members were advised that this had been achieved on Tuesday 2 March 2021. The 
recommended code was to be shared with Members to consider for adoption as part 
of the annual process. It was proposed that the Code of Conduct Task and Finish 
Group meet to consider the recommended code ahead of the Annual meeting in July.  
 
RESOLVED:-  
 
(a)  that the minutes of the last meeting held on 20 January 2021 be agreed as 

an accurate record; and 
 

(b) the Code of Conduct Task Group convene in March to consider adopting the 
recommended Code of Conduct.  
 
 

33. RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE  
 
 
Laura Williams, Head of Internal Audit provided the Committee with an update on risk 
management in the LCRCA.  
 
The report provided Members with an update on the Corporate Risk Register and 
ongoing activities taken to embed effective risk management in the organisation. It 
was explained that since the last meeting, there were some new and emerging risks 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



to consider such as updating the wording on Brexit risks to coincide with the end of 
the transition period. Work was also underway to consider risks relating to a 
recession arising from the impact of the pandemic and broadening the risk around 
funding streams and new projects like Freeports.  
 
The report highlighted the good progress that was being made across the 
organisation in terms of service area risk management. Section 4 of the report 
provided an update on the implementation of the recommendations from risk 
management audit and it was expected that the final outstanding recommendation 
would be closed later in the month.  
 
RESOLVED that :-  
 
(a) the progress made in embedding the system of corporate risk management 

into the organisation be noted; and 
 

(b) the refreshed Corporate Risk Register be noted.  
 
 

34. INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE  
 
The Committee were updated on activity undertaken by Internal Audit during the last 
quarter.  
 
Section 2 of the report outlined the six audits that had been completed in the period 
since the last meeting and Members’ attention was drawn to the positive opinions 
against those pieces of work  
 
With regards to the outstanding recommendations, Internal Audit were working with 
Heads of Service and Assistant Directors to progress these with a few still to be 
completed later in the month.  
 
Members were advised that the team had been working through a large volume of 
grant claims in the period and the team were also facilitating the governance 
assurance statements process for the organisation.  
 
It was explained that with the work in progress taken into consideration, completion 
of the plan stood at 89 per cent and the team were on track to deliver the plan in its 
entirety in line with the targets.  
 
Section 6.3 of the report considered the impact of the pandemic on the Head of 
Internal Audit’s ability to provide a full opinion on the effectiveness of the governance 
of risk management. CIPFA had produced guidance for organisations on this issue 
but Laura Williams was confident that due to the positive completion of the plan, she 
would be in a position to provide an unlimited opinion in terms of scope.  
 
The Chair commended the Internal Audit team for their hard work and the good 
results that had yielded in the last quarter given the difficulties that had arisen from 
the pandemic.   
 
Councillor Cameron echoed the Chair’s comments and asked for further detail on the 
Rail Operator Stock Control audit in Table 9 of the report. That risk was associated 
with the tickets that rail operators sell on behalf of Merseytravel and the LCR 
Combined Authority at their stations. Traditionally, Internal Audit would attend 
stations and do a physical count of the stock but that had not been undertaken for 

Page 2



this year to ensure staff members were not put at risk during the pandemic. The work 
had therefore been moved to next year’s plan with the Audit team considering how to 
undertake the work without a physical visit if possible.  
 
Councillor Howard noted that there were recommendations that had been delayed 
and missed the implementation date in the Plan and queried if any root cause 
analysis had taken place to prevent it happening again in the future. Laura Williams 
advised that there had been a brief hiatus on audit prompts to Heads of Service at 
the start of the pandemic whilst departments focused on response. Internal Audit 
were in contact with managers about this issue and progress was being made in 
implementing outstanding recommendations and removing those that were no longer 
relevant.  
 
RESOLVED that :-  
 
(a) the outcomes of the audit work undertaken during the period of the report be 

noted; and 
 

(b) the progress made in the delivery of the approved Internal Audit Plan in 
respect of the Combined Authority be noted. 
 
 

35. INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN AND CHARTER 2021-22  
 
Laura Williams presented the Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2021-22 for 
consideration by the Committee.  
 
Members were advised that given the unprecedented circumstances that the 
organisation had found itself in over the last 12 months, flexibility had become a key 
part of the Internal Audit Plan.  
 
Section 4 of the report outlines the breakdown of audit days for the year and how 
these are split between the LCR Combined Authority and Merseytravel. Compared to 
the previous year there was a greater emphasis on the LCR Combined Authority 
which was reflective of its continue growth and increasing scope.  
 
RESOLVED that: -  
 
(a) the Internal Audit Plan 2021-22 be approved; and 

 
(b) the Internal Audit Charter 2021-22 be approved. 

 
 

36. LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES 2020/21  

 
Sarah Johnston, Assistant Director for Finance presented the Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority Accounting Polices for 202/21. 
 
It was noted that the accounting policies has not changed since the previous year 
due to there being no significant changes to the accounting standards or regulations. 
A streamlining process undertaken the year prior had also helped to ensure o 
changes were needed.  
 

Page 3



The Chair thanked the finance team for their hard work during the last 12 months and 
for presenting the information in an understandable way.  
 
RESOLVED that: -  
 
(a) the attached accounting policies and provide any comments thereon be 

noted; and 
 

(b) the attached accounting policies be approved.  
 
 

37. LIVERPOOL CITY REGION AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
ANNUAL REVIEW 2020-21  

 
The Committee were presented with a review of the Liverpool City Region Audit and 
Governance Committee for 2020-21. Shauna Phillips, Senior Democratic Services 
Office highlighted the key achievement in the report and the work plan for 2021-22. It 
was reported that any changes to the work plan would be made in consultation with 
the Chair, Vice-Chair, Head of Internal Audit and the Monitoring Officer. It was 
highlighted that the meetings for 2020-21 had been quorate the Members were 
thanked for their continued efforts and engagement over the last 12 months 
especially during the pandemic.  
 
The Chair thanked Democratic Services for their support during the move to remote 
meetings.  
 
RESOLVED that 
 
(a)  the Audit and Governance Committee Annual Review for 2020/21 at 

Appendix 1 be agreed and that any amendments/insertions be made in 
consultation with the Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, the Head of Internal 
Audit and the Monitoring Officer; and 
 

(b) the proposed programme of meetings and provisional work programme for 
the Audit and Governance Committee for 2021/22 at Appendix 1 be approved 
and that any amendments during the course of the new municipal year be 
made in consultation with the Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, the Head of 
Internal Audit and the Monitoring Officer. 

 
Minutes 30 to 37 received as a correct record on the 28 day of July 2021 
 

 

Chairperson of the Combined Authority 
 

(The meeting closed at 10:45am) 
 
 

 

Page 4



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:  The Chair and Members of the Audit & 

Governance Committee 
  
Meeting:  28 July 2021 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM:   No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER  
 

CYCLE OF MEETING AND FORWARD PLAN FOR 2021-22 

 
PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
 The purpose of the report is to provide Members of the Audit and Governance 

Committee with the cycle of meetings for the municipal year and the forward 
plan to demonstrate how the Committee will discharge its functions during 
2021/22. 
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 The Liverpool City Region Audit and Governance Committee is recommended 

to agree the proposed programme of meetings and provisional work 
programme for the Audit and Governance Committee for 2021/22 at Appendix 
1 and that any amendments during the course of the new municipal year be 
made in consultation with the Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, the Head of 
Internal Audit and the Monitoring Officer. 
 
 

BACKGROUND  
 
3.1  To enable the Audit and Governance Committee to discharge its functions as 

defined in its Terms of Reference in the LCRCA Constitution, the enclosed 
cycle of meetings and provisional work programme of core business is 
proposed at Appendix 1. 

 
3.2 In addition to the activities detailed in Appendix 1, during the year, the Audit 

and Governance Committee may also consider additional items of business 
within its remit, including, but not limited to; 

 
a) Reports and recommendations of external audit and inspection 

agencies and their implications for governance, risk management or 
internal control, where appropriate; 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



b) Review the effectiveness of the Authority’s risk management 
arrangements, Corporate Risk Register and Risk Management Strategy 
and policies; 

 
c) Review and consider the Authority’s Accounting Policies, Treasury 

Management arrangements and financial performance; 
 

d) Consider revisions to the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
Code of Corporate Governance and Assurance Framework, if required; 

 
e) Consider the Authority’s counter-fraud arrangements; 
 
f) Consider the Authority’s compliance with Public Sector Internal Audit 

Standards (PSIAS), the CIPFA Local Government Application Note 
(LGAN) and associated guidance and best practice; and 

 
g) Any other business proposed by the Chair, officers or Members of the 

Authority, as appropriate. 
 
 
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 

 There are no direct issues arising from this report which is for noting only. 
 

4.1 Financial 
 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.2 Human Resources 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.3 Physical Assets 
 

There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.4 Information Technology 
 

There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
 
 
EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

Page 6



 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
  There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
 

There are no potential privacy implications as a result of the recommendations 
of 
 this report 

 
CONCLUSION 
 
 The Combined Authority is required by law to ensure that adequate and 

effective internal audit arrangements are provided for. The proposed schedule 
of dates and forward plan of Committee activities outlined in this Report seek 
to ensure that legal and Constitutional obligations are met in respect of these 
requirements. 

 
 

JILL COULE  
Monitoring Officer  

 
 
Contact Officer(s): 
Dave Knott, Audit Manager, 0151 330 1122 
Shauna Phillips, Senior Democratic Services, 0151 330 1086 
 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 –Work Programme for 2021/22 
 
Background Documents:  
None 
 
 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 
Provisional Work Programme for 2021/22 
 
The Committee would like to propose the following provisional work programme for 
2020/21 
 

 
DATES 

 
AGENDA ITEMS 

 
28 July 2021 

 

 Appointment of the Chair  

 Appointment of the Vice-Chair 
 
Internal Audit 

 Internal Audit Update 

 Risk Management Update 

 Head of Internal Audit Annual Report 2020-21  
 

 
22 September 

2021 

 
Internal Audit 

  Internal Audit Update 

 Risk Management Update  

 Counter-Fraud Update 
Finance 

 Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Accounts 
2020-21 

 External Audit Plan  
Governance 

• Governance Update (Information Management – 
Breaches, Conduct and Complaints and Whistleblowing) 

 

 
24 November 
2021 

 
Internal Audit 

 Internal Audit Update 
 Risk Management Update 

 

 
19 January 2022 

 
Internal Audit 

 Internal Audit Update 

 Risk Management Update 

 Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2022-23  
Finance 

 Accounting Policies 2021-22 
 

30 March 2022 Governance 
Schedule of A&G Committee Dates & Forward Plan 

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:  The Chair and Members of the Audit and Governance 

Committee 
 
Meeting:     28 July 2021 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: Yes 
 
KEY DECISION   No 
 
 

REPORT OF DEPUTY CHIEF LEGAL OFFICER 
 

Insurance Claims Review – July 2021 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide a review of insurance claims for 
Merseytravel and the LCRCA during the period 1 July 2020 – 30 June 2021. 

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority: 
 

(a) Note the report; and 
(b) approve the submission of the report to the Audit & Governance Committee of 

the Combined Authority and to the Audit Risk and Governance Board of 
Merseytravel for their consideration. 
 

 
3. BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 This report has been prepared following a recommendation from the Head of 
Internal Audit which specifically requested that the following information be reported 
annually to the Audit & Governance Committee of the Combined Authority and the 
Audit Risk and Governance Board of Merseytravel:- 

 
(a) insurance claims received for the period 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021; 
(b) defensibility rates; 
(c) levels of fraudulent claims; and 
(d) any specific financial implications arising from the above. 

 
 
 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 7



 
3.2 Personal Injury Claims received for the period 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021 
  

8 personal injury claims were received in total during the year.  These are broken 
down into insured risk (7) and un-insured risk (1).  Details are set out in the 
Appendix to this report. 
 

3.3 Motor Claims received for the period 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021 
  

There have been 7 motor damage claims received in total during this period. These 
are broken down into fault claims (3) and non-fault (4) claims. Details are set out in 
the Appendix to this report. 
 

3.4 Defensibility Rates  
 

Out of the 8 personal injury claims made in this period 1 has been successfully 
rejected.  The defensibility rate so far in the past year was 12.5%.  There are a 
number of cases that are ongoing so the 12.5% may increase depending on the 
outcome of the other 7 that have arisen in the last year.  Often cases take a 
considerable time to resolve especially if they proceed to court.  Officers are also 
very challenging on costs claimed by solicitors. 

 
3.5 Levels of Fraudulent Claims 
 

There have been no known fraudulent claims. Insurers have a process in place to 
be able to recognise fraudulent claims to support the internal officers. 
 

3.6  Financial Implications of Claims 
 

The table below sets out damages paid out for personal injury claims during the 
period.  Reserve figures are also detailed.   

 

Claim ref Recommended 
Reserve 

Damages paid Costs Total 

RSN20879 £1,000 £6,800 £3,888 £10,618 

RSN21470 £0 £0 £0 £0 

RSN21494 £0 £0 £0 £0 

RSN22104 £0 £9,000 £0 £9,000 

 
The table below sets out damages paid out for motor damage claims during the 
period.  Reserve figures are also detailed 

 
 

Claim ref Recommended 
Reserve 

Damages paid Costs Total 

RSN21099 £1,000 ongoing £0 £0 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 12



 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial 
 

Details of claims paid out during the year are indicated in the table above.  There is 
currently an excess of £25k in respect of public liability and property damage 
insurance so any claims received below the excess are deemed self-insured. There 
is a nil excess for employers liability claims so all claims are paid for by insurers.   
Excess for motor damage claims is £5k so any claims below this are deemed self-
insured. There is no policy in place in respect of Industrial Disease claims prior to 
31 March 1986 so the organisation carries its own risk in this regard.  

 
4.2  Human Resources 
 

There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.3 Physical Assets 
 

There are no direct issues arising from this report.   
 
4.4 Information Technology 
 

There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.5     Programme Management Office (PMO) 
 

There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
6.  RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 

6.1 The organisation has an adequate insurance programme in place which mitigates 
the risks of significant claims against the organisation. All of the measures that have 
been implemented within the organisation have helped to keep these claims low on 
an annual basis. Out of the 7 personal injury claims received, only 4 are actual 
injury claims 2 are property damage and 1 is a claim for false imprisonment and 
assault. Out of the 7 motor damage claims reported 4 of them were non fault so any  
costs for damage to our vehicles will be recovered by the third party (where known). 

 
6.2 In order to mitigate the risks, feedback is provided to the relevant departments of 

the organisation to ensure that if there are any issues they can be remedied to 
prevent further claims.  

 
 
 
 

Page 13



 
7.  EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 There are no direct equality and diversity issues arising from this report.  
 
 
8. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 

 

There are no direct privacy implications arising from this report. 
 
 
9.  COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
  There are no direct communication issues arising from this report.  
 
10.  CONCLUSION 
 

 A periodic review of claims received between 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021 has 
been undertaken. 
 
This report highlights the insurance claims received for this period, the defensibility 
rates, the levels of fraudulent claims and the financial implications of these. 

 
 
 

Louise Outram, 
Deputy Chief Legal Officer 

 
Contact Officer(s): 
Val Skelhorn, Senior Litigation Lawyer    0151 330 1705 
val.skelhorn@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
Joanna Sawyer, Corporate Communications Manager  0151 330 1129 
joanna.sawyer@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk  
 
Appendices: 
Appendix One – Schedule of Claims 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14

mailto:val.skelhorn@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:joanna.sawyer@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


 
APPENDIX 

SCHEDULE OF CLAIMS 

Policy Insured 
Risk 

Details Outcome 

Public liability Yes Claimant was injured when staff member drove over foot in scissor lift settled 

Public liability Yes Claimant tripped at Prescot Bus Station Layover area redirected 

Employer liability Yes Claimant alleges Noise Induced Hearing Loss   ongoing 

Public liability No Boundary Wall collapsed ongoing 

Public liability Yes Claimant vehicle damaged by tunnels sign Awaiting evidence 

Public liability Yes Claimant injured due to an electrical flash   ongoing 

Public liability Yes Claimant alleging false imprisonment, assault and battery by MTP  ongoing 

Public liability Yes Damaged Star Wars memorabilia at Spaceport exhibition Settled 

Motor claim Yes Employee collided with third party at junction  ongoing 

Motor claim Yes Employee vehicle hit in rear by third party vehicle  settled 

Motor claim Yes Employee mis-fuelled own vehicle  settled 

Motor claim Yes Third party collided with employee vehicle settled 

Motor claim Yes Employee hit third party while doing 3 point turn ongoing 

Motor claim Yes Third party reversed into employee vehicle  ongoing 

Motor claim Yes Third party caused damage to unattended employee vehicle ongoing 

 
 
 
 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:  The Chair and Members of the Combined Authority 

Audit and Governance Committee 
  
Meeting:  28 July 2021 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  None 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE  
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
 The purpose of this report is to provide the Liverpool City Region Combined 

Authority (LCRCA) Audit and Governance Committee with an overview of the 
internal audit work completed in respect of the Combined Authority in the fourth 
quarter of 2020-21, in accordance with the Internal Audit Plan 2020-21, and the 
first quarter of 2021-22, in accordance with the Internal Audit Plan 2021-22. 

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Audit and Governance Committee 

is recommended to: 
 

(a) Note the outcomes of the audit work undertaken during the period of the 
report; and 
 

(b) Note the progress made in the delivery of the approved Internal Audit Plan 
in respect of the Combined Authority. 

 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
 So as to support the Committee in the discharge of its duties according to its 

Terms of Reference, the report details the work undertaken by the Internal Audit 
service in respect of LCRCA in the fourth quarter of 2020-21 and first quarter of 
2021-22.  The report highlights the following key points: 

 
(a) A summary of Internal Audit Plan delivery for the period; 
 
(b)  Details of work undertaken, and key items of note in respect of corporate 

systems, LCRCA specific systems and Merseytravel specific systems; 
 

Page 17

Agenda Item 8



(c)  An update on internal audit performance with reference to the key 
performance indicators detailed in the Quality Assurance and 
Improvement Programme (QAIP);  

 
(d) An update on the counter-fraud work undertaken during the period; and 
 
(e)  An update on the service’s compliance with the Public Sector Internal 

Audit Standards (PSIAS). 
 
 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.2 Human Resources 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.3 Physical Assets 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.4 Information Technology 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.5 Programme Management Office (PMO) 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
5. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
 It is the responsibility of the LCRCA to establish effective arrangements for the 

management of risk.  Internal Audit reports highlight weaknesses which pose a 
risk to the achievement of the organisation’s objectives and the according 
recommendations assist in mitigating such risks.  Internal audit work is one strand 
of assurance regarding the effectiveness of the system of internal control and this 
can be utilised to inform the LCRCA’s view of organisational risk and its 
management. 

 
 
6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
7. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

Page 18



 
8. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
9. CONCLUSION 
 
9.1 Internal Audit has made positive progress in the period of this report to complete 

the delivery of the Internal Audit Plan 2020-21 and to deliver the Internal Audit 
Plan 2021-22.   

 
9.2 This report demonstrates how the provision of available Internal Audit resource 

has been utilised to provide appropriate assurance to the Combined Authority. 
 
 

LAURA A. WILLIAMS 
Head of Internal Audit 

 
 

Contact Officer(s): 
Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit   tel: 0151 330 1764 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A – Internal Audit Update  
 
Background Documents:  
None 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE 
 

 

 

Audit and Governance Committee 

28 July 2021 

 

Laura A. Williams MA CPFA 
Head of Internal Audit 

P
age 21



  
 

Internal Audit Update - LCRCA Page | 1 
 

Contents 
 
 

       Page 
 

1. Introduction             2 
 

2. Summary of Internal Audit Plan Delivery         3 
 

3. Corporate Systems            5 
 

4. Liverpool City Region Combined Authority: Specific Systems     12 
 

5. Merseytravel: Specific Systems         15 
 

6. Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme      18 
 

7. Fraud, Bribery and Corruption         22 
 

8. Public Sector Internal Audit Standards        26 
 

Appendices 
 

A - Internal Audit Plan 2021-22 Status Update       28 
B - Internal Audit Plan 2020-21 Status Update       30 
C - Internal Audit Organisational Risk Opinions and Recommendation Priority Levels       32   

           
   

       

P
age 22



  
 

Internal Audit Update - LCRCA Page | 2 
 

1.  Introduction 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide a summary of Internal Audit work completed in the fourth quarter of 2020-21 and first 

quarter of 2021-22, in respect of the Internal Audit Plans for 2020-21 and 2021-22.   
 
1.2 The report is prepared for the Audit and Governance Committee to facilitate the discharge of obligations as defined in its 

Terms of Reference to highlight the outcomes of Internal Audit work as a source of assurance on the effectiveness of the 
Combined Authority‟s governance, risk and internal control environment.   

 
1.3 Internal Audit is defined as: “an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve 

an organisation‟s operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach 
to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes.” (Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards 2017) 

 
1.4 The mission of Internal Audit is to: “To enhance and protect organisational value by providing risk-based and objective 

assurance, advice and insight”. 
 
1.5 This report includes: 
 

 A summary of Internal Audit Plan delivery for the period; 

 Details of work undertaken, and key items of note in respect of corporate systems, CA-specific systems and 
Merseytravel-specific systems; 

 An update on counter-fraud work undertaken during the period; 

 An update on internal audit performance with reference to the key performance indicators detailed in the Quality 
Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP); and 

 An update on the service‟s compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS). 
  

P
age 23



  
 

Internal Audit Update - LCRCA Page | 3 
 

2.  Summary of Internal Audit Plan Delivery 
 
2.1 Audits Completed  

  
2.1.1 In the period, twenty-two audits were completed. These are shown in Table 1 (those shown in italics are at draft stage): 
  

Audit Name 
Organisational 
Risk Opinion 

Corporate 
System 

LCRCA Merseytravel 

2020-21     

Mayoral Programme - Digital Minor Y   

Rolling Stock - Testing Programme Negligible   Y 

LEP Governance Annual Review n/a  Y  

Fast Tag Account Management Minor   Y 

CCTV Minor   Y 

Transforming Cities Fund n/a  Y  

Risk Management Minor Y   

Payroll Minor Y   

Capital Programme Minor Y   

Covid-19 Govt Funding Minor Y   

Bus Services - Contract Management (VFM) Minor   Y 

Mersey Ferries - Ticketing and Admissions Minor   Y 

Housing First  Moderate  Y  

Creditors (inc - BACS Application Management) Minor Y   

Investments - Pre-Payment Assurance Moderate  Y  

Mersey Ferries - Retail and Stock Reconciliation Minor   Y 

Active Travel Fund tbc   Y 

Rail Concession Agreements Minor   Y 

IT Service Desk Management Minor Y   

P
age 24



  
 

Internal Audit Update - LCRCA Page | 4 
 

Audit Name 
Organisational 
Risk Opinion 

Corporate 
System 

LCRCA Merseytravel 

     

2021-22     

LCRCA Annual Governance Statement Review 2020-21 n/a  Y  

MT Annual Governance Statement Review 2020-21 n/a   Y 

Tidal Power - Procurement Review Moderate  Y  
                                         Table 1 

 
 
2.1.2 Appendix A and B give a detailed breakdown of the Internal Audit Plans 2020-21 and 2021-22 respectively, showing the 

status of each item of audit work that was contained within the Plans as approved by the Committee.    
            

                                                                                                                                                                  

P
age 25



  
 

Internal Audit Update - LCRCA Page | 5 
 

3.  Corporate Systems 
 
3.1 Background 
  
3.1.1 Seven of the audits completed in the period were of corporate systems that are provided by Merseytravel to both 

Merseytravel and LCRCA.  Reporting of the outcomes from the audit work in these areas formally falls within the remit of the 
Merseytravel Audit, Risk and Governance Board, but as the LCRCA is a “recipient” of these services, the audit findings are 
also reported to the Audit and Governance Committee.  This is to provide assurance that the risks associated with these are 
being managed effectively.  

 
3.2 Organisational Risk Opinion  
 
3.2.1 All seven audits of Corporate Systems received an organisational risk opinion of “Minor”, which means that a satisfactory 

level of assurance on the effectiveness of the internal controls reviewed can be derived, and that the risk presented to the 
organisation by the recommendations made is at a low level.  

 
3.3 Recommendations of Note 
 
3.3.1 The audits finalised within the period identified two recommendations classed as “high priority”. 

3.3.2 These recommendations are detailed in Table 2: 

Audit Title Recommendation Action Planned by Management 

Application Control 
- Paxton 

The management of the Paxton system requires review 
and the following items must be addressed:  

 An appropriate number of Asset Management 
officers is determined who have administrative 
privileges for operating the system to ensure 
resilience; 

 training is provided for officers given administrative 

Review will be undertaken that will 
address all points detailed. 

P
age 26



  
 

Internal Audit Update - LCRCA Page | 6 
 

Audit Title Recommendation Action Planned by Management 

privileges on the system and training records are 
updated; and 

 administrative privileges are reviewed and removed 
from those officers that do not require them.  

 

Application Control 
- Paxton 

A contract/maintenance/support agreement should be 
established in respect of the Paxton software 
 

Maintenance agreement will be put in 
place 

        Table 2 

 
3.3.3 The implementation of recommendations is subject to ongoing monitoring and where dates of agreed action have passed 

and confirmation of implementation has not been received, Internal Audit contacts managers to establish progress, confirm 
actions completed or agree revised implementation dates, if appropriate.  

 
3.3.4 Table 3 provides a summary of progress in respect of the implementation of previous recommendations made in respect of 

corporate systems:  
 

P
age 27



  
 

Internal Audit Update - LCRCA Page | 7 
 

 
         Table 3 

  
3.3.5 Significant work has been undertaken with Assistant Directors/Heads of Service to encourage completion of outstanding 

recommendations, particularly those that are long-standing.  This has generated engagement and has prompted fresh focus 
and action on progressing the issues, and consequently a number of recommendations have been closed during the period. 

  

Year Department Auditable Area High Medium Completed In Progress Overdue High Overdue

Extension 

Requested and 

Agreed

Notes

2020-21 IT - Service Delievry Service Desk Management 0 3 0 3 0 n/a n/a

2020-21 Finance Creditors 0 3 0 3 0 n/a n/a

2020-21 Policy Development Covid-19 Govt Funding 0 1 0 1 0 n/a n/a

2020-21 Finance Capital Programme 0 1 0 1 0 n/a n/a

2020-21 HR Operations Payroll 0 5 0 5 0 n/a n/a

2020-21 IT Application Control - Mainsaver 0 5 5 0 0 n/a n/a

2020-21 IT - Governance Software Asset and License Management (FAST) 0 2 0 2 0 n/a n/a

2020-21 Procurement Procurement 0 2 2 0 0 n/a n/a

2020-21 IT Application Control - Paxton 2 12 3 11 0 0 n/a

2020-21 Legal Insurance Claims 4 0 2 2 0 0 n/a

2020-21 HR - Learning Staff Benefits 1 6 7 0 0 0 n/a

2020-21 HR Operations Covid-19 Safe Working Govt Guidance - Office Based Services 0 1 0 1 1 n/a No

2020-21 Finance Credit Cards 0 6 3 3 3 n/a No

2019-20 AM - Maintenance Delivery Wallasey Stores 4 15 16 3 3 0 Yes Extended date not yet expired

2019-20 AM - Technical Services Building Security 3 7 9 1 1 0 Yes Extended date not yet expired

2019-20 Corporate Commissioning 2 2 1 3 0 0 n/a

2019-20 Customer Delivery Ancillary Income and Debt Recovery 3 2 4 1 1 0 Yes

2019-20 Customer Delivery Business Continuity 5 14 6 13 11 2 Yes In discussion with dept

2019-20 Customer Operations (Tunnels) Tunnels Toll Recording and Reconciliation 0 4 4 0 0 n/a Yes

2019-20 Democratic Services Democratic Services 0 3 3 0 0 n/a n/a

2019-20 Finance Budget Monitoring 0 2 1 1 0 n/a n/a

2019-20 Finance Procurement Cards 1 5 5 1 1 1 Yes In discussion with dept

2019-20 HR - Operations Health and Safety 1 2 2 1 0 0 n/a

2019-20 HR - Operations Recruitment and Selection 2 10 0 12 12 2 Yes In discussion with dept

2019-20 HR - Strategy & Systems Time & Attendance 1 6 6 1 1 1 Yes In discussion with dept

2019-20 Internal Audit Risk Management 0 2 2 0 0 n/a n/a

2019-20 IT - Governance Internet Monitoring 0 3 2 1 0 n/a n/a

2019-20 IT - Governance Telephone Monitoring 0 5 5 0 0 n/a n/a

2019-20 IT - Service Delivery IT - Service Continuity 0 11 7 4 4 n/a Yes In discussion with dept

2019-20 Procurement Commissioning 2 2 1 3 0 0 n/a

2019-20 Procurement Procurement 0 1 0 1 1 n/a Yes Extended date not yet expired

2019-20 Programme Management Office PMO 0 10 9 1 1 n/a Yes In discussion with dept

2019-20 Research & Intelligence Corporate Performance Management 0 11 9 2 2 n/a Yes Extended date not yet expired

2018-19 Finance Main Accounting System - Income Reconciliation 1 8 7 2 2 0 Yes Extended date not yet expired

2018-19 HR - Operations Payroll 1 4 4 1 1 0 Yes In discussion with dept

2018-19 HR - Strategy & Systems Travel, Accommodation & Expenses 0 3 2 1 1 n/a Yes In discussion with dept

2018-19 IT - Governance IT - Information Security Policies 0 5 5 0 0 n/a n/a

2018-19 IT - Service Delivery IT - Cyber Security 3 10 11 2 2 0 Yes In discussion with dept

2018-19 IT - Service Delivery IT - IT Asset Control (CMDB) 0 6 5 1 1 n/a Yes Extended date not yet expired

2017-18 AM - Maintenance Delivery Fleet Management 3 20 19 4 4 1 Yes Extended date not yet expired

2017-18 HR / Legal Ethical Policy Framework 0 10 9 1 1 n/a Yes Extended date not yet expired

2017-18 Procurment Procurement 0 8 7 1 1 n/a Yes Extended date not yet expired

RecommendationsOrganisation

P
age 28



  
 

Internal Audit Update - LCRCA Page | 8 
 

3.3.6 A number of recommendations have had their implementation dates revised, and these are shown in the Comments column 
in table 3 above.  These movements have been the subject of discussions with internal audit, and the explanations provided 
were deemed to be reasonable.  However, there will be ongoing attention paid to these recommendations to ensure that 
timely implementation occurs.  

 
3.4 Corporate Governance 
 
3.4.1 LCRCA has put in place a Code of Corporate Governance as part of its Constitution. This is held on the intranet for ease of 

reference for staff. 
 

  3.4.2 In order to appraise the effectiveness of corporate 
governance and provide supporting evidence to inform the 
Annual Governance Statement (AGS), Internal Audit has 
conducted a review of the LCRCA‟s corporate governance 
arrangements. This has followed the mandatory 
CIPFA/SOLACE guidance “Delivering Good Governance in 
Local Government” (2016), which embodies the following 
Core Principles illustrated by the diagram, right. 

 
                                                                                                                                                                  “Delivering Good Governance in Local Government” (CIPFA/SOLACE) 2016 

 
3.4.3  The work covered the prescribed areas of governance as defined in the guidance, and engaged with all Heads of Service, 

Assistant Directors, Directors and the Chief Executive in gaining assurance that there is a comprehensive and effective 
system of governance in place. 

P
age 29



  
 

Internal Audit Update - LCRCA Page | 9 
 

 
3.4.4 This comprised the completion of a Governance Assurance Statement by each of these senior staff, in which they 

commented on the adequacy of the governance arrangements within their spheres of influence.  The arrangements 
described in these Statements were generally positive and highlighted an awareness of the principles of good governance.  
Also, positively, most respondents highlighted their wish to develop and improve their governance arrangements and 
identified actions to be taken over the next year to do so. 

 
3.4.5 The review has also encompassed a wider review of key aspects of the CIPFA/Solace guidance, particularly to look at areas 

of governance weakness suggested by the Liverpool City Council Best Value report, published in March 2021, and to 
highlight any areas in which the organisation can learn lessons and strengthen its governance so as to provide assurance 
that the organisation has responded to the report in a positive manner and taken the opportunity to reflect and learn. 

 
3.4.6 The following table highlights the key findings emanating from the review work undertaken.  It should be noted that there was 

no indication of any of the weaknesses being widespread across the organisation and/or any significant issues having 
materialised. However, it is felt that by highlighting such weaknesses now, it will help to foster an open and transparent 
culture, with the ability to take positive immediate action in response.  The risk exists that, should action not be taken now to 
respond to these weaknesses, „Significant Governance Issues‟ may materialise as a result. 

 

Key Findings from the Annual Governance Statement Review 2020-21 

 Not being fully compliant with the requirements of the Transparency Code. 

 A need to further enhance awareness and understanding in relation to the Seven Principles of Public Life (Nolan 
Principles) across the organisation (however, improvements have been seen since last year). 

 A need to enhance understanding of, and compliance with, the Gifts and Hospitality Policy. 

 A need to enhance understanding of, and compliance with, the Declarations of Interest Policy. 

 Completion of e-learning modules has, in general, been poor across the organisation.  However, a new system has 
been introduced, by People and Organisational Development, to help enhance the process and facilitate completion. 

 A lack of clarity as to whether all key partnerships have been formally approved at senior level (n.b. an email was sent 
to relevant managers following a request by the Chief Executive; to try to obtain clarity and understanding; however, 
limited responses have been received) 

 A lack of performance management information having been reported to Members.  It is anticipated the translation of 

P
age 30



  
 

Internal Audit Update - LCRCA Page | 10 
 

the Corporate Plan in to Service Plans (and further still within Individual Performance Plans), will need to be robustly 
monitored and reported against utilising appropriate measures.  

 A need to further strengthen controls in relation to evidence-based policy-making and understanding of implications and 
risk of decisions. 

 Managers raising concerns regarding staffing levels; and, as such, staffing and operations will need to be reviewed to 
ensure delivery of service objectives whilst maintaining adequate levels of internal control. 

 A need to enhance monitoring of completion of training identified within IPPs, and the potential impact of non-
completion of such training. 

 A need to ensure robust Service Risk Registers are in place and subsequently reviewed and updated following the 
publication of the updated Corporate Plan; with the highest scoring risks in Service Risk Registers being escalated for 
consideration for inclusion in the Corporate Risk Register; and that risks are properly considered in decision making / 
reports presented to decision makers. 

 A need to raise awareness and understanding of how to report a data breach. 

 A need to enhance compliance with the requirements of the Corporate Retention Policy. 

 A need to ensure directorate policies and procedures are fit for purpose and up to date. 

 A need to ensure Business Continuity Plan(s) are reviewed and updated. 
           Table 4 

 
3.4.7 The corporate Risk Group plays an important role in reviewing the emerging AGS Review findings generated by the work of 

Internal Audit.  In early 2020, the group agreed a broad set of principles/questions to be utilised in assessing and determining 
whether a finding should be considered as a „Significant Governance Issue‟. The agreed principles/questions cover whether 
the issue in question has: 

 Resulted in non-achievement of one or more of the LCRCA; and/or 

 Resulted in non-achievement of a core principle detailed within the CIPFA guidance; and/or 

 Resulted in widespread negative publicity; and/or 

 Emanated from a concern about a wrongdoing or malpractice in the workplace that has had a public interest aspect; 
and/or 

 Been raised by an external body/regulator as being of significant concern/high priority; and/or 

 Been raised by one of the organisation‟s statutory officers as being of significant concern/high priority; and/or 

 Required (or will continue to require) significant organisational resources to rectify. 

P
age 31



  
 

Internal Audit Update - LCRCA Page | 11 
 

 
The AGS findings were presented to the Risk Group in May 2021, and none were determined as being „significant‟ in nature.  
This was reported to the Director of Corporate Services who has responsibility for producing the AGSs.  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 32



  
 

Internal Audit Update - LCRCA Page | 12 
 

4.  Liverpool City Region Combined Authority: Specific Systems 
 
4.1 Background 
 
4.1.1 Six of the pieces of work completed in the period were of systems that are specific to LCRCA.  From a governance 

perspective, these fall entirely within the remit of the Audit and Governance Committee and would not be routinely reported to 
the Merseytravel Audit, Risk and Governance Board.  

 
4.2 Organisational Risk Opinion 
 
4.2.1 Three audits of LCRCA Specific Systems received an organisational risk opinion of “Moderate” meaning that there were 

significant weaknesses detected, and that the risk presented to the organisation by the recommendations made is at a 
moderate level.  

 
4.2.2 An opinion is not provided in respect of Governance reviews due to the nature of the work undertaken. 
 
4.3 Recommendations of Note 
 
4.3.1 The audits finalised within the period identified one recommendation classed as “high priority”. 

4.3.2 This recommendation is detailed in Table 5: 
 

Audit Title Recommendation Action Planned by Management 

Housing First A robust process of monitoring Safety and Inclusion 
Plans must be operational that ensures 100% of Plans 
are in place and are being reviewed within the 
necessary timescales; and that the quality of 
information contained within the Plan has been 
assessed, with corrective action taken, within the 
prescribed timescales.  Any existing system 

Response awaited 

P
age 33



  
 

Internal Audit Update - LCRCA Page | 13 
 

Audit Title Recommendation Action Planned by Management 

errors/anomalies should be rectified. 
 

                                 Table 5 
 
4.3.3 The implementation of recommendations is subject to ongoing monitoring and where dates of agreed action have passed 

and confirmation of implementation has not been received, Internal Audit contacts managers to establish progress, confirm 
actions completed or agree revised implementation dates, if appropriate.  

 
4.3.4 Table 6 provides a summary of progress in respect of the implementation of previous recommendations made in respect of 

corporate systems:  
 

  
        Table 6 

 
4.5 Grant Certification 
 
4.5.1 In the period since the last Internal Audit Update, the following grant claims shown in Table 7, were reviewed, so as to 

confirm compliance with grant conditions: 
  

Grant Name Number of Claims Audited 
2020-21 Q4 & 2021-22 Q1 

Value Audited 
(£) 

Careers & Enterprise 8  286,670  

Growth Hub 3  507,277  

Low Energy Hub 1  36,511  

Peer Networks 2  135,063  

SIF 20  6,862,843  

SIF - Pre-Development Funding 8  167,496  

Year Department Auditable Area High Medium Completed In Progress Overdue High Overdue

Extension 

Requested and 

Agreed

Notes

2020-21 Policy Coordination Housing First (VFM) 1 14 0 15 0 0 n/a

2020-21 LEP LEP Governance Annual Review 0 2 1 1 0 n/a n/a

2020-21 Mayoral Programme Delivery Mayoral Programme - Digital 0 8 7 1 0 n/a n/a

2019-20 Investment SIF2 Assurance Framework 0 1 0 1 0 0 n/a

Organisation RecommendationsP
age 34



  
 

Internal Audit Update - LCRCA Page | 14 
 

SIF - Skills 33  4,473,994  

Grand Total 75  12,469,854  
                                                                                      Table 7 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 35



  
 

Internal Audit Update - LCRCA Page | 15 
 

5.  Merseytravel: Specific Systems 
 
5.1 Background 
 
5.1.1 Nine of the audits completed in the period were of systems that are specific to Merseytravel.  From a governance 

perspective, these fall entirely within the remit of the Audit, Risk and Governance Board, but are also reported to the Audit 
and Governance Committee for information and in the interests of transparency. 

 
5.2 Organisational Risk Opinion 
 
4.2.1 Seven of the audits of Merseytravel Specific Systems received an organisational risk opinion of “Minor” or “Negligible”, which 

means that a satisfactory level of assurance on the effectiveness of the internal controls reviewed can be derived, and that 
the risk presented to the organisation by the recommendations made is at a low level. One audit, Active Travel Fund, which is 
in draft at the time of writing, has yet to have its organisational risk opinion confirmed. 

 
4.2.2  An opinion is not provided in respect of Governance reviews due to the nature of the work undertaken. 
 
5.3 Recommendations of Note 
 
5.3.1 The audits finalised within the period identified two recommendations classed as “high priority”. 

5.3.2 This recommendation is detailed in Table 8: 
 

Audit Title Recommendation Action Planned by Management 

Fast Tag Account 
Management 

Further work is undertaken to review accounts existing 
at the introduction of the residents‟ scheme using a 
risk- based approach e.g. accounts with three or more 
tags, account name which suggest a business user etc. 
to determine if any can be identified as business users. 
Where business users are identified the appropriate 

Further reviews will be undertaken to 
tease out any accounts which are found to 
not be eligible for the LCR discount 
concession 

P
age 36



  
 

Internal Audit Update - LCRCA Page | 16 
 

Audit Title Recommendation Action Planned by Management 

charge should be applied. 
 

CCTV Completion of the Surveillance Commissioner's 2014, 
version one, of the self-assessment tool in 2017 gives 
some assurance on Merseytravel's compliance with the 
12 guiding principles of the Commissioner's 
Surveillance Camera Code of Practice. Consideration 
should be given to updating the self-assessment using 
the current (2019) version of the self-assessment tool. 
Arrangements should also be put in place to consider 
further completion of the tool for any future updates or 
in the event of significant changes in Merseytravel's 
CCTV system, policy and procedures. 
 

This will be completed by the Strategic 
Service Coordinator, with input and 
support from Tunnels Police staff. 

                                 Table 8 
 
5.3.3 The implementation of recommendations is subject to ongoing monitoring and where dates of agreed action have passed 

and confirmation of implementation has not been received, Internal Audit contacts managers to establish progress, confirm 
actions completed or agree revised implementation dates, if appropriate.  

 
5.3.4 Table 9 provides a summary of progress in respect of the implementation of previous recommendations made in respect of 

Merseytravel specific systems: 

P
age 37



  
 

Internal Audit Update - LCRCA Page | 17 
 

                                    Table 9 

5.3.4 Significant work has been undertaken with Assistant Directors/ Heads of Service to encourage completion of outstanding 
recommendations, particularly those that are long-standing.  This has generated engagement and has prompted fresh focus 
and action on progressing the issues. 

 
5.3.5 A number of recommendations have had their implementation dates revised, and these are shown in the Comments column 

in table 9 above.  These movements have been the subject of discussions with internal audit, and the explanations provided 
were deemed to be reasonable.  However, there will be ongoing attention paid to these recommendations to ensure that 
timely implementation occurs. 

 
  

Year Department Auditable Area High Medium Completed In Progress Overdue High Overdue

Extension 

Requested and 

Agreed

Notes

2020-21 Customer Operations (Ferries) Mersey Ferries - Ticketing and Admissions 0 8 0 8 0 n/a n/a

2020-21 Bus - Network Performance Bus Services - Contract Management 0 11 0 11 0 n/a n/a

2020-21 Police Operations (Tunnels) CCTV 1 8 3 6 0 0 n/a

2020-21 Customer Delivery Fast Tag Account Management 1 1 0 2 0 0 n/a

2020-21 Customer Operations (Hubs) Travel Centres 0 10 3 7 4 n/a Yes In discussion with dept

2020-21 Policy Development Urban Traffic Control 0 2 2 0 0 n/a n/a

2019-20 Bus - Network Performance Bus Services - Contracts 0 4 1 3 3 n/a Yes In discussion with dept

2019-20 Customer Delivery Catering Concession - Contract Management 0 5 4 1 1 n/a Yes Extended date not yet expired

2019-20 Customer Operations (Hubs) Concessionary Travel Pass Applications 0 4 4 0 0 n/a n/a

2019-20 Customer Operations (Hubs) Travel Centres - Income / Stock Reconciliation 2 11 13 0 0 n/a n/a

2018-19 AM - Maintenance Delievry Vehicle Tracking System 1 3 2 2 2 0 Yes Extended date not yet expired

2018-19 The Beatles Story Beatles Story - Governance 0 7 7 0 0 n/a n/a

RecommendationsOrganisation

P
age 38



  
 

Internal Audit Update - LCRCA Page | 18 
 

6.  Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme  
 
6.1 Performance Update 
 
6.1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) require that the service maintains a Quality Assurance and Improvement 

Programme (QAIP) which includes a series of performance measures and associated targets.  
 
6.1.2 Performance measures defined in the QAIP are also included within the Internal Audit Service Plan and are thus reported to 

senior management in accordance with the corporate quarterly performance reporting process.  This provides senior 
management oversight and scrutiny of performance and of any remedial actions required to meet identified targets.  

  
6.1.3 Table 10 below details the performance measures and the results for the period: 
 

Description and Purpose Target Actual Variance and Explanation 

Compliance with Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS) 
This measures the extent to which the Internal Audit 
Service complies with the requirements set out in the 
Standards and the Local Government Application Note. 

100% 100% No variance 
The results of self-assessment reveal that the service 
continues to “generally comply” with the Standards.   

Percentage of the Internal Audit Plan 2021-22 
completed 
This measures extent to which the Audit Plan is being 
delivered. The delivery of the Plan is vital in ensuring 
that an appropriate level of assurance is being provided 
across the organisation‟s systems. 

15% 
See Chart 

1 

4% 
See Chart 

1 

Variance 
Sickness absence impacted on completion of 2020-21 
planned work with knock-on effect in respect of 2021-22 
plan. 
There was also a reactive piece of work completed at the 
request of the external auditor in Q1. 

Percentage of the Internal Audit Plan 2020-21 
completed 
This measures extent to which the Audit Plan is being 
delivered. The delivery of the Plan is vital in ensuring 
that an appropriate level of assurance is being provided 
across the organisation‟s systems. 

100% 
See Chart 

2 

100% 
See Chart 

2 

No variance 
The 2020-21 Plan has been completed. 

Percentage of recommendations implemented within 
a reasonable timescale 
This measures the extent to which managers feel that 

100% 100% No variance 
No recommendations made in 2020-21 are overdue. 

P
age 39



  
 

Internal Audit Update - LCRCA Page | 19 
 

Description and Purpose Target Actual Variance and Explanation 

the recommendations made are appropriate and 
valuable in strengthening the control environment and 
also provides the Committee with a view on how 
effective management action is in responding to 
recommendations. 

Percentage of client survey responses indicating a 
"very good" or "good" opinion 
This measures the feedback received on the service 
provided and seeks to provide assurance that Internal 
Auditors conduct their duties in a professional manner. 

100% 100% No variance 
Feedback is positive although response levels are low. 

Percentage of annual senior management survey 
responses indicating satisfaction with the Internal 
Audit service provided 
This measures the feedback received from Directors and 
Heads of Service on the service provided and seeks to 
provide assurance that Internal Audit is adding value at 
a strategic level. 

100% 100% No variance 
Feedback was positive although response levels were low. 

     Table 10 
 

Charts 1 and 2 below gives a more detailed breakdown of the performance indicator “percentage of the Internal Audit Plan 
2021-22 and 2020-21 completed” respectively.  These have been profiled to show the percentage of the Plan that is the 
target for completion each quarter. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

P
age 40



  
 

Internal Audit Update - LCRCA Page | 20 
 

 
Chart 1 

15% 

30% 

70% 

100% 

4% 0% 0% 0% 

QUARTER 1 QUARTER 2 QUARTER 3 QUARTER 4 

Completion of the Internal Audit Plan      
2021-22 

(profiled) 

Target Actual

P
age 41



  
 

Internal Audit Update - LCRCA Page | 21 
 

 
Chart 2 

6.2 Resources 
 
6.2.1 The Internal Audit service is now at full complement, although 30 days were lost to sickness absence during quarter 4, and 

this delayed the completion of a number of pieces of work from the 2020-21 Plan, all of which have now been completed, 
however, but this has impacted on the completion of quarter 1 work also.  The team‟s resources have not been diverted into 
any areas of non-audit activity during the period. 

 
  

15% 

30% 

70% 

100% 

15% 

29% 

40% 

100% 

QUARTER 1 QUARTER 2 QUARTER 3 QUARTER 4 

Completion of the Internal Audit Plan      
2020-21 

(profiled) 

Target Actual

P
age 42



  
 

Internal Audit Update - LCRCA Page | 22 
 

7.  Fraud, Bribery and Corruption 
 
7.1 CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption (2014) 
 
7.1.1 The CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption is the key guidance document for the sector on 

managing fraud risk. 
 
7.1.2 In the Counter-Fraud Update report presented to this Committee at its January 2021 meeting, it was noted that a full review 

of the organisation‟s compliance with the guidance had been undertaken, and that this had resulted in a number of action 
points.  The following table gives an update on the progress being made to address the actions: 

 

Ref Action Progress Update 

1 Monitor the take-up levels of the Fraud Awareness e-learning and 
follow up to completion with Assistant Directors/Heads of Service 
and Directors if necessary. 

Monitoring of take up levels continues.  Manager also have access 
to management information regarding e-learning and staff receive 
reminders.  Internal Audit has also issued its own reminders to 
managers and has reinforced with corporate communications. 
446 members of staff have completed the awareness e-learning – 
this represents 45% of the workforce. 

2 Conduct comparison of fraud risks with other Mayoral Combined 
Authorities. 

In progress 
Session to be held with other Mayoral Combined Authorities July 
2021. 

3 Consider running Fraud Risk Workshops within Departments, 
especially those where fraud risks have been identified as most 
significant. 

In progress 
Session was held with Travel Centres Operations Managers in May 
2021.  Further sessions to be held on the basis of risks identified in 
the fraud risks in Service Risk Registers. 

4 Undertake review of fraud risks in Service Risk Registers and 
ensure actions to address fraud risks are included for all.  Establish 
regime of regular reminders to update fraud risks in Service Risk 
Registers, including consideration of any new/emerging 
fraud/corruption risks. 

In progress 
Risk Manager continues to liaise with Heads of Service to ensure 
fraud risks are appropriate and reviewed.   

5 Strengthen guidance to Committee report authors relating to the 
consideration of fraud risks in the Risk section of the reports. 

Completed 
Updated guidance has been produced and included within the 
Committee report template. 

P
age 43



  
 

Internal Audit Update - LCRCA Page | 23 
 

Ref Action Progress Update 

6 Include within the Annual Governance Statement commentary on 
the performance and effectiveness of the organisation‟s counter 
fraud strategy. 

Completed 
Included in AGS Findings Summary for 2020-21 for consideration 
for inclusion by the author. 

                                         Table 11 

 
7.2 Fraud Plan 

 
7.2.1 The Internal Audit Plan 2020-21 included 90 days for proactive counter-fraud work across both Merseytravel and the 

Combined Authority, and the Internal Audit Plan 2021-22 includes 198 days for this.  It is also of note that key anti-fraud 
controls are also evaluated as part of a significant number of other audits within the Plan.   

 
7.2.2 The Plan includes the following areas of focus: 
  

Counter Fraud 

2020-21 

Audit Title Progress 

Fast Tag Account Management Completed 

Tunnels Cash Toll Recording Completed 

Travel Centres Completed 

Debtors Deferred to 2021-22 and underway 

Staff Benefits Completed 

Creditors (inc BACS Application Management) Completed 

Insurance Claims Completed 

Mersey Ferries - Retail and Stock Reconciliation Draft Report Issued 

Spaceport Closure Completed 

Mersey Ferries - Ticketing and Admissions Completed 

Credit Cards Completed 

Rail Operators - Stock Control Withdrawn – Covid-19 access restrictions 

 

2021-22 

Audit Title Days Allocated Progress 

Absence Management 15  

P
age 44



  
 

Internal Audit Update - LCRCA Page | 24 
 

Credit Cards 15  

Creditors and Cheque Control 23  

Debtors 23 Commenced 

Insurance Claims 23  

Fast Tag Account Management 15  

Mersey Ferries - Ticketing and Admissions 23  

Travel Centres - Income / Stock Reconciliation 23  

Tunnel Tolls Income Recording 23  

Rail Operators - Stock Control 15  
                                                                                                                                          Table 12 

 
7.2.3 There is also a provision of 12 days in the Plan for the investigation of allegations of fraud or irregularity, and this has not 

been utilised during this quarter. 
 
7.3 Fraud Risks 

 
7.3.1 Given the increase in attempted fraudulent activity that is likely to proliferate during the pandemic, all Heads of Service have 

been reminded to review the fraud risks contained within their Service Risk Registers.  This is with the objective of updating 
of reflecting new and emerging fraud risks associated with coronavirus, and to ensure that Heads of Service have 
acknowledged such risks in their planning and development of internal controls.   

  
7.4 National Fraud Initiative (NFI) 
 
7.4.1 The organisation participates in the National Fraud Initiative co-ordinated by the Cabinet Office.  Data from the Payroll and 

 Creditors and concessionary travel systems are uploaded to the dedicated Cabinet Office website and are matched with data 
within and between  participating  bodies so as to identify potential frauds, overpayments and errors. On receipt of the 
results, the organisation has responsibility to follow up and investigate the matches. The main NFI data matching is 
undertaken every two years, the results of these matches are fed into a national report at the end of each cycle.  

 
7.4.2 Matches in respect of the NFI exercise for 2020 have been released and review work is ongoing. 
 
 

P
age 45



  
 

Internal Audit Update - LCRCA Page | 25 
 

7.5 Investigations  
 

7.5.1 There have been no investigations undertaken by Internal Audit in the quarter. 
 
7.6 Fraud Policy Framework  
 
7.6.1 All fraud policies within the Policy Framework are up to date, having been approved by this Committee at its January 2021 

meeting and Merseytravel on 10 February 2021. 
  

P
age 46



  
 

Internal Audit Update - LCRCA Page | 26 
 

8. Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 

 
8.1 Internal Assessment  
 
8.1.1 The PSIAS Local Government Application Note (LGAN), the document which assists in translating the requirements of the 

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards into a local government setting, has been reviewed, and a refreshed document issued 
by CIPFA in February 2019. It is important to state that this document does not introduce new requirements emanating from 
the Standards but is more useful in assisting local authorities to assess their own compliance with the Standards.  

 
8.1.2 The internal assessment has been reperformed, and there are a small number of actions suggested to enhance compliance.  

These are detailed in Table 13 below: 
   

Ref Action Progress Update 

 PSIAS  

1112 Include relevant detail to committee/board to enhance transparency 
in relation to the safeguards relating to roles and responsibilities that 
fall outside of internal auditing  

Completed 
Included within Internal Audit Charter presented to the ARG Board 
and Audit and Governance Committee March 2021 meetings.  

1312 Confirm independence and qualifications of assessor to Board and 
Committee prior to the external assessment  

Completed 
Included detail in PSIAS section of Internal Audit Update Report 
presented to ARG Board and Audit and Governance Committee July 
2021 meetings.  

2330 To delete archived records which are past their retention period  Completed 
Records that have passed their retention period have been deleted.  

 PSIAS Development  

2200, 
2230 

Further embed the process of auditor and manager discussion re 
scope/most pertinent risks/available time budget; and pre-audit 
discussions with client to aid the process of scoping the audit review. 

In progress 
Embedding of fully risk-based audit approach continues, with team 
session held in June 2021 to progress the implementation. 
 

2410 Review/formalise arrangements with Beatles Story and the LEP.  In progress 

    Table 13 

 

P
age 47



  
 

Internal Audit Update - LCRCA Page | 27 
 

8.2 External Assessment 
 
8.2.1 It is a requirement of the PSIAS that the service must be subject to an external assessment of its compliance with the 

Standards every five years.  The service was subject to such an external assessment (peer review validation of self-
assessment) against the requirements of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) in June 2017.  

 
8.2.2 The overall outcome of this assessment was that the service conforms to the PSIAS.  All actions arising from the report have 

subsequently been completed. 
 
8.2.3 The next external review is due during this financial year and will take place during August 2021.  The assessment will be 

undertaken by CIPFA, the primary body for public sector finance.  The assessor will be Ray Gard, who is both a CIPFA and 
ACCA qualified accountant and a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors.  He has many years‟ experience as a 
Head of Internal Audit, predominantly in the London boroughs, and he is independent of the LCRCA. 

 
8.2.4 The outcome and key findings of the review will be reported to this Committee once the work has been concluded and the 

final report received. 
  

P
age 48



  
 

Internal Audit Update - LCRCA Page | 28 
 

Appendix A: Internal Audit Plan 2021-22 Status Update 
 

 

Auditable Area Corporate LCRCA Merseytravel
Organisational Risk 

Rating

Organisational Risk 

Opinion
Status

Rolling Stock - Power Supply Project Y MODERATE

Rolling Stock - Covid-19 Impact Y MODERATE

Rolling Stock - Battery Powered Train Trial Y MODERATE

Rolling Stock - Asset Ownership Y MODERATE

Tidal Power - Procurement Review Y MAJOR Moderate Draft Report Issued

Investment Models Y MAJOR Commenced

Investment Schemes - FIF Y MAJOR Commenced

Investment Schemes - tbc Y MAJOR

Investment Schemes - tbc Y MAJOR

SIF2 Assurance Framework Y MAJOR

Learning and Development Y MODERATE Commenced

Health, Safety and Wellbeing - Corporate Review Y MODERATE Commenced

Health, Safety and Wellbeing - Office Based Services Y MODERATE

Payroll Y MODERATE

Absence Management Y MODERATE

Ethics / Standards of Conduct Y MODERATE

Application Control - Haven System Y MODERATE Commenced

Application Control - tbc Y MODERATE

Application Control - tbc Y MODERATE

Capital Programme Y MODERATE

Credit Cards Y MODERATE

Creditors and Cheque Control Y MODERATE

Debtors Y MODERATE Commenced

Governance Assurance Statement 2021-22 Y MODERATE

LCRCA/MT Annual Governance Statement Review 2020-21 Y MODERATE n/a Completed

Risk Management Y MODERATE

Insurance Claims Y MODERATE

Procurement Y MODERATE

Entity

P
age 49



  
 

Internal Audit Update - LCRCA Page | 29 
 

  

Auditable Area Corporate LCRCA Merseytravel
Organisational Risk 

Rating

Organisational Risk 

Opinion
Status

LEP Governance Annual Review Y MODERATE

LEP Risk & Control Review Y MODERATE

ESIF Y MODERATE

Grant Auditing Arrangements at Local Authorities - Accountable Body 

Status

Y MODERATE

Tunnels Projects Y MODERATE

Health, Safety and Wellbeing - Asset Management Y MINOR

Financial Sustainability of Operators and Contractors COVID Y MAJOR Commenced

Alternative Delivery Models Y MODERATE

Recovery Partnerships Y MODERATE

Business Continuity Management Y MODERATE

Fast Tag Account Management Y MINOR

Health, Safety and Wellbeing - Operational Transport Y MINOR

Mersey Ferries - New Vessel Y MODERATE

Mersey Ferries - Ticketing and Admissions Y MINOR

Travel Centres - Income / Stock Reconciliation Y MINOR

Tunnel Tolls Income Recording Y MINOR Commenced

The Beatles Story Y MINOR

Covid-19 Govt Funding Y MODERATE

Operator of Last Resort Y MODERATE

Rail Operators - Stock Control Y MODERATE

Brexit Impacts Y MAJOR

Freeport Y MODERATE

Adult Education Budget Y MAJOR

Digital Infrastructure Y MAJOR

Race Equality Y MINOR Commenced

Back Up Management Y n/a

Proactive BAU Management Y n/a

Asset Management Y n/a

Cyber Security - Response (NIST) Y n/a

LEP - IT Overview Y n/a

Entity

P
age 50



  
 

Internal Audit Update - LCRCA Page | 30 
 

Appendix B: Internal Audit Plan 2020-21 Status Update 
 

 

Auditable Area Corporate LCRCA Merseytravel
Organisational Risk 

Rating

Organisational Risk 

Opinion
Status

Covid-19 Future Innovation Fund Y Moderate n/a Completed

Pre Payment Assurance Y Moderate Moderate Draft Report Issued

SIF2 Assurance Framework Y Moderate n/a Deferred

Transforming Cities Fund Y Moderate n/a Advice Provided

Mayoral Programme - Digital Y Moderate Minor Completed

Mayoral Programme - Tidal Y Moderate Minor Completed

ESIF Y Moderate Minor Completed

Grant Auditing Arrangements at Local Authorities Y Moderate n/a Deferred

Adult Education Budget Y Moderate n/a Advice Provided

Housing First (VFM) Y Moderate Moderate Completed

LEP Governance Annual Review Y Moderate n/a Completed

LEP Risk & Control Review Y Moderate n/a Deferred

Rolling Stock  - TCIS Project Y Moderate Negligible Completed

Rolling Stock  - Testing Programme Y Moderate Negligible Completed

Rolling Stock  - Train Lengthening Project Y Moderate Negligible Completed

Business Continuity Management Y Major n/a Deferred

CCTV Y Moderate Minor Completed

Covid-19 Safe Working Govt Guidance - Transport Directly Operated 

Services

Y Moderate Minor Completed

The Beatles Story - Payroll Y Moderate n/a Deferred

Software Asset and License Management (FAST) Y Moderate Minor Completed

Application Control - Paxton Y Moderate Minor Completed

Application Control - Mainsaver Y Moderate Minor Completed

Covid-19 Safe Working Govt Guidance - Office Based Services Y Moderate Minor Completed

Payroll Y Moderate Minor Completed

Capital Programme Y Major Minor Completed

Covid-19 PPN 02/20 and PPN 03/20 Y Moderate Minor Completed

Risk Management Y Major Minor Completed

Procurement Y Moderate Minor Completed

Entity

P
age 51



  
 

Internal Audit Update - LCRCA Page | 31 
 

 

Auditable Area Corporate LCRCA Merseytravel
Organisational Risk 

Rating

Organisational Risk 

Opinion
Status

Annual Governance Statement Review 2020-21 (LCRCA) Y Moderate n/a Deferred

Annual Governance Statement Review 2020-21 (Merseytravel) Y Moderate n/a Deferred

Governance Assurance Statement 2020-21 (LCRCA) Y Moderate n/a Advice Provided

Governance Assurance Statement 2020-21 (Merseytravel) Y Moderate n/a Advice Provided

Annual Governance Statement Review 2019-20 (LCRCA) Y Moderate n/a Completed

Annual Governance Statement Review 2019-20 (Merseytravel) Y Moderate n/a Completed

Covid-19 Safe Working Govt Guidance - Asset Management Y Moderate Minor Completed

Bus Alternative Delivery Models Y Major n/a Deferred

Bus Services - Contract Management (VFM) Y Moderate Minor Completed

Covid-19 Govt Funding Y Moderate Minor Completed

Active Travel Fund Y Moderate tbc At Review Stage

Urban Traffic Control Y Moderate Minor Completed

Operator of Last Resort Y Moderate Moderate Completed

Rail Concession Agreements (VFM) Y Moderate Minor Draft Report Issued

Fast Tag Account Management Y n/a Minor Completed

Mersey Ferries - Retail and Stock Reconciliation Y n/a Minor Draft Report Issued

Mersey Ferries - Ticketing and Admissions Y n/a Minor Completed

Spaceport Closure Y n/a n/a Completed

Travel Centres Y n/a n/a Completed

Tunnels Cash Toll Recording Y n/a n/a Completed

Staff Benefits Y n/a n/a Completed

Credit Cards Y n/a n/a Completed

Creditors (inc BACS Application Management) Y n/a Minor Completed

Debtors Y n/a n/a Deferred

Insurance Claims Y n/a n/a Completed

Rail Operators - Stock Control Y n/a n/a Deferred

Office 365 Y n/a tbc Commenced

Service Desk Management Y n/a Minor Completed

Agresso Y n/a tbc Commenced

Microsoft InTune Y n/a tbc Commenced

Change Management Y n/a tbc Commenced

Entity

P
age 52



  
 

Internal Audit Update - LCRCA Page | 32 
 

Appendix C: Organisational Risk Opinions and Recommendation Priority 
Levels 

 

Organisational Risk Opinions 
 

Recommendation Priority Levels 

 

Major 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, 
have a major impact on the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Moderate 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, 
have a moderate impact on the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Minor 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, 
have a minor impact on the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Negligible 
No risks were identified within the review. 
  

 

 

High 
The recommendation is essential to the management of risk 
within the area under review.   
 

 

Medium  
The recommendation is important to the management of risk 
within the area under review.   
 

 

Advisory  
The recommendation is a suggestion intended to enhance 
the existing management of risk within the area under 
review. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 53



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:  The Chair and Members of the Combined Authority Audit and Governance 

Committee 
 
Meeting:  28 July 2021 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  None 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide an update in respect of the system of 

corporate risk management and the activity that has been undertaken in 
embedding this system during the fourth quarter of 2020-21 and first quarter of 
2021-22.  

  
1.2 The report also seeks approval for the updated Risk Management Policy. 

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee: 
  

(a) Notes the progress made in embedding the system of corporate risk 
management into the organisation; and 

 
(b) Approves the updated Risk Management Policy. 

 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
 So as to support the Committee in the discharge of its duties according to its 

Terms of Reference, the report details the key activities undertaken so as to 
embed the system of corporate risk management.  The report highlights the 
following key points: 

 

 the work undertaken in respect of risk appetite; 
 

 the developments in respect of the Corporate Risk Register, including the 
ongoing work to review the document and align this with the new 
Corporate Plan; 

Page 55

Agenda Item 9



 

 the main updates made to the Risk Management Policy; and 
 

 the ongoing activity to embed risk management further into the 
organisation.  

 
 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.2 Human Resources 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.3 Physical Assets 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.4 Information Technology 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.5 Programme Management Office (PMO) 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
5. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
  
 The implementation of an effective system of corporate and service risk 

management supports the organisation in the delivery of its objectives, by 
identifying threats that may jeopardise their achievement and maximising 
opportunities as these arise.  The contents of this report give a narrative on the 
progress being made to maintain and develop such a system. 

 
 
6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
7. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
8. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

Page 56



 
 
9. CONCLUSION 
 
 The organisation continues to make positive progress in embedding a more robust 

and effective system for the management of risk.   
 
 

LAURA A. WILLIAMS 
Head of Internal Audit 

 

Contact Officer(s): 

Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit   tel: 0151 330 1764 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A - Risk Management Update  
Appendix B – Risk Management Policy 
 
Background Documents:  
None 
 
 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE 
 

 
 

Audit and Governance Committee 

28 July 2021 

 

Laura A. Williams MA CPFA 
Head of Internal Audit 

P
age 59



 

Risk Management Update Page | 1 
 
 

Contents 
 

   
            Page 

  
1. Introduction            2    
 
2. Risk Appetite            3      
    
3. Corporate Risk Register          5      
               
4. Risk Management Policy          9 
 
5.   Embedding Effective Risk Management         10     
   
 
 
 
   

 
 
           
  

P
age 60



 

Risk Management Update Page | 2 
 
 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide a summary of the Combined Authority‟s risk management activity for the fourth 
quarter of 2020-21 and first quarter of 2021-22. 
 

1.2 It is prepared for the Audit and Governance Committee and its purpose is to facilitate the Committee in discharging its 

obligations as defined in its Terms of Reference: “to review the Combined Authority‟s financial affairs, internal control, 

corporate governance arrangements and risk management”.  It is also intended to assist in continuing the progress made to 

date in embedding effective strategic and operational risk management into the organisation. 

1.3 The report covers: 

 the work undertaken in respect of risk appetite; 

 the developments in respect of the Corporate Risk Register, including the ongoing work to review the Corporate Risk 

Register and align this with the new Corporate Plan; 

 the main updates made to the Risk Management Policy; and 

 the ongoing activity to embed risk management further into the organisation.  

 

  

P
age 61



 

Risk Management Update Page | 3 
 
 

2. Risk Appetite 
 

2.1 Risk appetite is defined as “the extent and nature of the risks the organisation is prepared to take so as to achieve its 

objectives”. 

2.2 Significant work has been undertaken to develop the organisation‟s view of risk appetite during the period, building on the 

work reported previously to the Committee. 

2.3 Two specific sessions on risk appetite have been held with the Executive Leadership Team during the last year so as to 

explore the concept of risk appetite and develop a practical application of this which supports the organisation in delivering 

its objectives as defined in the Corporate Plan. 

2.4 The outcome of these sessions has been a new model of criteria for consideration of risk scoring in respect of risk impact.  

This encourages risk owners to score each risk according to the various impacts a risk would have should the risk 

materialise.  The criteria have been expanded so as to cover: 

 Business Interruption; 

 Financial Exposure; 

 Reputation; 

 Health, Safety and Wellbeing; 

 Legislative / Regulatory; 

 Delivery of Service; 

 Environmental / Public Health; and  

 Economic. 
 

2.5 The organisation therefore considers that exposures beyond a score of “5” on any of the above scoring categories is beyond 
its appetite for risk, and therefore appropriate action would need to be taken to reduce the impacts to an acceptable level by 
the application of additional controls, or a decision made to treat the risk in a different way, such as by terminating the risk or 

P
age 62



 

Risk Management Update Page | 4 
 
 

transferring it.  These options are not always possible and need careful consideration so as to provide assurance that the 
organisation is not unduly exposed. 

 
2.6 The revised model has been agreed and trialled as part of the Corporate Risk Register review, and the updated Risk 

Management Policy includes guidance to assist in the application of the model. 
   

P
age 63



 

Risk Management Update Page | 5 
 
 

3. Corporate Risk Register  
 
3.1 The Corporate Risk Register has been considered during the year by the Executive Leadership Team as a whole and by 

individual Executive Directors, with the objective of ensuring that: 
 

 The risks identified are still pertinent; 

 The control measures are still in place and working, and reflect any new or additional controls that have been 

implemented; 

 The risk scoring identified is still considered an accurate representation; 

 The actions identified are still the right ones, and progress is being made in progressing these; 

 Any new or emerging risks are captured; and 

 Risks that are reducing in score are identified and de-escalated to service risk registers as necessary. 

3.2 However, it has been recognised that a fundamental review of the Corporate Risk Register has not been undertaken for 

some time, and additionally, that the risks identified are not aligned to the new 2021-24 Corporate Plan.  Therefore, a review 

session was held on 26 May with ELT to commence this review, and this has been followed up with individual discussions 

with each Executive Director in relation to the risks for which they have been identified as Risk Owner.  A further brief 

session is to be held with ELT on 14 July 2021 to agree the final version. 

3.3 The review comprised: 

 Usage of the revised risk impact scoring guidance as described in section 2 of this report; 

 Identification of new risks or new aspects to existing risks so as to align with the new Corporate Plan; 

 Alignment of all risks with the Corporate Plan objectives each one jeopardises; and 

 Fresh consideration of risk treatment, including actions to be taken to reduce risk scores, refresh of controls and 

identification of target scores (which highlight the aspiration for each residual risk score once all actions have been 

completed). 

P
age 64



 

Risk Management Update Page | 6 
 
 

3.4 The revisions to the Corporate Risk Register are being finalised at the time of writing this report, and the agreed document 

will be presented to the September meeting of this Committee.  However, the main changes to the document are: 

 Sixteen corporate risks have been identified, comprising eight existing risks and eight new risks. 

 The existing risks are being updated and expanded to align with the new Corporate Plan priorities and these are: 

 

o Devolution/collaboration - The LCRCA fails to collaborate and use its influence effectively with stakeholders so as to 

support them to deliver on the objectives for the City Region. 

 

o Transport Liquidity / Financial sustainability - Failure to plan and prepare effectively for service continuity in the event 

that a transport operator is unable to fulfil its contractual obligations.   

 

o Rolling Stock Project - Failure to deliver the identified financial and service delivery benefits of the Rolling Stock 

project. 

 

o Governance - The organisation does not maintain effective and robust governance that supports the delivery of the 

Corporate Plan objectives. 

 

o Capacity - The LCRCA does not have the capacity and skills to support the delivery of the Corporate Plan objectives.  

 

o Financial - The LCRCA fails to establish a robust Medium-Term Financial Strategy and sustainable funding 

mechanism that supports the delivery of the Corporate Plan objectives. 

 

o Cyber - The organisation does not have adequate arrangements in place to protect against a cyber-attack, or to 

respond in an effective and timely manner should such an attack occur. 

 

P
age 65



 

Risk Management Update Page | 7 
 
 

o Major Incident - The organisation does not have appropriate plans in place to maintain continuity of service, or re-

establish service in a timely manner, in the event of a major incident affecting the transport network. 

 

 The new risks identified and being considered for inclusion are follows:  

 

o Project / Programme Delivery - Failure to manage project and programme delivery effectively, so as to generate 

benefits for the LCR in a timely manner. 

 

o Pipeline Readiness / Project Development - Failure to source and develop deliverable projects that can be brought 

into delivery and generate benefits for the LCR in a timely manner. 

 

o Complexity in funding Landscape - The LCRCA does not optimise the benefits of the devolved funding landscape. 

 

o Climate Emergency - The LCRCA fails to deliver the key projects (such as housing retrofit, Tidal) that will make a 

positive contribution to the City Region target of reaching net zero carbon by 2040. 

 

o Economic Recovery - The LCRCA fails to provide effective and timely support to the local economy so as to facilitate 

a strong economic recovery. 

 

o Devolution - The government has a change of policy regarding devolution to Mayoral Combined Authorities. 

 

o Equality - The LCRCA fails to use its position and influence to promote and advance the contribution made by the 

Black, Asian and ethnic minority population in the City Region. 

 

o Performance Management - The organisation fails to maintain an effective performance management system that 

supports delivery of the Corporate Plan objectives. 

P
age 66



 

Risk Management Update Page | 8 
 
 

  

3.5 It is also worthy of note that the transport risks meeting the criteria (i.e. a residual score of 16 and above) have been merged 

into the Corporate Risk Register, and the separate Transport Risk Register no longer exists.  Those risks scoring below 16 

which are of a transport nature have been incorporated into relevant service risk registers within the Integrated Transport 

Directorate. This allows focus on the most pertinent risks at corporate level and should also eliminate confusion. 

  

P
age 67



 

Risk Management Update Page | 9 
 
 

4.  Risk Management Policy 
 

4.1 The Risk Management Policy is reviewed and updated on an annual basis so as to reflect the ongoing development of risk 

management arrangements across the organisation. 

4.2 Given the significant developments over the last year, the Policy has again been reviewed and updated to include: 

 Changes in Senior Management structure such as job titles; 

 Broadened risk impact scoring guidance described in section 2 of this report (see section 4 (Stage 2) of the Policy); 

 Update to the membership of the Risk Group to reflect its development during the year (see section 3 of the Policy); 

 The Corporate Risk Register template and guidance notes have been updated to reflect the revised risk appetite. 

4.3 The revised Risk Management Policy is shown at Appendix B to this report, and the updates are highlighted in yellow for 

ease of review. 

  

  

P
age 68



 

Risk Management Update Page | 10 
 
 

5. Embedding Effective Risk Management 
 
5.1 Internal Audit continues to play a vital role in facilitating the system of risk management.  Key strands of activity in the period 

have been: 
  

 Organising and chairing the quarterly Risk Group meeting, which has representatives from all Directorates, to discuss 
emerging risks, progress in managing key risk issues, and promote discussion/awareness of governance issues across 
the organisation.  The refreshed membership and expanded agenda for the Group is proving useful in raising the profile 
of risk management, and the role of members of the group as risk champions is to be further developed so as to provide 
a clear link between group members and their Directorates; 

 Facilitating review of risk registers via meetings with individual executive directors and their management teams; 

 Presenting to ELT on Risk Management, including discussion of risk scoring and risk appetite, and facilitating the 
Corporate Risk Register review session; 

 Ensuring that risk management skills are including within the core training offer for managers as part of the Developing 
our Organisation work, and also developing an e-learning package for all staff to provide general awareness of the 
principles; 

 Facilitating the review of service risks by Heads of Service, including facilitating the update of fraud risks, risks arising 
from the continued effects of the pandemic and other emerging risks; and 

 Providing corporate support in respect of risk management across the organisation, including facilitating risk workshops 
and supporting colleagues in their risk management activities. 
 

5.2 It is important that the revised Corporate Risk Register is used as a tool, along with performance management, to facilitate 

delivery of the Corporate Plan priorities, and that the very positive progress made so far in embedding the process 

continues.   

5.3  Internal Audit has completed a further review of the system of corporate risk management.  The review resulted in a very 

positive overall opinion rating of Minor organisational risk.  The review resulted in five recommendations, all of which were 

P
age 69



 

Risk Management Update Page | 11 
 
 

focused on the contribution the Risk Management function makes to the overall corporate system, and all of which were 

graded as “advisory”.  The recommendations, and progress made to date, are detailed in the table below: 

 Recommendation Agreed Action Due Date Progress Update 

1 Further analysis should be 
undertaken to ensure each risk 
contained within the Corporate Risk 
Register is aligned, where possible, 
to a Business Plan/Corporate Plan 
objective; and is therefore genuinely 
seen as the most significant risk(s) to 
non-achievement of the respective 
objective.  
 

a) The Risk Manager is a member of the Corporate 
Plan development team for the 2021-2024 plan so 
that the priorities can be linked to the Risk 
Management process. 

 
b) A risk review session is to be held on 26 May with 

CEX and Directors to review the current Corporate 
Risk Register against the new priorities set out in 
the new Corporate Plan. 

 

30/7/21  
 
 
 
 
The meeting was held 
on 26 May 2021 and 
was well attended with 
very positive feedback. 
A further session was 
held on 14 July to agree 
a draft of the revised 
Corporate Risk Register. 
 

2 The Risk Manager should continue to 
challenge and support the effective 
utilisation of the 'Risk and Mitigation' 
section, of the Democratic Services 
Report Template, for linking the 
subject matter of the report to a 
relevant Corporate and/or Service 
risk(s).  
 

a) The Risk Manager continues to be assigned reports 
for sign off and will not approve reports where there 
is insufficient "Risks and Mitigation" detailed within 
the report. 
 

b) There will be a review of the relevant service 
registers / project risk registers to ensure links 
between the relevant reports. 

31/8/21  

P
age 70



 

Risk Management Update Page | 12 
 
 

3 i) A decision should be taken as to 
whether to adopt a more formalised 
approach to providing feedback on 
Risk Registers and retaining such 
evidence in a more structured format 
e.g. when providing advice and 
guidance: it is reported in writing; 
documented; subsequently followed-
up; and correspondence is saved in a 
structured format on the network.  
 
 ii) As part of monitoring Risk 
Registers, the Risk Manager should 
establish a central repository (e.g. 
through SharePoint), where the most 
up to date Service Risk Register can 
be easily identified.  
 

a) Directorate folders will be established for each 
review period to demonstrate interaction, guidance 
and advice given in said period.   
 

b) Teams and Sharepoint will be utilised to enable 
access to the latest version of each Service and the 
Corporate Risk Register. 

 

31/8/21 
 
 

 

4 The Risk Manager should continue to 
provide a commensurate level of 
support to Directorates, to facilitate 
having in place an up to date Risk 
Register within each Service area.  
 
As part of supporting this process, 
the potential exists to:  
 
- Utilise a „Glossary‟ within the Risk 
Management Policy;   
 
- Undertake training for relevant 
officers (where relevant - induction or 
refresher training).  
 

a) The corporate risk register template will be revised 
to include drop-down boxes on each column that 
provides a definition to assist the user when 
populating the registers.  

 
 

b) E-Learning on Risk Management to be created and 
available to all staff by September 2021 

 
c) Risk Management training programme will be 

developed and the roll out to staff will begin in 
September 2021. 

31/12/21  

P
age 71



 

Risk Management Update Page | 13 
 
 

5 A standing item should be added to 
the Risk Group agenda requesting 
any "lessons learned" examples are 
shared amongst the group, to 
continue to foster a culture of open 
learning from any risk management 
mistakes. 

a) The Risk Group agenda will be reviewed and 
updated prior to the next meeting on 21 May 2021. 
(Although the agenda already contains ample 
opportunity for Directorate representatives to 
discuss risk management successes, failures and 
lessons learned). 

 
b) Where relevant, professional literature (i.e. from risk 

management professional bodies), will be shared 
with the Group to continue strengthen the 
knowledge of the Risk Group. This will be ongoing 
and recorded on the Risk Group Hub. 

 

31/5/21 Completed 
The agenda has been 
updated for the May 
Risk Group meeting and 
includes Feedback and 
lessons learnt. 
 
Professional literature 
from both ALARM and 
North West Insurance 
Officers Group has been 
shared and this will 
continue as and when 
relevant to the Risk 
Group. 

 

5.4 It is also worthy of note that all recommendations arising from the 2019-20 review have now been implemented. 

5.5 The quarterly reports to this Committee will continue to give an overview of the progress being made in delivering the 
activities above, and the effectiveness of these actions in increasing the level to which effective risk management 
arrangements are embedded into the organisation. 

  
 
 
 
 

P
age 72



 

 

 

RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY 

 
 

 
 
 

Document Owner Internal Audit 

Document Version 0.5 

Approved By (proposed) Audit and Governance Committee: 
28 July 2021 

Merseytravel: 
11 August 2021 

 

Review Date June 2022 

 
This document is the property of LCRCA/Merseytravel. It may not be 

reproduced or used for any other purpose than that for which it is supplied 
without the written permission of LCRCA/Merseytravel. 

 
Uncontrolled when printed – for latest version, please check One Place 

  

Page 73



 

Risk Management Policy             | 2 
 

 
 

Contents 
 
 
 Page 
 

1. Introduction          3 
 
2. Objectives 3 
 
3. Responsibilities 3 

 
4. Risk Management Process – Practical Guidance 7 

  
Stage 1: Identification of Risks  7 
Stage 2: Evaluation of Risks  8 
Stage 3: Addressing Risks 11 
Stage 4: Risk Review and Reporting  11
  

5. Appendices 
  
A: Risk Group: Terms of Reference 13 
B: Risk Impact: Scoring Guidance 15 
C: Risk Likelihood: Scoring Guidance 16 
D: Risk Evaluation Scoring Matrix 17 
E: Risk Register Template 19 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 74



 

Risk Management Policy             | 3 
 

1. Introduction 
 
Risk is defined as “the effect of uncertainty on the achievement of objectives, where 
the effect is any deviation from the expected – positive or negative”. (ISO 31000) 
 
Any large and complex organisation faces a range of risks that may affect the 
achievement of its defined objectives. These risks have varying levels of likelihood of 
materialising and of impact to the organisation and its stakeholders if these did 
materialise.  Equally, opportunities will present themselves which will support and 
enhance the delivery of objectives.  Therefore, the effective management of risks and 
opportunities is a key component of an organisation that is effective in meeting its 
defined objectives.   
 
Risk Management is the process by which risks, and potential opportunities are 
identified, evaluated and controlled or optimised. 
 
LCRCA/Merseytravel (“the organisation”) recognises the importance of effective risk 
management as a key element of its performance and governance framework.  It is 
the responsibility of the organisation to ensure that it establishes and maintains a 
system that provides assurance that there is accountability and ownership of the key 
risks that the organisation faces, maximises the achievement of its objectives, and 
ensures that good governance can be demonstrated.  
 

2. Objectives 
 
The objectives of this Policy are to: 
 

 Embed risk management into the culture and operations of the organisation; 

 Promote risk management as an integral part of business planning, decision-
making and performance management; 

 Maintain an effective process of key risk identification, analysis and control; 

 Anticipate and respond to changing internal and external factors, including 
political, economic, social, technological, legislative or environmental (PESTLE); 

 Ensure that there is clear accountability for both the ownership and cost of risk and 
the tools used to control risk or optimise opportunities; 

 Improve governance and raise awareness of the need for risk management by all 
those connected with the organisation’s delivery; and  

 Demonstrate how effective risk management can improve delivery of 
organisational objectives and increase resilience. 

 

3. Responsibilities 
 
Chief Executive 
Has overall responsibility for LCRCA/Merseytravel’s risk management arrangements.  
This involves being the corporate sponsor for risk management and ensuring that the 
system of corporate risk management is effective, consistently applied and embedded 
into the organisation. 
 

Page 75



 

Risk Management Policy             | 4 
 

 
 
Executive Directors 
Executive Directors have responsibility for identifying and managing the most 
significant risks to corporate objectives.  They will ensure that these are reflected in 
the Corporate Risk Register, which will be considered and reviewed on a regular 
basis.   They will ensure that appropriate controls and actions are in place so as to 
control and manage the corporate risks for which they have responsibility, and for 
those service risks which sit within their area of responsibility. 
 
Assistant Directors/ Heads of Service  
Assistant Directors/Heads of Service have responsibility for identifying and managing 
the risks to service objectives.  They will ensure that these are reflected in the relevant 
Service Risk Register, which will be considered and reviewed on a regular basis.   
They will ensure that appropriate mitigations and actions are in place so as to control 
and manage the risks which sit within their area of responsibility.  They are responsible 
for establishing sound systems of internal control within their service areas. 
 
Assistant Directors/Heads of Service must notify the Head of Internal Audit of any 
significant changes in business activity that may impact on insurance provision, so as 
to ensure that appropriate and adequate insurance is in place.  
 
Any decision submitted through the Delegated Decisions system or a Committee 
report (via the Modern.gov system) must include appropriate consideration of risk and 
implications associated with the proposed decision. so as to demonstrate the 
consideration of risk in decision-making. 
 
Risk Group 
The Risk Group is the key forum for the consideration of opportunities and risks facing 
the achievement of the Corporate Plan. It sets the tone for corporate risk management 
and uses this to drive improvement in delivery of corporate objectives.  This group’s 
Terms of Reference are detailed at Appendix A.   
 
Project/Programme Managers 
When an officer is managing a project/programme, it is their responsibility to ensure 
that adequate consideration is given to the management of the risks that threaten the 
delivery of the project/programme, and that effective controls are in place so that these 
are managed.  Such risks and opportunities should be captured within a Project Risk 
Register (the template  and guidance, which are both aligned to this Policy, are 
included in the “Project Toolkit”), and should be reviewed with appropriate regularity 
throughout the project lifecycle.  
 
Programme Management Office (PMO) 
The Programme Management Office supports Project/Programme Managers in the 
delivery of projects/programmes, and assists them in identifying and assessing the 
risks that could jeopardise the delivery of the projects/programmes, and in facilitating 
the planning of controls and actions to minimise the likelihood of such risks 
materialising, and/or their impact if they did materialise. The risk management 
methodology used by the PMO is being developed but will follow the principles 
outlined in this document. 

Page 76



 

Risk Management Policy             | 5 
 

 
Managers 
Managers should understand their role in the risk management process, and the 
benefits of effective risk management.  It is their responsibility to assist their Assistant 
Director/ Head of Service in the management of relevant service risks and 
opportunities through maintaining an effective system of internal control and through 
undertaking appropriate actions in the management of service risks. 
 
Risk Group Members Champions 
Risk Group members act as Risk Champions, representing their service area on the 
Group.  They report on issues and make recommendations to the Risk Group on any 
actions required to enhance the effectiveness of the risk management process. They 
should be a catalyst for embedding the risk management process into corporate 
business processes within their service area and provide feedback from the Risk 
Group to their service on the key risks or opportunities affecting their service area and 
wider Directorate. They should also support in the development and maintenance of 
both the Corporate and Service Risk Registers and report on any risks or opportunities 
in relation to partnerships and key projects that may have an impact on the delivery of 
the organisation’s Corporate Plan objectives. 
 
All Employees  
All employees have responsibility for complying with the defined internal controls 
designed to minimise risk and for being aware of the risks that they encounter in their 
day to day roles. 
                                                                                                        
LCRCA Audit and Governance Committee 
This Committee has overall oversight of the governance and risk management 
arrangements for the Combined Authority and has responsibility for approving the Risk 
Management Policy. It has responsibility for the monitoring and review of the 
effectiveness of risk management arrangements and overseeing the continued 
development of these arrangements. This is chiefly implemented by reviewing the 
relevant aspects of the Corporate Risk Register, so as to obtain assurance that the 
risks identified as most significant threats to the achievement of objectives are being 
managed and controlled effectively.   
 
The Committee also monitors progress in addressing any risk-related issues reported 
to it, including those identified through Internal Audit work. 
 
Merseytravel Meeting 
This group has overall oversight of the governance and risk management 
arrangements for Merseytravel and has responsibility for approving the Risk 
Management Policy. 
 
Merseytravel Audit, Risk and Governance Board 
This Board has responsibility for the monitoring and review of the effectiveness of risk 
management arrangements and overseeing the continued development of these 
arrangements in respect of Merseytravel. This is chiefly implemented by reviewing the 
relevant aspects of the Corporate Risk Register, so as to obtain assurance that the 
risks identified as most significant threats to the achievement of objectives are being 
managed and controlled effectively.   

Page 77



 

Risk Management Policy             | 6 
 

The Board also monitors progress in addressing any risk-related issues reported to it, 
including those identified through Internal Audit work. 
 
Internal Audit Service 
Internal Audit, specifically the Risk Management function within it, has responsibility for 
facilitating the system of risk management, and ensuring the continued development of 
the system so as to maximise its effectiveness.  This comprises: 

 Compilation and dissemination of the Risk Management Policy;  

 Facilitating/supporting the process of risk review and reporting; 

 Promoting the embedding of effective risk management processes into the normal 
business processes of the organisation; 

 Advising on how to treat and manage risks; 

 Providing training on risk management; and 

 Helping to improve risk management through advising and supporting the 
identification of current and emerging risks. 

 
Internal Audit is responsible for monitoring the effectiveness of risk management 
arrangements, through delivery of the Internal Audit Plan. The work of Internal Audit in 
assessing the effectiveness of LCRCA/Merseytravel’s management and control of risk 
will inform the Head of Internal Audit’s Annual Report and the Annual Governance 
Statement (AGS).  
 
So as to preserve the independence of Internal Audit, it is important to note that its role 
will not comprise: 

 Dictating or influencing risk identification, scoring or risk appetite; and 

 Acting to mitigate or control risks. 
 
  

Page 78



 

Risk Management Policy             | 7 
 

4. Risk Management Process: Practical 
Guidance 
 
This section gives detailed practical guidance in how to approach the risk 
management process, so as to provide consistency in relation to how the principles 
are applied and how Risk Registers are constructed.  The Risk Register template is 
included within this document at Appendix E. 
 
The following diagram highlights the four key stages of the risk management process: 
 

 Identification of risks and opportunities; 

 Assessment of risks and opportunities; 

 Addressing risks and opportunities; and 

 Ongoing review. 
 

 
 
Source: It’s a Risky Business (CIPFA, 2014) 
 
STAGE 1: Identification of Risks or Opportunities 
 
The first stage in the process is to identify the risks and opportunities that threaten or 
may enhance the delivery of the organisation’s objectives.  These can be identified in 
various ways, including through formal risk workshops, planning sessions or often, 
these emerge “naturally” through business as usual. The identification of risks and 
opportunities should not be seen as a one-off exercise, and once an initial 
identification exercise has been undertaken, this should be updated on an ongoing 

Page 79



 

Risk Management Policy             | 8 
 

basis so as to ensure that the risks/opportunities identified are still reflective of those 
facing the organisation. 
 
The identification and accurate framing of risks/opportunities is crucial to the success 
of the process that follows, and so this stage should receive sufficient attention to 
ensure it is comprehensive.   
 
The following Risk Wheel identifies the main risk categories which can be used as 
prompts during the identification process: 
 

 
 

Key factors to consider when identifying a risk or opportunity: 
 

 Be specific in framing what the risk/opportunity is; 

 Be clear on how the risk/opportunity may impact the achievement of objectives – 
which objective is affected; 

 Think about the different facets of the risk/opportunity and how it may affect a 
number of objectives or impact across a wider area of the business; and 

 Where a risk/opportunity has a wider applicability, consult colleagues so that it can 
be framed to take account of cross-cutting issues. 

 
STAGE 2: Evaluation of Risks or Opportunities 
 
The first part of evaluating a risk/opportunity is to be clear on the consequences if the 
risk was to materialise or the opportunity was not optimised.  This should include clear 
reference to the objective which would be compromised by the materialisation of the 
risk. This should also include other consequences such as “negative media attention” 
or “legal challenge”, which may be knock-on effects of the risk materialising.  Where 
an opportunity is missed or not maximised, there should be an evaluation of the impact 
this would have on the relevant objective. 
 
The risk/opportunity should then be allocated an owner.  Ownership should sit with the 
officer in the organisation who has the appropriate level of control over the 

Business 
Interruption 

Financial 
Exposure 

Reputation 

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing 

Legislative/ 
Regulatory 

[CATEGORY 
NAME] 

Environmental/ 
Public Health 

Economic 

Page 80



 

Risk Management Policy             | 9 
 

management of the risk. Risks should sit at Director level (for corporate risks), 
Assistant Director/Head of Service level (for service risks) or Project/Programme 
Manager level (for project/programme risks).  So as to promote accountability, a single 
post should be named as the owner, rather than a group of people. 
 
The third stage is to score the “inherent risk” for its likelihood and impact.  This relates 
to the likelihood of the risk materialising, and its impact if it was to materialise, without 
any controls or mitigating actions having been applied.  This helps to give a view of the 
“raw” risk prior to the organisation having taken any action to minimise it.  Both 
aspects are allocated a score between 1 and 5, and one is multiplied by the other to 
give a total inherent risk score out of 25.  Guidance on scoring impact and likelihood is 
provided at Appendix B and C respectively. 
 
Whilst the inherent risk score identifies the likelihood and impact of the risk if it was to 
materialise without the implementation of controls, it is highly unlikely that this reflects 
the actual position.  With the potential exception of very new or emerging risks, it is 
likely that the organisation will have implemented one or a number of control measures 
to reduce the likelihood of the risk materialising and/or the impact if it was to 
materialise.  Controls are defined as “any action taken by management, the board or 
other parties to manage the risk and increase the likelihood that established objectives 
and goals will be achieved.” 
 
The next stage of the evaluation process is to identify what control measures the 
organisation has already put in place.  It is important that the controls listed genuinely 
relate to the risk under consideration, and that the control is actually in place and is 
effective – i.e. controls that are planned to be implemented should not feature at this 
stage.  Again, it is important to be specific in detailing the controls.  Assurances that 
have been received that indicate the effective operation of a control should be 
available to demonstrate that it is fulfilling its intended purpose – inspection reports, 
customer feedback or internal audit reports are examples of such assurances. 
 
The implementation of effective controls should serve to reduce the risk score 
associated with the risk.  This is the residual risk score – the likelihood and impact if 
the risk should materialise.  The implementation of controls which do not reduce these 
scores should lead to examination of the value for money of these controls having 
been implemented: controls consume resources and should be proportionate to the 
risk they are intended to mitigate.  The risk is now rescored, using the same criteria 
(as detailed in Appendix B and C) to evaluate its likelihood and impact now that 
controls have been applied.  Again, one score is multiplied by the other so as to give a 
total residual risk score out of 25. 
 
Risk Appetite 
 
The organisation’s risk appetite is the level of risk that it is prepared to tolerate so as to 
meet its objectives.  It is accepted that all activities carry risk, and risk cannot, and 
should not be avoided, but should be managed in a proportionate manner that 
supports organisational performance.  However, there will be some risks that are 
beyond what the organisation is prepared to tolerate, as these would have too great an 
impact should these materialise, or it may be judged that to put in place further control 
measures to reduce the risk is not possible, practical or cost-effective.   

Page 81



 

Risk Management Policy             | 10 
 

 
Therefore, in determining how the organisation will treat a specific risk, there needs to 
be a consideration of the impact of the risk on the organisation, and indeed the wider 
City Region and other stakeholders should the risk materialise.  This is done by 
utilising the Risk Impact Scoring guidance detailed at Appendix B to arrive at a 
residual risk impact score.  This guidance details the factors that should be taken into 
account when evaluating the various impacts a risk would have if it materialised, and a 
view should be taken across these factors (which are not exhaustive and other factors 
relevant to the risk can be taken in to account) to arrive at a residual risk score.   
 
The factors are: 
 

 Business Interruption – the impact on the organisation’ ability, and the ability of 
stakeholders, to maintain service continuity in the event of the risk materialising; 

 Financial Exposure – the financial costs associated with the risk materialising, 
such as fines, recovery costs, increased insurance premiums; 

 Reputational - the reputational impacts of the risk materialising, including negative 
reaction by government which may impact on future devolution, or negative press 
coverage which may impact on the credibility of the organisation;  

 Health, Safety and Wellbeing – direct or indirect impacts of the risk materialising 
on the health, safety and wellbeing of staff, key stakeholders or the wider City 
Region;  

 Legislative/ Regulatory – the impact of any legal or regulatory sanctions that may 
be applied to the organisation if the risk materialised; 

 Delivery of Service – the impact on the organisation’s ability to deliver its services 
in the event that the risk materialised;  

 Environmental/ Public Health – the impact on the City Region and potentially wider 
population in respect of environmental or public health considerations in the event 
that the risk materialised; and 

 Economic – economic implications for the City Region and potentially wider 
economy if the risk materialised, such as a negative impact on local businesses. 

 
 
 
This will inform the decision of whether the risk presents something that can be 
managed in some way (by treatment, tolerance or the transfer of some element of the 
risk) or whether the associated activity should be terminated as the impacts are judged 
to be too serious for the organisation to bear.  
  
Once the risk/opportunity has been given a residual risk score, thought can be given to 
the its treatment, and where actions that can be taken to reduce the impact and/or 
likelihood further. The residual risk score assists management in prioritising resources 
to mitigate risks.  There are four main options for treatment of a risk: 
 

 Terminate – can an activity be discontinued so that the risk is eliminated?  This 
usually applies to risks with very high residual scores.  

 Treat – can the risk be mitigated by the application of controls? 

 Tolerate – can the risk be accepted?  This usually applied to risks with very low 
residual scores. 

Page 82



 

Risk Management Policy             | 11 
 

 Transfer – can the risk be transferred to another party?  It is rare that a risk can be 
fully transferred, but a significant element could be transferred via insurance, for 
example. 

 
Once it has been established whether the risk is within risk appetite and that the risk is 
going to be managed and not terminated, the final assessment stage is to identify the 
target risk.  This represents the lowest score that a risk owner believes the residual 
risk can reduce to once where all control measures are in place there are no other 
controls that could be implemented in a cost-effective manner. The risk is once again 
re-scored, using the same criteria (as detailed in Appendix B and C) to evaluate its 
likelihood and impact once all controls have been applied.  This is usually aspirational 
and sets the direction for the management of the risk.  The same multiplier is applied 
to give a total target risk score out of 25. 
 
 
STAGE 3: Addressing Risks or Opportunities 
 
It may be that it is felt that the risk has been reduced as much as possible or that any 
remaining actions to be taken are unpalatable or unfeasible – for example they may 
consume more resource than is worthwhile, considering the impact if the risk 
materialised.  This should mean that the score has reached its target score. 
 
In most cases, however, a set of actions can be agreed that would have a beneficial 
effect on the risk’s impact and/or likelihood and represent good value for money.  The 
implementation of such actions is intended to increase the level of risk control 
measures in place and progress the risk towards it target score.  The actions should 
be defined in a SMART way – specific, measurable, achievable, relevant and timely.  
A responsible officer should be assigned to each of the actions, and this should be a 
person who has the autonomy to implement the action and does not necessarily have 
to be the Risk Owner.  A due date, by which the action will be implemented, should 
also be added.  A red/amber/green rating should also be assigned to the action, so 
that there is a view on whether the completion of the action is progressing in line with 
the planned timescale.   
 
STAGE 4: Risk Review and Reporting 

There is a clear relationship between the residual risk score and where the risk is 
owned and how it is reported.  This ensures that risks are managed at the most 
appropriate level of the organisation. Therefore, the Risk Evaluation Scoring Matrix, 
shown at Appendix D, should be used to determine the review and reporting 
arrangements for each identified risk.  Flexibility can be applied to this model, as for 
example emerging risks which score less than 16 may be included in the Corporate 
Risk Register so as to encourage early consideration and action prior to their expected 
escalation.   

Corporate Risks 
The Corporate Risk Register and Transport Risk Register is the subject of a full 
quarterly review by Executive Directors. This review is informed by updated Service 
and Project/Programme Risk Registers. 
 

Page 83



 

Risk Management Policy             | 12 
 

The updated Corporate Risk Register is then presented on a quarterly basis to the 
Audit and Governance Committee (for risks pertaining to the Combined Authority and 
overarching risks) and the Audit, Risk and Governance Board (for risks pertaining to 
Transport).  
 
Service Risks 
Service Risk Registers are maintained at Assistant Director/Head of Service level and 
are the subject of a quarterly review within Service Management Team meetings. New 
or escalating risks that score 16 or above, (or are expected to escalate towards a high 
score in the future if left untreated), should be put forward for review and potential 
inclusion in the Corporate Risk Register or the Transport Risk Register. 
 
Project/Programme Risks 
Project/Programme Risks are maintained at Project/Programme Manager level and 
are the subject of review within the governance structure relevant to the 
project/programme. 
 
Risk Review 
In reviewing a risk register, the following key items should be considered: 
 

 Are all existing risks relevant to the delivery of corporate/service/programme 
objectives included? 

 Have any of the risks changed, and does the risk description, controls, actions and 
scoring need to be updated to reflect the change? 

 Have any new risks emerged? 

 Are controls still in place and working effectively? 

 Do any new controls need to be put in place? 

 Is the scoring of the identified risks correct – are risks increasing or decreasing 
and if so, does the risk need to the escalated to the Corporate Risk Register or 
can it be de-escalated or closed? 

 Are agreed actions being implemented according to the timescale? 

 Have any actions been completed, meaning that there is a new control in place, 
and so does the residual score need to reduce as a result (so bringing the risk 
closer to its target score)? 

 
 
 
 
   

  

Page 84



 

Risk Management Policy             | 13 
 

5. Appendices 

APPENDIX A 

RISK GROUP 
TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 

CORE PURPOSE  

To focus on how the organisation’s risk management, performance management and 

governance arrangements can be developed to optimise delivery of the Corporate 

Plan. 

 

FUNCTIONS 

The key functions of the Group are: 

 

 To facilitate delivery of the Corporate Plan by appraising the organisation’s 

arrangements for the management of risk, performance, and governance and 

making recommendations to the Delivery Panel/Directors in order to develop these 

arrangements as to optimise their effectiveness. 

 

 To champion effective and appropriate risk management at all levels of the 

organisation, so as to ensure that benefits are harnessed. 

 

 To support corporate improvement by monitoring the progress made in 

addressing relevant actions arising from sources such as external audit, internal 

audit, external bodies (including government) and those identified in the Annual 

Governance Statements. 

 

 To inform the Annual Governance Statements by appraising the organisation’s 

governance arrangements so as to provide focus to the ongoing development of 

these arrangements. 

 

 To identify emerging risks and hot topics relevant to the organisation and to 

recommend organisational approaches to manage these. 

 

The Risk Group may establish task and finish sub-groups to consider specific issues in 

more detail.  These may involve officers who are not permanent members of the Risk 

Group.  Such groups will report their work and its outcomes to the Risk Group for 

onward consideration and reporting. 

 

MEMBERSHIP 

 

 Chair: Head of Internal Audit 

 Secretary: Risk Manager 

 Head of IT 

 Assistant Director – Strategic 
Delivery  

 Investment Manager 

 Head of People and 
Organisational Development 

 Head of Policy Co-ordination 

 Head of Asset Management 

Page 85



 

Risk Management Policy             | 14 
 

 Chief Legal Officer and Monitoring 
Officer or Deputy 

 Director of Corporate Services 

 Head of Evidence, Research and 
Intelligence  

 Assistant Director – Finance 

 Head of Mayoral Programmes 

 Corporate Performance and 
Research Manager 

 
 

 

FREQUENCY 

The Group will meet on a quarterly basis but can meet more frequently if required. 

 

REPORTING 

The Group’s work will be reported to the Directors in the first instance, with onward 

reporting of agreed actions through the relevant governance channels (Audit and 

Governance Committee, Audit, Risk and Governance Board, Merseytravel). 

Page 86



 

Risk Management Policy             | 15 
 

APPENDIX B 

RISK IMPACT: SCORING GUIDANCE 

 

 

Type of Impact 
1 

Negligible 
2 

Minor 
3 

Moderate 
4 

Major 
5 

Critical 

Business 
Interruption 

Brief disruption to 
important service areas 

Complete loss of 
non-crucial service 

Complete loss of a non-crucial 
service area for a protracted 

period or an important service 
area for a short period 

Major loss of service for less 
than one month 

Major loss of service for over one 
month 

Financial 
Exposure 

 
Up to £10,000 

 
£10,001 to £250,000 £250,001 to £3m £3m to £10m Over £10m 

Reputational  
Contained within 

directorate 

Contained within 
the organisation  

 

Adverse local public or press 
interest; complaints 

Adverse national public or press 
interest 

Adverse central government 
action 

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing  

Minor injury or discomfort 
to an individual 

Minor injury or discomfort to 
more than one individual 

Major injury or psychological 
damage to an individual 

Major injury or psychological 
damage to more than one 

individual 
 

Major incident involving multiple 
agencies 

Legislative/ 
Regulatory 

One-off minor breach 
resulting in minor adverse 

publicity / regulatory 
attention 

Some minor infringements of 
regulations / legislation resulting 

in minor fines or adverse 
publicity 

One-off moderate breach resulting 
in moderate fines or adverse 

publicity 

Systematic non-compliance 
resulting in significant litigation / 

fines or court appearance 

Forced closure of the 
organisation/loss of decision-

making powers 

Delivery of 
Service  

One-off minor reduction in 
performance in one 

service area 

Sustained reduction in 
performance in one area or 

reduction in performance across 
more than one service area 

Sustained reduction in 
performance in more than one 

service area 

Sustained systematic non-
performance against most 

performance targets 
Complete performance failure 

Environmental/ 
Public Health 

Minimal environmental or 
public health impact 

Short term disruption of the 
ecosystem or minor public 

health impact 

Medium term disruption of the 
ecosystem or moderate public 

health impact 

Long term disruption of the 
ecosystem or significant public 

health impact 

Major disruption of the ecosystem 
or long-term exposure to chronic 

health risks 

Economic  
Minimal economic decline 

relative to current forecasts 

Significant but localised decline 
in economic in line with current 

forecasts 

Significant but temporary decline 
in regional economy 

Significant regional decline in 
economy such that businesses 

are unable to thrive and impacts 
employment/growth figures  

Major regional decline leading to 
widespread business failure, loss 

of employment and hardship – 
long term impact affecting national 

economy  

P
age 87



 

Risk Management Policy             | 16 
 

 

APPENDIX C 

RISK LIKELIHOOD: SCORING GUIDANCE 

5 
Highly Probable 

 Extremely likely 

 The event is expected to occur in almost all circumstances 

 There has been a history of regular occurrences, i.e. on multiple occasions in the last twelve 
months 

 If new event, likelihood of occurrence regarded as almost inevitable 

4 
Probable 

 There is a strong possibility the event or risk will occur 

 The event is expected to occur in a majority of circumstances 

 There is a history of several occurrences, i.e. on more than one occasion in the last twelve months 

 If new event, likelihood of occurrence regarded as very likely 

3 
Possible 

 There is a reasonable probability the event or risk will occur 

 There may be a history of frequent occurrences  

 Everyone with knowledge of issues in this area knows this could happen 

 No or few effective measures have been implemented to reduce the likelihood of the risk 
materialising 

 If new event, likelihood of occurrence will probably occur in most circumstances 

2 
Unlikely 

 The event might occur at some time 

 There could be a history of ad hoc occurrences  

 Most of the team knows that the whilst unlikely, the risk might occur 

 Measures that reduce likelihood have been taken but are not fully effective 

 If new event, likelihood of occurrence regarded as unlikely but possible 

 
1 

Highly Unlikely 

 Not expected, but there is a slight possibility it could occur at some time 

 Some of the team considers that this is a risk that might occur 

 Team considers there is an appropriate control framework in place 

 Conditions exist for this to occur, but is highly unlikely 

 Probably requires more than two coincident events 

 

P
age 88



 

Risk Management Policy             | 17 
 

APPENDIX D 
 

RISK EVALUATION SCORING MATRIX 
 

LI
K

EL
IH

O
O

D
 

Highly 
Probable 

5 5 10 15 20 25 

 

Probable 

4 4 8 12 16 20 

 

Possible 

3 3 6 9 12 15 

 

Unlikely 

2 2 4 6 8 10 

 

Highly 
Unlikely 

1 1 2 3 4 5 

 

   

1 2 3 4 5 

 

   
Negligible Minor Moderate Major Critical 

  
 
 

   
IMPACT 

    
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 89



 

Risk Management Policy             | 18 
 

 
 
RISK REPORTING FRAMEWORK 
 
 
  

Colour Coding Red Risks Amber Risks Green Risks 

Residual Risk Score 
Range 

16 - 25 8 - 15 1 - 6 

Risk Register  Corporate Risk Register  Service Risk Register 

Project/Programme Risk Register 

Risk Owner Executive Director Assistant Director/ Head of Service 

Project/Programme Manager 

Officer Reporting 
Forum 

Executive Leadership Team 

Directorate Management Teams 

 Service Management Team  

Project/Programme Board 

Member Reporting 
Forum 

Audit and Governance 
Committee (Corporate Risk 

Register) 

 

None 

P
age 90



 

Risk Management Policy             | 19 
 

APPENDIX E 

RISK REGISTER TEMPLATE 

Corporate/Service Risk Register: Name of Service Area 

Date: 

 

Control Measures in Operation

Corporate

Objective 

Jeopardised

Risk Description Consequences of Risk 

Materialising

Risk Owner 

(post title)

Impact 

Score

Likelihood 

Score

Total 

Score

T
e
rm

in
a
te

T
re

a
t

T
o

le
ra

te

T
ra

n
s
fe

r Impact 

Score

Likelihood 

Score

Total 

Score

Action Action 

Owner

Timescale Progress on 

completion of 

Action within 

timescales 

(Red, Amber, 

Green)

Impact 

Score

Likelihood 

Score

Total 

Score

0

0

Target Risk ScoringRisk Treatment

(indicate with an X)

Action PlanRef. Risk Details Inherent Risk Scoring Residual Risk Scoring

P
age 91



T
his page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:  The Chair and Members of the Combined Authority 

Audit and Governance Committee 
  
Meeting:  28 July 2021 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  Combined Authority/All Districts 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT 
 

HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL REPORT AND OPINION 2020-21 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
 The purpose of this report is to provide the Head of Internal Audit’s Annual Report 

and Opinion in respect of Liverpool City Region Combined Authority for the 
financial year 2020-21.  The report summarises the work undertaken by Internal 
Audit during the year, the key conclusions that can be drawn from this, and the 
overall opinion on the organisation’s governance, risk and internal control 
environment.   

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee: 
  

(a) Notes the report. 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 So as to support the Committee in the discharge of its duties according to its 

Terms of Reference, and in accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards, this report fulfils the requirement for the Head of Internal Audit to 
provide an annual report and opinion on the effectiveness of the organisation’s 
governance, risk and internal control environment.  It is worthy of note that there is 
a separate Annual Report and Opinion relating to Merseytravel, and this is 
reported to the Audit, Risk and Governance Board and Merseytravel. 

 
3.2 The report highlights the following key points: 

 

 A summary of the Internal Audit work undertaken in respect of the LCRCA 
during 2020/21; 
 

 A summary of the performance of Internal Audit during the year, including 
discussion of the impact of the Coronavirus pandemic; 

Page 93

Agenda Item 10



 

 A review of Internal Audit’s compliance with the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards (PSIAS); 

 

 A summary of the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme 
(QAIP) established and maintained during the year; 
 

 The overall Head of Internal Audit’s opinion on the overall adequacy and 
effectiveness of the organisation’s framework of governance, risk 
management and internal control in 2020/21; and 
 

 A look ahead to the Internal Audit Plan 2021/22. 
 
 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.2 Human Resources 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.3 Physical Assets 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.4 Information Technology 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.5 Programme Management Office (PMO) 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
5. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
  
 It is the responsibility of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority to establish 

effective arrangements for the management of risk.  Internal Audit reports highlight 
weaknesses that pose a risk to the achievement of the organisation’s objectives 
and the according recommendations assist in mitigating such risks.  Internal audit 
work is one strand of assurance regarding the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control and this can be utilised to inform the organisation’s view of 
organisational risk and its management. 

 
 
6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 

Page 94



 
7. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
8. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
9. CONCLUSION 
 
 The Head of Internal Audit’s Annual Report and Opinion is the culmination of the 

work of Internal Audit during the year, and forms a key strand of assurance for the 
organisation regarding the effectiveness of the governance, risk and internal 
control environment. 

 
 

LAURA A. WILLIAMS 
Head of Internal Audit 

Contact Officer(s): 

Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit   tel: 0151 330 1764 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 – Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2020-21 
 
Background Documents:  
None 
 
 

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 

HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT  
ANNUAL REPORT AND OPINION 2020-21 

  

 

Audit and Governance Committee 

28 July 2021 

 

Laura A. Williams MA CPFA 
Head of Internal Audit 

P
age 97



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2020-21 - LCRCA Page | 1 
 

Contents 
 

             
 Page 

 
1. Executive Summary          2 

  
2. Introduction           4 

 
3. Work Completed          6 

 
4. Opinion          20 

 
5. Effectiveness of Internal Audit       22 

 
6. Developments         25 

 
7. Looking Ahead         26 

 
        

           
 
 
 

  

P
age 98



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2020-21 - LCRCA Page | 2 
 

1.  Executive Summary 
 
1.1 The Head of Internal Audit is obliged, under the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS), to provide an annual report 

summarising the work undertaken by internal audit during the last financial year, and to provide an overall opinion of the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation‟s framework of governance, risk management and internal control, derived 
from this work.  This is a key part of the governance and assurance frameworks of the Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority (LCRCA). 

 

1.2  In respect of 2020-21, 11 audits were completed in respect of Liverpool City Region Combined Authority. The overall 
organisational risk opinions given in these reports are summarised as: 

 

Organisational Risk 
Opinion 

Number of Audits 

Major 0 

Moderate 2 

Minor 3 

Negligible 0 

Advice provided 6 
          Table 1 

1.3 In addition to this, advice and guidance was given to a number of areas, such as Adult Education Budget and Housing First, 

and 142 grants were certified, totalling £20,053,067. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 99



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2020-21 - LCRCA Page | 3 
 

1.4 Based upon the work undertaken by Internal Audit in respect of 2020-21, the opinion of the Head of Internal Audit on the 

overall adequacy and effectiveness of LCRCA‟s framework of governance, risk management and control is: 

 

Head of Internal Audit Opinion 2020-21 

Overall Opinion  Capacity for Improvement  

Adequate Good 

 
1.5 The remainder of this report sets out in more detail how the opinion is derived. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 100



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2020-21 - LCRCA Page | 4 
 

2.   Introduction 
 
2.1  It is the responsibility of management to establish effective arrangements for governance, internal control and risk 

management in the organisation. 
 
2.2 In accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, LCRCA must ensure that it provides adequate and effective 

internal audit arrangements in respect of its accounting records and systems of internal control, and that it conducts an annual 
review of the effectiveness of these. In addition, these arrangements must be delivered in accordance with the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and Local Government Application Note (LGAN), which came into effect on 1 April 2013 
(and were revised 1 April 2016 and 1 April 2017 and LGAN revised 2019). 

 
2.3  The PSIAS represent mandatory best practice for all public sector internal audit service providers in the UK and cover: 
 

 Definition of Internal Auditing; 

 Code of Ethics; and 

 International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing. 
 

2.4  Further to the 2016 revision to the PSIAS, Internal Audit has adopted the following mission statement: 
“To enhance and protect organisational value by providing risk-based and objective assurance, advice and insight.” 

 
2.5  It is a requirement of the PSIAS that the Head of Internal Audit provides an annual report to those charged with governance, 

which should include an opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation‟s framework of governance, 
risk management and control. This report informs the Annual Governance Statement.  

 
2.6 The CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Head of Internal Audit (2019) also states that “The head of internal audit (HIA) plays 

a critical role in delivering the organisation’s strategic objectives by objectively assessing the adequacy and effectiveness of 
governance and management of risks, giving an evidence-based opinion on all aspects of governance, risk management and 
internal control”. 

 
 

P
age 101



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2020-21 - LCRCA Page | 5 
 

2.7 In arriving at this opinion, this report sets out: 
 

 A summary of the Internal Audit work undertaken during 2020-21; 

 A summary of the performance of Internal Audit during the year; including commentary on the impact of the Coronavirus 
pandemic; 

 A review of Internal Audit‟s compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS); 

 A summary of the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) established during the year; 

 The overall Head of Internal Audit opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation‟s framework of 
governance, risk management and control in 2020-21; and 

 A look ahead to the Internal Audit Plan 2021-22. 
 
2.8 It is worthy of note that in recognition of the separate legal status of Merseytravel, a separate Annual Report and Opinion has 

been issued in respect of that entity, and has been reported to the Audit, Risk and Governance Board and will be reported to 
Merseytravel.  For the information of this Committee, the overall opinion in respect of Merseytravel is also provided at section 
4 of this report. 
 

2.9  It is confirmed that there was no impairment to Internal Audit objectivity during 2020-21. 

  

P
age 102



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2020-21 - LCRCA Page | 6 
 

3.   Work Completed 
 
Background 
 
3.1 The Internal Audit Plan 2020-21 was approved by the Audit and Governance Committee at its meeting on 11 March 2020, but 

was revised in light of the developing risks arising from the pandemic, and was re-presented to the meeting on 23 September 
2020 (following a pause in meetings also arising from the pandemic). 

 
3.2 Members of this Committee have been kept fully appraised of the delivery of this Plan and the resulting outcomes via the 

“Internal Audit Update Report” which has been presented to each meeting of the Committee during the year.  This report has 
also detailed those audits undertaken of Merseytravel services provided to LCRCA, so as to provide members of this 
Committee with transparent information regarding the services LCRCA receives.  As these audits inform the Merseytravel 
Annual Report and Opinion, these are not detailed in this report. 
 

3.3  In addition, Internal Audit provides consultancy support in response to specific requests from management, which contributes 
to improving the organisation‟s governance, risk management and internal control arrangements. Such work can include 
advice and guidance around the implementation of new systems and procedures, and this has been particularly pertinent 
during 2020-21 as the LCRCA‟s arrangements have been continuing to develop.  

 
Delivery 
 
3.4 In respect of 2020-21, 11 internal audit reports were issued in respect of LCRCA.   
 
3.5  The audit opinions given during the year are summarised in the following chart:  

P
age 103



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2020-21 - LCRCA Page | 7 
 

 
                 Chart 1 

 
3.6 Recommendation priority levels featuring in these reports are summarised in the following chart: 
 

           
                      Chart 2 
 

 

0% 

18% 

27% 

0% 

55% 

Internal Audit Opinions 2020-21 

Major

Moderate

Minor

Negligible

Advice provided

3% 

88% 

9% 

Internal Audit Recommendations  
2020-21 

High

Medium

Advisory

P
age 104



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2020-21 - LCRCA Page | 8 
 

3.7 The detailed outputs of the work completed are detailed in the table below: 
  

Audit Title Organisational 
Risk Opinion 

Recommendation Priority Levels 

High Medium Advisory 

Covid-19 Future Innovation Fund  n/a 0 2 2 

Mayoral Programme - Tidal Minor 0 2 0 

ESIF Minor 0 0 1 

Adult Education Budget n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Annual Governance Statement Review 2019-
20 (LCRCA) 

n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Governance Assurance Statement 2020-21 
(LCRCA) 

n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Mayoral Programme - Digital Minor 0 8 0 

LEP Governance Annual Review n/a 0 2 0 

Transforming Cities Fund n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Housing First Moderate 1 14 0 

Investments Pre-Payment Assurance Moderate 0 3 0 
                                                                                            Table 2 

 

3.8 It is pleasing to note that the work completed has yielded no opinions of major organisational risk rating. 
 
3.9 During the year, the Plan was the subject of ongoing review so as to ensure that it was reflective of the risk landscape.  The 

review evaluated the risks presented by each of the audit areas, so as to ensure that: 

 The risks as these were perceived when the Internal Audit Plan was compiled was an accurate reflection of how these were 
perceived later in the year; 

 New and escalating risks were captured, and an audit included where necessary; and this is chiefly reflected in the revised 
Internal Audit Plan which was developed in response to the new and emerging risks to the organisation arising from the 
Coronavirus pandemic, and was presented to the Committee at its meeting on 23 September 2020; 

 The timing of the audit was most appropriate given the maturity of the risk involved; and 

P
age 105



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2020-21 - LCRCA Page | 9 
 

 The available audit days were used to provide the most comprehensive assurance possible, focusing on those risks that 
are most pertinent. 

 
Advice and Guidance on Developing Systems 
 
3.10 During the year, advice and guidance has been provided relating to the following areas.  This reflects the fact that the activities 

of the LCRCA were being developed during the year, and so the associated risks were being understood and controls being 
designed to mitigate these: 

 
Housing First - Internal Audit is represented on the Project Board for the development of Housing First, and during the year 
has provided an independent view and advice on internal control, governance, insurance and risk management matters.  The 
project concerns the award of a grant to the Combined Authority from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) of £7.7m over three years, to deliver step change in homelessness in the City Region. 
 
SIF - the team has provided advice and guidance to a variety of SIF projects, particularly when these have been at the 
development stage. This has provided valuable assistance in ensuring that relevant considerations such as evidencing 
defrayal of expenditure have been borne in mind in the agreement of Grant Funding Agreements. A specific review of the 
Future Innovation Fund was completed which considered the way in which submissions were appraised and awarded in 
respect of Round 1 and recommendations were made that would help to strengthen the process. 

                      
Grant Assurance 
 
3.11 In addition to the advice and guidance provided in respect of developing SIF projects, work has been undertaken by Internal 

Audit to review the evidence supporting requests for payment associated with grants.  This work is vital in providing assurance 
that grant applicants (including constituent Local Authorities, educational institutions, charities, voluntary organisations and 
businesses) have complied with the Grant Funding Agreements in place. The table below shows the grant claims that have 
been audited during 2020-21: 

 
 
 
 

P
age 106



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2020-21 - LCRCA Page | 10 
 

Grant Name Number of Claims Audited Value of Claims Audited 
 (£) 

 

BEIS EU Exit Business Readiness Fund 1  403,000  

Careers & Enterprise 16  521,816  

Growth Hub 5  549,520  

Low Energy Hub 3  284,036  

Peer Networks 1  45,000  

SIF 27  8,782,649  

SIF - Pre-Development Funding 29  865,536  

SIF - Skills 59  8,548,620  

SIF - Transforming Cities Fund 1  52,890  

Grand Total 142  20,053,067 
        Table 3 

 
Corporate Governance 
 
3.12 LCRCA has put in place a Code of Corporate Governance as part of its Constitution. This is held on the intranet for ease of 

reference for staff. 
 
 
 

P
age 107



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2020-21 - LCRCA Page | 11 
 

 3.13 In order to appraise the effectiveness of corporate 
governance and provide supporting evidence to inform the 
Annual Governance Statement (AGS), Internal Audit has 
conducted a review of the LCRCA‟s corporate governance 
arrangements. This has followed the mandatory 
CIPFA/SOLACE guidance “Delivering Good Governance in 
Local Government” (2016), which embodies the following 
Core Principles illustrated by the diagram, right. 

 
                                                                                                                                                                  “Delivering Good Governance in Local Government” (CIPFA/SOLACE) 2016 

 
3.14  The work covered the prescribed areas of governance as defined in the guidance, and engaged with all Heads of Service, 

Assistant Directors, Directors and the Chief Executive in gaining assurance that there is a comprehensive and effective 
system of governance in place. 

 
3.15 This comprised the completion of a Governance Assurance Statement by each of these senior staff, in which they commented 

on the adequacy of the governance arrangements within their spheres of influence.  The arrangements described in these 
Statements were generally positive and highlighted an awareness of the principles of good governance.  Also, positively, most 
respondents highlighted their wish to develop and improve their governance arrangements and identified actions to be taken 
over the next year to do so. 

 
3.16 The review has also encompassed a wider review of key aspects of the CIPFA/Solace guidance, particularly to look at areas 

of governance weakness suggested by the Liverpool City Council Best Value report, published in March 2021, and to highlight 

P
age 108



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2020-21 - LCRCA Page | 12 
 

any areas in which the organisation can learn lessons and strengthen its governance so as to provide assurance that the 
organisation has responded to the report in a positive manner and taken the opportunity to reflect and learn.  This links to the 
work undertaken more specifically to examine the nature and extent of any direct transactional linkages between the 
organisation and Liverpool City Council which could be a cause for concern as a result of the details released in the Best 
Value Report.  It is positive to note that no areas of concern were identified.   

 
3.17 The following table highlights the key findings emanating from the review work undertaken.  It should be noted that there was 

no indication of any of the weaknesses being widespread across the organisation and/or any significant issues having 
materialised. However, it is felt that by highlighting such weaknesses now, it will help to foster an open and transparent 
culture, with the ability to take positive immediate action in response.  The risk exists that, should action not be taken now to 
respond to these weaknesses, „Significant Governance Issues‟ may materialise as a result. 

 

Key Findings from the Annual Governance Statement Review 2020-21 

 Not being fully compliant with the requirements of the Transparency Code. 

 A need to further enhance awareness and understanding in relation to the Seven Principles of Public Life (Nolan 
Principles) across the organisation (however, improvements have been seen since last year). 

 A need to enhance understanding of, and compliance with, the Gifts and Hospitality Policy. 

 A need to enhance understanding of, and compliance with, the Declarations of Interest Policy. 

 Completion of e-learning modules has, in general, been poor across the organisation.  However, a new system has 
been introduced, by People and Organisational Development, to help enhance the process and facilitate completion. 

 A lack of clarity as to whether all key partnerships have been formally approved at senior level (n.b. an email was sent 
to relevant managers following a request by the Chief Executive; to try to obtain clarity and understanding; however, 
limited responses have been received) 

 A lack of performance management information having been reported to Members.  It is anticipated the translation of 
the Corporate Plan in to Service Plans (and further still within Individual Performance Plans), will need to be robustly 
monitored and reported against utilising appropriate measures.  

 A need to further strengthen controls in relation to evidence-based policy-making and understanding of implications and 
risk of decisions. 

 Managers raising concerns regarding staffing levels; and, as such, staffing and operations will need to be reviewed to 
ensure delivery of service objectives whilst maintaining adequate levels of internal control. 

P
age 109



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2020-21 - LCRCA Page | 13 
 

 A need to enhance monitoring of completion of training identified within IPPs, and the potential impact of non-
completion of such training. 

 A need to ensure robust Service Risk Registers are in place and subsequently reviewed and updated following the 
publication of the updated Corporate Plan; with the highest scoring risks in Service Risk Registers being escalated for 
consideration for inclusion in the Corporate Risk Register; and that risks are properly considered in decision making / 
reports presented to decision makers. 

 A need to raise awareness and understanding of how to report a data breach. 

 A need to enhance compliance with the requirements of the Corporate Retention Policy. 

 A need to ensure directorate policies and procedures are fit for purpose and up to date. 

 A need to ensure Business Continuity Plan(s) are reviewed and updated. 
           Table 4 

 
3.18 The corporate Risk Group plays an important role in reviewing the emerging AGS Review findings generated by the work of 

Internal Audit.  In early 2020, the group agreed a broad set of principles/questions to be utilised in assessing and determining 
whether a finding should be considered as a „Significant Governance Issue‟. The agreed principles/questions cover whether 
the issue in question has: 

 

 Resulted in non-achievement of one or more of the LCRCA; and/or 

 Resulted in non-achievement of a core principle detailed within the CIPFA guidance; and/or  

 Resulted in widespread negative publicity; and/or 

 Emanated from a concern about a wrongdoing or malpractice in the workplace that has had a public interest aspect; and/or 

 Been raised by an external body/regulator as being of significant concern/high priority; and/or  

 Been raised by one of the organisation‟s statutory officers as being of significant concern/high priority; and/or 

 Required (or will continue to require) significant organisational resources to rectify. 
 
The AGS findings were presented to the Risk Group in May 2021, and none were determined as being „significant‟ in nature.  
This was reported to the Director of Corporate Services who has responsibility for producing the AGSs.  

 
 
 

P
age 110



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2020-21 - LCRCA Page | 14 
 

Risk Management 
 
3.19 The system of corporate risk management is facilitated by Internal Audit, with appropriate operational safeguards in place to 

preserve independence.  
  
3.20 During the year, very positive progress has been made in embedding an effective system of risk management across the 

organisation, and this has been largely driven by the recruitment of a qualified and experienced Risk Manager.   
 
3.21 This progress has been reflected in a number of positive developments: 
 

 Maintenance of the Corporate Risk Register, which has been reviewed and presented to the Audit and Governance 
Committee at each of its meetings during the year; 

 Presentation of a report to Directors on a number of occasions during the year for the consideration of risk matters, 
especially highlighting the risks emerging from the pandemic; 

 Session on risk appetite which identified a number of key actions in train/planned in order to develop and articulate the 
appetite for risk across the organisation;  

 Risk Group continued to meet, focusing on developing the corporate approach to risk and governance matters, so as to 
improve the manner in which this supports delivery; 

 Establishment of Service Risk Registers for all service areas; and 

 A number of risk management workshops held, particularly at project level, so as to deepen understanding of risk across 
project management. 

 
3.22 It is important that the positive progress made in relation to risk management continues in 2020-21.  This should encompass 

sustained focus on embedding effective risk management arrangements across the organisation.   
 
Fraud 
 
3.23 The Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy demonstrates the organisation‟s commitment to creating an anti-fraud culture 

and maintaining high ethical standards in its administration of public funds.  There is also a suite of complementary policies 
including the Bribery Policy, Money Laundering Policy, Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy, Surveillance Policy and 

P
age 111



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2020-21 - LCRCA Page | 15 
 

Investigation Policy.  These link to other policies such as the Gifts and Hospitality Policy and the Employee Code of Conduct.  
During the year, Internal Audit refreshed those policies under its ownership, and these were approved by LCRCA.   

 
3.24  The Internal Audit service also raised the profile of fraud issues amongst officers by participating in International Fraud 

Awareness Week, which involved a range of fraud-related messaging featuring on the intranet and staff briefing; and the 
further development of a Fraud Awareness e-learning package which highlights the roles and responsibilities of staff in 
preventing and detecting fraud. 

 
3.25 Internal Audit has a number of responsibilities in the prevention and detection of fraud, bribery and corruption: 
 

 Co-ordination of the organisation‟s work on the National Fraud Initiative (NFI); 

 Completion of proactive anti-fraud audit work, which identifies a number of areas for anti-fraud review based upon areas of 
highest fraud risk; 

 Supporting the compilation of fraud risks within Service Risk Registers, and use of this to inform the proactive counter 
fraud work undertaken; 

 Production and maintenance of a suite of Counter-Fraud policies; 

 Investigation of referrals of suspected fraud and irregularity; 

 Receiving notification of suspected fraud or irregularity, reports of suspected money laundering (the Head of Internal Audit 
is the designated Money Laundering Reporting Officer), and the receipt of confidential reports (“whistleblows”); and 

 Being consulted for advice and guidance on matters of conduct and probity. 

 Co-ordination of the organisation‟s work on the National Fraud Initiative (NFI); 

 Compilation of a Counter-Fraud Internal Audit Plan, which identifies a number of areas for proactive anti-fraud review for 
completion; 

 Co-ordination of the compilation of the Fraud Risk Register, and use of this to inform the proactive counter fraud work 
undertaken; 

 Production and maintenance of a suite of Counter-Fraud policies; 

 Investigation of referrals of suspected fraud and irregularity; 

 Receiving notification of suspected fraud or irregularity, reports of suspected money laundering (the Head of Internal Audit 
is the designated Money Laundering Reporting Officer), and the receipt of confidential reports (“whistleblows”); and 

 Being consulted for advice and guidance on matters of conduct and probity. 

P
age 112



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2020-21 - LCRCA Page | 16 
 

 
3.26 A self-assessment of the organisation‟s counter fraud arrangements against the CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the 

Risk of Fraud and Corruption was conducted during the year.  In the Counter-Fraud Update report presented to this 
Committee at its January meeting, it was noted that a full review of the organisation‟s compliance with the guidance had been 
undertaken, and that this had resulted in a number of action points.  The following table gives an update on the progress being 
made to address these actions: 
 

Ref Action Progress Update 

1 Monitor the take-up levels of the Fraud Awareness e-learning and 
follow up to completion with Assistant Directors/Heads of Service 
and Directors if necessary. 

Monitoring of take up levels continues.  Manager also have access 
to management information regarding e-learning and staff receive 
reminders.  Internal Audit has also issued its own reminders to 
managers and has reinforced with corporate communications. 
446 members of staff have completed the awareness e-learning – 
representing 45% of the workforce.  

2 Conduct comparison of fraud risks with other Mayoral Combined 
Authorities. 

In progress 
Session to be held with other Mayoral Combined Authorities July 
2021. 

3 Consider running Fraud Risk Workshops within Departments, 
especially those where fraud risks have been identified as most 
significant. 

In progress 
Session was held with Travel Centres Operations Managers in May 
2021.  Further sessions to be held on the basis of risks identified in 
the fraud risks in Service Risk Registers. 

4 Undertake review of fraud risks in Service Risk Registers and 
ensure actions to address fraud risks are included for all.  Establish 
regime of regular reminders to update fraud risks in Service Risk 
Registers, including consideration of any new/emerging 
fraud/corruption risks. 

In progress 
Risk Manager continues to liaise with Heads of Service to ensure 
fraud risks are appropriate and reviewed.   

5 Strengthen guidance to Committee report authors relating to the 
consideration of fraud risks in the Risk section of the reports. 

Completed 
Updated guidance has been produced and included within the 
Committee report template. 

6 Include within the Annual Governance Statement commentary on 
the performance and effectiveness of the organisation‟s counter 
fraud strategy. 

Completed 
Included in AGS Findings Summary for 2020-21 for consideration 
for inclusion by the author. 

                                                         Table 5 

  

P
age 113



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2020-21 - LCRCA Page | 17 
 

3.27 During the year, there were no notifications of suspected fraud, bribery or corruption, or investigations of such matters carried 
out. 

 
3.28 In terms of proactive counter-fraud work, a number of pieces of work were completed across the LCRCA and Merseytravel: 
 

Audit Title Key Findings 

Fast Tag Account Management Administration of accounts is good but further work is required in 
respect of review of historic accounts to ensure that business users 
are not benefitting from the residents‟ discount toll charge 

Tunnels Cash Toll Recording No significant findings 

Travel Centres Stock reconciliations not always undertaken in accordance with 
established procedures and investigation of discrepancies not always 
recorded sufficiently    

Staff Benefits Periodic inspection of bikes and equipment obtained under the bike to 
work scheme not being undertaken  

Creditors (inc BACS Application Management) No significant findings 

Insurance Claims In-house claims team does not have visibility of all types of insurance-
reportable incidents occurring in the organisation. 
Management of the motor claims handler could be improved 

Mersey Ferries - Retail and Stock Reconciliation Lack of separation of duties in respect of stock taking  

Spaceport Closure Management of the remaining stock at closure was not as robust as it 
could have been.   

Mersey Ferries - Ticketing and Admissions No significant findings 

Credit Cards Transaction logs and supporting evidence incomplete in some cases. 
             Table 6 

 
3.29 The organisation participates in the National Fraud Initiative co-ordinated by the Cabinet Office.  Data from the Payroll, 

 Creditors and concessionary travel systems are uploaded to the dedicated Cabinet Office website and are matched with data 
within and between  participating  bodies so as to identify potential frauds, overpayments and errors. On receipt of the results, 
the organisation has responsibility to follow up and investigate the matches. The main NFI data matching is undertaken every 
two years, the results of these matches are fed into a national report at the end of each cycle.  

P
age 114



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2020-21 - LCRCA Page | 18 
 

 
3.30 Data for this cycle was uploaded during October 2020 in accordance with the NFI timetable, and matches were received in 

late January 2021.  Work on investigating the matches has been undertaken and no significant issues were identified. 
 
Other Points of Note 
 
3.31 There were 2 audits undertaken during the year that is worthy of note by virtue of their opinion of “moderate”: 

 

Audit Title Key Findings 

Housing First  Procedures and documentation in respect of personalisation budgets 
could be strengthened to reduce the risk of errors and/or fraud.  
Roles, responsibilities and expectations could be more clearly 
articulated and communicated. 
Safety and Inclusion Plans did not appear to be up to date which has 
led the department to review the reporting system to identify potential 
reporting errors. 

Investments Pre-Payment Assurance A lack of clarity exists in terms of different teams understanding the 
respective roles and responsibilities of others involved; and 
understanding how processes interlink between teams to ensure a 
fully joined up and seamless approach. Ultimately this could impact 
on the ability to detect fraud or error. 

                        Table 7 

Implementation of Recommendations 
 
3.32 During the year, follow up audits have been undertaken, so as to provide assurance that internal audit recommendations 

made have been implemented.  The results of this work have been reported to each meeting of the Audit and Governance 
Committee.  Generally, progress made in relation to audit recommendations has been positive, and has demonstrated the 
engagement of management in the audit process, and during the year, there have been no occasions on which the Audit and 
Governance Committee has been informed of concerns with the implementation of recommendations.  

 
 

P
age 115



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2020-21 - LCRCA Page | 19 
 

Impact of Coronavirus 
 
3.33 Coronavirus started to have an impact during mid-March 2020, when it became apparent that significant changes to methods 

of working would have to be made.  All staff who could work from home, including all Internal Audit staff, commenced doing so 
on 24 March 2020 following the Prime Minister‟s announcement of the national lockdown.  During the months that ensued, in 
line with the national picture, the Internal Audit team continued to work from home except for a brief return to the office during 
last summer.   

 
3.34 Following a brief hiatus in Internal Audit work in the first quarter of the year (when the team was being equipped for home 

working), and coinciding with a review and reappraisal of the Internal Audit Plan to recognise the new and emerging risks, the 
team commenced delivery during quarter 2 and continued to deliver the Plan to completion.  This not only reflects very 
positively on the team‟s ability to react to and thrive in challenging circumstances but is also testament to the organisation‟s 
receptiveness to internal audit.   

 
3.35 It is worthy of note that the Internal Audit section has also been called upon to provide advice and guidance to services in how 

they can manage delivery within a framework of appropriate control.    

P
age 116



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2020-21 - LCRCA Page | 20 
 

4.  Opinion 

 
4.1 Based upon the work undertaken by Internal Audit in respect of 2020-21, the opinion of the Head of Internal Audit on the 

overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation‟s framework of governance, risk management and internal control in 
2020-21 is: 

 

 

Head of Internal Audit Opinion 2020-21 

Overall Opinion  Capacity for Improvement  

Adequate Good 

           
4.2 This opinion indicates that during 2020-21, taking into account all factors detailed below, the operation of governance, risk 

management and internal control has been judged as adequate, meaning that it meets the minimum standards. This has 
arisen as a result of: 

 

 An assessment of the work delivered by Internal Audit during 2020-21, and the generally positive opinions generated from 
Internal Audit work in respect of the LCRCA during the year; 

 Considerable improvement in embedding an effective system of risk management during the year, including the regular 
review of the Corporate Risk Register; and 

 Systems and processes for many of the activities of the organisation have become established and have strengthened 
during the year. 
 

4.3 The capacity for improvement rating indicates the extent to which it is the Head of Internal Audit‟s belief that the level of 
control will improve over the next year.  This is based upon management‟s response to Internal Audit work and the 
expediency of implementation of Internal Audit recommendations, and the positive developments in the area of risk 
management and corporate planning/performance management. It recognises that there is work to do to continue to embed 
effective governance, internal control, risk management, and corporate planning and performance management into all parts 
of the organisation, but recognises the appetite and capability of CA staff to embrace these developments positively. 

 

P
age 117



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2020-21 - LCRCA Page | 21 
 

4.4 It should be noted the opinion does not imply that Internal Audit has reviewed all risks and assurances relating to the 
organisation and is not an absolute assurance of the effectiveness of internal control arrangements and the management of 
risk. The purpose of this opinion is to contribute to the assurances available to the organisation which underpin the 
assessment of the effectiveness of its governance framework, including the system of internal control, which are encapsulated 
in the Annual Governance Statement. 

 
4.5 As noted in the Introduction to this report, the opinion expressed above does not relate to LCRCA, which, as a separate legal 

entity, attracts its own Annual Report and Opinion, which is prepared for the Audit and Governance Committee.  
 
4.6 As noted in the Introduction to this report, the opinion expressed above does not relate to Merseytravel, which, as a separate 

legal entity, attracts its own Annual Report and Opinion, which is prepared for the Audit, Risk and Governance Board.  
However, for the information of this Committee, the opinion provided in respect of Merseytravel is: 

 

 

Head of Internal Audit Opinion 2019-20 

Overall Opinion  Capacity for Improvement 

Adequate Reasonable 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

P
age 118

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwicoZ6p7N3nAhVJT8AKHQ4kCWIQjRx6BAgBEAQ&url=https://twitter.com/merseytravel&psig=AOvVaw1SARCPS9Bday13ZCBdbBT_&ust=1582209628605812


 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2020-21 - LCRCA Page | 22 
 

5. Effectiveness of Internal Audit 

 
5.1 In establishing and demonstrating the effectiveness of Internal Audit, there are a number of requirements set out in the Public 

Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS): 
 

 External peer assessment of compliance with the PSIAS, required every five years; 

 Internal assessment of compliance with the PSIAS, ideally conducted annually; and 

 Establishment and maintenance of a Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP), designed to ensure the 
quality of internal audit work and its development and improvement over time. 

  
External Peer Assessment 
 
5.2 In 2017, the service was the subject of an external peer assessment, conducted by peer local authorities, of the extent to 

which the service complies with the mandatory framework for Internal Audit in the UK Public Sector: Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards (PSIAS).  The overall assessment was that the service “generally complies” with the PSIAS, the highest 
opinion that can be given.  An Action Plan was issued, and the recommendations have since been implemented. 

 
5.3  As the PSIAS determine that this must take place every five years, the re-assessment will take place in Summer 2021. 
 
Internal Assessment 
 
5.4 An internal assessment of compliance was completed during the year, and it is the opinion of the Head of Internal Audit that 

the service continues to “generally comply” with the PSIAS.  The self-assessment indicated 83% compliance with its 
requirements. 

 
5.5 There were a number of actions arising from the self-assessment, and these fell into two categories – those felt to be essential 

to compliance with the PSIAS, and secondly, those felt to be improvements that could be made so as to continue the 
development of the service.  The actions arising from the self-assessment, and the progress made to date is detailed in the 
following table: 

P
age 119



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2020-21 - LCRCA Page | 23 
 

Ref Action Progress Update 

 PSIAS  

1112 Include relevant detail to committee/board to enhance transparency 
in relation to the safeguards relating to roles and responsibilities that 
fall outside of internal auditing  

Completed 
Included within Internal Audit Charter presented to the ARG Board 
and Audit and Governance Committee March 2021 meetings.  

1312 Confirm independence and qualifications of assessor to Board and 
Committee prior to the external assessment  

Completed 
Included detail in PSIAS section of Internal Audit Update Report 
presented to ARG Board and Audit and Governance Committee July 
2021 meetings.  

2330 To delete archived records which are past their retention period  Completed 
Records that have passed their retention period have been deleted.  

 PSIAS Development  

2200, 
2230 

Further embed the process of auditor and manager discussion re 
scope/most pertinent risks/available time budget; and pre-audit 
discussions with client to aid the process of scoping the audit review  

In progress 
Embedding of fully risk-based audit approach continues, with team 
session held in June 2021 to progress the implementation. 
 

2410 Review/formalise arrangements with Beatles Story and the LEP.  In progress 

           Table 8 

 
Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) 
 
5.6  During the year, so as to ensure that the Service not only continues to comply with the PSIAS, but to ensure that the service 

continues to develop and modernise, the following actions were (and continue to be) taken: 
 

 Staff participation in relevant professional seminars and completion of relevant Continuing Professional Development 
requirements; 

 Increasing the focus on risk in internal audit work and reports, linking explicitly to the risk registers and engaging with the 
Risk Manager to ensure a contemporary view of organisational risk is reflected in audit work; 

 Recruitment of a Principal Auditor who is professionally qualified and suitably experienced; 

 Engagement with Heads of Service and Directors regarding their perception of risk and their associated audit needs; 

 Development of the relationship with the Audit, Risk and Governance Board; and  

P
age 120



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2020-21 - LCRCA Page | 24 
 

 Continuous review and update of working practices and reflection of associated changes in the Internal Audit Manual. 
 

5.7 A key element of the QAIP, in evidencing that the service complies with the PSIAS, operates in an efficient and effective 
manner, and is perceived as adding value to the organisation‟s operations, is the adoption of a set of key performance 
indicators (KPIs).  These feature in the Internal Audit Update Report, which is presented to each meeting of the Audit and 
Governance Committee.  For 2020-21, the KPIs adopted, their year-end results and associated commentary, are shown in the 
table below: 

  
Description and Purpose Target Actual Variance and Explanation 

Compliance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 
(PSIAS) 
This measures the extent to which the Internal Audit Service 
complies with the requirements set out in the Standards and the 
Local Government Application Note. 

100% 100% No variance 
The results of self-assessment reveal that the 
service continues to “generally comply” with the 
Standards.   

Percentage of the Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 completed 
This measures extent to which the Audit Plan is being delivered. 
The delivery of the Plan is vital in ensuring that an appropriate 
level of assurance is being provided across the organisation‟s 
systems. 

100% 
 

100% 
 

No variance 
The 2020-21 Plan has been completed. 

Percentage of recommendations made that have been 
agreed to be implemented by management 
This measures the extent to which managers feel that the 
recommendations made are appropriate and valuable in 
strengthening the control environment. 

100% 100% No variance 
Acceptance of recommendations is generally 
high. 

Percentage of client survey responses indicating a "very 
good" or "good" opinion 
This measures the feedback received on the service provided 
and seeks to provide assurance that Internal Auditors conduct 
their duties in a professional manner. 

100% 100% No variance 
Feedback positive although response levels were 
low. 

Percentage of annual senior management survey responses 
indicating satisfaction with the Internal Audit service 
provided 
This measures the feedback received from Directors and Heads 
of Service on the service provided and seeks to provide 
assurance that Internal Audit is adding value at a strategic level. 

100% 100% No variance 
Feedback positive although response levels were 
low. 

        Table 9 

P
age 121



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2020-21 - LCRCA Page | 25 
 

6. Developments 

 
6.1 During the year, the staffing of the team evolved with the completion of a modest restructure which gave the opportunity for 

the appointment of a new Principal Auditor, who is CIPFA-qualified and suitably experienced, who joined the team in March 
2021.   

 
6.2 In spite of the fact that this vacancy existed for most of the year, and in light of the compounding pressures presented by the 

pandemic, the level of completion of the Internal Audit Plan has been extremely positive, and this has arisen through 
strengthening the performance management arrangements within the team, including holding weekly “Goal Setting” sessions 
and setting quarterly targets for completion of work.  The hard work of the team during such a challenging year is recognised 
and sincerely appreciated and has been the subject of positive comment by not only senior management in the organisation, 
but also by this Committee and the Audit, Risk and Governance Board. 

 
6.3 During the year, the focus on modernising the service has continued, reflected in a more streamlined and risk-based 

approach.  This has enabled very favourable comparison with our peers and has facilitated the effective completion of the 
Internal Audit Plan. 

 
6.4 The relationships held by Internal Audit with stakeholders have continued to be positive during the year, and it is pleasing that 

despite the year being one of unprecedented challenges, the perception of the service has continued to be good, and its 
reputation has been maintained. This is reflected in the customer feedback obtained.  The service has enjoyed good working 
relationships with officers across the organisation, and officers are thanked for their support during the year in enabling the 
completion of audit work and the development of the system of internal control.  The relationship with the external auditor, 
Mazars, has also been good, allowing for a positive level of liaison and co-ordination of effort. 

 
6.5 In terms of the relationship of Internal Audit with the Audit and Governance Committee, the streamlined and effective reporting 

of Internal Audit matters to the Committee has facilitated a very positive relationship.  

P
age 122



 
 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2020-21 - LCRCA Page | 26 
 

7. Looking Ahead 

 
7.1 The new financial year presents an opportunity to continue to contribute to the maintenance and development of robust 

internal control, governance and risk management across the organisation.  The key developments that are already in train for 
the year include: 

 

 Development and approval of a fully risk-based Internal Audit Plan, which draws on corporate and service risk information, 
and the views of Internal Audit, to arrive at a Plan which is reflective of the key risks facing the organisation. Crucially, this 
approach encourages a risk focus within audits and in the audit report, and also allows for a dynamic approach to the Plan 
which is able to reflect the changing and emerging risks faced by the organisation; crucially those arising from the 
Coronavirus pandemic and the recovery of the organisation and the City Region as a whole, reflected within the Corporate 
Plan; 

 Continuing to strengthen the linkages between audit and risk, and using this to inform audit work at every level from 
planning to reporting; 

 Production of a Service Plan which sets a clear strategic direction for the service and its development, linking this to the 
continued compliance with PSIAS and how the service contributes to the achievement of corporate priorities; and 

 Strengthening the work undertaken on counter-fraud, to increase the focus on proactive work linked to the key fraud risks 
facing the organisation. 

 
7.2 The continued development and progress of the service will be reported to the Audit and Governance Committee, and the 

service looks forward to sharing its success with the Committee during 2021-22. 
 

 

P
age 123



T
his page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 

To:  The Chair and Members of the Combined Authority 
Audit and Governance Committee 

 
Meeting:     28 July 2021 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  None 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT 
 

CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
 The purpose of this report is to provide the updated Code of Corporate 

Governance for the approval of the Committee.  
  
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee: 
  

(a) Approves the updated Code of Corporate Governance. 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 So as to support the Committee in the discharge of its duties according to its 

Terms of Reference, this report details the organisation’s Code of Corporate 
Governance, which has been reviewed and updated.  

 
3.2 The Code of Corporate Governance is a key document in providing guidance to 

officers and members in all matters of governance.  The document includes: 
 

 Details of the seven Principles of Public Life – known as the Nolan 
Principles, explaining what these are and what these mean for public 
servants; 

 

 Details of the organisation’s responsibilities under the CIPFA/SOLACE 
guidance “Delivering Good Governance in Local Government” (CIPFA, 
2016), which is the key document for good governance in the sector; and 

 

 Providing evidence of how the organisation meets these responsibilities, 
by highlighting the key policies, procedures, systems and processes that 
support this. 

 

Page 125

Agenda Item 11



 
3.3 The document has been updated to include evidence to detail the governance 

arrangements the organisation has in place to comply with the CIPFA/SOLACE 
guidance, which has arisen from the Internal Audit review of governance which 
informs the Annual Governance Statements for the LCRCA and Merseytravel for 
2020-21.  For ease of review, the updated areas have been highlighted in yellow. 

 
3.4 Once the document has been approved, it will be disseminated to all staff so that 

they are aware of the principles and their personal governance responsibilities. 
 
 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.2 Human Resources 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.3 Physical Assets 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.4 Information Technology 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.5 Programme Management Office (PMO) 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
5. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
  
 The maintenance of an effective system of corporate governance is essential to 

ensuring that a number of key governance and reputational risks are managed, so 
that the organisation can demonstrate delivery of its priorities in a manner 
consistent with the Nolan principles. The presence and regular update of the Code 
of Corporate Governance is a key part of managing these risks. 

 
 
6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
7. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 

Page 126



 
8. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
9. CONCLUSION 
 
 The regular review and update, and subsequent publication to all staff, of the Code 

of Corporate Governance is a key method of promoting good governance in the 
organisation. 

 
 

LAURA A. WILLIAMS 
Head of Internal Audit 

 

Contact Officer(s): 

Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit   tel: 0151 330 1764 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A – Code of Corporate Governance 
 
Background Documents:  
None 
 
 

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Code of Corporate Governance 2021-22 Page | 1 

 
 

Code of Corporate Governance 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Document Owner Head of Internal Audit 

Document Version  0.2 

Approved By (Proposed) Audit and Governance Committee –  
28 July 2021 

Merseytravel – 11 August 2021  

Created Date June 2020 

Reviewed Date June 2021 

Date of Next Review July 2022 

 
This document is the property of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 

(LCRCA) and Merseytravel. It may not be reproduced or used for any other 
purpose that that for which it is supplied without the written permission of 

LCRCA and Merseytravel. 
 

Uncontrolled when printed – for latest version, please check One Place 
 

  

Page 129



   
 

Code of Corporate Governance 2021-22 Page | 2 
 

 

Contents 
 
 
 Page 
 

1. Purpose 3 
 

2. Definitions 3 
 

3. The Principles of Good Governance 5 
 

4. Applying the Principles of Good Governance 6 
 
  

 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 130



   
 

Code of Corporate Governance 2021-22 Page | 3 
 

1. Purpose 
 
1.1 It is the responsibility of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) 

and Merseytravel (hereafter referred to as “the organisations”) to establish, and 
maintain under regular review, governance arrangements which are robust, 
appropriate and effective. 

 
1.2 The purpose of this Code of Corporate Governance (hereafter referred to as the 

“Code”) is to demonstrate how the organisations demonstrate good 
governance. 

 
1.3 The adoption of a Code is a key requirement of the relevant Statement of 

Recommended Practice: Delivering Good Governance in Local Government, 
(CIPFA/SOLACE, 2016) (hereafter referred to as “the guidance”) and this Code 
reflects how the principles embodied within this guidance have been adopted by 
the organisations.  

 
1.4 The adoption of, and compliance with, the Code is also one of the key areas for 

comment in the Annual Governance Statement (AGS), which the organisations 
are each required to produce and publish under the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015 (regulation 6(1)(a)).  The Annual Governance Statement is 
produced by the Director of Corporate Services and is based upon a „review of 
effectiveness‟ incorporating a number of sources of assurance, primarily: the 
work of Internal Audit and other providers of assurance, and through provision 
of assurance from management; all of which provide a commentary on how 
robust and consistently applied the governance framework is in practice. 

 
1.5 All staff have a key role to play in demonstrating good governance, and so 

should be aware of this Code and should seek to demonstrate the principles 
embodied within it in their work, in conjunction with the Corporate Behaviours: 
LCR First, Action Focus and Respect.   

  
 

2. Definitions 
 
2.1 The guidance defines corporate governance as that which “comprises the 

arrangements put in place to ensure that the intended outcomes for 
stakeholders are defined and achieved” (CIPFA/SOLACE, 2016). 

 
2.2 In order to demonstrate good corporate governance, the organisations should 

carry out their functions in a way that demonstrates accountability, 
transparency, effectiveness, integrity, and inclusivity. This means doing the right 
things, in the right way, for the right people, in a timely, inclusive, open, honest 
and accountable manner.   

 
2.3 This links directly to the Principles of Public Life, known as the Nolan Principles, 

which all public servants are expected to demonstrate in their work.  The 

Page 131



   
 

Code of Corporate Governance 2021-22 Page | 4 
 

Committee on Standards in Public Life defines the principles as detailed in the 
table below: 

 

Principle Definition 

 
 
 

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the 
public interest. 
 
 
 
 

 

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves 
under any obligation to people or organisations that 
might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. 
They should not act or take decisions in order to gain 
financial or other material benefits for themselves, their 
family, or their friends. They must declare and resolve 
any interests and relationships. 
 

 

Holders of public office must act and take decisions 
impartially, fairly and on merit, using the best evidence 
and without discrimination or bias. 
 

 

 

Holders of public office are accountable to the public 
for their decisions and actions and must submit 
themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this. 
 

 

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in 
an open and transparent manner. Information should 
not be withheld from the public unless there are clear 
and lawful reasons for so doing. 
 

 

Holders of public office should be truthful. 
 

 

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles 
in their own behaviour. They should actively promote 
and robustly support the principles and be willing to 
challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs. 
 

 

 
 

Selflessness 

 

Page 132



   
 

Code of Corporate Governance 2021-22 Page | 5 
 

3. The Principles of Good Governance 
 
3.1 The guidance sets out seven Core Principles that detail the key requirements 

for the governance of the organisation. These are illustrated in the diagram 
below: 

 
 

Achieving the Intended Outcomes While Acting in the Public Interest at all 
Times 

 
Source: Delivering Good Governance in Local Government (CIPFA/SOLACE, 2016)  

 
3.2 Under each of the Core Principles detailed in the diagram, the guidance sets 

out a number of supporting principles which detail how the organisations should 
demonstrate good governance.

Page 133



 

Code of Corporate Governance 2021-22 Page | 6 

 

4. Applying the Principles of Good Governance 
 
4.1 In order to achieve good governance, the organisations will seek to apply each of the seven Core Principles, along with their 

Sub-Principles, and this is demonstrated via the supporting evidence detailed in the table below: 

 

Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

A. Behaving 
with integrity, 
demonstrating 
strong 
commitment to 
ethical values 
and respecting 
the rule of the 
law 

Behaving with 
integrity  
 

 Ensuring members and officers behave 
with integrity and lead a culture where 
acting in the public interest is visibly 
and consistently demonstrated thereby 
protecting the reputation of the 
organisation  

 Ensuring members take the lead in 
establishing specific standard 
operating principles or values for the 
organisation and its staff and that they 
are communicated and understood.  
These should build on the Seven 
Principles of Public Life (the Nolan 
Principles) 

 Leading by example and using the 
behaviours and values as a framework 
for decision making and other actions  

 Demonstrating, communicating and 
embedding the behaviours or values 
through appropriate policies and 
processes which are reviewed on a 
regular basis to ensure that they are 
operating effectively   

 

 Clear set of approved Corporate 
Behaviours. 

 LCRCA Constitution and Merseytravel 
Constitution. 

 Employee Ethics Policy. 

 Officer Code of Conduct. 

 Member Code of Conduct (updated June 
2021) supported by co-ordinated provision 
of training September 2021. 

 Individual Performance Plan (IPP) process. 

 Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy; and 
associated Policy Framework: 
Anti Bribery Policy; 
Anti Money Laundering Policy; 
Confidential Reporting (Whistle-blowing) 
Policy; 
Investigation Protocol; 
Surveillance Policy. 

 Declarations of Interest process by 
employees and Members.  

 Gifts and Hospitality Policy. 

 IT Acceptable Use Policy. 

 IT Security Policy. 

P
age 134



   
 

Code of Corporate Governance 2021-22 Page | 7 
 

Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

 Public access to relevant meetings 
(including online public viewing – 
webcasting, and availability of meeting 
agendas and minutes). 

 Freedom of Information and Environment 
Regulations Policy. 

 Publication Scheme. 

 Grievance Policy. 

 Corporate induction/staff handbook. 

 Cultural architects and change catalysts in 
place. 

 I4P system utilised to issue all new and 
revised policies to staff and monitor 
completion. 

 E-learning. 

Demonstrating 
strong 
commitment to 
ethical values 

 Seeking to establish, monitor and 
maintain the organisation‟s ethical 
standards and performance 

 Underpinning personal behaviour with 
ethical values and ensuring they 
permeate all aspects of the 
organisation‟s culture and operation 

 Developing and maintaining robust 
policies and procedures which place 
emphasis on agreed ethical values 

 Ensuring that external providers of 
services on behalf of the organisation 
are required to act with integrity and in 
compliance with ethical standards 
expected by the organisation 

 Corporate Plan. 

 Clear set of approved Corporate 
Behaviours. 

 Employee Ethics Policy. 

 Officer Code of Conduct. 

 Member Code of Conduct 

 LCRCA Constitution and Merseytravel 
Constitution. 

 Dignity at Work Policy. 

 Social Value Group (and development of a 
Social Value Policy). 

 Contract Procedure Rules incorporating 
social value considerations 

 Corporate induction/staff handbook. 

P
age 135



   
 

Code of Corporate Governance 2021-22 Page | 8 
 

Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

Respecting the 
rule of law 

 Ensuring members and staff 
demonstrate a strong commitment to 
the rule of the law as well as adhering 
to relevant laws and regulations 

 Creating the conditions to ensure that 
the statutory officers, other key post 
holders, and members, are able to fulfil 
their responsibilities in accordance with 
legislative and regulatory requirements 

 Striving to optimise the use of the full 
powers available for the benefit of 
citizens, communities and other 
stakeholders 

 Dealing with breaches of legal and 
regulatory provisions effectively 

 Ensuring corruption and misuse of 
power are dealt with effectively 

 LCRCA Constitution and Merseytravel 
Constitution. 

 Legal team providing general support to 
officers; specialist advice, where required; 
and available for input at all Committee 
meetings. 

 Monitoring officer in place (review of reports 
and associated advice). 

 Individual Performance Plan (IPP) process 

 Declarations of Interest process by 
employees and Members. 

 Gifts and Hospitality Policy. 

 Section in Committee reports to consider 
legal and risk implications. 

 Review of reports via Modern.Gov and Legal 
sign off required for all delegated decisions 
and Committee reports. 

 Call-in procedure. 

 Consideration of the need for Section 5 
reports under the Local Government 
Housing Act 1989 

 

B. Ensuring 
openness and 
comprehensive 
stakeholder 
engagement 

Openness  Ensuring an open culture through 
demonstrating, documenting and 
communicating the organisation‟s 
commitment to openness 

 Making decisions that are open about 
actions, plans, resource use, forecasts, 
outputs and outcomes. The 
presumption is for openness. If that is 

 Public access to relevant meetings. 

 Standard format for committee reports.  

 Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 Public consultations. 

 Statement of Accounts. 

 Freedom of Information and Environment 
Regulations Policy. 

 Publication Scheme. 

P
age 136



   
 

Code of Corporate Governance 2021-22 Page | 9 
 

Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

not the case, a justification for the 
reasoning for keeping a decision 
confidential should be provided 

 Providing clear reasoning and 
evidence for decisions in both public 
records and explanations to 
stakeholders and being explicit about 
the criteria, rationale and 
considerations used. In due course, 
ensuring that the impact and 
consequences of those decisions are 
clear 

 Using formal and informal consultation 
and engagement to determine the most 
appropriate and effective interventions/ 
courses of action 

 Annual Governance Statement. 

 Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit. 

 Publishing full business cases of projects 
supported by the Strategic Investment Fund 
(SIF) as well as regular updates on other 
decisions taken. 

 Defined Assurance Framework and 
Investment Strategy in place for SIF projects 

 Defined Assurance Framework in place for 
AEB service 

 Authors of formal reports seek to identify 
options and alternatives, and weigh up 
considerations. 

 Briefings of relevant lead members in place. 

 Member induction and training. 
 

Engaging 
comprehensively 
with institutional 
stakeholders 
 

 Effectively engaging with institutional 
stakeholders to ensure that the 
purpose, objectives and intended 
outcomes for each stakeholder 
relationship are clear so that outcomes 
are achieved successfully and 
sustainably 

 Developing formal and informal 
partnerships to allow for resources to 
be used more efficiently and outcomes 
achieved more effectively 

 Ensuring that partnerships are based 
on: 
o trust 

 Corporate Plan. 

 Local Enterprise Partnership. 

 The Audit, Risk and Governance Board has 
an independent chair and a further 
independent member.  Audit and 
Governance Committee has an independent 
member. 

 Stakeholder engagement in relation to 
transport delivery. 

 Stakeholder engagement about what the 
LCRCA does and how it benefits the local 
area.  

 Transport Advisory Group in place. 

 Growth Directors??? 

P
age 137



   
 

Code of Corporate Governance 2021-22 Page | 10 
 

Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

o a shared commitment to change 
o a culture that promotes and accepts 

challenge among partners and that 
the added value of partnership 
working is explicit 

 Results of Transport Focus surveys inform 
aims of Bus Alliance. 

 Stakeholder consultation regarding the Local 
Industrial Strategy. 

 LCR Listens. 

 Building Back Better economic recovery 
plan utilising stakeholder engagement. 

 

Engaging with 
individual 
citizens and 
service users 
effectively 

 Establishing a clear policy on the type 
of issues that the organisation will 
meaningfully consult with or involve 
communities, individual citizens, 
service users and other stakeholders to 
ensure that service (or other) provision 
is contributing towards the 
achievement of intended outcomes 

 Ensuring that communication methods 
are effective and that members and 
officers are clear about their roles with 
regard to community engagement 

 Encouraging, collecting and evaluating 
the views and experiences of 
communities, citizens, service users 
and organisations of different 
backgrounds including reference to 
future needs 

 Implementing effective feedback 
mechanisms in order to demonstrate 
how views have been taken into 
account 

 Corporate Plan. 

 LCR Listens. 

 Public consultations. 

 Health and Safety Policy. 

 Communications Team. 

 Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 LCRCA Constitution and Merseytravel 
Constitution. 

 Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit. 

 Stakeholder engagement in relation to 
transport delivery.  

 Merseytravel welcomes public participation 
in formal meetings through the facility for 
public petitions and questions. 

 Stakeholder engagement in relation to bus 
services. 

 Stakeholder engagement about what the 
LCRCA does and how it benefits the local 
area. 

 Customer insight informs marketing 
campaigns. 

 Transport Advisory Group in place. 

P
age 138



   
 

Code of Corporate Governance 2021-22 Page | 11 
 

Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

 Balancing feedback from more active 
stakeholder groups with other 
stakeholder groups to ensure 
inclusivity 

 Taking account of the impact of 
decisions on future generations of tax 
payers and service users 

 

 Growth Directors??? 

 Results of Transport Focus surveys inform 
aims of Bus Alliance. 

 Stakeholder consultation regarding the Local 
Industrial Strategy. 

 Corporate commercial agreements in place 
with Stadler, Merseyrail and Network Rail in 
relation to the Rolling Stock project, working 
positively in a collaborative manner and the 
wider Merseyrail network and services 

 Bus Alliance in place to encourage common 
shared view and continuous improvement in 
bus services. 

 Relationship/governance arrangements with 
Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP).  

C. Defining 
outcomes in 
terms of 
sustainable 
economic, 
social and 
environmental 
benefits 

Defining 
outcomes 

 Having a clear vision, which is an 
agreed formal statement of the 
organisation‟s purpose and intended 
outcomes containing appropriate 
performance indicators, which provide 
the basis for the organisation‟s overall 
strategy, planning and other decisions 

 Specifying the intended impact on, or 
changes for, stakeholders including 
citizens and service users.  It could be 
immediately or over the course of a 
year or longer  

 Delivering defined outcomes on a 
sustainable basis within the resources 
that will be available 

 Corporate Plan. 

 Service Plans in place to translate corporate 
objectives into service objectives. 

 Clear set of approved Corporate 
Behaviours. 

 Risk Management Policy and associated 
Risk Registers. 

 Revision of the report template to reflect 
social value etc 
 

P
age 139



   
 

Code of Corporate Governance 2021-22 Page | 12 
 

Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

 Identifying and managing risks to the 
achievement of outcomes 

 Managing expectations effectively with 
regard to determining priorities and 
making the best use of the resources 
available 

Sustainable 
economic, social 
and 
environmental 
benefits 

 Considering and balancing the 
combined economic, social and 
environmental impact of policies and 
plans when taking decisions about 
service provision 

 Taking a longer-term view with regard 
to decision making, taking account of 
risk and acting transparently where 
there are potential conflicts between 
the organisation‟s intended outcomes 
and short-term factors such as the 
political cycle or financial constraints 

 Determining the wider public interest 
associated with balancing conflicting 
interests between achieving the 
various economic, social and 
environmental benefits, through 
consultation where possible, in order to 
ensure appropriate trade-offs 

 Ensuring fair access to services 
 

 Corporate Plan. 

 Annual Governance Statement. 

 Finance monitoring reports. 

 Public consultations. 

 Social Value Group (and development of a 
Social Value Policy). 

 Contract Procedure Rules incorporate social 
value considerations. 

 Environmental Policy. 

 Strategic Investment Fund (SIF) Assurance 
Framework. 

 LCRCA has approved long-term strategies 
for Rail, Bus, short journeys and Tunnels. 

 Integration of evidence and policy teams has 
allowed better evidential decisions, and 
integration of decision-making and forward 
planning across policy teams. 

 Development of Local Industrial Strategy. 

 Spatial Development, Housing and Air 
Quality policies under development. 

 Mayor‟s vision and aims communicated 
through regular briefings and 
communications. 

 Relevant financial, social and environmental 

P
age 140



   
 

Code of Corporate Governance 2021-22 Page | 13 
 

Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

and risk considerations have to be included 
within Committee/Board reports. 

D. Determining 
the 
interventions 
necessary to 
optimise the 
achievement of 
the intended 
outcomes 

Determining 
interventions 

 Ensuring decision makers receive 
objective and rigorous analysis of a 
variety of options indicating how 
intended outcomes would be achieved 
and associated risks. Therefore 
ensuring best value is achieved 
however services are provided 

 Considering feedback from citizens 
and service users when making 
decisions about service improvements 
or where services are no longer 
required in order to prioritise competing 
demands within limited resources 
available including people, skills, land 
and assets and bearing in mind future 
impacts 

 Public consultations – including options 
appraisal. 

 Business case evaluations. 

 Strategic Investment Fund (SIF) Assurance 
Framework. 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy. 
 

Planning 
interventions 

 Establishing and implementing robust 
planning and control cycles that cover 
strategic and operational plans, 
priorities and targets 

 Engaging with internal and external 
stakeholders in determining how 
services and other courses of action 
should be planned and delivered 

 Considering and monitoring risks 
facing each partner when working 
collaboratively, including shared risks 

 Ensuring arrangements are flexible and 

 Corporate Plan. 

 Service Plans. 

 Team Plans. 

 Individual Performance Plan (IPP) process. 

 Risk Management Policy. 

 Business Continuity Policy (and associated 
plans). 

 Public consultations. 

 Strategic Investment Fund (SIF) Assurance 
Framework. 

 LCRCA Constitution and Merseytravel 
Constitution. 

P
age 141



   
 

Code of Corporate Governance 2021-22 Page | 14 
 

Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

agile so that the mechanisms for 
delivering goods and services can be 
adapted to changing circumstances 

 Establishing appropriate key 
performance indicators (KPIs) as part 
of the planning process in order to 
identify how the performance of 
services and projects is to be 
measured 

 Ensuring capacity exists to generate 
the information required to review 
service quality regularly 

 Preparing budgets in accordance with 
objectives, strategies and the medium 
term financial plan 

 Informing medium and long term 
resource planning by drawing up 
realistic estimates of revenue and 
capital expenditure aimed at 
developing a sustainable funding 
strategy 

 

 Delegated decisions system in place to 
record rationale and approval of decisions 
within delegated authority. 

 Briefings by Metro Mayor and senior leaders. 

 Regular briefings to members on the Rolling 
Stock project. 

 Operational and Executive Programme 
Boards in place for Rolling Stock project, 
with dashboard reports presented to these. 

 Social Value Group (and development of a 
Social Value Policy). 

 Contract Procedure Rules incorporating 
social value considerations. 

 Continued management of delivery of 
required outputs under Devolution Deal. 

 Service Area Measures defined and reported 
throughout the year with remedial actions 
being put in place where this is falling below 
target. 

 Customer feedback obtained regarding 
transport and used to feed into plans and 
working with providers, e.g. Bus Alliance. 

Optimising 
achievement of 
intended 
outcomes 

 Ensuring the medium term financial 
strategy integrates and balances 
service priorities, affordability and other 
resource constraints 

 Ensuring the budgeting process is all-
inclusive, taking into account the full 
cost of operations over the medium 
and longer term 

 Corporate Plan. 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

 LCRCA Constitution and Merseytravel 
Constitution. 

 Social Value Group (and development of a 
Social Value Policy). 

 Contract Procedure Rules incorporating 
social value considerations. 

P
age 142



   
 

Code of Corporate Governance 2021-22 Page | 15 
 

Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

 Ensuring the medium term financial 
strategy sets the context for ongoing 
decisions on significant delivery issues 
or responses to changes in the 
external environment that may arise 
during the budgetary period in order for 
outcomes to be achieved while 
optimising resource usage 

 Ensuring the achievement of „social 
value‟ through service planning and 
commissioning 

 
 

E. Developing 
the entity‟s 
capacity, 
including the 
capability of its 
leadership and 
the individuals 
within it 

Developing the 
entity‟s capacity 

 Reviewing operations, performance 
and use of assets on a regular basis to 
ensure their continuing effectiveness 

 Improving resource use through 
appropriate application of techniques 
such as benchmarking and other 
options in order to determine how 
resources are allocated so that defined 
outcomes are achieved effectively and 
efficiently 

 Recognising the benefits of 
partnerships and collaborative working 
where added value can be achieved 

 Developing and maintaining an 
effective workforce plan to enhance the 
strategic allocation of resources 

 Corporate Plan. 

 Service Plans. 

 Team Plans. 

 Recruitment and Selection Policy. 

 Appropriate capacity maintained and 
developed so as to meet the needs of the 
organisation. 

Developing the 
capability of the 
entity‟s 

 Developing protocols to ensure that 
elected and appointed leaders 
negotiate with each other regarding 

 LCRCA Constitution and Merseytravel 
Constitution. 

 Corporate Plan. 

P
age 143



   
 

Code of Corporate Governance 2021-22 Page | 16 
 

Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

leadership and 
other individuals 

their respective roles early on in the 
relationship and that a shared 
understanding of roles and objectives 
is maintained 

 Publishing a statement that specifies 
the types of decisions that are 
delegated and those reserved for the 
collective decision making of the 
governing body 

 Ensuring the leader and the chief 
executive have clearly defined and 
distinctive leadership roles within a 
structure whereby the chief executive 
leads in implementing strategy and 
managing the delivery of services and 
other outputs set by members and 
each provides a check and a balance 
for each other‟s authority  

 Developing the capabilities of members 
and senior management to achieve 
effective leadership and to enable the 
organisation to respond successfully to 
changing legal and policy demands as 
well as economic, political and 
environmental changes and risks by: 
o ensuring members and staff have 

access to appropriate induction 
tailored to their role and that ongoing 
training and development matching 
individual and organisational 
requirements is available and 

 Service Plans. 

 Team Plans. 

 Individual Performance Plan (IPP) process. 

 Regular Heads of Service and Directors 
meetings held along with Management 
Conferences. 

 Learning and Development Procedure. 

 Employee Assistance Programme. 

 Attendance at Work Policy. 

 Job descriptions in place.  

 Management/1:1 meetings in place. 

 Corporate induction/staff handbook. 

 Member training and briefings in place. 

 Chief Executive and Metro Mayor briefings 
for staff. 

 Health and Safety Policy. 
 

P
age 144



   
 

Code of Corporate Governance 2021-22 Page | 17 
 

Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

encouraged 
o ensuring members and officers have 

the appropriate skills, knowledge, 
resources and support to fulfil their 
roles and responsibilities and 
ensuring that they are able to update 
their knowledge on a continuing 
basis 

o ensuring personal, organisational 
and system-wide development 
through shared learning, including 
lessons learnt from governance 
weaknesses both internal and 
external 

 Ensuring that there are structures in 
place to encourage public participation 

 Taking steps to consider the 
leadership‟s own effectiveness and 
ensuring leaders are open to 
constructive feedback from peer review 
and inspections 

 Holding staff to account through 
regular performance reviews which 
take account of training or 
development needs 

 Ensuring arrangements are in place to 
maintain the health and wellbeing of 
the workforce and support individuals 
in maintaining their own physical and 
mental wellbeing 

P
age 145



   
 

Code of Corporate Governance 2021-22 Page | 18 
 

Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

F. Managing 
risks and 
performance 
through robust 
internal control 
and strong 
public financial 
management 

Managing risk  Recognising that risk management is 
an integral part of all activities and 
must be considered in all aspects of 
decision making 

 Implementing robust and integrated 
risk management arrangements and 
ensuring that they are working 
effectively 

 Ensuring that responsibilities for 
managing individual risks are clearly 
allocated 

 Risk Management Policy. 

 Risk Group. 

 Corporate and Transport Risk Registers. 

 Service Risk Registers. 

 Risk management training sessions.  

 Sessions with Directors to identify key risks 
and produce fully updated Corporate Risk 
Registers. 

 Inclusion of risk management considerations 
in all Committee reports. 

Managing 
performance 

 Monitoring service delivery effectively 
including planning, specification, 
execution and independent post 
implementation review 

 Making decisions based on relevant, 
clear objective analysis and advice 
pointing out the implications and risks 
inherent in the organisation‟s financial, 
social and environmental position and 
outlook 

 Ensuring an effective scrutiny or 
oversight function is in place which 
provides constructive challenge and 
debate on policies and objectives 
before, during and after decisions are 
made thereby enhancing the 
organisation‟s performance and that of 
any organisation for which it is 
responsible 

 Corporate Plan. 

 Business Continuity Policy (and associated 
plans). 

 Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 Committee reports and Member briefings. 

 Performance Management Framework. 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy.  

 LCRCA Constitution and Merseytravel 
Constitution.  

 

P
age 146



   
 

Code of Corporate Governance 2021-22 Page | 19 
 

Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

 Providing members and senior 
management with regular reports on 
service delivery plans and on progress 
towards outcome achievement 

 Ensuring there is consistency between 
specification stages (such as budgets) 
and post implementation reporting (e.g. 
financial statements) 

Robust internal 
control 

 Aligning the risk management strategy 
and policies on internal control with 
achieving objectives 

 Evaluating and monitoring risk 
management and internal control on a 
regular basis 

 Ensuring effective counter fraud and 
anti-corruption arrangements are in 
place 

 Ensuring additional assurance on the 
overall adequacy and effectiveness of 
the framework of governance, risk 
management and control is provided 
by the internal auditor 

 Ensuring the audit committee  which is 
independent of the executive and 
accountable to the governing body: 
o provides a further source of effective 

assurance regarding arrangements 
for managing risk and maintaining 
an effective control environment 

o that its recommendations are 

 Corporate Plan. 

 Service Plans. 

 Corporate and Transport Risk Registers. 

 Service Risk Registers. 

 Risk Management Policy. 

 Annual Governance Statement and 
supporting review. 

 Internal Audit review of risk management. 

 Internal Audit Annual Audit Plan. 

 Head of Internal Audit – Annual Report and 
Opinion. 

 Head of Internal Audit – regular reports to 
Audit and Governance Committee and 
Audit, Risk and Governance Board. 

 Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy; and 
associated Policy Framework 

 Policies cover how to report a suspected 
fraud. 

 Whistleblowing policy in place and staff have 
accepted via I4P. 

 Fraud Awareness training available as an e-
learning package. 

P
age 147



   
 

Code of Corporate Governance 2021-22 Page | 20 
 

Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

listened to and acted upon 
 

 Fraud awareness campaigns – such as 
Fraud Awareness Week. 

 Internal Audit proactive counter-fraud work 
carried out and Fraud Risk Register in place. 

 Participation in the National Fraud Initiative 
(NFI). 

Managing data 
 
 

 Ensuring effective arrangements are in 
place for the safe collection, storage, 
use and sharing of data, including 
processes to safeguard personal data 

 Ensuring effective arrangements are in 
place and operating effectively when 
sharing data with other bodies 

 Reviewing and auditing regularly the 
quality and accuracy of data used in 
decision making and performance 
monitoring 

 

 Data Protection Policy. 

 CCTV Code of Practice. 

 Freedom of Information 

 Environment Regulations Policy. 

 Publication Scheme. 

 Records Management Policy and 
Procedures. 

 Off-site Records Retrieval Guidance. 

 Record Retention Schedule and Guidance. 

 Corporate Retention Policy in place 

 Social Media Policy. 

 IT Acceptable Use Policy. 

 IT Security Policy. 

 PCI Compliance Policy. 

 Data Protection/GDPR training including e-
learning packages being available. 

 Portal for reporting data breaches 
maintained. 

 SIMO and SIRO in place.  Annual self-
assessment undertaken in relation to the 
role of SIRO (utilising the governance 
requirements detailed in Local Public 
Services Data Handling Guidelines 5th 
Edition, April 2018). 

P
age 148



   
 

Code of Corporate Governance 2021-22 Page | 21 
 

Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

 Corporate Retention Policy in place.  

 Physical controls in place to protect data 
held in paper format.  

 Electronic system access controls in place. 

 Information Asset Registers in place. 

Strong public 
financial 
management 

 Ensuring financial management 
supports both long term achievement 
of outcomes and short-term financial 
and operational performance 

 Ensuring well-developed financial 
management is integrated at all levels 
of planning and control, including 
management of financial risks and 
controls 

 

 LCRCA Constitution and Merseytravel 
Constitution. 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

 Budget monitoring and reporting. 

 Monthly budget monitoring statements 
received by Heads of Service and 
discussions held. 

 Financial information available via Agresso 
access. 

 Financial implications of decisions included 
within Committee reports and Delegated 
Decisions, both of which require Finance 
sign off. 

 Agresso authorisation levels and delegated 
authority in place. 

 Income reconciliation at source within high 
volume transactional areas. 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

 Budget proposals shared with Transport 
Committee and Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to allow consideration and 
scrutiny prior to formal approval. 

 Finance consideration and sign off required 
for reports to LCRCA and to Merseytravel – 
facilitates robust discussion regarding 

P
age 149



   
 

Code of Corporate Governance 2021-22 Page | 22 
 

Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

financial implications of decisions. 

 Annual self-assessment undertaken in 
relation to the role of the Chief Financial 
Officer in Local Government (utilising CIPFA 
document „The Role of the Chief Financial 
Officer in Local Government‟ 2016).  

G. 
Implementing 
good practices 
in 
transparency, 
reporting and 
audit to deliver 
effective 
accountability 

Implementing 
good practice in 
transparency 

 Writing and communicating reports for 
the public and other stakeholders in a 
fair, balanced and understandable style 
appropriate to the intended audience 
and ensuring that they are easy to 
access and interrogate 

 Striking a balance between providing 
the right amount of information to 
satisfy transparency demands and 
enhance public scrutiny while not being 
too onerous to provide and for users to 
understand 

 Public access to relevant meetings. 

 Standard committee report template. 

 Heads of Service have responsibility for 
ensuring data on website and intranet is up 
to date. 

 Limited number of reports identified as being 
wholly part 2 most are identified as being 
partially part 2 to satisfy transparency 
requirements 

 

Implementing 
good practices 
in reporting 

 Reporting at least annually on 
performance, value for money and 
stewardship of resources to 
stakeholders in a timely and 
understandable way 

 Ensuring members and senior 
management own the results reported 

 Ensuring robust arrangements for 
assessing the extent to which the 
principles contained in this Code have 
been applied and publishing the results 
on this assessment, including an action 

 Review of Committee reports by a range of 
officers to ensure that issues are expressed 
clearly.  Members then scrutinise the reports 
and ask questions. 

 Consideration of internal audit work at 
LCRCA Audit and Governance Committee, 
and Merseytravel Audit, Risk and 
Governance Board. 

 Annual Governance Statement. 

 Statement of Accounts. 

 Risk Group. 
 

P
age 150



   
 

Code of Corporate Governance 2021-22 Page | 23 
 

Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

plan for improvement and evidence to 
demonstrate good governance (the 
annual governance statement) 

 Ensuring that this Framework is 
applied to jointly managed or shared 
service organisations as appropriate 

 Ensuring the performance information 
that accompanies the financial 
statements is prepared on a consistent 
and timely basis and the statements 
allow for comparison with other, similar 
organisations 

 

Assurance and 
effective 
accountability 

 Ensuring that recommendations for 
corrective action made by external 
audit are acted upon 

 Ensuring an effective internal audit 
service with direct access to members 
is in place, providing assurance with 
regard to governance arrangements 
and that recommendations are acted 
upon 

 Welcoming peer challenge, reviews 
and inspections from regulatory bodies 
and implementing recommendations 

 Gaining assurance on risks associated 
with delivering services through third 
parties and that this is evidenced in the 
annual governance statement 

 Ensuring that when working in 
partnership, arrangements for 

 External Audit Reports to LCRCA Audit and 
Governance Committee and Merseytravel 
Audit, Risk and Governance Board. 

 Internal Audit Annual Audit Plan. 

 Head of Internal Audit – Annual Report and 
Opinion. 

 Head of Internal Audit – regular update 
reports to LCRCA Audit and Governance 
Committee and Merseytravel Audit, Risk and 
Governance Board. 

 Compliance with Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards. 

 Annual Governance Statement. 

 Corporate Plan. 

 Strategic Investment Fund (SIF) Assurance 
Framework. 

 Self-assessment undertaken in relation to 
the role of the Head of Internal Audit in 

P
age 151



   
 

Code of Corporate Governance 2021-22 Page | 24 
 

Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

accountability are clear and the need 
or wider public accountability has been 
recognised and met. 

 

Public Sector Organisations (utilising CIPFA 
document „The role of the Head of Internal 
Audit in Public Sector Organisations‟ 2019 
edition).   

 Risk-based Internal Audit Plan. 

 Annual bus survey used to shape service 
going forward. 

 Annual Conversation – positive relationship 
with government in place and developing. 

 Ferries Domestic Safety Management 
external review. 

 All reports require approvals from Head of 
Service/Assistant Director/Executive 
Director, to enable any issues of clarity or 
accuracy to be challenged or questioned. 

 

P
age 152



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:  To the Chair and Members of the Audit and 

Governance Committtee 
 
Meeting:     28 July 2021 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
KEY DECISION   No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES 
 

MAZARS AUDIT APPROACH TO 2020-21 EXTERNAL AUDIT 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
 This report provides the Members of the Audit and Governance Committee with 

Mazars Audit Strategy Memorandum (ASM) which details their proposed approach 
to the audit of the Combined Authority financial statements for the financial year 
2020-21 for consideration and comment.  

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 It is recommended that the Committee: 
 

(a) Note the external audit plan of work for 2020-21 as proposed by Mazars 
and detailed in their ASM;  
 

(b) Note that that the ASM will be submitted to the Combined Authority for 
approval; 

 
(c) Provide comments on the proposals as detailed in the ASM; and 

 
(d) Recommend the approval of the ASM to the Combined Authority, subject 

to any comments or amendments proposed. 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The statutory responsibilities and powers of the external auditors are set out in the 

Local Audit and Accountability Act 2012 and the National Audit Office’s Code of 
Audit Practice. 

 
3.2 The external audit process has two key objectives; namely 
 

Page 153

Agenda Item 12



(a) Providing an opinion on the financial statements (including the Annual 
Governance Statement); and 

 
(b) Concluding on the arrangements in place for securing economy, efficiency 

and effectiveness. 
 
3.3 To demonstrate how these objectives have been met, Merseytravel’s external 

auditors, Mazars, have prepared the Combined Authority’s External Audit Plan in 
respect of the 2020-21 Financial Statement audit and Value for Money work 
(Appendix 1). The plan is presented to the Audit and Governance Committee for 
consideration and comment. 

 
 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial 
 
 None arising directly from this report. 
 
4.2 Human Resources 
 
 None arising directly from this report. 
 
4.3 Physical Assets 
 
 None arising directly from this report. 
 
4.4 Information Technology 
 
 None arising directly from this report. 
 
4.5 Programme Management Office (PMO) 
 
 None arising directly from this report. 
 
 
5. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
 None arising directly from this report. 
 
 
6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 None arising directly from this report. 

 
 

7. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 None arising directly from this report. 
 
 
 

Page 154



8. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
 None arising directly from this report. 
 
 
9. CONCLUSION 
 
 The external auditor’s ASM details their proposed approach to the audit of the 

annual statement of accounts for Merseytravel and is shared with Members of the 
Audit, Risk and Governance Board for consideration and comment. 

 
 

JOHN FOGARTY 
Executive Director of Corporate Services 

 
 

Contact Officer(s): 
Sarah Johnston, Assistant Director fo Finance, 0151 330 1015.  
 
Appendices: 
Appendix One – Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Audit Strategy Memorandum 
2020-21 
 
Background Documents:  
None 
 

Page 155



This page is intentionally left blank



Audit Strategy Memorandum

P
age 157



01

02

03

04

05

06

07

08

Contents

Engagement and responsibilities summary

Your audit engagement team

Audit scope, approach and timeline

Significant risks and other key judgement areas

Value for Money

Fees for audit and other services

Our commitment to independence

Materiality and misstatements

Appendix – Key communication points

This document is to be regarded as confidential to Liverpool City Region Combined Authority. It has been prepared for the sole use of the Audit and Governance Committee as the appropriate sub-committee charged with 
governance. No responsibility is accepted to any other person in respect of the whole or part of its contents. Our written consent must first be obtained before this document, or any part of it, is disclosed to a third party.

2

P
age 158



Members of the Audit and Governance Committee
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority
1 Mann Island
Liverpool
L3 1 BP

19 April 2021

Dear Sirs / Madams

Audit Strategy Memorandum – Year ending 31 March 2021 

We are pleased to present our Audit Strategy Memorandum for Liverpool City Region Combined Authority for the year ending 31 March 2021. The purpose of this document is to summarise our audit approach, highlight significant 
audit risks and areas of key judgements and provide you with the details of our audit team. As it is a fundamental requirement that an auditor is, and is seen to be, independent of its clients, section 7 of this document also 
summarises our considerations and conclusions on our independence as auditors. We consider two-way communication with you to be key to a successful audit and important in:

• reaching a mutual understanding of the scope of the audit and the responsibilities of each of us;

• sharing information to assist each of us to fulfil our respective responsibilities;

• providing you with constructive observations arising from the audit process; and

• ensuring that we, as external auditors, gain an understanding of your attitude and views in respect of the internal and external operational, financial, compliance and other risks facing Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
which may affect the audit, including the likelihood of those risks materialising and how they are monitored and managed.

With that in mind, we see this document, which has been prepared following our initial planning discussions with management, as being the basis for a discussion around our audit approach, any questions, concerns or input you 
may have on our approach or role as auditor. This document also contains an appendix that outlines our key communications with you during the course of the audit,

Client service is extremely important to us and we strive to provide technical excellence with the highest level of service quality, together with continuous improvement to exceed your expectations so, if you have any concerns or 
comments about this document or audit approach, please contact me on 07795 506766.

Yours faithfully

Mark Dalton

Mazars LLP

Mazars LLP
One St Peter’s Square

Manchester
M2 3DE

Mazars LLP – One St Peter’s Square, Manchester, M2 3DE
Tel: 0161 234 9200 – www.mazars.co.uk
Mazars LLP is the UK firm of Mazars, an integrated international advisory and accountancy organisation. Mazars LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales with registered number OC308299 and with its registered office at Tower Bridge House, St Katharine’s Way, 
London E1W 1DD.
We are registered to carry on audit work in the UK by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Details about our audit registration can be viewed at www.auditregister.org.uk under reference number C001139861. VAT number: 839 8356 73

P
age 159



Section 01:

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

P
age 160



5

1. Engagement and responsibilities summary

Overview of engagement

We are appointed to perform the external audit of Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (the Authority) for the year to 31 March 2021. The scope of our engagement is set out in the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors 
and Audited Bodies, issued by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) available from the PSAA website: https://www.psaa.co.uk/managing-audit-quality/statement-of-responsibilities-of-auditors-and-audited-bodies/. Our 
responsibilities are principally derived from the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the 2014 Act) and the Code of Audit Practice issued by the National Audit Office (NAO), as outlined below.

Audit opinion
We are responsible for forming and expressing an opinion on the financial statements. Our 
audit does not relieve management or the Audit and Governance Committee, as those 
charged with governance, of their responsibilities.

Going concern
The Authority is required to prepare its financial statements on a going concern basis by the 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting. The Treasurer is responsible for the 
assessment of whether is it appropriate for the Authority to prepare it’s accounts on a going 
concern. basis As auditors, we are required to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
regarding, and conclude on the appropriateness of the Treasurer’s use of the going concern 
basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements and the adequacy of 
disclosures made.

Fraud
The responsibility for safeguarding assets and for the prevention and detection of fraud, 
error and non-compliance with law or regulations rests with both those charged with 
governance and management. This includes establishing and maintaining internal controls 
over reliability of financial reporting.  

As part of our audit procedures in relation to fraud we are required to enquire of those 
charged with governance, including key management as to their knowledge of instances of 
fraud, the risk of fraud and their views on internal controls that mitigate the fraud risks. In 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK), we plan and perform our audit so 
as to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements taken as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. However our audit should not 
be relied upon to identify all such misstatements.

Reporting to the NAO
We report to the NAO on the consistency of the Authority’s financial statements with its
Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) submission.

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

Value for money
We are also responsible for forming a view on the arrangements that the Authority has in 
place to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.  We discuss 
our approach to Value for Money work further in section 5 of this report.

Electors’ rights
The 2014 Act requires us to give an elector, or any representative of the elector, the opportunity to question us about the accounting records of the Authority and consider any objection made to the accounts.  
We also have a broad range of reporting responsibilities and powers that are unique to the audit of local authorities in the United Kingdom

P
age 161



Section 02:

Your audit engagement team

P
age 162



2. Your audit engagement team

7

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

Your external audit service continues to be led by Mark Dalton. A summary of key team members are 
detailed below:

Who Role E-mail

Mark Dalton Engagement Lead mark.dalton@mazars.co.uk

Mark Outterside Engagement Senior Manager mark.outterside@mazars.co.uk

Harry Short Engagement Assistant Manager harry.short@mazars.co.uk

.

P
age 163



Section 03:

Audit scope, approach and timeline

8

P
age 164



3. Audit scope, approach and timeline

Audit scope
Our audit approach is designed to provide an audit that complies with all professional requirements.

Our audit of the financial statements will be conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK), relevant ethical and professional standards, our own audit approach and in accordance with the terms of our 
engagement. Our work is focused on those aspects of your business which we consider to have a higher risk of material misstatement, such as those impacted by management judgement and estimation, application of new 
accounting standards, changes of accounting policy, changes to operations or areas which have been found to contain material errors in the past.

Audit approach
Our audit approach is a risk based approach primarily driven by the risks we consider to result in a higher risk of material misstatement of the financial statements. Once we have completed our risk assessment, we develop our 
audit strategy and design audit procedures in response to this assessment.

If we conclude that appropriately designed controls are in place then we may plan to test and rely upon these controls. If we decide controls are not appropriately designed, or we decide it would be more efficient to do so, we may 
take a wholly substantive approach to our audit testing. Substantive procedures are audit procedures designed to detect material misstatements at the assertion level and comprise: tests of details (of classes of transactions, 
account balances, and disclosures); and substantive analytical procedures. Irrespective of the assessed risks of material misstatement, which take into account our evaluation of the operating effectiveness of controls, we are 
required to design and perform substantive procedures for each material class of transactions, account balance, and disclosure.

Our audit will be planned and performed so as to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement and give a true and fair view. The concept of materiality and how we define a 
misstatement is explained in more detail in section 8.

The diagram on the next page outlines the procedures we perform at the different stages of the audit.

COVID-19 working arrangements and impact on our auditor’s report 

The accounts preparation and audit will once again be significantly impacted by the COVID-19 remote working arrangements and it is important that we continue to keep in close contact with the finance team and are able to 
respond to emerging issues. The outline timetable on the following page is based on our current understanding of the national deadlines and the current working arrangements.

9

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

P
age 165



10

3. Audit scope, approach and timeline

Planning - March 2021

• Planning visit and developing our understanding of the Authority

• Initial opinion and value for money risk assessments

• Considering proposed accounting treatments and accounting policies

• Developing the audit strategy and planning the audit work to be performed

• Agreeing timetable and deadlines

Completion - September 2021 

• Final review and disclosure checklist of financial statements

• Final engagement lead review

• Agreeing content of letter of representation

• Reporting to the Audit and Governance Committee

• Reviewing subsequent events

• Signing the auditor’s report

Interim - April 2021

• Documenting systems and controls

• Performing walkthroughs

• Preliminary analytical review

• Early substantive testing of transactions

• Reassessment of audit plan and revision if necessary

Fieldwork - August - September 2021

• Receiving and reviewing draft financial statements

• Reassessment of audit plan and revision if necessary

• Executing the strategy starting with significant risks and high risk areas

• Communicating progress and issues

• Clearance meeting

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

P
age 166



11

3. Audit scope, approach and timeline

Group audit approach

The Authority prepares Group accounts and consolidates the following body:

• Merseytravel (including Mersey Ferries and Merseytravel Passenger Transport Services Limited)

Mazars UK are the appointed auditor for Merseytravel. As such we are the appointed auditor for 100% of the Group’s total expenditure.

The approach to the Group audit is set out below:

We apply a separate materiality for the audit of the Group accounts as set out in Section 8.

We have not identified any significant risks for Group accounts purposes in relation to the components. The significant risks and areas of audit focus for the Authority as a single-entity are set out in section 4. Based on our initial
planning discussions we do not consider these significant risks to be risks for the component subsidiary companies.

On page 18, we highlight the procedures we plan to undertake in relation to the judgements the Authority has made around which of its group entities it consolidates into the Group Financial Statements, and how it consolidates the
transactions and balances into the Group financial statements.

Entity Auditor Scope Planned audit approach

Merseytravel Mazars LLP
Full-scope audit 

procedures

We will: 

• complete full-scope audit procedures on Merseytravel’s financial statements; and

• review the consolidation process and adjustments made by LCRCA in preparing group financial statements.

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

P
age 167



12

3. Audit scope, approach and timeline

Working with internal audit

We will utilise the work performed by internal audit to inform our audit risk assessment procedures. We will
meet with internal audit on a regular basis throughout the audit to discuss the progress and findings of their
work.

Management’s and our experts

Management makes use of experts in specific areas when preparing the Authority’s financial statements. We
also use experts to assist us to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence on specific items of account.

Service organisations

International Auditing Standards (UK) (ISAs) define service organisations as third party organisations that
provide services to the Authority that are part of its information systems relevant to financial reporting. We are
required to obtain an understanding of the services provided by service organisations as well as evaluating the
design and implementation of controls over those services. The table below summarises the service
organisations used by the Authority and our planned audit approach.

Item of account Management’s expert Our expert

Defined benefit liability
Mercer – Actuary for the 
Merseyside Pension Fund

PwC as NAO’s consulting actuary

Property, plant and 
equipment valuation

District Valuer Service - Property 
Services - part of the Valuation 
Office Agency. 

We will use available third party information 
to challenge the valuer’s key assumptions. 

Financial instrument 
disclosures

Link Asset Services

We will review the expert’s methodology in 
calculating the fair value disclosures to 
confirm the reasonableness of assumptions 
used

Items of account Service organisation Audit approach

Payroll Expenditure CGI

We plan to obtain assurance by 
understanding the processes and 
controls that the Authority has in 
place to assure itself that 
transactions are processed 
correctly. Our testing will include 
sample testing of transactions 
based on evidence available from 
the Authority rather than the shared 
service provider.

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

P
age 168



Section 04:

Significant risks and other key 
judgement areas

13

P
age 169



4. Significant risks and other key judgement areas

Following the risk assessment approach discussed in section 3 of this document, we have identified relevant 
risks to the audit of financial statements. The risks that we identify are categorised as significant, enhanced or 
standard. The definitions of the level of risk rating are  given below:

Significant risk
A significant risk is an identified and assessed risk of material misstatement that, in the auditor’s judgment, 
requires special audit consideration. For any significant risk, the auditor shall obtain an understanding of the 
entity’s controls, including control activities relevant to that risk.

Enhanced risk
An enhanced risk is an area of higher assessed risk of material misstatement (‘RMM’) at audit assertion level 
other than a significant risk. Enhanced risks require additional consideration but does not rise to the level of a 
significant risk, these include but may not be limited to:

• key areas of management judgement, including accounting estimates which are material but are not 
considered to give rise to a significant risk of material misstatement; and

• other audit assertion risks arising from significant events or transactions that occurred during the period.

Standard risk
This is related to relatively routine, non-complex transactions that tend to be subject to systematic processing 
and require little management judgement. Although it is considered that there is a risk of material misstatement 
(RMM), there are no elevated or special factors related to the nature, the likely magnitude of the potential 
misstatements or the likelihood of the risk occurring. 

Revenue recognition
International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 240 includes a rebuttable presumption that the fraud risk from revenue 
recognition is a significant audit risk.

We recognise that the nature of revenue in local government differs significantly to the sources of income in the 
private sector. We also consider that there are limited incentives and opportunities to manipulate the way 
income is recognised in local government.

Based on our understanding of the Authority’s revenue streams we have rebutted the presumption that revenue 
recognition is a significant risk at the Authority. Our testing of revenue is focused on our standard procedures 
and does not incorporate specific work on the risk of fraud in recognising revenue.

14

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

P
age 170



4. Significant risks and other key judgement areas

Specific identified audit risks and planned testing strategy
We have presented below in more detail the reasons for the risk assessment highlighted above, and also our testing approach with respect to significant risks. An audit is a dynamic process, should we change our view of risk or 
approach to address the identified risks during the course of our audit, we will report this to the Audit and Governance Committee.

Significant risks

Description Fraud Error Judgement Planned response

1 Management override of controls 
This is a mandatory significant risk on all audits due to the 
unpredictable way in which such override could occur.

Management at various levels within an organisation are in a unique 
position to perpetrate fraud because of their ability to manipulate 
accounting records and prepare fraudulent financial statements by 
overriding controls that otherwise appear to be operating effectively. 
Due to the unpredictable way in which such override could occur 
there is a risk of material misstatement due to fraud on 
all audits.

We plan to address the management override of controls risk through 
performing audit work over accounting estimates, journal entries and 
significant transactions outside the normal course of business or otherwise 
unusual. 

15

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

P
age 171



4. Significant risks and other key judgement areas

Significant risks

Description Fraud Error Judgement Planned response

2 Net defined benefit liability valuation

The net pension liability represents a material element of Liverpool 
City Region Combined Authority's balance sheet. The Authority is 
an admitted body of the Merseyside Pension Fund (MPF).

The valuation of the Local Government Pension Scheme relies on a 
number of assumptions, most notably around the actuarial 
assumptions, and actuarial methodology which results in the 
Authority’s overall valuation.

There are financial assumptions and demographic assumptions 
used in the calculation, such as the discount rate, inflation rates and 
mortality rates. The assumptions should also reflect the profile of the 
Authority’s employees, and should be based on appropriate data. 
The basis of the assumptions is derived on a consistent basis year 
to year, or updated to reflect any changes.

There is a risk that the assumptions and methodology used in 
valuing the Authority’s pension obligation are not reasonable or 
appropriate to the Authority’s circumstances. This could have a 
material impact to the net pension liability in 2020/21.

In relation to the valuation of the Authority’s defined benefit pension liability 
we will:

• critically assess the competency, objectivity and independence of the 
MPF’s Actuary, Mercers;

• Liaise with the auditors of the Merseyside Pension Fund to gain 
assurance that the controls in place at the Pension Fund are operating 
effectively. This will include the processes and controls in place to ensure 
data provided to the Actuary by the Pension Fund for the purposes of the 
IAS19 valuation is complete and accurate;

• Review the appropriateness of the Pension Asset and Liability valuation 
methodologies applied by the Pension Fund Actuary, and the key 
assumptions included within the valuation. This will include comparing 
them to expected ranges, utilising information provided by PWC, 
consulting actuary engaged by the National Audit Office; and

• Agree the data in the IAS 19 valuation report provided by the Fund 
Actuary for accounting purposes to the pension accounting entries and 
disclosures in the Authority’s financial statements.

In line with 2019/20 and the continuing Covid-19 pandemic, we will monitor 
the valuation approach and whether a material uncertainty disclosure will be 
required for 2020/21.

16

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

P
age 172



4. Significant risks and other key judgement areas

Significant risks

Description Fraud Error Judgement Planned response

3 Valuation of property, plant and equipment

The CIPFA Code requires that where assets are 
subject to revaluation, their year end carrying 
value should reflect the fair value at that date. 
The Authority approach is to conduct all 
required  revaluations once every five years 
with a full revaluation exercise completed in 
2018/19. There is a risk that individual assets 
not revalued since 2018/19 are not valued at 
their materially correct fair value.

The valuation of Property, Plant & Equipment 
involves the use of a management expert (the 
valuer), and incorporates material assumptions 
and estimates. There are risks relating to the 
valuation process..

In relation to the valuation of property, plant & equipment we will: 

• critically assess the valuer’s scope of work, qualifications, objectivity and independence to 
carry out the Authority’s programme of revaluations;

• consider whether the overall revaluation methodology used by the Authority is in line with 
industry practice, the CIPFA Code of Practice and the Authority's accounting policies;

• critically assess the appropriateness of the underlying data and the key assumptions used 
in the valuer’s report, using available third party evidence; 

• assess whether valuation movements are in line with market expectations by using 
information available from other sources; and

• critically assess the approach that the Authority adopts to ensure that assets not subject to 
revaluation since the last full valuation are materially correct, including considering the 
robustness of that approach in light of the valuation information reported by the Authority’s 
valuers.

In line with 2019/20 and the continuing Covid-19 pandemic, we will monitor the valuation 
approach and whether a material uncertainty disclosure will be required for 2020/21.

17

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

P
age 173



4. Significant risks and other key judgement areas

Other key areas of management judgement and enhanced risks

18

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

Description Fraud Error Judgement Planned response

1 Group Financial Statement Consolidation Process

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority has made judgements 
around which of its group entities it consolidates into the Group 
Financial Statements, and how it consolidates the transactions and 

balances into the Group. 

Our approach to auditing the Group Financial Statements has been detailed 
on page 11.

We will complement this work by our work over Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority’s Group consolidation process. In particular we will 
review the judgements relating to the entities that are assessed for 
consolidation into the Group financial statements, and we will review and test 
the method of consolidation of Merseytravel into the Group financial 
statements.

P
age 174



Section 05:

Value for Money

19

P
age 175



20

5. Value for Money

The framework for Value for Money work
We are required to form a view as to whether the Authority has made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.  The NAO issues guidance to auditors that 
underpins the work we are required to carry out in order to form our view, and sets out the overall criterion 
and sub-criteria that we are required to consider. 

The new Code of Audit Practice (the Code) has changed the way in which we report our findings in relation 
to Value for Money (VFM) arrangements from 2020/21.  Whilst we are still required to be satisfied that the 
Authority has proper arrangements in place, we will now report by exception in our auditor’s report where we 
have identified significant weakness in those arrangements.  This is a significant change to the requirements 
under the previous Code which required us to give a conclusion on the Authority’s arrangements as part of 
our auditor’s report.   

Under the new Code, the key output of our work on VFM arrangements will be a commentary on those 
arrangements which will form part of the Auditor’s Annual Report.  

Specified reporting criteria
The Code requires us to structure our commentary to report under three specified criteria:

1. Financial sustainability – how the Authority plans and manages its resources to ensure it can 
continue to deliver its services

2. Governance – how the Authority ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its 
risks

3. Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness – how the Authority uses information about its 
costs and performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services

Further details of the specified reporting criteria are provided on the following page.

Our approach
Our work falls into three primary phases as outlined opposite.  We need to gather sufficient evidence to 
support our commentary on the Authority’s arrangements and to identify and report on any significant 
weaknesses in arrangements.  Where significant weaknesses are identified we are required to report these 
to the Authority and make recommendations for improvement.  Such recommendations can be made at any 
point during the audit cycle and we are not expected to wait until issuing our overall commentary to do so.

Engagement and 
responsibilities 

summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Extended
auditor’s report

Significant risks and 
key judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

Planning and risk 
assessment

Obtaining an understanding of the Authority’s arrangements for each 
specified reporting criteria.  Relevant information sources will include:

• NAO guidance and supporting information

• Information from internal and external sources including regulators

• Knowledge from previous audits and other audit work undertaken in the 
year

• Interviews and discussions with staff and members

Additional risk 
based 

procedures and 
evaluation

Reporting

Where our planning work identifies risks of significant weaknesses, we will 
undertake additional procedures to determine whether there is a significant 
weakness.

We will provide a summary of the work we have undertaken and our 
judgements against each of the specified reporting criteria as part of our 
commentary on arrangements.  This will form part of the Auditor’s Annual 
Report.  

Our commentary will also highlight:

• Significant weaknesses identified and our recommendations for 
improvement

• Emerging issues or other matters that do not represent significant 
weaknesses but still require attention from the Authority. 

P
age 176



• how the body ensures that it identifies all the significant financial 
pressures that are relevant to its short and medium-term plans and 
builds these into them

• how the body plans to bridge its funding gaps and identifies 
achievable savings

• how the body plans finances to support the sustainable delivery of 
services in accordance with strategic and statutory priorities

• how the body ensures that its financial plan is consistent with other 
plans such as workforce, capital, investment, and other operational 
planning which may include working with other local public bodies as 
part of a wider system

• how the body identifies and manages risks to financial resilience, 
e.g. unplanned changes in demand, including challenge of the 
assumptions underlying its plans.

• how the body monitors and assesses risk and how the body gains 
assurance over the effective operation of internal controls, including 
arrangements to prevent and detect fraud

• how the body approaches and carries out its annual budget setting 
process

• how the body ensures effective processes and systems are in place 
to ensure budgetary control; to communicate relevant, accurate and 
timely management information (including non-financial information 
where appropriate); supports its statutory financial reporting 
requirements; and ensures corrective action is taken where needed

• how the body ensures it makes properly informed decisions, 
supported by appropriate evidence and allowing for challenge and 
transparency. This includes arrangements for effective challenge 
from those charged with governance/audit committee

• how the body monitors and ensures appropriate standards, such as 
meeting legislative/regulatory requirements and standards in terms 
of officer or member behaviour (such as gifts and hospitality or 
declarations/conflicts of interests).

• how financial and performance information has been used to assess 
performance to identify areas for improvement

• how the body evaluates the services it provides to assess 
performance and identify areas for improvement

• how the body ensures it delivers its role within significant 
partnerships, engages with stakeholders it has identified, monitors 
performance against expectations, and ensures action is taken 
where necessary to improve

• where the body commissions or procures services, how the body 
ensures that this is done in accordance with relevant legislation, 
professional standards and internal policies, and how the body 
assesses whether it is realising the expected benefits.

Under the 2020 Code, we are required to structure our commentary on the Council’s ‘proper arrangements’ under three specified reporting criteria, which are expanded in the supporting guidance notes produced by the National 
Audit Office:

Financial sustainability: how the body plans and manages its 
resources to ensure it can continue to deliver its services

Governance: how the body ensures that it makes informed decisions 
and properly manages its risks, including

Improving VFM: how the body uses information about its costs and 
performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services

5. Value for money conclusion

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

P
age 177



22

5. Value for Money

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

Identified risks of significant weaknesses in arrangements

The NAO’s guidance requires us to carry out work at the planning stage to understand the Authority’s arrangements and to identify risks that significant weaknesses in arrangements may exist.  

Although we have not fully completed our planning and risk assessment work, to date, we have not identified any risks that significant weaknesses in arrangements exist.  We will report any identified risks to the Audit and 
Governance Committee on completion of our planning and risk identification work.  

P
age 178



Section 06:

Fees for audit and other services

23

P
age 179



6. Fees for audit and other services

Fees for work as the Authority’s appointed auditor

Details of the proposed 2019/20 and 2020/21 fees are set out below: 

Area of work 2020/21 Proposed Fee 2019/20 Actual Fee

Scale Audit Fee £36,334 £36,334

Fee Variations

Additional Testing on Defined Benefit Pensions Schemes and Property, 
Plant and Equipment

£7,0671 £7,067

Additional testing as a result of the implementation of new auditing 
standards: ISA 220 (Revised): Quality control of an audit of financial 
statements; ISA 540 (Revised): Auditing accounting estimates and 
related disclosures; and ISA570 (Revised) Going Concern; 

£1,5002 -

Other additional costs TBC £9,0323

Sub-total £44,901 £52,433

Additional work arising from the change in the Code of Audit Practice TBC4 -

Total £44,9015 £52,433

24

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

1 The scale fee has been adjusted to take into account the additional 
work required as a result of increased regulatory expectations in these 
areas.

2 For 2020/21, new auditing standards have been introduced which will 
lead to additional audit work not reflected in the scale fee. The 
implementation of IFRS 16 Leases is deferred to the financial year 
2021/22.

3 The additional audit cost in 2019/20 mainly relates to additional 
testing and reporting of uncertainties in key estimates as a result of 
Covid-19 and review of any potential impact on the Authority of the 
inspection and investigation of Liverpool City Council and the City 
Mayor. Further detail will be set out in our Annual Audit Letter which 
will be issued following completion of the Whole of Government 
Accounts work.

4 The new Code of Audit Practice and associated changes to the way 
in which we undertake and report our value for money work in 2020/21 
(as detailed in section 5) will require additional audit input. We expect 
the fee impact to be 15-20% of the statutory audit fee. The final fee will 
take into account the extent of the additional work actually required. 
We will continue to liaise with Management on any proposed changes 
to the fee. 

5 This is a proposed fee for 2020/21 at the point of the issue of our 
ASM. This figure is subject to change and additional costs will be 
discussed with management.

P
age 180



6. Fees for audit and other services

Services provided to other entities within the Authority's group

Area of work 2020/21 Proposed Fee 2019/20 Actual Fee

Merseytravel £37,688 £41,220

25

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

P
age 181



Section 07:

Our commitment to independence

26

P
age 182



7. Our commitment to independence

We are committed to independence and are required by the Financial Reporting Council to confirm to you at 
least annually in writing that we comply with the FRC’s Ethical Standard. In addition, we communicate any 
matters or relationship which we believe may have a bearing on our independence or the objectivity of the 
audit team.

Based on the information provided by you and our own internal procedures to safeguard our independence as 
auditors, we confirm that in our professional judgement there are no relationships between us and any of our 
related or subsidiary entities, and you and your related entities creating any unacceptable threats to our 
independence within the regulatory or professional requirements governing us as your auditors.

We have policies and procedures in place which are designed to ensure that we carry out our work with 
integrity, objectivity and independence. These policies include:

• All partners and staff are required to complete an annual independence declaration;

• All new partners and staff are required to complete an independence confirmation and also complete 
computer based ethical training;

• Rotation policies covering audit engagement partners and other key members of the audit team; and

• Use by managers and partners of our client and engagement acceptance system which requires all non-
audit services to be approved in advance by the audit engagement partner.

We confirm, as at the date of this document, that the engagement team and others in the firm as appropriate, 
Mazars LLP are independent and comply with relevant ethical requirements. However, if at any time you have 
concerns or questions about our integrity, objectivity or independence please discuss these with Mark Dalton in 
the first instance.

Prior to the provision of any non-audit services Mark Dalton will undertake appropriate procedures to consider 
and fully assess the impact that providing the service may have on our auditor independence.

No threats to our independence have been identified.   

Any emerging independence threats and associated identified safeguards will be communicated in our Audit 
Completion Report.

27

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

P
age 183



Section 08:

Materiality and other misstatements

28

P
age 184



8. Materiality and misstatements

Summary of initial materiality thresholds

Materiality
Materiality is an expression of the relative significance or importance of a particular matter in the context of 
financial statements as a whole. 

Misstatements in financial statements are considered to be material if they, individually or in aggregate, could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial 
statements. 

Judgements on materiality are made in light of surrounding circumstances and are affected by the size and 
nature of a misstatement, or a combination of both. Judgements about materiality are based on consideration of 
the common financial information needs of users as a group and not on specific individual users.

The assessment of what is material is a matter of professional judgement and is affected by our perception of 
the financial information needs of the users of the financial statements. In making our assessment we assume 
that users:

• Have a reasonable knowledge of business, economic activities and accounts; 

• Have a willingness to study the information in the financial statements with reasonable diligence;

• Understand that financial statements are prepared, presented and audited to levels of materiality;

• Recognise the uncertainties inherent in the measurement of amounts based on the use of estimates, 
judgement and the consideration of future events; and

• Will make reasonable economic decisions on the basis of the information in the financial statements.

We consider materiality whilst planning and performing our audit based on quantitative and qualitative factors. 

Whilst planning, we make judgements about the size of misstatements which we consider to be material and which 
provides a basis for determining the nature, timing and extent of risk assessment procedures, identifying and 
assessing the risk of material misstatement and determining the nature, timing and extent of further audit procedures.

The materiality determined at the planning stage does not necessarily establish an amount below which 
uncorrected misstatements, either individually or in aggregate, will be considered as immaterial. 

We revise materiality for the financial statements as our audit progresses should we become aware of 
information that would have caused us to determine a different amount had we been aware of that information 
at the planning stage.

Our provisional materiality is set based on a benchmark of gross expenditure at the surplus/deficit on provision 
of services level. We will identify a figure for materiality but identify separate levels for procedures design to 
detect individual errors, and also a level above which all identified errors will be reported to the Audit and 
Governance Committee.

We consider that the gross expenditure at the surplus/deficit on provision of services remains the key focus of 
users of the financial statements and, as such, we base our materiality levels around this benchmark. 

29

Threshold
LCR CA initial 

threshold
£’000s

Group initial 
threshold  

£’000s

Overall materiality 7,500 9,500

Performance materiality 6,000 7,125

Specific materiality – Senior officer remuneration 
disclosures including any associated exit packages

5 5

Specific materiality – Related party transactions 50 50

Trivial threshold for errors to be reported to the Audit and 
Governance Committee

225 285

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

P
age 185



8. Materiality and misstatements

Materiality (continued)
We expect to set a materiality threshold at c. 1.8% of gross expenditure at the surplus/deficit on provision of 
services. Based on the prior year audited accounts we anticipate the overall materiality for the year ending 31 
March 2021 to be in the region of £7.5m (£8m in the prior year) for the single entity accounts and £9,5m (£8,5m
in the prior year) for the group accounts.

After setting initial materiality, we continue to monitor materiality throughout the audit to ensure that it is set at 
an appropriate level.

Performance Materiality
Performance materiality is the amount or amounts set by the auditor at less than materiality for the financial 
statements as a whole to reduce, to an appropriately low level, the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected 
and undetected misstatements exceeds materiality for the financial statements as a whole. Our initial 
assessment of performance materiality is based on low inherent risk, meaning that we have applied 75% of 
overall materiality as performance materiality.

Misstatements
We accumulate misstatements identified during the audit that are other than clearly trivial.  We set a level of 
triviality for individual errors identified (a reporting threshold) for reporting to the Audit and Governance 
Committee that is consistent with the level of triviality that we consider would not need to be accumulated 
because we expect that the accumulation of such amounts would not have a material effect on the financial 
statements.  Based on our preliminary assessment of overall materiality, our proposed triviality threshold is 
£225k for the single entity accounts and £285k for the group accounts based on 3% of overall materiality.  If you 
have any queries about this, please do not hesitate to raise these with Mark Dalton.

Reporting to the Audit and Governance Committee

The following three types of audit differences will be presented to the Audit and Governance Committee:

• summary of adjusted audit differences;

• summary of unadjusted audit differences; and 

• summary of disclosure differences (adjusted and unadjusted).

30

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

P
age 186



Appendix: Key communication points

31

P
age 187



Appendix: Key communication points

We value communication with Those Charged With Governance as a two way feedback process at the heart of 
our client service commitment. ISA 260 (UK) ‘Communication with Those Charged with Governance’ and ISA 
265 (UK) ‘Communicating Deficiencies In Internal Control To Those Charged With Governance And 
Management’ specifically require us to communicate a number of points with you.

Relevant points that need to be communicated with you at each stage of the audit are outlined below.

Form, timing and content of our communications
We will present the following reports:

• Our Audit Strategy Memorandum;

• Our Audit Completion Report; and

• Auditor’s Annual Report

These documents will be discussed with management prior to being presented to yourselves and their 
comments will be incorporated as appropriate.

Key communication points at the planning stage as included in this Audit 
Strategy Memorandum

• Our responsibilities in relation to the audit of the financial statements;

• The planned scope and timing of the audit;

• Significant audit risks and areas of management judgement;

• Our commitment to independence;

• Responsibilities for preventing and detecting errors;

• Materiality and misstatements; and

• Fees for audit and other services.

Key communication points at the completion stage to be included in our 
Audit Completion Report

• Significant deficiencies in internal control;

• Significant findings from the audit;

• Significant matters discussed with management;

• Our conclusions on the significant audit risks and areas of 
management judgement;

• Summary of misstatements;

• Management representation letter;

• Our proposed draft audit report; and

• Independence.

32

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

P
age 188



33

Appendix: Key communication points

ISA (UK) 260 ‘Communication with Those Charged with Governance’, ISA (UK) 265 ‘Communicating Deficiencies In Internal Control To Those Charged With Governance And Management’ and other ISAs (UK) specifically require 
us to communicate the following:

Required communication Where addressed

Our responsibilities in relation to the financial statement audit and those of management and those charged 
with governance.

Audit Strategy Memorandum

The planned scope and timing of the audit including any limitations, specifically including with respect to 
significant risks.

Audit Strategy Memorandum

With respect to misstatements:

• Uncorrected misstatements and their effect on our audit opinion;

• The effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods;

• A request that any uncorrected misstatement is corrected; and

• In writing, corrected misstatements that are significant.

Audit Completion Report

With respect to fraud communications:

• Enquiries of the Audit Committee to determine whether they have a knowledge of any actual, suspected or 
alleged fraud affecting the entity;

• Any fraud that we have identified or information we have obtained that indicates that fraud may exist; and

• A discussion of any other matters related to fraud.

Audit Completion Report and discussion at Audit Committee, 
Audit Planning and Clearance meetings

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

P
age 189



34

Appendix: Key communication points

Required communication Where addressed

Significant matters arising during the audit in connection with the entity’s related parties including, 
when applicable:

• Non-disclosure by management;

• Inappropriate authorisation and approval of transactions;

• Disagreement over disclosures;

• Non-compliance with laws and regulations; and

• Difficulty in identifying the party that ultimately controls the entity.

Audit Completion Report

Significant findings from the audit including:

• Our view about the significant qualitative aspects of accounting practices including accounting policies, 
accounting estimates and financial statement disclosures;

• Significant difficulties, if any, encountered during the audit;

• Significant matters, if any, arising from the audit that were discussed with management or were the subject 
of correspondence with management;

• Written representations that we are seeking;

• Expected modifications to the audit report; and

• Other matters, if any, significant to the oversight of the financial reporting process or otherwise identified in the 
course of the audit that we believe will be relevant to the Audit Committee in the context of fulfilling their 
responsibilities.

Audit Completion Report

Significant deficiencies in internal controls identified during the audit. Audit Completion Report

Where relevant, any issues identified with respect to authority to obtain external confirmations or inability to 
obtain relevant and reliable audit evidence from other procedures.

Audit Completion Report

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

P
age 190



35

Appendix: Key communication points

Required communication Where addressed

Audit findings regarding non-compliance with laws and regulations where the non-compliance is material and 
believed to be intentional (subject to compliance with legislation on tipping off) and enquiry of the Audit 
Committee into possible instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations that may have a material effect 
on the financial statements and that the Audit Committee may be aware of.

Audit Completion Report and Audit Committee meetings

With respect to going concern, events or conditions identified that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, including:

• Whether the events or conditions constitute a material uncertainty;

• Whether the use of the going concern assumption is appropriate in the preparation and presentation of the 
financial statements; and

• The adequacy of related disclosures in the financial statements.

Audit Completion Report

Reporting on the valuation methods applied to the various items in the consolidated financial statements 
including any impact of changes of such methods

Audit Completion Report 

Explanation of the scope of consolidation and the exclusion criteria applied by the entity to the non-consolidated 
entities, if any, and whether those criteria applied are in accordance with the relevant financial reporting 
framework.

Audit Strategy Memorandum and/or Audit Completion Report as appropriate

Where applicable, identification of any audit work performed by component auditors in relation to the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements other than by Mazars’ member firms

Audit Strategy Memorandum and/or Audit Completion Report as appropriate

Indication of whether all requested explanations and documents were provided by the entity Audit Completion Report 

Engagement and 
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key 
judgement areas Value for money Fees for audit and

other services
Our commitment to 

independence
Materiality and 
misstatements Appendices

P
age 191



Mazars

Mazars is an internationally integrated partnership, specialising in audit, accountancy, advisory, tax 
and legal services*. Operating in over 90 countries and territories around the world, we draw on the 
expertise of 40,400 professionals – 24,400 in Mazars’ integrated partnership and 16,000 via the 
Mazars North America Alliance – to assist clients of all sizes at every stage in their development.

*where permitted under applicable country laws.

One St Peter’s Square
Manchester
M2 3DE

Mark Dalton, Director – Public Services
mark.dalton@mazars.co.uk

P
age 192



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:                                                The Members of the Audit and Governance Committee 
 
Meeting:     28 July 2021 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
KEY DECISION   No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES  
 

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
2020/21 – SUBJECT TO AUDIT 

 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Members of the Audit and Governance 

Committee with a copy of the draft Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
Statement of Accounts 2020/21 for their consideration. The Committee are 
requested to review the statements and provide comments thereon. A presentation 
on the accounts will be provided to accompany the statements. 

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee: 
 

(a) note the contents of the report and presentation; and; 
(b) provide any comments on the Statement of Accounts as necessary. 

 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations (England) 2015 require that the Chief Financial 
Officer must certify the annual Statement of Accounts by 31 May each year.  
However, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) 
has put in place revised regulations that came into force on 31 March 2021.  The 
Accounts and Audit (Amendment) Regulations 2021 extended the statutory audit 
deadlines for 2020/21 and 2021/22 for all authorities. 

 
3.2 Under the Accounts and Audit (Amendment) Regulations 2021, the publication date 

for the audited accounts was moved from 31 July to 30 September 2021.  The 
requirement for commencement of public inspection to include the first 10 working 
days of June has been removed and instead the public inspection period must 
commence on or before the first working day of August 2021.  This means that the 

Page 193

Agenda Item 13



accounts must be confirmed by the Chief Financial Officer and published by 31 July 
2021 at the latest.  They may be published earlier. 

 
3.3  The revised statutory deadline of 31 July has been met by the Liverpool City Region 

Combined Authority with the draft Statement of Accounts and commencement 
notice of public rights being published on 29 June 2021. 

 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial 
  None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
4.2 Human Resources 
  None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
4.3 Physical Assets 
 None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
4.4 Information Technology 
 None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1  None arising directly as a consequence of this report.  
 
 
6.  RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
6.1 None arising directly as a consequence of this report.  
 

 
7.  EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
 
8. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 

 

8.1 None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
 
9.  COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
9.1 None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
 
10.  CONCLUSION 
 
10.1 The annual Statement of Accounts for the Liverpool City Region Combined 

Authority for the financial year 2020/21 have been completed in accordance with the 
statutory deadline and are presented to the Committee for their consideration. 

 

Page 194



 
 
 

JOHN FOGARTY 
Director of Corporate Services 

 
Contact Officer(s): 
Jess Whitley, Strategic Finance Manager (0151 330 1030) 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix One – LCRCA Statement of Accounts 2020/21 – Subject to Audit 
 
 

Page 195



This page is intentionally left blank



 

SUBJECT TO AUDIT 
 

 

Page 197



2 

 

  

TABLE OF CONTENT 
 
 
 
 
Introduction to the Accounts 
 
 
Narrative Report by the Director of Corporate Services of the Liverpool 
City Region Combined Authority 
 

 
Page No. 

 
 
           3 

 
 

           4 
 

  
 
Statement of Responsibilities for the Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority Statement of Accounts 
 

 
20 

 

  
 
Annual Governance Statement 
 

 
21 

 
  
Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority 
 

 
36 

 
  
Group Primary Financial Statements  37 
    Movement in Reserves Statement 38-39 
    Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 40 
    Balance Sheet 41 
    Cashflow Statement 42 
  
  
 
Notes to the Primary Financial Statements 
 

 
43 

 
  
 
Single Entity Accounts 
 

 
91 

 
  
 
Glossary of Financial terms 
 

 
124 

 
 

 

 

INTRODUCTIO 

 

N TO THE ACCOUNTSTS 

Page 198



3 

 

INTRODUCTION TO THE ACCOUNTS 
 
The financial year 2020/21 will go down as one of the most challenging and unexpected in our 
region’s long and storied history.   
  
In Coronavirus, we have faced a sustained and complex challenge that has massively 
disrupted our everyday lives, hit people’s jobs and businesses and taken too many lives. 
Thanks to strong leadership and our famous collective spirit, our region has made it through 
and can begin to think about the future.  
  
Over the past year, we have done so much to lay the foundations for a fairer, greener and 
stronger future.  
  
In addition to successfully lobbying for large-scale business support, we created our own £40m 
local Emergency Fund to protect people’s livelihoods; raised and distributed nearly £3m for 
community organisations through LCR Cares, and developed an ambitious recovery plan that 
has the potential to create 120,000 jobs and over £9bn for the local economy.  
  
But we have not let the challenges thrown up by the pandemic get in the way of doing the 
thing we exist to do: delivering for the 1.6m people who call the Liverpool City Region home.  
  
Our plans for a London-style transport system took a major step forward with the delivery of 
our £500m fleet of publicly owned, state-of-the-art trains. We have invested more than £60m 
in a brand-new station at Headbolt Lane and made progress on our 600km network of walking 
and cycling lanes.  
  
From Prescot and Kirkby to Bootle and Birkenhead, we have continued to invest in every part 
of our region to deliver lasting change and show the difference that devolution makes to 
ordinary people’s lives.  
  
These accounts mark the end of our region’s first term with a Metro Mayor, the first of what I 
hope will be many happy and successful chapters in our history. It is a privilege to lead the 
place that I love, and I am excited about the future we are building for it.   
 
 

   
   
 

 
Steve Rotheram – Metro Mayor of the Liverpool City Region 

 

Page 199



4 

 

 
NARRATIVE REPORT BY THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE 
SERVICES OF THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED 

AUTHORITY 
 
 

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) was established on 1 April 2014 as a 
statutory transport and economic development-related statutory body for Knowsley, Liverpool, 
St Helens, Sefton, Wirral and Halton local authority areas, serving a population of 1.6m 
residents.  The functions of LCRCA are set out in legislation and include the transport functions 
previously undertaken by the Merseyside Integrated Transport Authority (MITA) and related 
powers held by Halton Borough Council, plus new responsibilities relating to economic 
development, regeneration and employment and skills across the Liverpool City Region.  
Merseytravel acts as the executive body which provides professional, strategic and 
operational advice on transport to LCRCA. 
 

 
 
The Liverpool City Region Mayoral Combined Authority has eight members; the directly 
elected Metro Mayor who chairs the CA, the leaders from each of the constituent local 
authorities comprising the LCRCA area and the chair of the Local Enterprise Partnership 
(LEP).  The political composition of the Combined Authority is exclusively Labour with both 
the Metro Mayor and all the Leaders of the constituent Local Authorities being Labour led. 
 
With the exception of the chair of the LEP, all other members have voting powers.  Warrington 
Borough Council and West Lancashire Borough Council are both associate non-voting 
members of the CA.  
 
The region is recognised as a functional economic geography, with close to 85% of all travel-
to-work flows self-contained within the City Region.  Whilst the city of Liverpool is the dominant 
employment centre, economic activity is widely spread across the six districts.  In broad terms 
Liverpool is the commercial, cultural and transport hub of the region, Halton has a cluster of 
chemical, science, technology sectors and Sefton, Knowsley, St Helens and Wirral provide 
key manufacturing and logistics for the area. 
 
Despite the region being a well contained economic area, the City Region’s coastal location 
in the North West of England means the region has economic connections with neighbouring 

Page 200



5 

 

areas (including Lancashire, Cheshire and Greater Manchester) but also internationally via 
the region’s ports and airport. Liverpool City Region provides access to around 32 million 
individuals in the UK within just a few hours1. 
 
The region’s economy is estimated to be worth £32.5bn2 based on GVA (gross value added) 
and has been one of the fastest growing in the North of England over the last 10 years.  In the 
last decade, the Liverpool City Region has added over £1.5bn to its economy in real terms.  
The city region generates significant output through manufacturing, with Halton and Knowsley 
contributing 36% of all GVA3, however other sectors, including health, retail and education, 
also play a key role in the city region economy.   
 
Despite this, there is, however, a productivity gap: GVA per resident in the city region is around 
74% of the UK level (£27,500 of GVA per resident) and since 2010, this gap has increased.  
As well as below average levels of productivity, the region faces a number of long-standing 
challenges around deprivation, with almost one third of all city region neighbourhoods in the 
most deprived 10% in England. These are particularly concentrated in east Wirral, north 
Liverpool/south Sefton and north Knowsley4. 
 
Other challenges include high economic inactivity (second highest rate of economic inactivity 
of all LEP areas in England5), skills gaps (10% of working population have no qualifications 
compared with 7.5% nationally6), poor health (45% of neighbourhoods in the bottom 10% 
nationally7) and economic inactivity due to long-term sickness.  Whilst progress has been 
made in addressing these challenges in the last 10 years these challenges continue to be key 
priorities for the Combined Authority over the next few years. 
 

Combined Authority Group Structure 
 
The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority group comprises of the following companies. 
 

 Mersey Tidal One Limited; 
 LCR Urban Development Fund (GP and Limited Partner) 
 LCR Chrysalis Holdings Limited (GP and Limited Partner) 
 Growth Platform 
 Merseytravel and its subsidiaries  

o Mersey Ferries Limited  
o The Beatles Story 
o Merseyside Passenger Transport Services Limited 
o Real Time Information Group Limited 
o Accrington Technologies Limited 

 
Further information on the group structure is included in the notes to the accounts. 
 
The Statement of Accounts that follow demonstrates LCRCA’s financial performance for the 
financial year ending 31 March 2021.  The purpose of this report is to provide a guide to the 
Authority’s accounts and to summarise its financial and non-financial performance for the year. 

 
1 Liverpool City Region LEP,  
2 Office for National Statistics, 2019; Regional Gross Value Added (Balanced) by Local Authority (1998-2018) 
3 ONS Regional Gross Value Added (Balanced) by Local Authority (1998-2018) and ONS Mid-Year Population 
Estimates (1998-2018) 
4 MHCLG, 2019; English Indices of Deprivation 
5 Office for National Statistics, 2019; Annual Population Survey 
6 See footnote 5. 
7 See footnote 5. 

Page 201



6 

 

These accounts are completed in compliance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21. 
 
The following provides a brief overview of the various sections of the Annual Statement of 
Accounts. 
 
Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts 
 
This outlines the responsibilities of both the Authority and the Director of Corporate Services 
for the production and content of the Annual Statement of Accounts. 
 
Narrative Report 
 
Provides a summary of the Authority’s financial and non financial performance for the year.  
 
Annual Governance Statement 
 
This explains the effectiveness of the governance framework in operation during the financial 
year. 
 
Group Movement in Reserves Statement 
 
This statement shows the movement in reserves held by the Authority during the financial 
year, splitting them into usable and unusable reserves.  The Deficit/ (Surplus) on the Provision 
of Services shows the cost of providing the Authority’s services under proper accounting 
practice which is different from the statutory amounts required to be charged to the General 
Fund Balance for levy setting purposes.  The Net Increase/ (Decrease) before Transfer to 
Earmarked Reserves line shows the statutory General Fund Balance before any discretionary 
transfers (to)/ from earmarked reserves. 
 
Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) 
 
This statement shows the cost of providing services in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting practices as opposed to the amounts to be funded from the levy.  The Authority 
raises a levy to cover expenditure in accordance with regulation which is not necessarily the 
same as the accounting cost.  Whilst the position detailed in the CIES will differ from that 
shown in the Authority’s management reporting, the levy position is detailed through the 
Movement in Reserves and Expenditure and Funding Analysis. 
 
Group Balance Sheet 
 
This shows the value of the Authority’s assets and liabilities at the Balance Sheet date.  Net 
assets of the Authority are matched by the reserves (both usable and unusable) held by the 
Authority. 
 
Group Cash Flow Statement  
 
This statement summarises the actual flows of cash arising from the Authority’s transactions 
during the financial year.  This shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents during the 
year. 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
These include additional information on items included within the core financial statements. 
 

Page 202



7 

 

Single Entity Accounts 
 
These reflect the Authority’s economic activities excluding its group companies and 
organisations. 
 

Financial Performance 
 
Revenue Expenditure 2020/21 
 
The Authority’s budget was approved on 24 January 2020 and a levy of £97.4m was agreed 
for 2020/21.  The grant to Merseytravel to support its provision of transport functions was set 
at £94.1m and a separate grant of £23.9m approved to support the operation of the Mersey 
Tunnels.  The budget was revised in September 2020 to take account of the impact of the 
Covid 19 pandemic.  The table below compares the actual spend against budget for 2020/21. 
 
 Revised 

Budget 
2020/21 

£’000 

Outturn 
2020/21 

 
£’000 

Variance to 
Budget 

 
£’000 

Merseytravel grant 94,034 94,034 0 
Tunnels operations grant 21,080 19,887 1,193 
CA running costs 16,920 13,064 3,856 
Net debt management cost 20,388 17,419 2,969 
Halton Differential Levy 3,200 3,200 0 
Other Grants to Merseytravel 11,530 6,023 5,507 
SIF Revenue Funded Schemes 13,139 9,995 3,144 
Total Expenditure 180,291 163,662 16,669 
Funded by:    
Levy (97,404) (97,404) 0 
Tunnels tolls (27,640) (26,591) (1,049) 
Mayoral Capacity Grant (1,000) (1,000) 0 
Mayoral Precept (7,839) (7,849) 10 
Halton Differential Levy (3,200) (3,200) 0 
Application of Specific Grants & Other 
Income 

(18,387) (17,334) (1,053) 

Transfer to/ (from) reserves (24,821) (10,244) (14,577) 
Total Income (180,291) (163,662) (16,669) 
Net Budget 0 0 0 

 
The position detailed in the table above is based on actual cost against budget.  These figures 
are difference from those detailed in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account as 
the latter is based on proper accounting practice in compliance with the CIPFA Code.  Within 
the main body of the Statement of Accounts, the levy position is detailed in the Movement in 
Reserves and Expenditure and Funding Analysis Statement. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 203



8 

 

Reserves and Balances 
 
Based on the outturn position detailed above the resultant position in respect of the General 
Fund Balances is detailed below. 
 
 
 2019/20 

 
£’000 

In Year 
Movement 

£’000 

2020/21 
 

£’000 
Capital Reserves 5,721 3,689 9,410 
Working Balances 2,734 0 2,734 
Earmarked Usable Reserves 166,951 (10,222) 156,729 
Merseytravel Group 58,532 483 59,015 
Total 233,938 (6,050) 227,888 

 
A detailed list of balances and reserves are detailed in the Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements. 
 
Capital Expenditure 2020/21 
 
The Authority spent £227.04m on capital during 2020/21.  This expenditure is summarised 
below. 
 
 2019/20 

£’000 
2020/21 

£’000 
Capital Grants to Merseytravel/ Districts/ other 
recipients (Revenue Expenditure funded from Capital 
under Statute) 

172,651 185,495 

Non-Current Assets (Property Plant and Equipment) 2,211 6,050 
Non-Current Assets (Infrastructure) 6,061 3,215 
Intangible Assets 456 985 
Assets under Construction 36,877 31,291 
Total 218,255 227,036 

 
The table below details the funding of the capital programme. 
 
 2019/20 

£’000 
2020/21 

£’000 
Capital Grants  76,622 183,985 
Application of Reserves 4,807 4,942 
Revenue Contribution to Capital Outlay 5,430 5,788 
Other Contributions 0 0 
External Borrowing 131,396 0 
Internal Borrowing 0 32,321 
Total 218,255 227,036 

 
As detailed above a significant proportion of the capital investment made by the Authority 
relates to Revenue Expenditure funded from Capital under Statute (REFCUS).  REFCUS 
relates to capital expenditure incurred on assets that are not in the ownership of the Authority, 
in the main this is Merseytravel and other SIF Partners. 
 
 
 
 

Page 204



9 

 

The table below details the major schemes funded through the capital programme in 2020/21. 
 
 2020/21 

£’000 
Rolling Stock 33,729 
City Centre Connectivity Phase 1 21,204 
Runcorn Station Quarter 7,046 
Shakespeare Rail 5,719 
Headbolt Lane Gateway 4,635 
Halsnead Garden Village 3,891 
Chancerygate 3,139 
Vynova Runcorn 3,000 

 
Borrowing 
 
As at 31 March 2021, the Authority’s borrowing was £340.57m.  The table below details the 
composition of its debt. 
 
 2019/20 

£m 
2020/21 

£m 
PWLB Borrowing 156,870 148,480 
European Infrastructure Bank (EIB) Borrowing 186,900 180,656 
Transferred Debt 13,730 11,441 
Total 357,500 340,577 

 
The movement in borrowing levels relate to the repayment profile of the Authority’s loan 
portfolio as no new borrowing was undertaken during the year.  The Authority’s authorised 
limit for external debt for 2020/21 was £454m. 
 
Investments 
 
As part of a prudent investment strategy, the Authority seeks to invest any monies received in 
advance of need with public sector bodies and financial institutions of a high creditworthiness.  
As at 31 March 2021 the Authority had investments of £333.25m compared with £273.07m as 
at 31 March 2020.  
 

Response to COVID-19 Pandemic 
 
The organisation’s operations over the last twelve months have been influenced and directed 
by the COVID-19 pandemic and the consequential impact that this has had on the way in 
which the Authority provides its services, makes decisions and fulfils its key responsibilities.  
 
During 2020/21, the work of the Combined Authority focused heavily on facilitating and 
providing financial support to businesses across the City Region, who had been impacted by 
lockdowns and limited trading opportunities during the coronavirus pandemic and providing 
support to the local public transport network to help ensure its continued operation; ensuring 
that facilities were Covid safe and that social distancing could be maintained across the 
network. 
 
The Combined Authority and it’s officers have supported the response and recovery to the 
pandemic, mainly through the Local Resilience Forum (LRF) structure, including leading the 
transport cell and active engagement in the communications cell, PPE cell, regulation & 
compliance cell, emergency services cell, the Test, Track and Trace Cell, as well as wider 
links into the Tactical Co- ordinating Group (TCG) and Strategical Co-ordinating Group (SCG). 

Page 205



10 

 

A city region wide Economic Recovery Panel was established in June 2020 to maximise the 
impact of economic recovery funding to help the region to build back better in the aftermath of 
the pandemic.  Chaired by the Metro Mayor, membership included local business leaders, 
representatives of central government and national bodies, council leaders and members of 
the Local Enterprise Partnership Board.  Through discussions at the panel and active 
engagement of key stakeholders, an Economic Recovery Plan, which identified interventions 
and programme to help the region ‘Build Back Better’ was developed and subsequently 
approved by the Combined Authority in July 2020.   
 
Additional Restrictions Grant (ARG) 
 
Since October 2020, £44.4m has been received in Additional Restrictions Grant (ARG) funding 
from central government to support business impacted by the national and regional 
lockdowns.  This funding has allowed the Combined Authority and its constituent councils to 
work collaboratively to provide financial assistance to those sectors, including the hospitality 
and leisure sector, that were negatively impacted by the imposition of further restrictions.   
 
As the Accountable Body for the ARG funds, the Combined Authority has been responsible 
for administering the funds across the constituent local authorities and co-ordinating 
monitoring and reporting back to BEIS, however the process for receiving applications, 
determining those that are eligible and making payments to successful applicants has been 
the responsibility of each respective local authority.  Following guidance issued by BEIS, the 
Combined Authority and its constituent local authorities developed several grant schemes 
focussed on supporting the retention of jobs and businesses during periods of difficult trading.  
ARG funds have been used to support the following schemes: 
 

 Hospitality and leisure sector grants – focussing on small or micro Hospitality, 
Leisure and Retail businesses and its supply chain, funding was made available 
through rounds 1 and 2 to support viable hospitality, leisure and retail businesses so 
that they could continue trading and to optimise employment retention.   

 Taxi Grant scheme –to support LCR resident taxi drivers to continue operating despite 
downturn in the market, a small grant was provided for each taxi driver who was 
registered and resident in the City Region.  In February 2021 a small taxi top up grant 
was launched with the same eligibility criteria.  

 LCR Care Providers – as a response to challenges faced by the city region’s childcare 
and care home businesses as a result of Covid and the additional costs involved in 
creating Covid safe environments, the Care Providers Grant scheme was launched to 
support registered businesses in the childcare and adult social care sector.   

 Local Businesses Support Grant - initiated in February 2021 this scheme focused 
on supporting micro, small and medium sized businesses, plus the self-employed. 
Unlike previous rounds that had focused on the leisure and hospitality sector, this 
round was open businesses in any sector of the economy who had lost 40% or more 
of their income from sales, fees and charges. 

 
As at 31 March 2021, £27.968m had been disbursed to the constituent local authorities in 
respect of the Hospitality and Leisure, Taxi and Local Small Business Support grant schemes, 
with a further £1.773m to be distributed as a top up to the Hospitality and Leisure scheme.  
£5m is proposed for disbursement through the local authorities in respect of the LCR Care 
Providers scheme.  In accordance with BEIS guidelines all ARG funding must be spent by 30 
June 2021 therefore to ensure that all funding is disbursed by the deadline, a new one-off LCR 
Top Up Grant is being created to disburse unallocated ARG funding, to businesses who have 
been supported through Rounds I, II and III.   
 

Page 206



11 

 

For accounting purposes, the ARG grant has been accounted for on a principle basis.  Within 
the group Consolidated Income and Expenditure Account £27.9m has been flowed through 
the Net Cost of Service in respect of ARG funding disbursed or accrued for as at 31 March 
2021.   
 
Sales Fees and Charges Reimbursement 
 
In recognition of the impact that COVID-19 has had on local and combined authorities’ ability 
to generate revenue in key service areas (as a result of lockdown, local restrictions and social 
distancing), MHCLG introduced a one off income loss scheme aimed at compensating for 
irrecoverable and unavoidable losses in income. 
 
The scheme, which was initially scheduled to run for the financial year 2020/21 only has been 
extended to the first quarter of 2021/22 and is based on a pain share reimbursement approach: 
eligible organisations face a 5% deductible rate whereby they stand the first 5% of all losses 
and subsequently MHCLG will reimburse losses at 75p in every £1 thereafter. 
 
Having assessed eligibility to claim against this scheme, it was determined that losses in 
respect of tunnels, ferries and the Beatles Story fell within the remit of the scheme.  Whilst 
departure charges were eligible under the scheme, given the pain sharing mechanism in 
place, losses incurred were insufficient to make a claim in this area economic. 
 
Based on the process outlined by MHCLG and accruing for income the Authority believes is 
eligible under the scheme £6.212m has been recognised in the group Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Account under Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income. 
 
Covid Bus Services Support Grant (CBSSG) 
 
At the start of the pandemic, the government announced it would be providing funding to 
support bus operations impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic; whilst some of this funding went 
directly to support operators, funding was made available to local transport authorities to 
support operators providing tendered services and to support any adjustments to services that 
were required.  Payable through the DfT, £4.8m has been received by the CA through the 
various rounds of CSBBG throughout the financial year.  This funding has been used to 
support additional capacity on the network as required to maintain social distancing, to cover 
the additional costs of school transport restart, enhance cleaning and signage across the 
network, as well as supporting the reduction in supported bus income revenue experienced 
by the Authority due to reduced patronage. 
 
CBSSG has been accounted for as an agent transaction within the Combined Authority’s 
group accounts. 
 
Impact on Non Transport Service Delivery 
 
The last twelve months have presented a number of challenges for the Housing First service 
and its staff for them to overcome barriers and adapt their ways of working to enable them to 
continue to offer a vital service across the city region.  By far the greatest challenge to service 
provision was the limited ability to provide face to face support to individuals who often have 
complex and chaotic lives.  This combined with an initial shortage of PPE made face to face 
contact challenging.  The team worked tirelessly to respond positively and to identify means 
of maintaining service delivery; from offering phone consultations to collaborating with the 
Tunnels Police to secure PPE to distribute to teams across the city region.  Through 
completing robust Covid risk assessments, the team were able to develop plans that would 
facilitate face to face contact in a manner that would keep both service user and support 
worker safe. 

Page 207



12 

 

 
The last 12 months have been challenging regarding the delivery of AEB – the Government 
ceased all classroom based learning in March 2020, only allowing reopening from September 
2021, with subsequent local tier and lockdowns impacting on both delivery of learning, and 
learner behaviour.  The 32 AEB providers have adapted delivery to blended learning, and on-
line delivery where possible.  A programme of supplier relief was offered under the Cabinet 
Office Guidance, enabling a level of financial stability for providers and avoiding the mass 
furloughing of staff.  Costs of adapting delivery could be supported under this initiative.   
 
Other actions taken by the LCRCA include relaxing performance tolerance levels to enable 
providers to move funding around within contract year, offering digital access grants to all 
providers to ensure learners can continue their chosen programme of study, granting a further 
one off access grant to support actions to continue delivery and implement track and tracing 
and testing of learners.  We have introduced a number of funding flexibilities including fully 
funding all level 2 qualifications to support furloughed workers and residents looking to retrain. 
 
The impact is difficult to assess as the LCRCA has no full year of uninterrupted AEB delivery.  
The volume of learners supported during this period remains encouraging.  Devolved funding 
to the LCRCA remains comparable year on year – additional funding was granted by DfE in 
September 2020 for changes in anticipated demand for pre employment training support.  Any 
underspend from academic year provider contracts is being rolled forward to support current 
and future demand for learners, and we have the levers available to move funding around the 
provider base to ensure we can continue to respond efficiently and effectively.  
 

2020/21 Performance and Delivery of Objectives 
 
Performance against the CA Plan Priorities 2020/21 
 
The Liverpool City Region signed its devolution deal in November 2015, and 2020/21 
represents the fourth year of operation as a Mayoral Combined Authority.  During 2020/21, 
the Combined Authority produced a corporate business plan for the Authority developed 
around 4 key priorities. 
 
The 2020/21 business plan for the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority was set in the 
context of an unprecedented time for the world and the region, as the COVID-19 pandemic 
continued to have a huge impact on our residents, communities and economy.  The business 
plan established a 12-month approach (running from July 2020 to June 2021 to mirror the 
electoral year) to how it will build back better after the pandemic, through a focus on economic 
recovery, restoring the public transport network and planning for the future of the city region.  
The 2020/2021 business plan and the COVID-19 economic recovery plan ensured it has a 
clear set of priorities to guide its work and resources over those 12 months. 
 
The ambition of the 2020/21 business plan stated that ‘Our plans for the Liverpool City Region 
continue to be guided by the ambition agreed within the draft Local Industrial Strategy: 
recovering and transforming together: delivering a competitive, clean and inclusive Liverpool 
City Region’. 
 
The 2020/21 LCRCA corporate business plan was based on four priorities, with each priority 
underpinned with business plan delivery activities and supporting service plans. The priorities 
for 2020/21 were: 
 

1. Economic Recovery: Moving in partnership beyond COVID-19 
2. Restoring the Transport Network: Restoring the Liverpool City Region transport 

network to connect people, goods and services 

Page 208



13 

 

3. Planning and delivering for the Future: A competitive, clean and inclusive city region 
4. Developing our Organisation: Making the best use of our resources 

 
2020/21 Performance 
Key Objectives Headline Activities 
LCRCA has developed a performance management framework which is driven by its key 
priorities for 2020/21.  A set of performance measures have been developed to ascertain 
progress against key priorities.  Where possible, targets are set which are challenging and 
aimed at stretching the organisation to drive improvement. 
 
Each priority has specific delivery activities and information is collected and reported on a 
quarterly basis to the Chief Executive with 6-weekly updates also being collected.  A RAG 
system is applied to facilitate managing the delivery of the activities/priorities which is shown 
below. 
 
RAG Rating Description 
Red Highly Problematic – Delivery of activity/Priority at significant risk 
Amber Problematic – Delivery of activity/Priority at risk but not significant 
Green Well Managed – No risk to the delivery of the activity/Priority OR 

nearing completion/delivery 
Blue Delivered/Completed – the activity/Priority delivered 
Purple Abandoned or Not being progressed – project or activity abandoned or 

it has been decided to not progress 
 
For each of the four corporate priorities, progress is tracked and a RAG status applied to 
demonstrate progress against each. The table below provides an overview of performance at 
the end of quarter 3.  Key successes against each priority are detailed in the section below. 
 
Priority RAG Status 
Priority 1 - Economic Recovery: Moving in partnership beyond COVID-
19 

Amber 

Priority 2 – Restoring the transport network: Restoring the Liverpool City 
Region transport network to connect people, goods and services 

Amber 

Priority 3 - Planning and delivering for the Future: A competitive, clean 
and inclusive city region 

Amber 

Priority 4 - Developing our Organisation: Making the best use of our 
resources 

Amber 

 
In a year where COVID-19 has loomed large over all the Authority’s activities, it is unsurprising 
that progress against key priorities has been impacted to a degree.  Notwithstanding the 
overall RAG status of progress against the four priorities, a significant degree of progress has 
been made with some of the notable progress detailed below.  
 

 
Key Successes during the Year 
 
LCR Cares – a community fund set up by the Metro Mayor in partnership with the Community 
Foundation for Merseyside and the National Emergencies Trust has raised £2m during the 
last year.  Benefitting from funding from the CA, the National Emergencies Trust and 
contributions from other charitable trusts, such as the Daneway Foundation, Dulverton Trust 

PRIORITY 1 – ECONOMIC RECOVERY: MOVING IN PARTNERSHIP BEYOND 
COVID19 

Page 209



14 

 

and Westminster Foundation, the fund has supported local communities through the 
coronavirus pandemic.  Projects such as Helping Halewood and the Brunswick Youth Club 
project have helped vulnerable residents providing support and delivering food parcels.  
 
Build Back Better - an ambitious economic recovery plan for the whole of the city region, 
supported by leading figures from the worlds of business, academia, the social economy, the 
public sector and trades unions was published in 2020/21. The plan, submitted to central 
government, set out how  

 £1.4 billion in investment could unlock £8.8 billion of projects to begin in the next 12 
months 

 those projects could create 94,000 permanent jobs, with a further 28,000 jobs in 
construction. 

 
A package of financial support measures have been implemented to support businesses, 
voluntary organisations and the community across city region during the pandemic.  Support 
included: 
 

 £5m to support businesses to access national government funds and improve the 
survival rate of LCR businesses 

 Increased flexibility for local authorities to use the £6m Town Centres Fund to support 
local high street recovery 

 £400,000 to support micro-businesses and SMEs in the cultural sector. 
 A grant payment scheme for business in the Hospitality and Leisure Sector across 

LCR who had been adversely impacted by the pandemic situation.  
 Repurposing of elements of the Single Investment Fund to launch a £3m Future 

Innovation Fund Pilot programme to support Liverpool City Region’s (LCR) small and 
medium sized enterprise (SME) community. The Pilot aimed to incentivise SMEs to 
innovate, adapt and diversify in response to or in spite of the challenges and 
opportunities presented by the pandemic and its associated impacts on the economy 
and society. 

 
LCR Culture and Creativity Awards 2020 - the 
event was broadcast live on 18th February 2021.  In 
total, 588 households tuned in to watch.  Over 700 
nominations were received, with 45 finalists across 
15 award categories.  There were 2,300 votes for the 
People’s Choice award, which was presented to the 
Atkinson, Sefton. 
 

 
During the year we disbursed £119m across all funding strands and Combined Authority 
approval was given to projects with a total value of £60.6m, including;   

 £9m investment in the revolutionary Glass Futures project in St Helens. Remediation 
works for the project are expected on site by Summer 2021. 

 £17m in funding has been committed to the Littlewood Studios project. Phase One of 
the project commenced on site in December 2020. 

 £5.5m investment in Kindred.  This project has been established as an innovative 
social investment vehicle with the sole focus of helping the Socially Trading 
Organisation sector to grow through investment, partnership building and other 
support. A combination of financial and non-financial support will aim to enable growth 
with a reduced reliability on grant funding and build ‘collaborating communities’. 

 

Page 210



15 

 

2020/21 was the final year of Local Growth Fund and by the end of the year we had 
successfully committed and disbursed the full award of £312m.  Against a backdrop of a 
challenging 12 months where significant project delay was encountered due to COVID-19, 
huge progress was still achieved and £68.8m was disbursed against LGF schemes in the 
year, including the completion of an ambitious 18 month skills investment fund programme.  
The Fund supported colleges and training providers with investments for new and improved 
learning facilities for local people, training in the skills needed by employers.  This included 
skills facilities for: digital, low carbon, maritime and logistics, advanced manufacturing, visitor 
economy, life sciences and healthcare; and financial and professional services. 
 

Key Successes during the Year 
 
Acceleration of the LCRCA active travel plans - with surveys indicating that 6 out of 10 

people expect to walk and cycle more after 
lockdown, the CA has sought to accelerate its active 
travel programme.  Key active travel schemes, 
including new cycling infrastructure at Princes 
Avenue and Sefton Coastal Road were delivered in 
year under the Sustainable Transport Enhancement 
Programme (STEP) programme.  The CA also 
secured £9.8m funding for active travel which is 
being utilised to support new cycling and walking 
infrastructure across the city region, with plans to 

accelerate pop-up cycle lanes, expand footpaths in key locations to support social distancing 
and expand secure bike storage at key locations all being progressed.   
 
Transforming Cities Funding allocation of £172m fully committed – during the year the 
Combined Authority approved 6 projects (HyBus, Headbolt Lane station, Access for All, 
Birkenhead Central gateway, St Helens Southern gateway and Urban Traffic Control) which 
are all now entering delivery.   
 
Good progress has been made on other schemes during the year with construction 
commencing on the Runcorn Station Quarter and Seacombe Landing Stage projects, both of 
which are scheduled for completion in 2021/22.  The Smart Ticketing project continued to 
deliver new products and functionality for users throughout the year, helping to realise the 
Metro Mayor’s vision for a London-style transport system. 
 
Significant progress has been made in the development of the remaining TCF projects, so that 
a healthy pipeline of projects is available for delivery via future funding streams (e.g. St James 
Station, Liverpool Central Station, Walking & Cycling Phase 2 and Green Bus Routes). 
 

PRIORITY 2 – RESTORING THE TRANSPORT NETWORK: RESTORING THE 
LVERPOL CITY REGION TRANSPORT NETWORK TO CONNECT PEOPLE, 

GOODS AND SERVICES 

Page 211



16 

 

Progressing options assessment under the Bus Services Act – the Outline Business 
Case for options for bus service delivery was delivered within the budget provision in 2020/21, 
with three of the four business case elements completed along with 65% of the management 
case.  Further work on completing this will be 
progressed during 2021/22 with budget provision 
secured to progress this work. 
 
Rolling Stock Replacement – The Rolling Stock 
project has experienced some challenges as a result 
of the COVID-19 pandemic.  Despite the challenges, 
real progress was made in many areas with train 
testing on the Merseyrail network well advanced, 
infrastructure upgrades continuing and delivery of 
power supply upgrades. Acceptance of the first train is expected in 2021.   
 

 
Key Successes during the Year 
 
The Air Quality Action Plan was refreshed and approved by the Combined Authority in 
December 2020. 
 
New Digital Partnership Agreed - Work has begun on 
a 212km full fibre, gigabit-capable network infrastructure 
that will help position the region at the head of the next 
digital revolution.  A £30m joint venture to deliver ultrafast 
digital infrastructure across Liverpool City Region will 
generate an initial £105m for the local economy, leading 
to an eventual £1 billion boost and positions the Liverpool 
City Region at the head of growing sectors, from health 
and life sciences to Artificial Intelligence and the creative 
sectors. 
 
Mersey Tidal Project - Phase 3 development activity continues and is funded until March 
2022.  The main activity of phase 3 is to progress the understanding of the project, to aid 
selection of a preferred technical scheme and geographical preference either as a barrage 
scheme in the river or a lagoon scheme in Liverpool Bay.  The work will involve an assessment 
of the likely cost, schedule and benefits of further development and consenting, an outline of 
the capital investment costs and viability.  An Outline Business Case is due to be submitted in 
Autumn 2021. 
 
Delivery of Phase Two of the Liverpool City Region Housing First Pilot - has progressed 
well against a backdrop of the challenges presented of providing a front line service in the 
middle of a pandemic.  As of March 2021, 64 people had been housed, 141 being supported, 
with 91 being assessed and awaiting panel decision and 17 people having received an offer 
of a property from a landlord. 
 
Work on producing the Spatial Development Strategy (SDS) progressed during the year – 
with the second non statutory engagement on the vision, 5 strategic objectives and 14 
potential policy areas being completed during the year.  Over 1000 organisations and 
individuals responded to the engagement, which was aimed at engaging with those that do 

PRIORITY 3 – PLANIING AND DELIVERING FOR THE FUTURE: A 
COPETITIVE, CLEAN AND INCLUSIVE CITY REGION 

Page 212



17 

 

not usually engage.  The engagement has helped shape the SDS and the approach to policies 
for the next engagement which it is hoped will take place later this year.  The CA’s approach 
to engagement with the wider LCR community has resulted in a national planning award being 
awarded to the organisation. 
 

 
Key Successes during the Year 
 
Corporate Service teams continue to support the investment processes by working to 
progress the CA’s ambition to achieve targeted project disbursements.  This includes regular 
meetings with Investment, Finance, Legal and Programme Management Colleagues to 
discuss options/mitigations to maximise the performance of investment funds.  New 
governance fora via a newly established Delivery Panel ensures that any projects requiring 
remedial action are reviewed on a regular basis.  
 
Communications and Marketing teams continue to provide a high level of support to 
CA and wider LCR Covid response and recovery, including strategic and delivery support 
to Merseyside Resilience Forum comms, transport and economic response and recovery and 
other key areas and included Covid ‘celebrity campaign’ delivered with LFC, EFC and others. 
 

ReThink Travel education campaigns to 
assist the return activity delivered across 
multiple media and digital.  ReThink 
approach has been recognised as good 
practice by DfT. 

 

Risks and Uncertainties 
 
Over the last 12 months, the COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant and deleterious effect 
on the city region and its economy.  Whilst the country continues to emerge slowly from the 
restrictions of the last twelve months, the spectre of COVID-19 and a resurgence in cases 
looms large, both nationally and locally.   
 
Full recovery in the transport sector is highly dependent upon restrictions regarding social 
distancing being lifted.  While social distancing remains necessary, capacity on trains and 
buses is significantly reduced and whilst the government has outlined a roadmap which could 
see such restrictions eased in June 2021, there remains a risk that due to increased infection 
rates such restrictions are retained for longer.  This will present a risk to our business both as 
direct operators of transport services but also potentially more significant risks from 
commercial operator failure on both rail and bus. 
 
Whilst a balanced budget has been set for 2021/22, this has been done against the backdrop 
of significant financial uncertainty.  There is already a great deal of uncertainty around the 
timing of any upturn in the use of public transport and this impacts significantly on the 
Merseytravel budget and the support that is required from the Combined Authority.  Whilst 
national restrictions have eased, revenues from the precept, tunnel tolls, ferries and The 
Beatles Story (TBS) income could be negatively impacted by further spikes in cases or a slow 
return in public confidence leading to lower levels of activity.  Whilst budget setting has taken 
a prudent approach to addressing these concerns there will be a need for careful monitoring 
and timely reporting during the year. 

PRIORITY 4 – DEVELOPING OUR ORGANISATION: MAKING THE BEST USE 
OF OUR RESOURCES 

 

Page 213



18 

 

 
The CA has set an ambitious programme of capital delivery for 2021/22 which is predicated 
on an ability to deliver across most of the year without the restrictions that impacted on delivery 
in 2020/21.  A number of the grants received by the Authority to support capital delivery are 
time limited and therefore there is a risk that any significant restrictions or impediments to 
delivery in 2021/22 arising as a result of COVID-19 or other economic factors could lead to 
the risk of grant clawback.  The Authority will seek to mitigate this by taking a whole 
programme approach to its capital activity and using the flexibilities available to over 
programme and utilise funding across the programme to ensure resource maximisation. 
 
Whilst the immediate investment funding requirements have been satisfied through the 
investment programme approved in the budget setting exercise, nationally there appears to 
be a shift in government policy away from direct funding allocations to Combined Authorities 
to allocations through competitive funding bids.  The focus on bid based resources poses both 
opportunities to the Authority to unlock additional funding however it is by necessity a resource 
intensive approach which is likely to pose capacity challenges.  Whilst some of the risks can 
be mitigated, there is a great deal of uncertainty around some of the priorities for government 
funding and where this should be targeted and there is a risk that the areas within the 
Combined Authority do not fall within scope which would limit our ability to leverage funding 
locally. 
 

Future Outlook & Challenges 
 
The Combined Authority approved its revenue and capital budget for 2021/22 in January 2021.  
In balancing the revenue budget of £156m, a contribution of £8m from reserves was applied.  
The Mayoral Precept was frozen at its Band D equivalent level of £19, however the impact of 
COVID on the constituent local authorities’ council tax bases has been such that yield from 
the precept was forecast to be circa £400k lower than in previous years.  Similarly the ongoing 
impact of home working patterns have led to a drop in patronage through the Mersey Tunnels, 
and as the decision was made to retain tunnel tolls at 2019/20 levels, overall income is forecast 
to be circa £5m lower than pre pandemic levels. 
 
As highlighted above there are still a number of risks to the budgetary position posed by the 
ongoing implications of the pandemic which will necessitate careful monitoring of the position 
throughout the year.  The Authority has also set an ambitious programme of capital investment 
for the financial year 2021/22, which seeks to build upon the progress made over the past 
couple of years.  As a consequence of COVID-19 there has been disruption to investment 
plans and delivery during 2020/21 such that there will be an even greater focus on ensuring 
delivery in the next twelve months.  In ensuring that delivery targets are met there will be a 
balance to be struck between the need for and availability of resources to support delivery 
which will require managing throughout the year. 
 
On 8th May 2021, the Metro Mayor, Steve Rotherham, was re-elected to the post for a second 
term.  A new three year Corporate Plan, which coincides with the start of the new Mayoral 
term is currently in development.  The Corporate Plan sets out how we will deliver our vision - 
for a fairer, stronger, cleaner City Region where no one is left behind - across five 
interlinked priority areas: 
 

 A fairer City Region 
 A stronger City Region 
 A cleaner City Region 
 A connected City Region 
 A vibrant City Region 

 

Page 214



19 

 

The Combined Authority has ambitious plans building on the recovery plan and the Metro 
Mayor’s manifesto and whilst there is a strong commitment to deliver, there is huge uncertainty 
around the actual funding that will flow through from government to support schemes.  There 
is a strong perception that funding streams as they emerge will be targeted in certain areas in 
support of national priorities, which may not fully align with local ambitions.  Whilst there are 
local mechanisms through which funding can be raised to support investment within the City 
Region, it is highly likely that large scale infrastructure projects such as tidal energy will require 
national funding to allow the project to progress through to delivery. 
 
A new medium term financial plan will be devised during the summer and autumn to support 
budget setting for 2022/23 and will seek to address new priorities identified through the new 
corporate plan together with a refreshed investment plan which will seek to tease out and 
quantify the funding requirements to support plans over the next 3 to 5 years. 
 

 

J Fogarty (CPFA) 
Director of Corporate Services  
29 June 2021 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 215



20 

 

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE STATEMENT OF 
ACCOUNTS 

 
The Authority is required to: 
  
 make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure 

that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs. In 
this instance that Officer is the Director of Corporate Services of LCRCA; 

 manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and 
safeguard its assets; 

 approve the Statement of Accounts. 
 
Responsibilities of the Director of Corporate Services of LCRCA 
 
The Director of Corporate Services is responsible for the preparation of the Authority’s 
Statement of Accounts in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (“The Code”).  The Statement 
of Accounts is required to present fairly the financial position of the Authority at the accounting 
date and its income and expenditure for the year end 31 March 2021. In preparing this 
statement of accounts, the Director of Corporate Services has: 
 

 selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently; 
 made judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
 complied with the Local Authority Code; 
 assessed the ability of the Authority to continue as a going concern; and 
 used the going concern basis of accounting on the assumption that the functions of 

the Authority will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
 
The Director of Corporate Services has also: 
 
 kept proper accounting records which are up to date; 
 taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 

irregularities. 
 
Responsible Financial Officer’s Certificate 
 
I hereby certify that the Statement of Accounts presents a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Authority as at 31 March 2021 and its income and expenditure for the year 
ended 31 March 2021.  
 

 
J Fogarty (CPFA) 
Director of Corporate Services 
29 June 2021 
 
 
 

Page 216



21 

 

 
ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

 
 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 

 
 
The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) is required by law to review its 
governance arrangements at least once a year. 

Preparation and publication of this document, the Annual Governance Statement (AGS), in 
accordance with the CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good Governance in Local Government 
Framework (2016), fulfils this requirement. 

The definition utilised by the CIPFA/SOLACE guidance states: 

“Governance comprises the arrangements put in place to ensure that the intended outcomes 
for stakeholders are defined and achieved.” 

The AGS is a key corporate document, intended to provide an accurate representation of the 
corporate governance arrangements in place during the year, which have supported delivery 
of organisational objectives to stakeholders; reflecting where arrangements have been 
effective, and where any improvements are required.   

The governance framework has been in place at LCRCA for the year ended 31 March 2021 
and up to the date of approval of the Statement of Accounts.   

 
2. SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITY 

 
 
LCRCA is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in accordance with the law 
and proper standards, and that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for, and 
used economically, efficiently and effectively.  
 
In discharging this overall responsibility, LCRCA is responsible for putting in place proper 
arrangements for the governance of its affairs, facilitating the effective exercise of its functions, 
and which includes arrangements for the management of risk. 
  
LCRCA has approved and adopted a Code of Corporate Governance, which is consistent with 
the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework: Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government 2016. A copy of the LCRCA Code of Corporate Governance is available to staff 
for reference via the LCRCA Constitution.  

This AGS explains how LCRCA has complied with the Code of Corporate Governance and 
meets the requirements of Regulation 6 (1) (b) of the Accounts and Audit (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2015 which requires all relevant bodies to prepare an Annual Governance 
Statement. 

 

 

Page 217



22 

 

 
3. PURPOSE OF THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 

 
 
The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, and culture and values by 
which LCRCA is directed and controlled and its activities through which it accounts to, engages 
with and leads its communities. It enables the organisation to monitor the achievement of its 
strategic objectives and to consider whether those objectives have led to the delivery of 
appropriate services and value for money. 
  
The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to manage 
risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and 
objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to 
identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of organisational policies, aims and 
objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they 
be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.  
 
 

4. OVERALL GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 
 

 
The Combined Authority is led by Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram and brings together Liverpool 
City Region’s six local authorities – Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, Sefton, St Helens and Wirral. 

The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority, was established by the Halton, Knowsley, 
Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton and Wirral Combined Authority Order 2014, under the provisions 
of the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009.   

The Cities and Local Government Devolution Act 2016 received Royal Assent on 28 January 
2016, and the act allowed for the introduction of directly elected mayors to combined 
authorities in England and Wales with powers over housing, transport, planning and policing.   

Steve Rotheram was elected as the first Metro Mayor of the Liverpool City Region on 5 May 
2017.  A further election was scheduled for May 2020 however in common with all UK elections 
this was deferred until May 2021.  Metro Mayor Rotheram retained the Mayorality in May 2021.  
While there have been some changes to the composition of the Combined Authority following 
local elections, the political composition remains the same as in 2020/21. 

The Mayoral Combined Authority (legislation - Combined Authorities (Mayoral Elections) 
Order 2017) is both a strategic and operational body.  The Metropolitan Mayor exercises 
certain devolved powers working in formal collaboration with the Leaders of each of the City 
Region’s Local Authorities and the elected Mayor of Liverpool City Council. 

The Combined Authority has devolved powers over: 

 Economic Growth  
 Housing 
 Culture 
 Employment and Skills 
 Transport 

 

Page 218



23 

 

The LCRCA is the Transport Authority for the City Region.  It exercises this role predominantly 
through the Passenger Transport Executive, known as Merseytravel. 

Merseytravel as a passenger transport executive pre-dates the Combined Authority and 
operates across the five local authority areas that form the County of Merseyside.  Halton 
Council, although part of the Combined Authority retains most of its direct transport operations 
although there is integration at a strategic level. 

The Combined Authority sets the budget for Merseytravel and is responsible for key transport 
strategy.  Merseytravel is responsible for the implementation of the policies of the Combined 
Authority and, under the Transport Act of 1968, retains its status as a distinct statutory body. 

Despite its separate statutory status, for all practical purposes, there is no longer a distinction 
between the LCRCA and Merseytravel.  Directors of the LCRCA are also Directors of 
Merseytravel and vice-versa.  The statutory functions of Head of Paid Service, Monitoring 
Officer and Director of Finance are fulfilled on a joint basis between the two organisations.  

The LCRCA also includes the Chair of the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) in its formal 
decision-making structure.  Significant changes in governance were introduced in 2019/20 in 
response to the “Review of Local Enterprise Partnership governance and transparency” 
(known as the Ney Review).   

These changes involved the separation of the strategic and operational elements of the LEP 
through the creation of a new Growth Company which is now a wholly owned subsidiary of 
the Combined Authority while the LEP Board remains independent of the CA. 

The following diagram summarises the key elements of the governance framework for 
LCRCA (incorporating Merseytravel) in 2020/21:  

 

Metro Mayor

Combined 
Authority

Key Boards:
Transport Advisory 

Group;
Housing and Spatial 

Planning Board;
Employment and Skills 

Board; 
Programme Board; and
Officer Level Working 

Group

Constitutional 
Committees:

Audit and Governance 
Committee;

Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee; 

Appointments and 
Disciplinary 

Committee; and 
Transport Committee

Advisory Fora:
Fairness and Social 

Justice Board (FASJAB);
Investment Panel;

Cultural Partnership;
Skills Commission;
Sector Boards; and

Mersey Tidal 
Commission

Page 219



24 

 

Documents Providing Assurance: 

 

Structure in relation to LEP: 

 

 

 

• Underpinning Policies:
• Constitution

• Scheme of Delegation
• Finance and Contract Procedure Rules
• Codes of Conduct and Ethics policies

• Risk Management Policy
• Fraud, corruption and bribery policies

• Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) policy
• Information management policies

Documents Providing Assurance:

Code of Corporate Governance

Corporate Plan and Service Plans

Performance Management Framework 

Corporate and Transport Risk 
Registers, Service Risk Registers

• Legislation and Guidance:
• Accounts and Audit Regulations (2015)

• Local Audit and Accountability Act (2014) 
• CIPFA /Solace: Delivering Good Governance in Local 

Government (2016)
• Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (revised 2017)

• Assurance Framework

Decision-making Functions:
Decision-making delegated to officers

Roles of Statutory Officers
Programme Boards 

• Assurance Reports:
• External Auditor: Annual Audit Letter
• Head of Internal Audit Annual Report

• Annual Governance Statements
• External Reports

• External Evaluation from government including LEP Annual 
Review

Assurance Providers:
Internal Audit 
External Audit

Programme Management Office
Investment Team

Performance Management Team
External Inspectorates 

Page 220



25 

 

 
5. REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS 

 
 
LCRCA has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the effectiveness of its 
governance framework including the system of internal control. The review of effectiveness is 
informed by Directors, Assistant Directors and Heads of Service within the organisation who 
have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the governance environment 
(including feedback and comments from the annual Governance Assurance Statement 
process; through which all relevant officers contributed); the Head of Internal Audit’s Annual 
Report; and also by comments made by the external auditors and other review agencies and 
inspectorates. 

LCRCA aims to achieve good standards of governance by adhering to the seven core 
principles below, which form the basis of the Code of Corporate Governance. 

The CIPFA/SOLACE guidance sets out seven key principles of good governance:  

 

 

LCRCA has assessed itself against each of the CIPFA/SOLACE principles – details are 
included overleaf: 

Page 221



26 

 

 
A. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values and 
respecting the rule of law 
 
 
Both Constitutions approved in July 2020; Officer Code of Conduct approved in February 
2021.  
 
A joint Code of Corporate Governance, detailing the Nolan Principles, was updated, 
approved and relaunched to all staff via I4P in June 2020.   
 
Understanding and awareness of the Nolan Principles, is inconsistent across the 
organisation, reflecting the number of relatively new employees and the diverse 
backgrounds from which recruitment has taken place. 
 
As a result, the Nolan Principles have been disseminated via the Code of Corporate 
Governance, and members of the Risk Group having been requested to raise awareness.  
Maintaining a strong corporate governance framework was complicated by the need to 
adapt many systems and procedures to accommodate remote working and a gap in public 
meetings as a result of COVID-19. 
 
Happily, the organisation has a database of its policies and procedures held electronically 
and available.  This has been extremely valuable in 2020/21 and has also facilitated 
tracking and monitoring. 
 
Gifts, Hospitality & Declarations of Interest Procedure reviewed in November 2020 and 
issued to staff via I4P.  
 
Gifts and hospitality policy and forms are available electronically; however, weaknesses 
and inconsistencies exist in relation to how these are being monitored and recorded.  A 
lack of any significant hospitality offered or received in 2020/21 makes this less of a risk in 
the year of account, however it will be a focus of attention once a more typical working 
environment resumes. 
 
Declarations of Interest policy and forms are available on One Place and HR re-issued the 
policy and sent out a reminder e-mail to all staff in January 2021; however, weaknesses 
and inconsistencies also exist in relation to how these are being monitored, utilised and 
recorded.  This will also be a focus of attention in 2021/22. 
 
Completion rates for e-learning for the organisation as a whole were, in general, poor (e.g. 
‘Equality in the Workplace’, ‘Fraud Prevention’, ‘GDPR’ and ‘Freedom of Information’); and 
a lack of understanding potentially exists in terms of what constitutes whether a course is 
mandatory.  However, significant steps are being taken by HR to facilitate monitoring and 
completion of e-learning and what will be deemed to be mandatory; with the roll-out of a 
new system due in Summer 2021. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 222



27 

 

 
B. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement 
 
 
Stakeholder engagement remains a key priority of LCRCA and significant investment has 
been made in this area during 2020/21. 
 
Due to the pandemic, and associated social contact restrictions, opportunities have been 
utilised to undertake consultations online e.g. via CommonPlace in relation to the Spatial 
Development Strategy. 
 
The Local Industrial Strategy was agreed locally in March 2020. Since then, the COVID-
19 pandemic has altered the landscape, and so the next stage will be to reframe the 
strategy to ensure that the fundamental changes within economy and society are fully 
reflected. Despite the pandemic, the opportunities identified in the Local Industrial Strategy 
hold true, and this has been key in informing the development of the City Region’s ‘Building 
Back Better’ – LCR Economic Recovery Plan.  
 
Underpinning this work is ‘LCR Listens: Our Recovery’ This was a survey giving local 
people the opportunity to comment on key elements of the draft Economic Recovery Plan.  
 
Linking this work together is ‘Building Back Better’: the ambitious economic recovery plan 
for the whole of the city region, published by Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram and supported 
by leading figures from the worlds of business, academia, the social economy, the public 
sector and trades unions. 
 
This includes extensive engagement and discussion with stakeholders in relation to the 
Combined Authority’s intentions with respect to Bus Reform.  
 
Despite COVID-19 restrictions, training has taken place for some Committee members 
during the year – for example a finance/budget training session to members of Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee was delivered.  
 
Elections took place in May 2021 (having been delayed 12 months due to the COVID-19 
pandemic) and an induction session took place on June 18th 2021. 
 
Concerns highlighted by Heads of Service/Assistant Directors regarding key partnerships 
not all having been formally approved at senior level.  
 
Committee meetings were held remotely in 2020/21 but were webcast.  Exempt items are 
always minimised.  Arrangements were made for members of the public to remotely 
provide petitions and questions. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 223



28 

 

 
C. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social and environmental 
benefits 
 
 
Relevant financial, social and environmental considerations have to be included within 
Committee/Board reports.  
 
A defined Assurance Framework and Investment Strategy were in place for SIF projects 
during 2020/21. 
 
The delay in the Metro Mayoral election and the more general implications of Covid on our 
business meant that the normal corporate planning cycle was disrupted.  For the most part, 
in 2020/21 the organisation adopted an interim plan which recognised the abnormal 
environment created by the pandemic. 
  
Extensive work is being undertaken in relation to the Corporate Plan and will be 
disseminated across the organisation.  The Corporate Plan will then be translated in Service 
Plans (and further still within Individual Performance Plans), which will need to be robustly 
monitored and reported against utilising appropriate measures. 
 
Social and Environmental considerations are central to the Mayor’s vision for the city region 
and these are captured in the revised corporate plan.  Formal arrangements have been put 
in place through the Fairness and Social Justice Board (FASJAB) which advises the Mayor 
and the link between transport and climate change has been recognised through the addition 
of Air Quality to the Transport Portfolio. 
 
In 2021/22 the organisation undertook a review of its arrangements with respect to its 
broader Equalities duties and more specifically in terms of the implications and potential 
opportunities afforded by the Black Lives Matter protests in Summer 2021. 
 
As a result of this work, the CA will invest significant resources in capacity and training and 
is taking a leading role across the City Region to ensure that all communities within the City 
Region can access economic opportunities equally.  
 
Whilst reports on aspects of organisation performance have been produced, it is of concern 
that no reporting to members via Committee meetings has taken place during the year as a 
result of the adoption of interim performance arrangements due to COVID-19. 
 

 

 
D. Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of intended 
outcomes 
 
 
2020/21 was significantly disrupted by the global situation with respect to COVID-19. 
 
The Combined Authority and the Metro Mayor in particular were central to the City Region’s 
management of all aspects of COVID-19 but particularly around economic resilience and 
recovery. 
The Metro Mayor has played a regional and national role and has worked with other 
members of the Combined Authority to provide community leadership in this difficult year. 
 

Page 224



29 

 

Despite the pandemic a number of significant and transformational projects have been 
delivered and a revised approach to investment was introduced which focussed on delivery 
and enabled around £125m to be dispersed in 2020/21.   
 
Our Local Growth Fund award was spent within the deadline of 31st March 2021 despite 
some significant challenges related to COVID-19 and as a result of changes in Liverpool 
City Council. 
 
Delivery challenges were particularly acute in the public transport sphere as successive 
restrictions on travel and social distancing requirements saw public transport use plummet 
in 2020/21. 
 
The Combined Authority has worked very closely with Merseyrail and with Bus Operators to 
ensure that the public transport network was maintained throughout the year. 
 
Our Rolling Stock project was hampered by the COVID-19 pandemic; however, progress 
continues to be made.   
 
We have undertaken further strengthening of evidence-based policymaking and have 
provided training and workshops on risk to ensure that the organisation has a greater 
understanding of implications and risk of decisions required.    
 
Risk management at a corporate level has evolved; being driven by the Head of Internal 
Audit and the Risk Manager.  A Corporate Risk register is in place which is regularly 
reviewed.  The corporate Risk Group continues to support the process; and will be required 
to help facilitation at Service level across the organisation.  
 
Work has progressed on articulating the risk appetite of the organisation. 
 
Clearly recovery from the impact of the pandemic will be a significant challenge for 2021/22 
and there is heightened risk in relation to the commercial viability of transport operators and 
the Transport Funding Model.   
 
Contingency planning is ongoing; particularly in relation to the potential for Operator of Last 
Resort (OLR) arrangements having to be invoked on the Merseyrail Network.   
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 225



30 

 

 
E. Developing Capacity and Capability 
 
 
Capacity continues to be developed across the Combined Authority with particular focus on 
delivery. 
 
Specific areas where capacity and capability have been improved are around working with 
homeless people, general programme and project management, management of the key 
route network, management of the adult education budget and communications and 
stakeholder management. 
 
The organisation is now much better placed to ensure that it can deliver across the range of 
its devolved responsibilities. 
 
Resources have also been made available to fund the development of a transport pipeline 
that will make best use of the City Region’s Transforming Cities Fund and future Inter Cities 
Transport Fund allocations. 
 
Having a credible pipeline of deliverable schemes and the organisational capacity to deliver 
will be critical as the LCRCA leads the City Region’s economic recovery after the disruption 
of the COVID-19 pandemic. 
 
The way in which the Combined Authority conducts its business has had to adapt to Covid 
restrictions however the adoption of mobile, remote and flexible work patterns has been 
achieved with relatively little disruption to business. 
 
Team meetings, in general, have continued and have evolved, due to the restrictions of the 
pandemic and the Chief Executive and Metro Mayor have held several remote sessions for 
staff which were well attended and well received. 
  
A Developing Our Organisation programme commenced in 2020/21 which seeks to improve 
performance in relation to project governance, leadership and delivery. 
 
A survey was undertaken with staff during the year, in order to better understand working 
arrangements, and the implications on staff, arising from the pandemic. 
A full Staff Survey is anticipated to take place during 2021/22. 
 
Steps have been taken by the organisation to maintain the health, safety and wellbeing of 
its staff during the COVID-19 pandemic.  New ways of working have been adopted; and 
assessments have been undertaken in relation to ensuring work areas have been deemed 
‘Covid secure’, and requests for DSE Assessments to be completed for those having to work 
from home. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 226



31 

 

 

 
F. Managing Risks and Performance through robust internal control and 
strong public financial management 
 
 
There has been significant investment in corporate risk during the year.  This has 
been led by Directors and reflected in a fully updated Corporate Risk Registers and 
much greater organisational understanding of risk appetite. 
 
A new post of Risk Manager was established in 2019/20 and has made a 
significant impact in 2020/21, particularly in disseminating good practice within the 
Combined Authority and informing the Executive Leadership Team on matters 
pertaining to risk. 
 
The Risk Management Policy clearly defines roles and responsibilities.  At a 
corporate level, evidence is available to confirm these roles and responsibilities are 
now becoming embedded. 
 
The risks outlined in the Corporate Risk Register are strategic in nature, rather 
than operational; and therefore, have the greatest potential to prevent or frustrate 
the achievement of corporate objectives. 
 
It is clear that risk should be on the agenda as part of all reports presented to 
formal committees/boards.  The template report format includes a 'Risks and 
Mitigation' section for completion.  A document entitled: "Guidance for Report 
Authors – Risk and Mitigation Section" was produced by the Head of Internal Audit 
to support the effectiveness of the information included within Committee reports.  
The risk information presented within Reports is being reviewed by the Risk 
Manager to ensure robustness of content. 
 
Work still required in some areas in relation to risks to the service not having been 
identified and Service Risk Registers not being up to date and subsequently 
reviewed and updated.  Service risks to be reviewed following the publication of 
the Corporate Plan following the Mayoral election. 
  
The Chief Internal Auditor has identified concerns that the highest scoring risks in 
Service Risk Registers not always escalated to be considered for inclusion in the 
Corporate Risk Register and this is an area that will be addressed in the revisions 
to the risk register in 2021/22. 
 
 
Fraud Awareness training has been developed as an e-learning package and was 
launched early in the year while Fraud Awareness Week was held November 
2019. 
 
An appropriate Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy is in place alongside 
supporting policies, including in respect of whistleblowing. 
 
Self-assessment undertaken in relation to the role of the Chief Financial Officer in 
Local Government reviewing assurance over compliance with the governance 
requirements detailed in CIPFA document ‘The Role of the Chief Financial Officer 

Page 227



32 

 

in Local Government’ 2016.  Positive responses provided highlighting key controls 
have operated effectively during the course of the year. 
 
The financial impact of the COVID-19 pandemic will need to be closely monitored, 
given the impact on the Liverpool City Region.  Establishment of the LCR Cares 
Fund; and the robust distribution of local and national grants to businesses will has 
played a key role in supporting the local economy during the year. 
 
 
The arrangements put in place in March 2020 as a result of COVID-19 tested 
business continuity arrangements to an unprecedented scale.  The robustness of 
these arrangements was demonstrated by the organisation’s ability to switch to 
remote working successfully and at relatively short notice with appropriate ICT 
governance and security maintained throughout. 
 
Despite this, Internal Audit work did identify a small number of areas where 
business continuity arrangements require updating and this work will be 
progressed in 2021/22. 
 
More broadly, business continuity was maintained in 2020/21 in extremely difficult 
circumstances and the LCRCA was able to maintain its key transport and other 
services throughout this period. 
 
Self-assessment undertaken in relation to the role of SIRO reviewing assurance 
over compliance with the governance requirements detailed in Local Public 
Services Data Handling Guidelines 5th Edition, April 2018.  Positive responses 
provided highlighting key controls have operated effectively during the course of 
the year. 
 
The Self-Assessment identified a lack of clarity and understanding by some staff in 
some service areas as to how to report a data breach which will be addressed 
through training in 2021/22. 
 
A review of governance arrangements was undertaken in late 2020/21as a result 
of a number of key strands arising from Liverpool City Council Best Value Report.   
 
This review provided assurance that there is no transactional impact on the 
LCRCA arising from the issues identified and under investigation at Liverpool City 
Council.  CA governance around its Strategic Investment Fund has worked well to 
insulate the organisation from those issues under consideration and reported on in 
the Best Value report. 
 
Compliance with the Financial Management Code (CIPFA, 2019) is being worked 
towards, and will continue in 2021/22.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 228



33 

 

G. Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting and audit to deliver 
effective accountability 
 
 
LCRCA follows good practice in providing clear and accurate information and has developed 
its reporting profile and its online presence with transparency in mind. 
 
LCRCA publishes its freedom of information requests and responses on its website. Work 
has been undertaken to provide as much information as possible on the LCRCA website to 
reduce FOI requests. All FOI requests have been responded to within statutory deadlines. 
 
LCRCA’s Audit and Governance Committee met at key stages within the 2020/21 reporting 
cycle. The composition of this Board has been reviewed and the number and proportion of 
independent members on that Board has increased.  The Board’s work is assisted by a 
senior officer Rusk Management group that was initiated in 2020/21. 
 
Previous quoracy issues in both Audit & Governance and Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
meetings were resolved during the period of the COVID-19 pandemic; and the virtual nature 
of meetings has helped to secure member attendance.  A hiatus, in meetings being able to 
take place, occurred during the initial stages of the pandemic lockdown, whilst a decision 
was made by government as to the procedures to be adopted. 
 
Transparency Code data is published for Merseytravel and largely for LCRCA for 2019/20 
although Internal Audit identified some areas of non-compliance in 2020/21 that will be 
addressed in 2021/22. 
 
Internal Audit opinions generally positive during year with no “major” organisational risk 
opinions.  
 
Self-assessment undertaken in relation to the role of the Head of Internal Audit in Public 
Sector Organisations over compliance with the governance requirements detailed in CIPFA 
document ‘The role of the Head of Internal Audit in Public Sector Organisations’ 2019 edition.  
Positive responses provided highlighting key controls have operated effectively during the 
course of the year. 
 
The Head of Internal Audit’s opinion for 2020/21 was that arrangements are adequate and 
that capacity for improvement is good.  
 

 

 
6. EVALUATION/UPDATE – SIGNIFICANT GOVERNANCE 

ISSUES FROM AGS 2019/20 
 

 
No Significant Governance Issues were reported in 2019/20. 

 
7. SIGNIFICANT GOVERNANCE ISSUES 

 
 
This Annual Governance Statement identifies that LCRCA has effective arrangements in 
place; however, the organisation realises the need to monitor its governance arrangements 

Page 229



34 

 

on an ongoing basis given the ever-changing environment within which it operates, and due 
to the organisation continuing to evolve.   

Whilst the organisation has not identified any Significant Governance Issues, a number of 
areas for development have been outlined within the table above and appropriate action is 
being, or is due to be, taken to ensure the issue does not transpire in to one of significance. 

 

 
8. FUTURE CHALLENGES 

 
 

The impact of COVID-19 on the Liverpool City Region has had, and will continue to have, 
significant and long-lasting implications for the LCRCA. 

The pandemic continues to present a number of key risks around the financial consequences 
for the CA and to our local authorities, and to the City Region more widely. 

Future challenges that exist in relation to the organisation include: 

• Playing a leading role in the economic recovery of the City Region  
• Working on a local transport plan that takes account of future patterns of travel and 

work  
• Ensuring that any recovery is environmentally sustainable and that air quality issues 

are considered in planning future transport requirements 
• Identifying and managing the economic risks and opportunities afforded to the City 

Region as a result of the UK leaving the EU 
• Continuing to deliver, sponsor and support major projects across the City Region 

 
It remains that the organisation’s governance remains appropriate so as to facilitate effective 
responses to these challenges under a new Chief Executive in 2021/22 who will replace the 
retiring current Chief Executive, Frank Rogers. 

 

 
9. CONCLUSION 

 
 
LCRCA is satisfied that appropriate governance arrangements are in place and that the 
governance arrangements in place in 2020/21 were appropriate to its resources and 
responsibilities in that year. 

We propose, over the coming year, to take any necessary steps to address the issues 
highlighted within this Statement, to further enhance our governance arrangements.   

The arrangements in place in 2020/21 continued to focus on ensuring that capacity and 
resources were put in place to support the wider CA functions while maintaining effective 
governance and delivery around LCRCA’s core activities. 

COVID-19 continued to test our resilience and business continuity arrangements during 
2020/21 and it is pleasing that these arrangements enabled our key services to be maintained 

Page 230



35 

 

throughout.  Nonetheless, the implications of COVID-19 on the City Region’s economy and 
on public transport will be profound.  

 

 
10. CERTIFICATION 

 
 

  
Frank Rogers 

Chief Executive and Director General 
Steve Rotheram 

Metro Mayor 
 

    

  29 June 2021      29 June 2021 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 231



36 

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE 
LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 

 
 
 
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (to be inserted on completion 
of the external audit) 

 
Mark Dalton 
for and on behalf of Mazars LLP, Statutory Auditor 
Chartered Accountants 
5 Floor 
Wellington Place 
Leeds 
LS1 4AP 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 232



37 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

LCRCA GROUP ACCOUNTS 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 233



38 

 

 

GROUP MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT 
 

The Movement in Reserves Statement shows the movement from the start of the year to the end on the different reserves held by the Authority Group analysed into ‘usable 
reserves’ (i.e. those can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other ‘unusable reserves’.  The Statement shows how the movements in year of the 
Authority Group’s reserves are broken down between gains and losses incurred in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices and the statutory adjustments 
required to return the amounts chargeable to General Fund for the year.  The Net Increase/(Decrease) line shows the statutory General Fund Balance movements in the year 
following those adjustments. 
 
 

 
  

General Fund 
Balance

Other 
Earmarked 
Reserves

Total Usable 
Reserves

Revaluation 
Reserve

Capital 
Adjustment 

Account
Pension 
Reserve

Accum. 
Absences 
Account

Collection 
Fund 

Adjustment 
Account

Total 
Unusable 
Reserves

As at 1st April 2020 5,953 227,985 233,938 29,356 122,569 (88,856) (372) (10) 62,687 296,625

(16,003) 0 (16,003) 0 0 (4,535) 0 0 (4,535) (20,538)

Adjustments to the revenue resources*

Pensions costs 6,017 0 6,017 0 0 (6,017) 0 0 (6,017) 0

Holiday pay 424 0 424 0 0 0 (424) 0 (424) 0

Charges for depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 16,411 0 16,411 0 (16,411) 0 0 0 (16,411) 0

Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances (101) 0 (101) 0 101 0 0 0 101 0

Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 185,459 0 185,459 0 (185,459) 0 0 0 (185,459) 0

Difference in precept income 231 0 231 0 0 0 0 (231) (231) 0

Capital grants and contributions credited to the CIES (183,980) 0 (183,980) 0 183,980 0 0 0 183,980 0

Total adjustments to revenue resources 24,461 0 24,461 0 (17,789) (6,017) (424) (231) (24,461) 0

Adjustments between revenue and capital resources:

Statutory provision for the repayment of debt (7,568) 0 (7,568) 0 7,568 0 0 0 7,568 0

Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances (5,788) 0 (5,788) 0 5,788 0 0 0 5,788 0

Total adjustments between revenue and capital resources (13,356) 0 (13,356) 0 13,356 0 0 0 13,356 0

Adjustments to capital resources

Difference between fair value and historical cost depreciation 0 0 0 (793) 793 0 0 0 0 0

Total adjustments to capital resources 0 0 0 (793) 793 0 0 0 0 0

Transfer between reserves 6,310 (7,462) (1,152) 0 1,152 0 0 0 1,152 0

Net Increase/(Decrease) in 2020/21 1,412 (7,462) (6,050) (793) (2,488) (10,552) (424) (231) (14,488) (20,538)

Balance as at 31st March 2021 7,365 220,523 227,888 28,563 120,081 (99,408) (796) (241) 48,199 276,087

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES)

Usable Reserves £'000 Unusable Reserves £'000

Total 
Reserves 

£'000

P
age 234



39 

 

GROUP MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT 

 

The 2019/20 Movement in Reserves statement has been amended to provide a more detailed analysis. 

 

 

 

General Fund 
Balance

Other 
Earmarked 
Reserves

Total Usable 
Reserves

Revaluation 
Reserve

Capital 
Adjustment 

Account
Pension 
Reserve

Accumulated 
Absences 
Account

Collection Fund 
Adjustment 

Account
Total Unusable 

Reserves

As at 1st April 2019 5,087 226,900 231,987 25,623 221,082 (99,752) (372) 0 146,581 378,568

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) (106,748) 0 (106,748) 4,543 0 20,262 0 0 24,805 (81,943)

Adjustments to the revenue resources*
Pensions costs 9,366 0 9,366 0 0 (9,366) 0 0 (9,366) 0
Holiday pay 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Charges for depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 15,609 0 15,609 0 (15,609) 0 0 0 (15,609) 0

Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 172,651 0 172,651 0 (172,651) 0 0 0 (172,651) 0

Amount of non current assets written off on disposal or sale as part 
of gains/losses on disposal 210 17 227 0 (227) 0 0 0 (227) 0

Difference in precept income 10 0 10 0 0 0 0 (10) (10) 0

Capital grants and contributions credited to the CIES (76,621) 0 (76,621) 0 76,621 0 0 0 76,621 0
Total adjustments to revenue resources 121,225 17 121,242 0 (111,866) (9,366) 0 (10) (121,242) 0

Adjustments between revenue and capital resources:

Statutory provision for the repayment of debt (8,014) 0 (8,014) 0 8,014 0 0 0 8,014 0

Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances (5,430) 0 (5,430) 0 5,430 0 0 0 5,430 0

Total adjustments between revenue and capital resources (13,444) 0 (13,444) 0 13,444 0 0 0 13,444 0

Adjustments to capital resources

Difference between fair value and historical cost depreciation 0 0 0 (810) 810 0 0 0 0 0
Total adjustments to capital resources 0 0 0 (810) 810 0 0 0 0 0

Transfer between reserves (167) 1,068 901 0 (901) 0 0 0 (901) 0

Net Increase/(Decrease) in 2019/20 866 1,085 1,951 3,733 (98,513) 10,896 0 (10) (83,894) (81,943)

Balance as at 31st March 2020 5,953 227,985 233,938 29,356 122,569 (88,856) (372) (10) 62,687 296,625

*Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the CIES are different from revenue for the year calculated in acordance with statutory requirements

Usable Reserves £'000 Unusable Reserves £'000

Total Reserves 
£'000

P
age 235



40 

 

GROUP COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT 
 

This Statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded  
from taxation. Authorities raise taxation to cover expenditure in accordance with Regulations; this may be different from the accounting cost. The taxation position is shown in  
the MiRS.  
 

  
 
An organisational restructure took place in 2020/21 which resulted in the creation of a new directorate and realignment of services.  Consequently the 2019/20 
comparators have been restated to reflect the new structure.  In addition, the 2019/20 comparators have been restated to recognised utilisation of gainshare revenue 
as non specific grant income.  This income was previously reported within net cost of services in the group comprehensive income and expenditure statement.  Note 
9 provides further detail. 

 

Gross 
Expenditure

Gross 
Income

Net 
Expenditure

Gross 
Expenditure

Gross 
Income

Net 
Expenditure Notes

326,869 (200,174) 126,695 Integrated Transport Services 309,834 (169,246) 140,588
1,862 (82) 1,780 Commercial Development & Investment 1,797 (591) 1,206

13,991 (2,141) 11,850 Corporate Services & Corporate Costs 6,274 (1,602) 4,672
1,277 (241) 1,036 Corporate Development & Delivery 1,165 (120) 1,045
4,516 (683) 3,833 Policy, Strategy & Government Relations 3,988 (556) 3,432

34,514 (33,690) 824 Strategic Commissioning & Delivery 58,482 (57,509) 973
3,044 (486) 2,558 Metro Mayors Office & Mayoral Priorities 4,540 (1,454) 3,086

139,608 (82,701) 56,907 SIF Payments to Partners 185,682 (208,463) (22,781)
525,681 (320,198) 205,482 Net Cost of Service 571,762 (439,541) 132,221

136 Other Operating Expenditure 147 6
10,483 Financing and Investment Income 12,026 7

(109,354) Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income (128,391) 9
106,747 (Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of Services 16,003

(20,262)
Remeasurement (Gains)/ Losses on Pension Assets/ 
Liabilities 4,535 8

(4,543) (Gains)/ Losses on Revaluation non Current Assets 0
(24,805) Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 4,535

81,943 Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 20,538

Restated 2019/20 £'000 2020/21 £'000

P
age 236



41 

 

GROUP BALANCE SHEET 

 
The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet Date of the assets and liabilities recognised by the 
Authority Group.  The net assets of the authority (assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by the 
Authority Group.  Reserves are reported in two categories.  The first category of reserves is usable reserves, i.e. 
those reserves that the authority may use to provide services, subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of 
reserves and any statutory limitations on their use (for example the Capital Receipts Reserve that may only be 
used to fund capital expenditure or repay debt).  The second category of reserves is those that the authority is not 
able to use to provide services.  This category of reserves includes reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses 
(for example the Revaluation Reserve) where amounts would only become available to provide services if the 
assets are sold; and reserves that hold timing differences in the Movement in Reserves Statement line ‘Adjustments 
between accounting basis and funding basis under regulations’. 
 

 

 

                

Frank Rogers      John Fogarty (CPFA)  
 Chief Executive     Director of Corporate Services (CPFA) 
 29 June 2021     29 June 2021  

As at 31 March 2020 As at 31 March 2021

£’000 £’000

564,952 Property, Plant and Equipment 589,176 15

1,161 Heritage Assets 1,161 17

2,956 Intangible Assets 3,776 16

42,598 Long-term Debtors 73,202 19

611,667 Long-term Assets 667,315

216,703 Short-term Investments 235,228 24

1,183 Inventories 1,075

36,279 Short-term Debtors 21,307 20

54,603 Cash and Cash Equivalents 98,393 24

308,768 Current Assets 356,003

(16,910) Short-term Borrowing (16,965) 24

(89,487) Short-term Creditors (104,031) 21

(1,736) Provisions (763) 22

(77,932) Grant Receipts in Advance (194,439) 10

(186,065) Current Liabilities (316,198)

(2,012) Long-term Provisions (2,012) 22

(340,576) Long-term Borrowing (323,612) 24

(88,857) Pension Liability (99,409) 8

(6,300) Other Long-term Liabilities (6,000)

(437,745) Long-term Liabilities (431,033)

296,625 Net Assets 276,087

233,938 Usable Reserves 227,888 5

62,687 Unusable Reserves 48,199 4

296,625 Total Reserves 276,087

Note

Page 237



42 

 

GROUP CASHFLOW STATEMENT 

 
The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the Authority 
during the reporting period.  The statement shows how the Authority generates and uses cash 
and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities.  
The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities is a key indicator of the extent 
to which the operations of the Authority are funded by way of taxation and grant income or 
from the recipients of services provided by the Authority.  Investing activities represent the 
extent to which cash outflows have been made for resources which are intended to contribute 
to the Authority’s future service delivery.  Cash flows arising from financing activities are useful 
in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the Authority. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
T ASHFLOW STATEMENT 
 

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

(106,747) Net deficit on provision of services (16,003)

98,986
Adjustments to net surplus on the provision of services 
for non-cash movements

180,184 26

(2,927)
Adjustments to net surplus on the provision of services 
for items which are investing and financing activities

(12,122) 26

(10,688) Net cash inflows from Operating Activities 152,059

(150,305) Investing activities (91,360) 26

176,256 Financing activities (16,910) 26

15,263
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents

43,789

39,340 Cash and cash equivalents as at 1st April 54,603 24

54,603 Cash and cash equivalents as at 31st March 98,393

Note

Page 238



43 

 

NOTES TO THE PRIMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
1 Accounting Policies 
 

General Principals 
 
 The Statement of Accounts summarises the Liverpool City Region Combined 

Authority’s transactions for the financial year 2020/21 and its position as at 31 March 
2021.  The Authority is required to prepare an Annual Statement of Accounts in 
accordance with the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015, which require 
the accounts to be completed in accordance with proper accounting practices.  These 
practices primarily comprise the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 
United Kingdom 2020/21, supported by International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS). 

 
 The accounting convention adopted by the statement is principally historic cost, 

modified by the revaluation of certain categories of non-current assets and financial 
instruments.  The Statement of Accounts has been completed on a going concern 
basis. 

 
 Accruals of Income and Expenditure 
 
 Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments 

are made or received.  In particular:  
  
 Revenue from contracts with service recipients, whether for services or the 

provision of goods, is recognised when (or as) the goods or services are 
transferred to the recipient in accordance with the performance obligations in 
the contract. 

 Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed – where there 
is a gap between the date supplies are received and their consumption, they 
are carried as inventories on the Balance Sheet.  

 Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by 
employees) are recorded as expenditure when the services are received rather 
than when payments are made.  

 Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted for 
respectively as income and expenditure on the basis of the effective interest 
rate for the relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or 
determined by the contract.  

 Where revenue and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been 
received or paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the 
Balance Sheet.  Where debts may not be settled, the balance of debtors is 
written down and a charge made to revenue for the income that might not be 
collected.  

 
Agency Transactions 
 
Transactions are excluded from the Authority’s financial statements for all agency 
relationships.  As stipulated by the Code, the Authority is acting as an agent in 
situations when the Authority does not control the specified goods or services being 
provided by another party, before they are transferred to the customer.  All services 
are reviewed to determine who controls the right to the underlying goods or services 
and when this is not deemed to be the Authority, the transactions have been excluded 
from the financial statements. 
 

Page 239



44 

 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable 
without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours.  Cash equivalents are highly liquid 
investments that mature in 90 days or less from the date of acquisition and that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.  
 
In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank 
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the authority’s 
cash management. 
 
Changes in Accounting Policies, Estimations, Errors and Prior Period 
Adjustments 
 
Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to 
correct a material error.  Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for 
prospectively, i.e. in the current and future years affected by the change and do not 
give rise to a prior period adjustment. 
 
Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting 
practices or the change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect 
of transactions, other events and conditions on the authority’s financial position or 
financial performance.  Where a change is made, it is applied retrospectively (unless 
stated otherwise) by adjusting opening balances and comparative amounts for the 
prior period as if the new policy had always been applied. 
 
Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by 
amending opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period. 
 
Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets 
 
Services are debited with the following amounts to record the cost of holding non-
current assets during the year:  
 
 Depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service; 
 Revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there 

are no accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which the losses 
can be written off; and 

 Amortisation of intangible assets attributable to the service.  
 

The Authority is not required to raise levy to fund depreciation, revaluation and 
impairment losses or amortisation.  However, it is required to make an annual 
contribution from revenue towards the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement 
equal to an amount calculated on a prudent basis determined by the Authority in 
accordance with statutory guidance (known as the Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP)).  Depreciation, revaluation losses and amortisation are therefore replaced by 
the MRP in the General Fund Balance by way of an adjusting transaction with the 
Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for the difference 
between the two. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 240



45 

 

 
Employee Benefits 
 
Benefits Payable During Employment  
 
Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled wholly within 12 months of 
the year-end.  They include such benefits as wages and salaries, paid annual leave 
and paid sick leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits for current employees and 
are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which employees render 
service to the Authority.  An accrual is made for the cost of holiday entitlements (or any 
form of leave, e.g. time off in lieu) earned by employees but not taken before the year-
end which employees can carry forward into the next financial year.  The accrual is 
made at the wage and salary rates applicable in the following accounting year, being 
the period in which the employee takes the benefit.  The accrual is charged to Surplus 
or Deficit on the Provision of Services, but then reversed out through the Movement in 
Reserves Statement so that holiday entitlements are charged to revenue in the 
financial year in which the holiday absence occurs.  
 
Termination Benefits  
 
Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Authority to 
terminate an officer’s employment before the normal retirement date or an officer’s 
decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits. They are 
charged on an accruals basis to the appropriate service line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement at the earlier of when the authority can no longer 
withdraw the offer of those benefits, or when the Authority recognises costs for a 
restructuring.  
 
Where termination benefits involve the enhancement of pensions, statutory provisions 
require the General Fund Balance to be charged with the amount payable by the 
authority to the pension fund or pensioner in the year, not the amount calculated 
according to the relevant accounting standards.  In the Movement in Reserves 
Statement, appropriations are required to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove 
the notional debits and credits for pension enhancement termination benefits and 
replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any 
such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end.  
 
Post-employment Benefits  
 
Employees of the Authority are members of a Local Government Pensions Scheme, 
administered by Merseyside Pension Fund.  This is a defined benefit pension scheme. 
 
The liabilities of the Merseyside Pension Fund attributable to the Authority are included 
in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method – i.e. an 
assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation to retirement benefits 
earned to date by employees, based on assumptions about mortality rates, employee 
turnover rates, etc., and projections of projected earnings for current employees.  
 
Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate based 
on the indicative rate of return on high quality corporate bonds.  
 
The assets of Merseyside Pension Fund attributable to the Authority are included in 
the Balance Sheet at their fair value.  
 
The change in the net pension liability is analysed into the following components:  
 
 

Page 241



46 

 

Service cost comprising: 
 
 Current service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service        

earned this year.  These costs are allocated in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement to the services for which the employees worked. 

 Past service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of a scheme amendment 
or curtailment whose effect relates to years of service earned in earlier years.  
The costs are debited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.    

 Net interest on the net defined benefit liability, i.e. the change during the period 
in the net defined benefit liability that arises from the passage of time.  The net 
interest is charged to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 
line of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

 
Remeasurements comprising: 
 
 The return on plan assets – (excluding amounts included in net interest above) 

charged to the Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure. 

 Actuarial gains and losses – changes in the net pensions liability that arise 
because events have not coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial 
valuation or because actuaries have updated their assumptions – charged to 
the Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. 

 Employer’s contributions paid to Merseyside Pension Fund – not accounted for 
as an expense. 

 
In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund 
Balance to be charged with the amount payable by the Authority to the pension fund 
or directly to pensioners in the year, not the amount calculated according to the 
relevant accounting standards.  In the Movement in Reserves Statement, this means 
that there are transfers to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits 
and credits for retirement benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to 
the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the 
year-end.  The negative balance that arises on the Pensions Reserve thereby 
measures the beneficial impact to the General Fund Balance of being required to 
account for retirement benefits on the basis of cash flows rather than as benefits are 
earned by employees.  
 
Discretionary Benefits  
 
The Authority also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement 
benefits in the event of early retirements.  Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result 
of an award to any member of staff are accrued in the year of the decision to make the 
award, and accounted for using the same policies as are applied to the Local 
Government Pension Scheme. 
 
Events after the Reporting Period 
 
Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and 
unfavourable, that occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when 
the Statement of Accounts is authorised for issue.  Two types of events can be 
identified:  
 
 Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the 

reporting period – the Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events; 
and 

Page 242



47 

 

 Those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – 
the Statement of Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a 
category of events would have a material effect, disclosure is made in the notes 
of the nature of the events and their estimated financial effect.  

 
Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the 
Statement of Accounts. 
 
Fair Value Measurement 
 
The Authority measures some of its non-financial assets such as surplus assets at fair 
value at each reporting date.  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an 
asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  
The fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset takes place 
either: 
 In the principal market for the asset, or 
 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the 

asset. 
 
The Authority measures the fair value of an asset or liability using the assumptions that 
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market 
participants act in their economic best interest. 
 
When measuring the fair value of a non-financial asset, the Authority takes into account 
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its 
highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the 
asset in its highest and best use. 
 
The authority uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and 
for which sufficient data is available making use of relevant observable inputs and 
minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 
 
Financial Instruments 
 
Financial Assets 
 
Financial assets are classified based on a classification and measurement approach 
that reflects the business model for holding the financial assets and their cashflow 
characteristics.  There are three main classes of financial assets measured at: 
 
 Amortised cost 
 Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), and 
 Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 

 
           The Authority’s business model is to hold investments to collect contractual cash flows. 

Financial assets are therefore classified as amortised cost. 
 

Financial Assets Measured at Amortised Cost 
 
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are recognised on the Balance Sheet 
when the Authority becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial 
instrument and are initially measured at fair value.  They are subsequently measured 
at their amortised cost.  Annual credits to the Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) for 
interest receivable are based on the carrying amount of the asset multiplied by the 
effective rate of interest for the instrument.  For most of the financial assets held by the 
Authority, this means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the  

Page 243



48 

 

 
outstanding principal receivable (plus accrued interest) and interest credited to the 
CIES is the amount receivable for the year in the loan agreement. 
 
Where the Authority has made loans at less than market rates (soft loans) a loss is 
recorded in the CIES (debited to the appropriate service) for the present value of the 
interest that will be foregone over the life of the instrument, resulting in a lower 
amortised cost than the outstanding principal.  Interest is credited to the Financing and 
Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES at a marginally higher effective 
rate of interest than the rate receivable from the lender, with the difference serving to 
increase the amortised cost of the loan in the Balance Sheet.  Statutory provisions 
require that the impact of soft loans on the General Fund Balance is the interest 
receivable for the financial year.  This is managed by a transfer to or from the Financial 
Instruments Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Any gains or losses that arise on the derecognition of an asset are credited or debited 
to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES. 
 
Expected Credit Loss Model 
 
The Authority recognises expected credit losses on all its financial assets held at 
amortised cost either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. The expected credit loss model 
also applies to lease receivables and contract assets.   
 
Impairment losses are calculated to reflect the expectation that future cash flows may 
not take place because the borrower could default on their obligations.  Credit risk 
plays a crucial part in assessing losses.  Where risk has increased significantly since 
an instrument was initially recognised, losses are assessed on a lifetime basis.  Where 
risk has not increased significantly or remains low, losses are assessed on the basis 
of 12-month expected losses. 
  
Financial Liabilities  
 
Financial liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Authority becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured 
at fair value and are carried at their amortised cost.  Annual charges to the Financing 
and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement (CIES) for interest payable are based on the carrying amount 
of the liability, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument.  The 
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
over the life of the instrument to the amount at which it was originally recognised.  
 
For most of the borrowings that the Authority has, this means that the amount 
presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal repayable (plus accrued 
interest); and interest charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement is the amount payable for the year according to the loan agreement. 
 
Where premiums and discounts have been charged to the CIES, regulations allow the 
impact on the General Fund Balance to be spread over future years.  The Authority 
has a policy of spreading the gain or loss over the term that was remaining on the loan 
against which the premium was payable or discount receivable when it was repaid.  
The reconciliation of amounts charged to the CIES to the net charge required against 
the General Fund Balance is managed by a transfer to or from the Financial 
Instruments Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
 
 

Page 244



49 

 

 
Government Grants and Contributions 
 
Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third 
party contributions and donations are recognised as due to the Authority when there 
is reasonable assurance that:  
 
 The Authority will comply with the conditions attached to the payments, and  
 The grants or contributions will be received.  
 
Amounts recognised as due to the Authority are not credited to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement until conditions attached to the grant or 
contribution have been satisfied.  Conditions are stipulations that specify that the future 
economic benefits or service potential embodied in the asset in the form of the grant 
or contribution are required to be consumed by the recipient as specified, or future 
economic benefits or service potential must be returned to the transferor.  
 
Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been 
satisfied are carried in the Balance Sheet as creditors.  When conditions are satisfied, 
the grant or contribution is credited to the relevant service line (attributable revenue 
grants and contributions) or Taxation and Non-specific Grant Income and Expenditure 
(non-ringfenced revenue grants and all capital grants) in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement.  
 
Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement, they are reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement.  Where the grant has yet to be used to finance capital 
expenditure, it is posted to the Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve.  Where it has been 
applied, it is posted to the Capital Adjustment Account.  Amounts in the Capital Grants 
Unapplied reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account once they have 
been applied to fund capital expenditure. 
 
Goodwill 
 
Business combinations have been accounted for under IFRS 3 using the purchase 
method. Any excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest 
in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position as goodwill and is not amortised. 
 
After initial recognition, goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment 
losses, with the carrying value being reviewed for impairment, at least annually and 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be 
impaired. 
 
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the related cash-
generating units monitored by management, usually at operating segment level or, if 
smaller, statutory company level. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than its carrying amount, including goodwill, an impairment loss 
is recognised in the income statement. 
 
The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to a cash-generating unit is taken into 
account when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the unit, or of an operation 
within it.  
 
Merseytravel has taken advantage of the option under the first time adoption provisions 
of The Code to use the brought forward value of goodwill as at 1 April 2009 as an 
appropriate approximation of fair value. 

Page 245



50 

 

 
Heritage Assets 
 
The Authority holds statues and artworks, which are held and maintained as a 
contribution to knowledge and culture. 
 
Heritage assets are recognised and measured in accordance with the Authority’s 
accounting policies on property, plant and equipment.  However, some of the 
measurement rules are relaxed where it is not practicable to obtain a valuation at a 
cost which is commensurate with the benefits to users of the financial statements.  In 
these circumstances heritage assets are measured at historical cost (less any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses). 
 
Intangible Assets 
 
Expenditure on non-monetary assets that do not have physical substance but are 
controlled by the Authority (e.g. software licences) is capitalised when it is expected 
that future economic benefits or service potential will flow from the intangible asset to 
the Authority.  Intangible assets are measured at cost and the balance is amortised 
over its useful life to the relevant service line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement on a straight-line basis.  An asset is tested for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired – any losses 
recognised are posted to the relevant service line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement (CIES). Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or 
abandonment of an intangible asset is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line 
in the CIES.  
 
Amortisation, impairment losses and disposal gains and losses are not permitted to 
have an impact on the General Fund Balance.  These entries are therefore reversed 
out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted 
to the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
Business combinations have been accounted for under IFRS 3 using the purchase 
method.  Any excess over the cost of the business combination over the Group’s 
interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
is initially recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and is 
not amortised. After initial recognition, goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses, with the carrying value being reviewed for impairment, at least 
annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
value may be impaired. 
 
Interests in Companies and Other Entities 
 
The Authority has material interests in companies and other entities that have the 
nature of subsidiaries which require it to prepare group accounts.  In the Authority’s 
own single-entity accounts, the interests in companies and other entities are recorded 
at cost, less any provision for losses. 
 
Inclusion in the Authority Group is dependent upon the extent of the Authority’s interest 
and power to influence an entity. An assessment of all the Authority’s interests is 
carried out each financial year to determine the relationships that exist and whether 
they should be included within the authority’s group accounts. 
 
This assessment determines whether the entity is accounted for as: 
 
 A subsidiary – the Authority controls the entity and has the power to govern its 

financial and operating policies so as to benefit from its activities; or 

Page 246



51 

 

 An associate – the Authority has significant influence over the entity and has 
the power to participate in its financial and operating policies; or 

 Joint Operations – the Authority is party to the contractually and binding agreed 
sharing of control over the organisation such that strategic financial and 
operating decisions require the unanimous consent of all parties sharing 
control. 
 

Inventories and Long-term Contracts 
 
Inventories are included in the Balance Sheet at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value determined on a first in first out basis.  
 
Long-term contracts are accounted for on the basis of charging the Surplus or Deficit 
on the Provision of Services with the consideration allocated to the performance 
obligations satisfied based on the goods or services transferred to the service recipient 
during the financial year. 
 
Leases 
 
Leases are classed as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the property, plant or 
equipment from the lessor to the lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating 
leases. 
 
Where a lease covers both land and buildings, the land and building elements are 
considered separately for classification. 
 
The Authority as Lessee 
 
Finance Leases 
 
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases is recognised on the Balance 
Sheet at the commencement of the lease at its fair value measured at the lease’s 
inception (or the present value of the minimum lease payments, if lower).  The asset 
recognised is matched by a liability for the obligation to pay the lessor. Initial indirect 
costs of the authority are added to the carrying amount of the asset.  Premiums paid 
on entry into a lease are applied to writing down the lease liability. 
 
Lease payments are apportioned between: 
 
 A charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property, plant or equipment 

– applied to write down the lease liability; and 
 A finance charge (debited to the Financing and Investment Income and 

Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement). 
 

Property, plant, and equipment recognised under finance leases is accounted for 
using the policies applied generally to such assets, subject to depreciation being 
charged over the lease term if this shorter than the asset’s estimated useful life. 
 
Statutory requirements mean that depreciation, revaluations and impairment losses 
are not a proper charge against the General Fund Balance.  Instead a prudent annual 
contribution is made from revenue funds towards the deemed capital investment. 
Depreciation and revaluation and impairment losses are therefore substituted by a 
revenue contribution in the General Fund Balance by way of an adjusting transaction 
with the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for the 
difference between the two. 
 

Page 247



52 

 

 
 
Operating Leases 
 
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as an expense of the services benefitting from use of the 
leased property, plant or equipment.  Charges are made on a straight line basis over 
the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments (e.g. there is 
a rent free period at the commencement of the lease). 

 
The Authority as Lessor 
 
Finance Leases 
 
Where the Authority grants a finance lease over a property or an item of plant and 
equipment the relevant asset is written out of the Balance Sheet as a disposal.  At 
the commencement of the lease, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance 
Sheet is written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) as part of the gain or loss on disposal.  A 
gain, representing the Authority’s net investment in the lease, is credited to the same 
line in the CIES also as part of the gain or loss on disposal(i.e. netted off against the 
carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal), matched by a lease (long term 
debtor) asset in the Balance Sheet. 
 
Lease rentals receivable are apportioned between: 
 
 A charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property – applied to write 

down the lease debtor; and 
 Finance income (credited to the Financing and Investment Income and 

Expenditure line in the CIES). 
 

The gain credited to the CIES on disposal is not permitted by statute to increase the 
General Fund Balance and is required to be treated as a capital receipt.  Where the 
amount due in relation the lease asset is to be settled by the payment of rentals in 
future financial years, this is posted out of the General Fund Balance to the Deferred 
Capital Receipts Reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  When the future 
rentals are received, the element for the capital receipt for the disposal of the asset 
is used to write down the lease debtor.  At this point, the deferred capital receipts are 
transferred to the Capital Receipts Reserve. 
 
The written off value of disposals is not a charge against the levy, as the cost of non-
current assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing.  
Amounts are therefore appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the 
General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Operating Leases 
 
Where the Authority grants an operating lease over a property or an item of plant or 
equipment, the asset is retained in the Balance Sheet.  Rental income is credited to 
the Other Operating Expenditure line in the CIES.  Credits are made on a straight-
line basis over the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of 
payments. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging the lease are 
added to the carrying amount of the relevant asset and charged as an expense over 
the lease term on the same basis as rental income. 
 

 
 

Page 248



53 

 

 
Overheads and Support Services 
 
In line with best practice, charges for the cost of central support services are fully 
charged or apportioned to those that benefit from the supply of service using time 
recording and other appropriate methods. 
 
Property Plant and Equipment 
 
Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply 
of goods or services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes and that are 
expected to be used during more than one financial year are classified as Property, 
Plant and Equipment.  
 
Recognition  
 
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and 
Equipment is capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it is probable that the 
future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the 
Authority and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  Expenditure that 
maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to deliver future economic benefits 
or service potential (i.e. repairs and maintenance) is charged as an expense when it is 
incurred.  
 
Measurement  
 
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising:  
 
 The purchase price; and 
 Any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition 

necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. 

 
The Authority does not capitalise borrowing costs incurred whilst assets are under 
construction.  
 
The cost of assets acquired other than by purchase is deemed to be its fair value, 
unless the acquisition does not have commercial substance (i.e. it will not lead to a 
variation in the cash flows of the Authority).  In the latter case, where an asset is 
acquired via an exchange, the cost of the acquisition is the carrying amount of the 
asset given up by the authority.  
 
Donated assets are measured initially at fair value.  The difference between fair value 
and any consideration paid is credited to the Taxation and Non-specific Grant Income 
and Expenditure line of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, 
unless the donation has been made conditionally.  Until conditions are satisfied, the 
gain is held in the Donated Assets Account.  Where gains are credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they are reversed out of the 
General Fund Balance to the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement.  
 

 Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases:  
 

 Infrastructure and assets under construction – depreciated historical cost; 
 Surplus assets – the current value measurement base is fair value, estimated 

at highest and best use from a market participant’s perspective; and 

Page 249



54 

 

 All other assets – current value, determined as the amount that would be paid 
for the asset in its existing use (existing use value – EUV).  

 
Where there is no market-based evidence of current value because of the specialist 
nature of an asset, depreciated replacement cost (DRC) is used as an estimate of 
current value.  
 
Where non-property assets that have short useful lives or low values (or both), 
depreciated historical cost basis is used as a proxy for current value.  
 
Assets included in the Balance Sheet at current value are revalued sufficiently regularly 
to ensure that their carrying amount is not materially different from their current value 
at the year-end, but as a minimum every five years.  Increases in valuations are 
matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise unrealised gains.  Gains 
might be credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services where they 
arise from the reversal of a loss previously charged to a service.  
 
Where decreases in value are identified, they are accounted for by:  
 
 where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation 

Reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance 
(up to the amount of the accumulated gains)  

 where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient 
balance, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant 
service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

 
The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 
only, the date of its formal implementation.  Gains arising before that date have been 
consolidated into the Capital Adjustment Account.  
 
Impairment  
 
Assets are assessed at each year-end as to whether there is any indication that an 
asset may be impaired.  Where indications exist and any possible differences are 
estimated to be material, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, where 
this is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recognised for 
the shortfall.  
 
Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for by: 
 
 Where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation 

Reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance 
(up to the amount of the accumulated gains); or 

 Where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient 
balance, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant 
service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

 
Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the 
relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up 
to the amount of the original loss, adjusted for depreciation that would have been 
charged if the loss had not been recognised. 

 
Depreciation  
 
Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the 
systematic allocation of their depreciable amounts over their useful lives.  An exception  
 

Page 250



55 

 

 
 
is made for assets without a determinable finite useful life (i.e. freehold land) and 
assets that are not yet available for use (i.e. assets under construction).  
 
Depreciation on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets is calculated by allocating 
the asset value over the period expected to benefit from their use on a straight-line 
basis.  All assets are assessed individually in relation to their asset lives for the purpose 
of calculating depreciation.  Conditions relative to each asset are considered in arriving 
at this determination. 
 
Where an item of property, plant and equipment asset has major component whose 
cost is significant in relation to the total cost of the item, the components are 
depreciated separately. 
 
Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference 
between current value depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that would 
have been chargeable based on their historical cost being transferred each year from 
the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account. 

 
Disposal and Non- Current Assets Held for Sale 
 
When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather than through its continuing use, it is 
reclassified as an Asset Held for Sale.  The asset is revalued immediately before 
reclassification and then carried at the lower of this amount and fair value less costs to 
sell.  Where there is a subsequent decrease to fair value less costs to sell, the loss is 
posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement.  Gains in fair value are recognised only up to the amount of 
any previously losses recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services.  
Depreciation is not charged on Assets Held for Sale.  
 
If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as Assets Held for Sale, they are 
reclassified back to non-current assets and valued at the lower of their carrying amount 
before they were classified as held for sale; adjusted for depreciation, amortisation or 
revaluations that would have been recognised had they not been classified as Held for 
Sale, and their recoverable amount at the date of the decision not to sell.  
 
Assets that are to be abandoned or scrapped are not reclassified as Assets Held for 
Sale.  
 
When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in 
the Balance Sheet (whether Property, Plant and Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) is 
written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal.  Receipts from disposals 
(if any) are credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off against the 
carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal).  Any revaluation gains accumulated 
for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment 
Account.  
 
Amounts received for a disposal in excess of £10,000 are categorised as capital 
receipts and can then only be used for new capital investment or set aside to reduce 
the Authority’s underlying need to borrow (the Capital Financing Requirement England 
and Wales).  Receipts are appropriated to the Capital Receipts Reserve from the 
General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  
 

Page 251



56 

 

The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against the levy, as the cost of non-
current assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing.  
Amounts are appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund 
Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
 
Provisions  
 
Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the authority a legal 
or constructive obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic 
benefits or service potential, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.  
 
Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate service line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year that the authority 
becomes aware of the obligation, and are measured at the best estimate at the balance 
sheet date of the expenditure required to settle the obligation, taking into account 
relevant risks and uncertainties.  
 
When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the 
Balance Sheet.  Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year 
– where it becomes less than probable that a transfer of economic benefits will now be 
required (or a lower settlement than anticipated is made), the provision is reversed and 
credited back to the relevant service.  
 
Where some or all of the payment required to settle a provision is expected to be 
recovered from another party (e.g. from an insurance claim), this is only recognised as 
income for the relevant service if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be 
received if the authority settles the obligation. 
 
Contingent Liabilities 
 
A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a 
possible obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or 
otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Authority.  
Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances where a provision would otherwise be 
made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required or the 
amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably.  Contingent liabilities are not 
recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts. 
 
Contingent Assets 
 
A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a 
possible asset whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise 
of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Authority.  Contingent 
assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts 
where it is probable that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or service 
potential. 

 
Reserves 
 
The Authority sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to 
cover contingencies.  Reserves are shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  
When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred, it is charged to the 
appropriate service in that year to score against the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision 
of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

Page 252



57 

 

 
Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets, 
financial instruments, retirement and employee benefits and do not represent usable 
resources for the Authority – these reserves are explained in the relevant policies. 
 
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute (REFCUS) 
 
Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provisions 
but that does not result in the creation of a non-current asset has been charged as 
expenditure to the relevant service in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement in the year.  Where the Authority has determined to meet the cost of this 
expenditure from existing capital resources or by borrowing, a transfer in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement from the General Fund Balance to the Capital 
Adjustment Account then reverses out the amounts charged so that there is no impact 
on the level of levy. 

 
Value Added Tax (VAT) 
 
VAT payable is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable 
from Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs.  VAT receivable is excluded from income. 

 
2.  Significant Accounting Judgements, Estimates and Uncertainties 
 
 The preparation of the Authority’s accounts requires management to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported as revenues, 
expenses, assets and liabilities reported in the accounts.  Uncertainty about these 
assumption and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment 
to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in future periods.  

 
 In terms of the Authority’s Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2021, the items for which 

there is a significant risk of material adjustment are as follows: 
 

 Pension benefits: the cost of defined benefit pension plans is determined using 
an independent actuarial valuation, involving the use of assumptions about 
discount rates, returns on assets, future salary increases, mortality rates and 
future pension increases.  Such assumptions are reviewed are each period end 
and determined jointly between the pension fund management and the 
actuaries.   

 The LCRCA Group net pension liability included in the balance sheet and 
disclosed at note 8 includes an estimate of the total value of the Group ‘s share 
of the Merseyside Pension Fund’s property assets. The valuation of the Fund's 
property fund assets has been impacted by COVID-19 and reported on the 
basis of 'material valuation uncertainty' as per the requirements of VPGA 10 of 
the RICS Red Book Global. Consequently, less certainty and a higher degree 
of caution should be attached to the Group's share of these Pension Fund 
assets.  

 The CA and Merseytravel have examined all its significant lease agreements 
to establish whether these should be classed as operational or finance leases.  
Where the application of IAS 17 does not provide a definitive solution, 
judgement is applied in determining whether the lease is operating or financial.  
Based on this assessment all Merseytravel’s leases have been assessed to be 
operational.  

 Impairment losses on financial assets:  As at 31 March 2021 the Authority has 
£20.804m short term debtors.  The Authority recognises expected credit losses 

Page 253



58 

 

on all of its financial assets held at amortised costs either on a 12 month or 
lifetime basis. Impairment losses are reviewed annually and calculated to 
reflect the expectation that the future cash flows may not take place because 
the borrower could default on their obligations.   

 Group accounts: the Authority has a number of interests in other entities which 
fall within the group boundary.  Whilst some of these are deemed to be material 
and are therefore consolidated into group accounts, others are considered not 
sufficiently material to warrant full group account disclosures.  To ensure there 
is sufficient visibility on these arrangements, narrative disclosures on these 
arrangements are included within note 1. 

 Merseytravel Group and the LCRCA operate a shared bank account to make 
in year payments and to receive income.  Merseytravel does not have the 
statutory power to invest surplus cash balances or to borrow to cover cash 
shortfalls.  When required this activity is undertaken by the LCRCA on behalf 
of Merseytravel.  Year-end bank balances are therefore recorded on the 
Balance Sheet of the LCRCA as it has the statutory power to invest and borrow 
to meet cashflow needs.  The cash surpluses or borrowings of Merseytravel 
are reflected as an intercompany debtor or creditor with the LCRCA. 

 Property revaluation: the LCRCA carries its non-infrastructure land and 
buildings at fair value. Periodically, external surveyors are used, and the most 
recent full independent survey was carried out as at 31 March 2019. Between 
independent surveys, desk top based annual reviews are carried out by 
qualified surveyors. Such valuations and any attached estimates are subject to 
some judgement.  

 Provisions for doubtful debts: as at 31 March 2021 Merseytravel has £101m 
short term debtors. The recoverability of debts are reviewed annually and 
provision is made for any debts over 12 months old or for which there is 
evidence of the initial debt being unrecoverable. 

 
3. Accounting Standards Issued But Not Yet Adopted 
 

As at the Balance Sheet date there are a number of accounting standards that have 
been published but not yet adopted by the Code. 

 
i. Definition of a Business: Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations 
ii. Interest Rate Benchmark Reform: Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 

and; 
iii. Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2: Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, 

IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 
 

It has been assessed that none of these changes will have a material impact on the 
accounts. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 254



59 

 

4. Unusable Reserves 
  

 
   

The details of the movements in unusable reserves can be found in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement. 
 
Revaluation Reserve 

 
The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the Authority arising from 
increases in the value of its property, plant and equipment (and intangible assets).  The 
balance is reduced when assets with accumulated gains are: 

 
 re-valued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost 
 used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through 

depreciation, or 
 disposed of and the gains are realised 

 
The Reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the date 
that the Reserve was created.  Accumulated gains arising before that date are 
consolidated into the balance on the Capital Adjustment Account. 

 
Capital Adjustment Account 

 
The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the 
different arrangements for accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and 
for financing the acquisition, construction, or enhancement of those assets under 
statutory provisions.  The account is charged with the cost of acquisition, construction 
or enhancement, as depreciation, impairment losses and amortisations are charged to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (with reconciling postings from 
the Revaluation Reserve to convert fair value figures to a historical cost basis).   
 
The account is credited with the amounts set aside by the Authority as finance for the 
costs of acquisition, construction and enhancement.   
 
The account also contains revaluation gains accumulated on Property, Plant and 
Equipment before 1 April 2007, the date that the Revaluation Reserve was created to 
hold such gains. 
 
Pensions Reserve 

 
The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different 
arrangements for accounting for post-employment benefits and for funding benefits in 
accordance with statutory provisions.  The Authority Group’s accounts for post-
employment benefits in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as the 
benefits are earned by employees accruing years of service, updating the liabilities 
recognised to reflect inflation, changing assumptions and investment returns on any 
resources set aside to meet the costs.  However, statutory arrangements require 
benefits earned to be financed as the Authority through Merseytravel makes 

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

29,356 Revaluation Reserve 28,563
122,569 Capital Adjustment Account 120,081
(88,856) Pension Reserve (99,408)

(372) Accumulating Absences Account (796)
(10) Collection Fund Adjustment Account (241)

62,687 Total 48,199

Page 255



60 

 

employer’s contributions to pensions funds or eventually pays any pensions for which 
it is directly responsible.  The debit balance on the Pensions Reserve therefore 
represents a substantial shortfall in the benefits earned by past and current employees 
and the resources the Authority has set aside to meet them.  The Statutory 
arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set aside by the time the benefits 
come to be paid.   

 
Accumulated Absences Account 

  
The Accumulated Absences Account absorbs the differences that would otherwise 
arise on the Revenue Reserve Balance from accruing for compensated absences 
earned but not taken in the year, e.g. annual leave entitlement carried forward at 31 
March.  Statutory arrangements require that the impact on the Revenue Reserves 
Balance is neutralised by transfers to or from the Account. 

  
The Collection Fund Adjustment Account 

  
The Collection Fund Adjustment Account manages the differences arising from the 
recognition of the Authority’s portion of council tax income and national non domestic 
rates income in the comprehensive income and expenditure statement as it falls due 
from council tax payers compared with the statutory arrangements for paying across 
amounts due to the Authority from Billing Authorities. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 256



61 

 

5.  Usable and Earmarked Reserves 
 

LCRCA Group - Movements in Earmarked Reserves 
  

This note sets out the amounts set aside from the General Fund balances in earmarked 
reserves to provide financing for future expenditure plans and the amounts posted 
back from earmarked reserves to meet General Fund expenditure in 2020/21. 

 

 
 

Details of the reserves movements can be found in the LCRCA single entity financial 
statements and the Merseytravel Group financial statements. 

 
6.  Other Operating Expenditure 
 

  
  
7.  Financing and Investment Income  
  

  
 
8.  Pensions 
 

As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers, the Combined 
Authority and Merseytravel makes contributions towards the cost of post-employment 
benefits.  Although these benefits will not actually be payable until employees retire, 
the Combined Authority and Merseytravel has a commitment to make the payments 
(for those benefits) and to disclose them at the time that employees earn their future 
entitlement.   
 
Both the Combined Authority and Merseytravel participates in Merseyside Pension 
Fund administered locally by Wirral Council – this is a funded defined benefit final 
salary scheme, meaning that Merseytravel and employees pay contributions into a 
fund, calculated at a level intended to balance the pensions liabilities with investment 
assets.  

Balance 1st 
April 2019

Transfers 
Out 

2019/20

Transfers 
In 

2019/20

Balance 
31st March 

2020

Transfers 
Out 

2020/21

Transfers 
In 2020/21

Balance 
31st March 

2021
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

LCRCA Single Entity  Earmarked 
Reserves

174,775 (12,233) 10,131 172,673 (10,223) 3,689 166,137

Merseytravel Group Earmarked 
Reserves

52,125 0 3,187 55,312 (4,333) 3,407 54,386

LCRCA Group Earmarked 
Reserves

226,900 (12,233) 13,318 227,985 (14,556) 7,096 220,523

LCRCA General Fund 1,142  (923) 2,515 2,734 0 0 2,734
Merseytravel Group General Fund 3,945  (1,383) 657 3,219 0 1,410 4,629
Total General Fund 5,087  (2,306) 3,172 5,953 0 1,410 7,365
Total Usable Reserves 231,987 (14,539) 16,490 233,938 (14,556) 8,506 227,888

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

136 Pension administration costs 147
136 Total 147

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

9,467 Interest on Pension Liabilities 8,651
(7,114) Pension Interest on Plan Assets (6,584)
10,521 Interest Payable and Similar Charges 11,986
(2,391) Investment Income (2,536)

0 Expected Credit Loss 509
10,483 Total 12,026

Page 257



62 

 

 
Transactions Relating to Post Employment Benefits 

 
The following transactions have been made in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement within the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services to 
comply with the reporting requirements of IAS 19 in respect of defined benefits 
schemes. 
 

 
 

The following transactions are then recognised in the Movement in Reserves as 
adjustments between the accounting basis and funding basis under Regulation. 

  

  
  
 Pension Assets and Liabilities recognised in the Balance Sheet 
 

The amount included in the Balance Sheet arising from the Merseytravel’s obligation 
in respect of its defined benefit plans is as follows: 
 

 
  
  
  

 

 

 

 

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

Net Cost of Service
9,173 Current service cost 8,958
5,644 Past service costs 0

Other Operating Expenditure
136 Administration expenses 147

Financing and Investments Income
2,353 Net interest expense 2,067

17,306 Total Post Employment Benefits Charged to the CIES 11,172

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

17,306
Reversal of net charges made to the Surplus or Deficit on 
the Provision of Services

(11,172)

4,921 Employers contribution payable to the Scheme 5,155

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

(366,355) Benefit obligation at end of the period (418,880)

277,498 Fair Value of plan assets at end of the period 319,471
(88,857) Deficit as at 31 March (99,409)

Page 258



63 

 

Reconciliation of the movement in the Fair Value of Scheme (Plan) Assets 

2019/20  2020/21 

£’000 £’000 

299,629 Balance brought forward 31 March 277,498 

7,114 Interest on plan assets 6,584 

(22,292) Remeasurement 41,117 

(136) Administration expenses (147) 

4,921 Employers contributions 5,155 

1,953 Members contributions 2,108 

(13,691) Benefits/ transfers paid (12,844) 

277,498 Balance carried forward 1 April 319,471 
  
 

Reconciliation of Present Value of Scheme Liabilities (Defined Benefit Obligations) 
 

2019/20  2020/21 

£’000 £’000 

(396,363) Balance brought forward 31 March (366,355) 

(9,173) Current service cost (8,958) 

(5,644) Past service cost 0 

(9,467) Interest on pension liabilities (8,651) 

(1,953) Member contribution (2,108) 

42,554 Remeasurement (liabilities) (45,652) 

13,691 Benefits/ transfers paid 12,844 

(366,355) Balance carried forward 1 April (418,880) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 259



64 

 

As at 31 March the assets comprised: 
 

2019/20   2020/21 

Quoted Unquoted Total % of 
total 

  
Quoted Unquoted Total % of 

total 
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

       Equities        

41,450 6,183 47,633 17 UK 47,797 7,340 55,137 17 

66,974 29,419 96,393 35 Global 75,882 34,622 110,504 35 

  
 

       
 

    
        Bonds         

5,658 0 5,658 2 UK Government 3,862 0 3,862 1 

14,377 0 14,377 5 UK Corporate 10,503 0 10,503 3 

17,624 0 17,624 6 UK Index Linked 25,222 0 25,222 8 

0 0 0 0 Overseas Corporate 63 1,679 1,742 1 

0 0 0 0 Derivative Contracts  (40)  (1,071)  (1,111) 0 

                  
        Property         

0 14,882 14,882 5 UK Direct Property 0 14,647 14,647 5 

634 4,203 4,837 2 
UK Managed 
Property 

603 5,698 6,301 1 

0 6,390 6,390 2 
Global Managed 
Property 

0 7,508 7,508 2 

                  
       Private Equity        

29 3,023 3,052 1 UK 0 5,598 5,598 2 

0 15,574 15,574 6 Global 0 17,529 17,529 5 

    
 

        
 

  
        Cash         

5,279 0 5,279 2 Cash Instruments 0 0 0 0 

        Cash Accounts 7,701 0 7,701 2 

                  
       Other         

662 4,318 4,980 2 Private Equity UK 502 1,273 1,775 1 

1094 7,282 8,376 3 Private Equity Global 0 12,569 12,569 4 

                 

461 9,557 10,018 4 Infrastructure UK 469 12,133 12,602 4 

0 8,147 8,147 3 Infrastructure Global 0 9,452 9,452 3 

                 

748 6,650 7,398 3 Opportunities UK 134 5,664 5,798 2 

259 6,621 6,880 2 Opportunities Global 502 11,630 12,132 4 

      
 

          
155,249 122,249 277,498 100   173,200 146,271 319,471 100 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 260



65 

 

Actuarial Assumptions 
 

Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit 
method, an estimate of the pensions that will be payable in future years dependent on 
assumptions about mortality rates, salary levels etc.  The Local Government Pension 
Scheme liabilities have been assessed by Mercers, an independent firm of actuaries, 
estimates being based on the latest full valuation of the scheme.  The main 
assumptions used in their calculations are detailed in the table below. 

 

 
 
A sensitivity analysis has been provided by Mercers which provides an illustrative 
impact of marginal changes to the assumptions used in respect of the long-term 
discount rate, inflation and life expectancy.  The results of this sensitivity analysis are 
detailed below. 
 

 
  

Impact on the Authority’s Cashflows 
 

The objectives of the scheme are to keep employer’s contributions at as constant and 
affordable rate as possible.  Merseyside Pension Fund has agreed a strategy with the 
scheme’s actuary which was approved by the Pensions Committee in March 2017.  
Funding levels are monitored on an annual basis.   

 
The scheme will need to take account of the national changes to the scheme under 
the Public Pensions Act 2013.  Under the Act, the Local Government Pension Scheme 
in England and Wales and the other main existing public service schemes may not 
provide benefits in relation to service after 31 March 2014 (or services after 31 March 
2015 for other main existing public service pension schemes in England and Wales).  
The Act provides for scheme regulations to be made within a common framework, to 

2019/20 2020/21
Base Assumptions

Rate of CPI inflation 2.10% 2.70%
Rate of increase in salaries 3.60% 4.20%
Rate of increase in pensions 2.20% 2.80%
Discount Rate 2.40% 2.10%

Mortality Assumptions

Life expectancy of male future pensioner aged 65 in 20 years' time 22.5 22.6

Life expectancy of female future pensioner aged 65 in 20 years' time 25.9 26

Life expectancy of male current pensioner aged 65 20.9 21
Life expectancy of female current pensioner aged 65 24.0 24.1

Central
+0.1% p.a. 
discount 

rate

+0.1% p.a. 
inflation

+0.1% p.a. 
pay growth

1 year 
increase in 

life 
expectancy

+1% change 
in 20/21 

investment 
returns

-1% change in 
20/21 

investment 
returns

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Liabilities (418,880) (412,555) (425,303) (419,901) (431,821) (418,880) (418,880)
Assets 319,471 319,471 319,471 319,471 319,471 322,638 316,304
(Surplus)/ Deficit (99,409) (93,084) (105,832) (100,430) (112,350) (96,242) (102,576)
Projected service cost 
next year

11,148 10,860 11,451 11,148 11,524 11,148 11,148

Projected net interest 
cost for next year

2,057 2,014 2,197 2,083 2,334 1,990 2,122

Page 261



66 

 

establish new career average revalued earnings schemes to pay pensions and other 
benefits to certain public servants.  
 
The Combined Authority and Merseytravel anticipate paying £3.640m in contributions 
to the scheme in 2021/22. 

 
9. Grant Income 

  

Restated 
Credited to Taxation and Non Specific Grant 

Income 

2020/21 

2019/20  

£’000 £’000 

 (95,400) Transport Levy  (97,404) 

 (1,000) Mayoral Capacity Grant  (1,000) 

 (7,697) Mayoral Precept  (7,619) 

0 Sales, Fees & Charges  (6,212) 

 (2,910) Capital Grants   (12,122) 

 (2,348) Utilisation of Gainshare Revenue  (4,034) 

 (109,354) Total  (128,391) 
 

The 2019/20 comparators have been restated to recognise utilisation of gainshare 
revenue as non specific grant income.  This income was previously reported within net 
cost of services in the group comprehensive income and expenditure statement. 

  

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

          (96,215) Special Rail Grant            (97,842)
            (1,516) Bus Special Operator Grant              (1,516)
            (1,024) REFCUS              (4,043)

0 Covid Restart Grants              (4,853)
                 (15) Cycling and Walking to Work 0
          (23,425) DfT Integrated Transport Block            (47,354)

0 DfT Cycling and Walking                 (113)
          (27,085) BEIS Local Growth Fund            (87,798)
            (7,075) Growing Places Fund 0
          (10,816) BEIS -Gain Share            (13,791)
            (4,922) Other Grants and Contributions              (9,354)
               (403) Brexit Readiness                 (181)
            (9,568) ERDF & ESF            (11,462)
            (6,200) Transforming Cities            (12,241)

0 Brownfield Fund            (10,346)
0 Getting Building Fund              (2,593)
0 Additional Restrictions Grant            (27,968)

                 (80) Planning Delivery Fund                 (102)
          (30,434) Adult Education            (51,241)
            (1,271) Households into Work                 (944)
            (1,912) Homelessness              (1,880)

(221,961)        Total (385,622)         

Credited to Services

Page 262



67 

 

 

10. Grant Receipts in Advance 

The Authority Group has received a number of grants and contributions which have 
conditions attached to them.  These have not yet been recognised as income and will 
only be credited to the comprehensive income and expenditure statement once all 
conditions are met.  The balances at the year-end are as follows: 

 

  

  

  

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

(23,962)          Gain Share  (34,104)
(126)               ERDF  (197)
(132)               ESF  (180)

(10,527)          DfT  (16,471)
(1,719)            Homelessness Grant  (796)

(427)               MHCLG Planning Delivery Grant  (325)
(1,220)            Households into Work  (275)

(563)               Low Carbon  (53,661)
(11,668)          Growing Places  (11,598)
(7,944)            Transforming Cities  (30,533)

0 Getting Building Fund  (10,482)
0 Additional Restrictions Grant  (17,084)

(1,906)            Adult Education Funding  (4,594)
(273)               EU Exit Preparation Fund  (273)

(16,109)          Rolling Stock  (10,033)
(107)               Better Bus Area  (107)

0 Better Deal for Bus  (1,114)
0 Smart Ticketing  (252)
0 Clean Bus Grant  (847)

(1,249)            Miscellaneous  (1,513)
          (77,932) Total  (194,439)

Page 263



68 

 

11. Expenditure and Funding Analysis 

The Expenditure and Funding Analysis shows how annual expenditure is used and funded from resources by the Authority Group in comparison to those 
resources consumed or earned by the Authority Group in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices. It also shows how the expenditure is 
allocated between Services. Income and expenditure accounted for under generally accepted accounting practice is presented more fully in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

 

 

An organisational restructure took place in 2020/21 which resulted in the creation of a new directorate and realignment of services.  Consequently the 2019/20 
comparators have been restated to reflect the new structure.

Net 
Expenditure 

Chargeable to 
the General 

Fund

Adjustments 
between 

funding and 
accounting 

basis

Net 
Expenditure 
in the CIES

Net 
Expenditure 

Chargeable to 
the General 

Fund

Adjustments 
between 

funding and 
accounting 

basis

Net 
Expenditure 
in the CIES

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
82,507 44,188 126,695 Integrated Transport Services 99,450 41,138 140,588
1,667 113 1,780 Commercial Development & Investment 1,054 152 1,206
8,740 3,110 11,850 Corporate Services & Corporate Costs 4,381 291 4,672

954 82 1,036 Corporate Development & Delivery 983 61 1,045
3,347 486 3,833 Policy, Strategy & Government Relations 3,110 322 3,432

824 0 824 Strategic Commissioning & Delivery 451 522 973

2,505 53 2,558 Metro Mayors Office & Mayoral Priorities 2,894 192 3,086

(4,279) 61,186 56,907 SIF Payments to Partners 267 (23,047) (22,781)
96,265 109,218 205,483 Net Cost of Services 112,590 19,631 132,221

(98,215) (520) (98,735) Other Income and Expenditure (106,540) (9,678) (116,218)
(1,949) 108,698 106,748 Surplus or deficit 6,050 9,953 16,003

(231,989) Opening Balance at 1 April (233,938)
(1,949) Less/plus Surplus or Deficit in Year 6,050

(233,938) Closing Reserves at 31 March (227,888)

Restated 2019/20 2020/21

P
age 264



69 

 

 

 

Note to EFA 2020/21 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Adjustments from General Fund to arrive at the CIES
Adjustments for 
Capital Purposes

Net change for the 
Pensions 

Adjustments
Other Differences Total Adjustments

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Integrated Transport Services 38,451 2,481 206 41,138
Commercial Development & Investment 0 152 0 152
Corporate Services & Corporate Costs 0 73 218 291
Corporate Development & Delivery 0 61 0 61
Policy, Strategy & Government Relations 0 322 0 322
Strategic Commissioning & Delivery 0 522 0 522
Metro Mayors Office & Mayoral Priorities 0 192 0 192
SIF Payments to Partners (23,047) 0 0 (23,047)
Net Cost of Services 15,404 3,803 424 19,631
Other Income & Expenditure from the Funding Analysis (12,123) 2,214 231 (9,678)
Difference between General Fund surplus or deficit and CIES 
surplus or deficit

3,281 6,017 655 9,953

P
age 265



70 

 

Note to EFA 2019/20 Restated 
 

 
 
 

 
An organisational restructure took place in 2020/21 which resulted in the creation of a new directorate and realignment of services.  Consequently the 
2019/20 comparators have been restated to reflect the new structure.

Adjustments from General Fund to arrive at the CIES
Adjustments for 
Capital Purposes

Net change for the 
Pensions 

Adjustments
Other Differences Total Adjustments

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Integrated Transport Services 40,341 3,846 0 44,188
Commercial Development & Investment 0 113 0 113
Corporate Services & Corporate Costs (2,206) 5,316 0 3,110
Corporate Development & Delivery 0 82 0 82
Policy, Strategy & Government Relations 0 486 0 486
Strategic Commissioning & Delivery 0 0 0 0
Metro Mayors Office & Mayoral Priorities 0 53 0 53
SIF Payments to Partners 61,186 0 0 61,186
Net Cost of Services 99,321 9,896 0 109,218
Other Income & Expenditure from the Funding Analysis 0 2,489 (3,009) (520)
Difference between General Fund surplus or deficit and CIES 
surplus or deficit

99,321 12,385 (3,009) 108,698P
age 266



 

71 

 

 

 

Adjustments for capital purposes 
 
This column adds in depreciation, impairment and revaluation gains and losses in the 
service line, adjusts for the statutory charge for Minimum Revenue Provision and other 
income contributions that are not chargeable under proper accounting practice. 
 
Net Changes for Pension Adjustments 

 
Net changes for the removal of pension contributions and additions of IAS 19 
Employee Benefits pension related income and expenditure. For services this 
represents the removal of the employer pension contributions made by the Authority 
Group as allowed under statute and replaced with current service cost and past service 
cost. For financing and investment income this is the net interest on the defined benefit 
liability charged to the CIES. 
  
Other Differences 
 
These are the amounts debited or credited to the CIES and amounts payable/ 
receivable to be recognised under statute in respect of premiums and discounts and 
adjustments in respect of accumulating absences. 

 

Income and Expenditure Analysed by Type 

 
  

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £'000

Expenditure
48,807 Employee benefits expenses 46,998

463,875 Other services expenses 517,440
15,858 Depreciation, amortisation, impairment 16,631
10,521 Interest payments 11,986

539,060 Total expenditure 593,055

Income
(97,293) Fees, charges and other service income (60,400)
(2,391) Interest and investment income (2,536)

(332,629) Government grants and contributions (514,116)
(432,313) Total income (577,052)

106,747
(Surplus) or deficit on the Provision of 
Services

16,003

Page 267



 

72 

 

 

 

12. Officers Remuneration 
 

Senior Officers Remuneration 
 

The table below details the remuneration of the directors of Merseytravel and the CA. 
 

 
 
(i) The Interim Director of Strategic Commissioning & Delivery was appointed on 

16 November 2020 following an internal realignment of functions. 
 

Employee Remuneration 
 

The number of employees (excluding directors) in receipt of remuneration for the year 
of £50,000 or more is detailed overleaf.  For the purpose of this note remuneration 
includes allowances, bonuses and severance pay but excludes employer’ pension 
contributions. 

  Salary
Employers Pension 

Contribution
Total 

Remuneration
  £’000 £’000 £’000

2020/21 203 34 237
2019/20 190 28 218
2020/21 112 19 132
2019/20 113 17 130
2020/21 128 17 146
2019/20 126 18 144
2020/21 112 19 130
2019/20 44 7 50
2020/21 0 0 0
2019/20 44 6 50
2020/21 103 14 117
2019/20 97 15 112
2020/21 163 22 186
2019/20 159 24 183
2020/21 87 14 101
2019/20 60 16 76
2020/21 102 0 102
2019/20 0 0 0

Director of Policy, Strategy & Government 
Relations

Director of Strategic Commissoning & Delivery 
(Interim) (i)

Director of Corporate Services 

Director of Integrated Transport (Interim)- appointed 
7th October 2019

Director of Integrated Transport - resigned 31st July 
2019

Monitoring Officer

Director of Commercial Development & Investment  
-Mark Bousfield

Chief Executive/Director General – Frank Rogers 

Director of Corporate Development & Delivery

Page 268



 

73 

 

 

 
 

12. Exit Packages 
 

 
 
 
13. Audit Fees 
 

The table overleaf discloses the fees paid to the Group’s external auditor, Mazars in 
respect of its external audit and inspection work for the LCRCA and Merseytravel.  The 
audit fees in respect of the 2019/20 have been restated to reflect the additional fees 
incurred in respect of the 2019/20 external audit. These additional costs arose because 
of additional work undertaken by the auditors which was required to complete the audit 
for that year.  The Merseytravel subsidiary companies’ external auditor is Langtons. 
 

Remuneration Range 2020/21 2019/20
£50,000 to £54,999 30 20
£55,000 to £59,999 21 13
£60,000 to £64,999 13 1
£65,000 to £69,999 5 6
£70,000 to £74,999 7 5
£75,000 to £79,999 1 0
£80,000 to £84,999 1 5
£85,000 to £89,999 7 6
£90,000 to £94,999 1 1
£95,000 to £99,999 2 0
£100,000 to £104,999 1 0
£105,000 to £109,999 0 0
£110,000 to £114,999 1 0
£115,000 to £124,999 0 0
£125,000 to £129,999 0 1
£130,000 to £139,999 1 1
£140,000 to £154,999 0 0
£155,000 to £159,999 0 1
Total 91 60

£0 - £20,000 0 0 6 1 6 1 47 7
£20,001 - £40,000 0 0 1 0 1 0 29 0
£40,001 - £60,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
£60,001 - £80,000 1 0 1 0 2 0 139 0
£80,001 - £100,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
£100,001 -£150,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
£150,001 - £200,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 1 0 8 1 9 1 215 7

20/21 
£'000

No. of 
Compulsory 

Redundancies

No. of other 
Departures 

agreed

Total No. of Exit 
Packages by 
Cost Band

Total Cost of Exit 
Packages in each 

Band

19/20 20/21 19/20 20/21 19/20 20/21
19/20 
£'000

Page 269



 

74 

 

 

 
 
14.  Related Party Transactions 
 

The Authority Group is required to disclose material transactions with related parties, 
bodies or individuals that have the potential to control or influence or to be controlled 
or influenced by the Authority Group. 

 
Central Government 

 
Central Government has significant influence over the general operations of the 
Authority Group as it is responsible for providing the statutory framework within which 
the Authority Group operates. A significant body of the funding received by the 
Authority Group comes from Central Government, which provide the majority of the 
Authority Group’s capital expenditure funding and Growth Deal funding provided as 
part of the Authority Group’s devolution deal.  In addition, the Authority Group receives 
the Special Rail Grant which is received by Merseytravel to support the operation of 
the local Merseyrail franchise.  Details on the funding received from the various 
government departments is detailed in note 7 of the single entity financial statements. 

  
Merseyside Local Authorities 

 
The Leaders/Mayor of the Merseyside district councils and Halton all serve as 
Members to the LCRCA which has direct control over the Authority Group’s financial 
and operating policies.  Within their capacity as members of the Authority, in 
consultation with their respective district councils, Members approve the level of the 
Transport Levy raised annually to support the transport functions of the Authority.   

 
The Authority Group operates a number of boards and committees below the Authority 
Group level, most notably the Transport Committee (formerly the Merseytravel 
Committee).  These are comprised of Elected Members from the constituent district 
councils as nominated by their Leaders.  During the year no works and services were 
commissioned from companies in which Members had an interest. 

 
Details of income, expenditure and balance sheet balances are detailed below:  
 

 
 

 
 

2019/20 
Restated

2020/21

£’000 £’000
48 External Audit fees in respect of LCRCA 36
41 External Audit fees in respect of Merseytravel 29
22 External Audit fees in respect of subsidiary companies 21

111 Total 86

2019/20  2020/21     St   
Total Liverpool City Region Authorities Total Halton Knowsley Liverpool Sefton Helens Wirral
£'000  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

(116,174) Income (105,932) (749) (11,026) (36,352) (20,499) (13,324) (23,982)

117,634 Expenditure 164,508 31,920 26,118 57,214 27,473 10,350 11,433
0 Debtors 17 0 0 8 9 0 0

(46,137) Creditors (47,377) (2,666) (10,201) (24,692) (5,024) (870) (3,925)
15,000 Investments 1,095 0 0 1,095 0 0 0

(13,730)  Borrowings (11,442) 0 0 0 0 0 (11,442)

Page 270



 

75 

 

 

Entities controlled or significantly influenced by the Authority Group 
 
Liverpool Growth Platform 

The LCRCA nominate a majority of guarantors and the private/education/third sector 
provide a minority of guarantors through election at the LEP Board.  The LCRCA does 
exercise control over the Growth Platform however the results have not been 
consolidated on the grounds of materiality.  The net assets as at 31st March 2021 are 
£393k (£406k in 2019/20) and net deficit for the 2020/21 financial year is £13k (£46k 
surplus in 2019/20).   
 
LCRCA granted Liverpool Growth Platform a loan of £500k by agreement on 28 
October 2020.  This was a working capital float to maintain appropriate levels of 
liquidity as a result of delayed grant payments from other sources.  As the results of 
Liverpool Growth Platform are not consolidated this loan is recognised as a long term 
debtor in the single entity and the group financial statements. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2019/20 2020/21
Total Total
£'000 £'000

(1) Income (426)
2,120 Expenditure 2,923

300 Debtors 0
0 Investments 500

Liverpool Growth Platform

Page 271



 

76 

 

 

15. Property Plant and Equipment 
 

Movement on Balances 2020/21 
  

 
 

   
   

  

£’000 £’000 £’000 £'000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
As at 1 April 2020 362,771 18,361 69,498 5,142 18,121 1,192 181,462 656,547
Additions 3,216 3,340 698 0 1,972 72 31,291 40,589
Reclassification 0 0 0 0 2,278 0 (2,367) (89)
Derecognition disposals 0 0 0 0 (268) 0 0 (268)
As at 31 March 2021 365,987 21,701 70,196 5,142 22,103 1,264 210,386 696,779

As at 1 April 2020 83,450 0 595 985 6,565 1 0 91,595
Depreciation 12,140 617 1,905 197 1,416 1 0 16,276
Disposals 0 0 0 0 (268) 0 0 (268)
As at 31 March 2021 95,590 617 2,500 1,182 7,713 2 0 107,603

As at 31 March 2021 270,397 21,084 67,696 3,960 14,390 1,262 210,386 589,176
As at 31 March 2020 279,321 18,361 68,903 4,157 11,556 1,191 181,462 564,952

Total
Infra’ure 
Assets

Freehold 
Property

Leasehold 
Property 

Vehicles, 
Plant and 

Machinery

Assets 
Under 

Const’n

F&F 
Leasehold 
Property

Surplus 
Assets

P
age 272



 

77 

 

 

Movement on Balances 2019/20  
 

 
 
 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £'000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
As at 1 April 2019 356,710 17,645 67,556 5,142 15,219 1,192 146,297 13 609,774
Additions 6,061 488 186 0 1,537 0 36,877 0 45,148
Revaluation inc/(dec) recognised in the 
Revaluation Reserve

0 229 1,756 0 0 0 0 0 1,985

Reclassification 0 0 0 0 1,712 0 (1,712) 0 (0)
Derecognition disposals 0 0 0 0 (347) 0 0 (13) (360)
As at 31 March 2020 362,771 18,361 69,498 5,142 18,121 1,192 181,462 0 656,547

As at 1 April 2019 71,968 0 596 788 5,360 0 0 0 78,712
Depreciation 11,482 815 1,742 197 1,337 1 0 0 15,574
Depreciation written out to the Reval Reserve 0 (815) (1,742) 0 0 (1) 0 0 (2,558)
Disposals 0 0 0 0 (132) 0 0 0 (132)
As at 31 March 2020 83,450 0 596 985 6,565 0 0 0 91,595

As at 31 March 2020 279,321 18,361 68,902 4,157 11,556 1,192 181,462 0 564,952
As at 31 March 2019 294,741 18,207 75,083 4,551 8,289 1,940 107,689 0 505,949

Surplus 
Assets

Assets 
Under 

Const’n

Held for 
Sale

Total
Infra’ure 
Assets

Freehold 
Property

Leasehold 
Property 

(Restated) 

Vehicles, 
Plant and 

Machinery

Fixtures & 
Fittings 

Leasehold 
Property

P
age 273



 

78 

 

 

 
Depreciation 

 
The following useful lives and depreciation rates have been used in the calculation of 
depreciation: 

 
 Infrastructure assets useful lives are determined on acquisition and 

considered thereafter as part of the annual impairment review.  The current 
maximum useful life is 72 years. 

 Freehold and Leasehold property useful lives are based on estimated 
remaining life    as provided by the valuer as part of the valuation process.  
The maximum useful life in this category is 51 years. 

 Vehicles, plant and machinery useful lives are determined on acquisition 
and considered thereafter as part of the annual impairment review.  The 
current maximum useful life is 20 years. 

 Vessels useful lives are based on estimated remaining life provided by the 
valuer as part of the valuation process.  The maximum useful life in this 
category is 8 years. 

 
Revaluations 

 
The Authority has a valuation process which ensures that all property plant and 
equipment required to be measured at current value is revalued at least every five 
years.  All valuations are carried out externally.  Valuations of land and buildings are 
carried out in accordance with the methodologies and bases for estimation set out in 
the professional standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors.   

 
The significant assumptions applied in estimating the current values of property, plant 
and equipment are: 

 
 That no deleterious material was used in the construction of any property and 

that none has been subsequently incorporated. 
 That the properties are not subject to any unusual or especially onerous 

restrictions, encumbrances or outgoings and that good titles can be shown. 
 That the properties and their values are unaffected by any matters which would 

be revealed by a local search or inspection of any register and that the use and 
occupation are both legal. 

 That inspection of those parts which have not been inspected would not cause 
alteration to the opinion of value. 

 No environmental assessment of the property (including its site) and 
neighbouring properties has been provided to or by the valuer and the valuer 
is not instructed to arrange consultants to investigate any matters with regard 
to flooding, contamination or the presence of radon gas or other hazardous 
substances.   

 
Infrastructure assets (gross book value £365.987m), short life plant machinery and 
vehicles (gross book value £27.245m) and assets under construction (gross book 
value £210.386m) are carried at historical cost.  The remaining categories of property, 
plant and equipment (gross book value £93.161m) are carried at current value with the 
last full valuation being undertaken at 31 March 2019.   
 
A full valuation exercise was undertaken at 31 March 2019.  In the 2019/20 financial 
year a desktop valuation was undertaken on 70% by value of the property portfolio.  

Page 274



 

79 

 

 

The percentage increase arising from this valuation exercise was applied across the 
remainder of the portfolio as an estimate of the movement in property values in the 
financial year. In the 2020/21 financial year an estimate of the movement in values was 
calculated making use of indices which were provided by the external valuers.  These 
estimates did not indicate a material movement and therefore the properties have not 
been revalued in the 2020/21 financial year.  
 

 Capital Commitments 
 
As at 31 March 2021, the Authority has entered into a number of contracts for the 
construction or enhancement of property, plant and equipment in 2021/2022 and future 
years budgeted to cost £254.214m.  Similar commitments at 31 March 2020 were 
£357.160m. 
 

 The major commitments are: 
 

  Rolling Stock - £113.464m 
  Festival Gardens - £26.548m 
  Access For All - £15.872m 
  Digital Infrastructure Project - £10.913m 
  MTC Project in a Box – £9.895m 
 St Helens Southern Gateway - £9.858m 

  
16. Intangible Assets 
  

 
 
 

Goodwill of £1.695m relates to the acquisition by Mersey Ferries Limited of The 
Beatles Story.  For impairment testing purposes, this goodwill has been allocated to 
the wholly owned subsidiary, which forms part of the Mersey Ferries Group.  This 

Goodwill on 
Consolidation

Licences & 
Fab 4D Film

Total
Goodwill on 

Consolidation
Licences & 
Fab 4D Film

Total

£’000
Restated 

£’000
Restated 

£’000
£’000 £’000 £’000

Cost or valuation:

Opening balance:

2,803 1,852 4,655 Gross carrying amount 2,803 2,308 5,111

(1,108) (863) (1,971) Accumulated amortisation (1,108) (1,047) (2,155)

1,695 989 2,684
Opening net carrying 
amount

1,695 1,261 2,956

0 456 456 Additions 0 987 987

0 (184) (184) Amortisation 0 (256) (256)

0 0 0 Reclassification 0 89 89

0 0 0 Disposal 0 0 0

1,695 1,261 2,956
Net carrying amount at 
end of year

1,695 2,081 3,776

Comprising:

2,803 2,308 5,111 Gross carrying amount 2,803 3,384 6,187

(1,108) (1,047) (2,155) Accumulated amortisation (1,108) (1,303) (2,411)

1,695 1,261 2,956 1,695 2,081 3,776

2019/20 2020/21

Page 275



 

80 

 

 

represents the lowest level within the LCRCA at which goodwill is monitored for 
internal management purposes. 

 
Merseytravel has performed its annual impairment test as at 31 March 2021.  The 
recoverable amount of The Beatles Story is determined on a value in use basis using 
cash flow projections based on historical financial outturns and consideration of the 
likely impact of COVID-19. 

 
Some sensitivity analysis was then applied to these assumptions resulting in little 
change to the original values. The resultant calculation showed the value of implied 
goodwill was consistent with that shown in the group balance sheet and no impairment 
was required for 2020/21. 
 

17. Heritage Assets 
 

   
 

The Group holds a number of heritage assets which are primarily statues and artworks 
as detailed in the above table. 

The assets are not depreciated as depreciation charges are not required on heritage 
assets which have indefinite lives.  An impairment review is undertaken when the asset 
has suffered physical deterioration or breakage, or where new doubts arise as to its 
authenticity. 
 

18. Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing 
 

The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table 
overleaf together with the resources that have been used to finance it.  Where capital 
expenditure is to be financed in future years by charges to revenue as assets are used 
by the Authority, the expenditure results in an increase in the Capital Finance 
Requirement (CFR), a measure of the capital expenditure incurred historically by the 
Council that has yet to be financed.  The CFR is analysed in the second part of this 
note. 
 

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

Statues of King George and Queen Mary 300 300
Day and Night sculpture 50 50
Obelisk at Kings Square 100 100
Art on the Network 194 194
Albert Dock monument 385 385
Bessie and Ken statues 69 69
Other heritage assets 63 63
Balance as at 31 March 1,161 1,161

Page 276



 

81 

 

 

 
 
19. Long Term Debtors   
 

  
 
20. Short Term Debtors 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

2020/21 2019/20
£’000 £’000

Opening Capital Financing Requirement 425,157 288,938

Capital investment
PPE 40,590 45,148
Intangible assets 987 456
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital 
Under Statute

185,459 172,651

Loan Expenditure 4,024 12,837

Sources of Finance

Government grants and other contributions
Direct revenue contributions (5,788) (5,430)
Sums aside from revenue reserves (4,942) (4,807)
Minimum Revenue Provision (7,568) (8,014)

Closing Capital Financing Requirement 453,934 425,157

Explanation of movements in year:
Increase/(Decrease) in underlying need to 
borrow

28,777 136,219

Increase/(Decrease) in Capital Financing 
Requirement

28,777 136,219

(183,985) (76,622)

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

       6,035 Loans      36,385 
1,591 Other Debtors 1,845

34,972 Chrysalis 34,972
42,598 Balance as at 31 March 73,202

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

1,958 Trade Receivables 1,712
3,162 Prepayments 3,195

31,160 Other Receivable Amounts 16,400
36,279 Balance as at 31 March 21,307

Page 277



 

82 

 

 

21.  Short Term Creditors 
 

  
 
22.  Provisions  
 

 
 

Employment related provisions relate to pension obligations and provisions arising  
from job evaluation/ employment harmonisation. 
Contractual provisions relate to insurance claims and bus operator payments. 
Government initiatives relate to the purchase of carbon credits. 
Capital expenditure provision relates to possible clawback of ERDF grant.  
 
Provisions have been analysed by management between those likely to be settled in 
less than one year and those that have a longer duration.  The table below provides 
an analysis of the closing balances between long and short term provisions. 
 

 
 

23. Leases 
  

Authority as Lessee 
  

 
 
The expenditure charged in the comprehensive income and expenditure statement 
during the year in relation to these leases was: 

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

(16) Trade Payables (5,793)
(89,471) Other Payables (98,238)
(89,487) Balance as at 31 March (104,031)

As at 31 
March 2020

Expenditure 
charged to 
provision in 

year

Increase/ 
(decrease) in 

provision

As at 31 
March 2021

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Employment Related Provision (299) 59 28  (212)

Contractual Provisions (2,340) 915 (29)  (1,454)
Government initiatives (200) 0 0  (200)
Capital Expenditure (909) 0 0  (909)
Total  (3,748) 974 (1)  (2,775)

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000
 (1,736) Short Term Provisions (763)
 (2,012) Long Term Provisions (2,012)
 (3,748) Balance as at 31 March (2,775)

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

11,719 Not later than one year 13,263
19,125 Between one and five years 20,961
60,180 Over five years 57,051
91,024 Balance as at 31 March 91,275

Page 278



 

83 

 

 

 

 
 

 
Authority as Lessor 

 

  
 

24. Financial Instruments 
 

Categories of Financial Instruments 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

14,950 Minimum lease payments 13,490
(12,496) Sublease payments receivable (10,646)

2,453 Total 2,844

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

(9,442) Not later than one year (10,962)
(9,777) Between one and five years (10,924)
(2,392) Over five years (2,294)

 (21,611) Balance as at 31 March  (24,180)

Current Non Current Current Non Current

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Financial Assets at Amortised 
Cost:

          216,703 0 Investments           235,228 0
33,324             42,599 Debtors 18,112 73,202
54,603 0 Cash & Cash Equivalents 98,393 0

304,630 42,599 Total Financial Assets 351,733 73,202

Financial Liabilities at 
Amortised Cost:

(16,910) (340,576) Borrowing (16,965) (323,612)
(89,487) (6,300) Creditors (104,031) (6,000)

(106,397) (346,876) Total Financial Liabilities (120,996) (329,612)

31 March 2020 31 March 2021

Page 279



 

84 

 

 

Income and Expenses through the CIES 
 

 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

 
 
Analysis of Loans Outstanding 
 

 
 
Loans Maturing 
 

 
 
Fair Values of Assets and Liabilities 

 
 The Authority’s financial liabilities and financial assets are represented by loans, 

investments and long-term debtors which are carried on the Balance Sheet at 
amortised cost.  Their fair value can be assessed by calculating the present value of 
the cash flows that take place over the remaining life of the instrument (Level 2 inputs) 
using the following assumptions: 
 

Financial 
Liabilities

Financial 
Assets

Financial 
Liabilities

Financial 
Assets

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
10,521 0 Interest Expense 11,986 0

0 (2,391) Interest Income 0 (2,536)

10,521 (2,391)
Net (Income)/Expense for 
the Year

11,986 (2,536)

31 March 2020 31 March 2021

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

29,416 72,216

25,187 26,177

54,603 98,393

Short Term Deposits with Banks and Building Societies

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and Bank Current Account

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000
 (156,872)  (148,480)
 (186,885)  (180,656)
 (13,730)  (11,441)

 (357,487)  (340,577)

PWLB Debt
EIB Debt
Wirral MBC (transferred debt)
Total Loans Outstanding

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

 (16,906)  (16,965)
 (16,961)  (15,739)
 (46,696)  (45,991)
 (59,207)  (52,085)

 (217,716)  (209,797)
 (357,487)  (340,577)

Maturing in more than 10 years
Total Loans Outstanding

Maturing within 12 months
Maturing within 1 -  2 years
Maturing within 2 to 5 years
Maturing within 5-10 years

Page 280



 

85 

 

 

 For loans from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB), premature repayment 
rates from the PWLB have been applied to provide the fair value under the 
PWLB debt redemption procedures;    

 For non-PWLB loans fair value estimates have been provided using both PWLB 
redemption and new PWLB certainty rate loan discount rates. 

 For loans receivable, prevailing benchmark market rates have been used to 
provide the fair value; 

 No early repayment or impairment has been recognised; and 
 For highly liquid or cash deposits which can be settled on demand and for trade 

receivable or payable, fair value is taken to be the carrying amount or billed 
amount. 

 
The fair values of the Authority’s financial assets and liabilities at the Balance Sheet 
date are detailed below. 

 

  
 

Nature and Extent of Risk Arising from Financial Instruments 
 
 The LCRCA’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks.  The key risks are:- 
 

 Credit risk - the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to 
the LCRCA; 

 Liquidity risk - the possibility that the LCRCA might not have funds available to 
meet its commitments to make payments; and 

 Market risk - the possibility that financial loss might arise for the LCRCA as a 
result of changes in such measures as interest rates. 

 
 The LCRCA’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of 

financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the resources 
available to fund services.  Risk management is carried out by the Resources 
Directorate, under policies approved by the LCRCA in its Treasury Management 
Strategy.   
 
Credit risk 

 
Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit 
exposures to the Authority’s customers.  The risk is minimised through the Treasury 
Management Strategy, which pays regard to the recognition and measurement of 
expected credit losses.  The Authority will recognise a loss allowance for expected 

Carrying 
Value

Fair Value
Carrying 

Value
Fair Value

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Financial Assets

216,703 216,896 Short term investments 235,228 235,260
54,603 54,603 Cash and cash equivalents 98,393 98,393

Financial Liabilities
 (156,872)  (219,281) PWLB Debt  (148,480) (221,068)
 (13,730)  (14,999) Wirral MBC  (11,441) (10,917)

 (186,885)  (165,997) EIB Debt  (180,656) (160,944)

31 March 2020 31 March 2021

Page 281



 

86 

 

 

credit losses, if applicable, on assets where cash flows are solely principal and interest 
(i.e. financial instruments measured at amortised cost or FVOCI). This does not apply 
where the counterparty is central government or another local authority.  

 
Deposits are not made with banks and financial institutions unless they are rated 
independently with a minimum score of P1 and A3 (Moody’s) and/or F1 and A (Fitch’s), 
with weightings of the total amounted deposited in the highest rated categories.  The 
Authority has a policy of spreading its surplus balances over several institutions. 
 
Liquidity risk 

 
 As the Authority has ready access to borrowings from the Public Works Loans Board, 

there is no significant risk that it will be unable to raise finance to meet its commitments.  
There is a future risk that the Authority will be bound to replenish a proportion of its 
borrowings at a time of unfavourable interest rates, however this risk is several 
decades in the future and will be significantly covered by Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP) balances.  Details of the maturity of debt are given earlier in this note. 

  
 Market Risk 
 
 Interest rate risk: The Authority is exposed to marginal risk in terms of its exposure to 

interest rate movements on its borrowings and investments.  Borrowings are not 
carried at fair value, so nominal gains and losses on fixed rate borrowings would not 
impact on the CIES or MIRS.  However, changes in interest payable and receivable 
on variable rate borrowings and investments will be posted to the CIES or MIRS.  
Movements in the fair value of fixed rate investments will be reflected in the MIRS. 

 
 Price Risk: The Authority does not generally invest in equity shares, but the Group 

Accounts do reflect shareholdings in a number of subsidiaries. 
 
 As the shareholdings have arisen in the acquisition of specific interests, the Group is 

not in a position to limit its exposure to price movements by diversifying its portfolio. 
 
 Foreign exchange risk:  The Authority has no financial assets or liabilities, denominated 

in foreign currencies and thus has no exposure to loss arising from movements in 
exchange rates. 

 
 In all cases, the carrying value of financial instruments is a reasonable approximation 

to fair value. 
 
 Hedging Instruments 
 
 The Authority holds no financial instruments that could be classified as hedging 

instruments. 
 

25. Contingent Assets and Liabilities 
 

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a severe and potentially far reaching impact on the 
public transport network. The near collapse in public transport revenues has had a 
significant impact on both bus and train operators. Whilst EMA’s have been reached 
with other train operators throughout England, no such agreement has been reached 
in respect of the Merseyrail network.  

 

Page 282



 

87 

 

 

26. Cashflow Statement 
 

Cash Flow Statement Operating Activities 
 

The cash flows for operating activities include the following items: 
 

 
 
The surplus or deficit on provision of services has been adjusted for the following 
non-cash movements: 
 

  
 

The surplus or deficit on the provision of services has been adjusted for the following 
items that are investing and financing activities: 
 

  
  

Cash Flow Statement Investing Activities 
 

  
  

 
 
 
 

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

(2,220) Interest Received (1,487)
14,336 Interest Paid 12,290

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

15,757 Depreciation, amortisation and revaluation losses 16,532
64,521 Increase/(decrease) in creditors and provisions 142,499
6,143 (Increase)/decrease in debtors 15,025

(47) (Increase)/decrease in inventories 111
12,385 Movement in pension liability 6,017

227 NBV of disposals 0
98,986 Total 180,184

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

(2,910) Grants received for the financing of capital expenditure (12,122)

(17) Proceeds of sale of property, plant and equipment 0
(2,927) Total (12,122)

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

(54,755)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets

(46,543)

(91,346) Purchases and proceeds of short term investments (18,525)
(4,220) Other (purchases)/receipts from investing activities (26,292)

17 Proceeds of sale of property, plant and equipment 0
(150,304) Total (91,360)

Page 283



 

88 

 

 

Cash Flow Statement Financing Activities 
 

  
 
 
27. CA Group Companies 
 
 Merseytravel 
 
 The decisions of the Authority with respect to transport services across Merseyside 

are implemented by Merseytravel. The relationship between the Authority and the 
services provided by Merseytravel on behalf of the Authority are detailed in the 
narrative statement. Merseytravel’s activities are funded through capital and revenue 
grants from the Authority.  Details of material expenditure is detailed below: 

  

  
  

Chrysalis 
 
In May 2017, the novation of the JESSICA Holding Funds from the HCA to the LCR 
CA and GMCA was completed.  The Urban Development Fund (UDF) covering the 
Liverpool City Region which has been novated to LCRCA is Chrysalis.  The £36m 
Chrysalis Fund finances property, regeneration and sustainability projects throughout 
the Liverpool City Region.  The novated sums have been reflected in the LCRCA’s 
single entity account through the CIES as grants and non specific grant income and 
reflected on the Balance Sheet as an earmarked reserve and a long term debtor with 
the UDF Chrysalis. 
 
On novation the CA became the limited partner with 100% shareholding in LCR 
Chrysalis Holdings (GP) Limited, the General Partner.  The principal activity of the 
company is to act as the General Partner for the limited partnership, LCR Chrysalis 
Holding Limited Partnership, whose principal activity is to oversee funds already 
committed into development finance projects across Merseyside to meet regeneration 
objectives.  On novation the funds became part of the CA’s Single Investment 
Framework to ensure the alignment of investments with the City Region’s growth plan.  
For the purposes of consolidation whilst LCRCA controls LCR Chrysalis Holdings (GP) 
Limited, the financial activity of this organisation is not deemed material and therefore 
not consolidated into the group accounts.  The partnership agreement in respect of 
LCR Chrysalis Holding Limited Partnership is such that the LCRCA does not exercise 
control over the partnership and therefore does not form part of the group. 

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

       190,000 Cash receipt of long term borrowing 0
(13,744) Repayment of short and long term borrowing  (16,910)
176,256 Total (16,910)

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

 Expenditure  
90,690 Merseytravel Grant 94,034
13,694 Tunnels Operational Grant 14,099
6,026 Rolling Stock 1,189

103,514 Capital Grants REFCUS 73,252
1,477 General Expenditure 2,091

 

Page 284



 

89 

 

 

 Liverpool City Region Urban Development Fund (LCR UDF) 
 

The LCR UDF is a £25m fund managed under the Strategic Investment Fund 
framework incorporated on 19th February 2019.  The Fund is backed by the 2014-2020 
ERDF England Operational Programme and is a new funding route to foster smart, 
sustainable and inclusive growth for the Liverpool City Region. 
 
The LCRCA has established a special purpose vehicle to deliver the LCR UDF, a 
separate legal entity fully owned by the LCRCA.  The special purpose vehicle is a 
limited partnership, LCR UDF Limited Partnership.  The two partners in the limited 
partnership are: 
 

 a private limited company incorporated by the LCRCA acting as the general 
partner LCR UDF (GP) Limited and; 

 the LCRCA, which is the limited partner in the partnership 
 

The activities and performance of the LCRCA limited partnership is overseen by the 
board of its General Partner.  The board is comprised of 3 directors, the LCRCA’s Chief 
Executive, Section 73 Officer and Director of Commercial Development and 
Investment. 
 
The GP Board is the ultimate decision maker having powers to approve investments 
and other matters in accordance with the Investment Strategy and considering the 
advice from relevant advisors. 

 
The funding agreement between the Secretary of State for Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government and LCR UDF Limited Partnership is such that 
the LCRCA does not have exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement 
with LCR UDF.  As a consequence the LCRCA does not exercise control over the 
partnership and therefore the LCR UDF does not form part of the group. 
 
Mersey Tidal One Limited 
 
The company has never traded and has been dormant since its formation. 
 

 The Growth Platform 
 

The Growth Platform was established on 9th May 2019 to help create jobs, build 
business, attract investment and to help young people in the Liverpool City Region.  
The LCRCA has majority ownership in the Holding company which is a company 
limited by guarantee.  The LCRCA nominate a majority of guarantors and the 
private/education/third sector provide a minority of guarantors through election at the 
LEP Board.  The LCRCA does exercise control over the Growth Platform however the 
results have not been consolidated on the grounds of materiality.  The net assets as 
at 31st March 2021 are £393k (£406k in 2019/20) and net deficit for the 2020/21 
financial year is £13k (£46k surplus in 2019/20). 
 
Liverpool City Region Digital Limited 
 
Liverpool City Region Digital Limited was incorporated on 30th November 2020 and is 
a joint venture investment for the CA.  The CA holds 50% of the shareholdings and 
NGE Concessions SAS and ITS Technology Group Limited hold 25% each.  There 
have been no transactions in the 2020-21 financial year. 

Page 285



 

90 

 

 

Merseytravel Group Companies 
 

 
 

Certain directors of Merseytravel are also directors of the above companies.  Whilst 
these individuals are paid a salary by Merseytravel, no additional remuneration is 
received in respect of these directorships. 

  
Under the relevant accounting standards all of the above fall to be classed as 
subsidiary undertakings and as such the financial performance of each should be 
consolidated into the group financial statements on an equity basis however as the 
financial performance of RTIG and Accrington Technologies is not considered material 
the financial performance has not been consolidated into the accounts. A summary of 
financial performance is detailed below: 

 
  Accrington Technologies – during the last two financial years the company has not 

traded and has received no income and incurred no expenditure. As at 31 March 2021 
the company had net assets of £5k and reserves of £5k. 

 
Real Time Information Group (RTIG) - the disclosed profit after taxation for 2020/21 
was £12k (£19k in 2019/20). As at 31 March 2021 the company had net assets of £13k.  
 
 
 

 
 

Name Parent Holding
Nature of 
Business

% Equity 
Interest

Mersey Ferries Ltd Merseytravel
Company 
limited by 
guarantee

Passenger 
transport

N/A

25 £1 ordinary 
shares

375  £1 5% 
non-

cumulative 
preference 

shares
Real Time 

Information Group 
Ltd

Merseytravel
1x £1 ordinary 

shares

Real Time 
Information 

systems
100%

Accrington 
Technologies Ltd

Merseytravel
500 £1 
ordinary 
shares

Smartcards 50.10%

The Beatles Story 
Ltd

Mersey 
Ferries Ltd

290,000 £1 
ordinary 
shares

Tourism 100%

Merseyside 
Passenger 

Transport Services 
Ltd

Merseytravel Leasing 100%

Page 286



 
 
 

91 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LCRCA SINGLE ENTITY ACCOUNTS 

 

 

Page 287



 
 
 

92 

 

 

SINGLE ENTITY MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT 

 
The Movement in Reserves Statement shows the movement from the start of the year to the end on the different reserves held by the Authority analysed into 
‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other ‘unusable reserves’.  The Statement shows how the 
movements in year of the authority’s reserves are broken down between gains and losses incurred in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices 
and the statutory adjustments required to return the amounts chargeable to the General Fund for the year.  The Net Increase/Decrease line shows the statutory 
General Fund Balance movements in the year following those adjustments. 
 

 
 
 

General 
Fund 

Balance

Other 
Earmarked 
Reserves

Total 
Usable 

Reserves
Revaluation 

Reserve

Capital 
Adjustment 

Account
Pension 
Reserve

Accum. 
Absences 
Account

Collection 
Fund 

Adjustment 
Account

Total 
Unusable 
Reserves

As at 1st April 2020 2,734 172,673 175,407 339 (141,522) (4,628) 0 (10) (145,821) 29,586

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) (40,962) 0 (40,962) 0 0 (1,262) 0 0 (1,262) (42,224)

Adjustments to the revenue resources*
Pensions costs 1,455 0 1,455 0 0 (1,455) 0 0 (1,455) 0
Holiday pay 218 0 218 0 0 0 (218) 0 (218) 0
Charges for depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 10,059 0 10,059 0 (10,059) 0 0 0 (10,059) 0
Difference in precept income 231 0 231 0 0 0 0 (231) (231) 0
Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 211,070 0 211,070 0 (211,070) 0 0 0 (211,070) 0
Capital grants and contributions credited to the CIES (174,097) 0 (174,097) 0 174,097 0 0 0 174,097 0
Total adjustments to revenue resources 48,936 0 48,936 0 (47,032) (1,455) (218) (231) (48,936) 0

Adjustments between revenue and capital resources:
Statutory provision for the repayment of debt (7,568) 0 (7,568) 0 7,568 0 0 0 7,568 0
Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances (5,788) 0 (5,788) 0 5,788 0 0 0 5,788 0

Total adjustments between revenue and capital resources (13,356) 0 (13,356) 0 13,356 0 0 0 13,356 0

Adjustments to capital resources
Difference between fair value and historical cost depreciation 0 0 0 (6) 6 0 0 0 0 0
Total adjustments to capital resources 0 0 0 (6) 6 0 0 0 0 0

Transfer between reserves 5,382 (6,534) (1,152) 0 1,152 0 0 0 1,152 0

Net Increase/(Decrease) in 2020/21 (0) (6,534) (6,534) (6) (32,518) (2,717) (218) (231) (35,690) (42,224)

Balance as at 31st March 2021 2,734 166,139 168,873 333 (174,040) (7,345) (218) (241) (181,511) (12,638)

Usable Reserves £'000 Unusable Reserves £'000

*Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the CIES are different from revenue for the year calculated in acordance with statutory requirements

Total 
Reserves 

£'000

P
age 288



 
 
 

93 

 

 

 

SINGLE ENTITY MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT 

 

The 2019/20 Movement in Reserves statement has been amended to provide a more detailed analysis.LYIN  

 

*RESEES ATEMENTSINGLE

General 
Fund 

Balance

Other 
Earmarked 
Reserves

Total 
Usable 

Reserves
Revaluation 

Reserve

Capital 
Adjustment 

Account
Pension 
Reserve

Collection 
Fund 

Adjustment 
Account

Total 
Unusable 
Reserves

As at 1st April 2019 1,142 174,775 175,917 76 (9,530) (2,698) 0 (12,152) 163,765

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) (133,839) 0 (133,839) 269 0 (609) 0 (340) (134,179)

Adjustments to the revenue resources*
Pensions costs 1,321 0 1,321 0 0 (1,321) 0 (1,321) 0
Charges for depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 9,478 0 9,478 0 (9,478) 0 0 (9,478) 0
Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 223,255 0 223,255 0 (223,255) 0 0 (223,255) 0
Difference in precept income 10 0 10 0 0 0 (10) (10) 0
Capital grants and contributions credited to the CIES (88,192) 0 (88,192) 0 88,192 0 0 88,192 0
Total adjustments to revenue resources 145,872 0 145,872 0 (144,541) (1,321) (10) (145,872) 0

Adjustments between revenue and capital resources:
Statutory provision for the repayment of debt (8,014) 0 (8,014) 0 8,014 0 0 8,014 0
Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances (5,430) 0 (5,430) 0 5,430 0 0 5,430 0

Total adjustments between revenue and capital resources (13,444) 0 (13,444) 0 13,444 0 0 13,444 0

Adjustments to capital resources
Difference between fair value and historical cost depreciation 0 0 0 (6) 6 0 0 0 0
Total adjustments to capital resources 0 0 0 (6) 6 0 0 0 0

Transfer between reserves 3,003 (2,102) 901 0 (901) 0 0 (901) 0

Net Increase/(Decrease) in 2019/20 1,592 (2,102) (510) 263 (131,992) (1,930) (10) (133,669) (134,179)

Balance as at 31st March 2020 2,734 172,673 175,407 339 (141,522) (4,628) (10) (145,821) 29,586

Usable Reserves £'000 Unusable Reserves £'000

Total 
Reserves 

£'000

*Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the CIES are different from revenue for the year calculated in acordance with statutory requirements

P
age 289



 
 
 

94 

 

 

SINGLE ENTITY COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT 

 
This Statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount 
to be funded from taxation. Authorities raise taxation to cover expenditure in accordance with Regulations; this may be different from the accounting cost.  The 
taxation position is shown in the MiRS.   
 

 

An organisational restructure took place in 2020/21 which resulted in the creation of a new directorate and realignment of services.  Consequently the 2019/20 comparators 
have been restated to reflect the new structure.   The restatement does not impact upon the deficit on provision of services previously reported.     

Gross 
Expenditure

Gross Income Net Spend
Gross 

Expenditure
Gross Income Net Spend

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

200,999  (40,046) 160,953 Integrated Transport Services 179,707  (26,591) 153,116

1,862  (83) 1,779 Commercial Development & Investment 1,797  (591) 1,206

7,594  (4,332) 3,262 Corporate Services & Corporate Costs 7,249  (5,595) 1,654

1,448  (241) 1,207 Corporate Development & Delivery 1,612  (160) 1,452

5,499  (683) 4,816 Policy, Strategy & Government Relations 4,957  (521) 4,436

34,514  (33,691) 823 Strategic Commissioning & Delivery 58,482  (57,509) 973

3,917  (486) 3,431 Metro Mayors Office & Mayoral Priorities 5,183  (1,454) 3,729

159,325  (102,417) 56,908 SIF Payments to Partners 198,727  (221,507)  (22,780)

415,158  (181,979) 233,179 Net Cost of Service 457,714  (313,928) 143,786

23 Other Operating Expenditure 38

8,045 Financing and Investment Income 9,602 6

 (107,409) Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income  (112,464) 7

133,839 (Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of Services 40,962  

609
Remeasurement Gains/ Losses on Pension Assets/ 

Liabilities
1,262

 (269) (Surplus)/Deficit on Revaluation Non Current Assets 0

340 Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 1,262

134,179 Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 42,224

 

Notes

2020/21Restated 2019/20

P
age 290



 
 
 

95 

 

 

SINGLE ENTITY BALANCE SHEET 

 
The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet Date of the assets and liabilities 
recognised by the Authority.  The net assets/(liabilities) of the authority (assets less liabilities) are 
matched by the reserves held by the authority.  Reserves are reported in two categories.  The first 
category of reserves is usable reserves, i.e. those reserves that the authority may use to provide 
services, subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of reserves and any statutory limitations on 
their use (for example the Capital Receipts Reserve that may only be used to fund capital expenditure 
or repay debt).  The second category of reserves is those that the authority is not able to use to provide 
services.  This category of reserves includes reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses (for 
example the Revaluation Reserve) where amounts would only become available to provide services if 
the assets are sold; and reserves that hold timing differences in the Movement in Reserves Statement 
line ‘Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under regulations’. 
 

 

     
Frank Rogers - Chief Executive John Fogarty (CPFA) – Director of Corporate Services 
29 June 2021               29 June 2021 

As at 31 March 
2020

As at 31 March 
2021

£’000 £’000

272,557 Property, Plant and Equipment 268,473 15

450 Heritage Assets 450

3 Intangible Assets 3

45,346 Long-term Debtors 75,771 17

318,356 Long-term Assets 344,697

216,703 Short-term Investments 235,228 22

144 Inventories 82

8,891 Short-term Debtors 13,328 18

54,564 Cash and Cash Equivalents 98,360 22

280,302 Current Assets 346,998

(16,910) Short-term Borrowing (16,965) 22

(141,624) Short-term Creditors (168,333) 19

(238) Provisions (200) 20

(57,750) Grant Receipts in Advance (180,832) 7

(216,522) Current Liabilities (366,330)

(1,046) Long-term Provisions (1,046) 20

(340,576) Long-term Borrowing (323,612) 22

(10,928) Other Long-term Liabilities (13,345) 23

(352,550) Long-term Liabilities (338,003)

29,586 Net Assets/(Liabilities) (12,638)

175,407 Usable Reserves 168,873 5

(145,821) Unusable Reserves (181,511) 4

29,586 Total Reserves (12,638)

Note

Page 291



 
 
 

96 

 

 

SINGLE ENTITY CASHFLOW STATEMENT 

 
 
The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the Authority 
during the reporting period.  The statement shows how the Authority generates and uses cash 
and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities.  
The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities is a key indicator of the extent 
to which the operations of the Authority are funded by way of taxation and grant income or 
from the recipients of services provided by the Authority.  Investing activities represent the 
extent to which cash outflows have been made for resources which are intended to contribute 
to the Authority’s future service delivery.  Cash flows arising from financing activities are useful 
in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the Authority. 
 

 
 
 
  

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

(133,839) Net deficit on provision of services (40,962)

78,043
Adjustments to net surplus on the provision of services 
for non-cash movements

156,826 25

(964)
Adjustments to net surplus on the provision of services 
for items which are investing and financing activities

(89)

(56,760) Net cash inflows from Operating Activities 115,775

(104,004) Investing activities (55,070) 25

176,256 Financing activities (16,909) 25

15,492
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents

43,796

39,072 Cash and cash equivalents as at 1st April 54,564 22

54,564 Cash and cash equivalents as at 31st March 98,360

Note

Page 292



 
 
 

97 

 

 

NOTES TO THE PRIMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
1.  Accounting Policies 
 

The accounting policies as applied to the single entity are consistent with those applied 
at the group level. Full accounting policies are disclosed in note 1 of the group 
accounts. 

 
2.  Change in Accounting Policy and Significant Accounting Judgements, 

Estimates and Uncertainties 
 
The preparation of the Authority’s accounts requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported as revenues, 
expenses, assets and liabilities reported in the accounts.  Uncertainty about these 
assumption and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment 
to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in future periods.  
 
In terms of the Authority’s Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2021 the items for which 
there is a significant risk of material adjustment are detailed in note 2 of the LCRCA 
Group financial statements. 
 

3. Accounting Standards Issued But Not Yet Adopted 
 

As at the Balance Sheet date there are a number of accounting standards that have 
been published but not yet adopted by the Code. 

 
i. Definition of a Business: Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations 
ii. Interest Rate Benchmark Reform: Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and 

IFRS 7 and; 
iii. Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2: Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 

39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 
 

It has been assessed that none of these changes will have a material impact on the 
accounts. 

 
4. Unusable Reserves 
 

The movements in the unusable reserves are detailed in the Movement in reserves 
Statement. 

 

  
  

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

339 Revaluation Reserve 333
(141,522) Capital Adjustment Account (174,040)

(4,628) Pension Reserve (7,345)
0 Accumulated Absences (218)

(10) Collection Fund Adjustment Account (241)
(145,821) Total (181,511)

Page 293



 
 
 

98 

 

 

 
Revaluation Reserve 

 
The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the Authority arising from 
increases in the value of its property, plant and equipment (and intangible assets).  The 
balance is reduced when assets with accumulated gains are: 

 
 re-valued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost 
 used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through 

depreciation, or 
 disposed of and the gains are realised 

 
The Reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the date 
that the Reserve was created.  Accumulated gains arising before that date are 
consolidated into the balance on the Capital Adjustment Account. 

 
Capital Adjustment Account 

 
The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the 
different arrangements for accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and 
for financing the acquisition, construction, or enhancement of those assets under 
statutory provisions.  The account is charged with the cost of acquisition, construction 
or enhancement, as depreciation, impairment losses and amortisations are charged to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (with reconciling postings from 
the Revaluation Reserve to convert fair value figures to a historical cost basis).  The 
account is credited with the amounts set aside by the Authority as finance for the costs 
of acquisition, construction, and enhancement.  The account also contains revaluation 
gains accumulated on Property, Plant and Equipment before 1 April 2007, the date 
that the Revaluation Reserve was created to hold such gains. 

  
Pensions Reserve 

 
The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different 
arrangements for accounting for post-employment benefits and for funding benefits in 
accordance with statutory provisions.  The Authority’s accounts for post-employment 
benefits in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as the benefits are 
earned by employees accruing years of service, updating the liabilities recognised to 
reflect inflation, changing assumptions and investment returns on any resources set 
aside to meet the costs.  However, statutory arrangements require benefits earned to 
be financed as the Authority through Merseytravel makes employer’s contributions to 
pensions funds or eventually pays any pensions for which it is directly responsible.  
The debit balance on the Pensions Reserve therefore represents a substantial shortfall 
in the benefits earned by past and current employees and the resources the Authority 
has set aside to meet them.  The Statutory arrangements will ensure that funding will 
have been set aside by the time the benefits come to be paid. 
 
Collection Fund Adjustment Account 

 
The Collection Fund Adjustment Account manages the differences arising from the 
recognition of the Authority’s portion of council tax income and national non domestic 
rates income in the comprehensive income and expenditure statement as it falls due 
from council tax payers compared with the statutory arrangements for paying across 
amounts due to the Authority from Billing Authorities. 

Page 294



 
 
 

99 

 

 

5. Usable and Earmarked Reserves 
 

This note sets out the amounts set aside from the General Fund balances in earmarked reserves to provide financing for future expenditure 
plans and the amounts posted back from earmarked reserves to meet General Fund expenditure in 2020/21. 
 

 

 
 

Balance at 
1st April 

2019

Transfers 
Out 

2019/20

Transfers   
In    

2019/20

Balance at 
31st March 

2020

Transfers 
Out 

2020/21

Transfers    
In    

2020/21

Balance at 31st 
March 2021

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

General Fund (a) 1,142  (923) 2,515 2,734 0 0 2,734
Total General Fund Reserves 1,142  (923) 2,515 2,734 0 0 2,734
Infrastructure Reserve (b) 70,477 (4,807) 4,423 70,093 (9,034) 0 61,059
Capital Reserve (c) 24 0 0 24 0 0 24
Rail Financing Reserve (d) 46,919 (6,026) 0 40,893 (1,189) 0 39,704
Restructuring Reserve (e) 1,286 0 0 1,286 0 0 1,286
Grant/Contributions Unapplied Reserve (f) 14,273 0 0 14,273 0 0 14,273
Tunnels Reserve and Renewals Fund (g) 5,411 0 0 5,411 0 0 5,411
Chrysalis (h) 36,372 (1,400) 0 34,972 0 0 34,972
Capital Receipts (i) 13 0 5,708 5,721 0 3,689 9,410
Oher Earmarked Reserves 174,775  (12,233) 10,131 172,673  (10,223) 3,689 166,139
Total 175,917  (13,156) 12,646 175,407  (10,223) 3,689 168,873

P
age 295



 
 
 

100 

 

 

(a) The general fund is general balances held to protect the LCRCA’s financial 
position from unforeseen events. 

(b) The infrastructure reserve has been created to support the strategic decisions 
of the LCRCA. 

(c) The capital reserve is used to support the funding of the capital programme. 
(d) The rail financing reserve has been created to support the delivery of a new 

rolling stock fleet. 
(e) The restructuring reserve is utilised to provide support to staffing cost 

implications of service transformation programmes. 
(f) The grants/contributions unapplied reserve represents capital grants that have 

been received but not yet utilised to support the delivery of the capital 
programme. 

(g) The tunnels reserve and renewals fund is used to support the tunnel’s capital 
programme.  It is the LCRCA’s policy that the tunnels reserve and renewals 
fund shall not be less than £2.5m.  In the event that funds fall below the £2.5m 
threshold, budgetary provision in the following year will be made to restore the 
level to £2.5m.   

(h) The Chrysalis reserve exists to earmark the funds that have been novated to 
the CA from the HCA/ EIB for use in accordance with the original terms of use. 

(i) The capital receipts reserve holds the receipts from the sales of capital assets 
and the repayment of loans provided to third parties for borrowing for capital 
purposes.  The capital receipts reserve may only be utilised for capital 
purposes. 

 
6. Financing and Investment Income 
 

  
  
  
  

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

197 Interest on Pension Liabilities 305
(129) Pension Interest on Plan Assets (210)

10,520 Interest Payable and Similar Charges 11,985
0 Expected Credit Loss 200

(2,543) Investment Income (2,678)
8,045 Total 9,602

Page 296



 
 
 

101 

 

 

7. Grant Income 
 

The following grants and contributions have been credited to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement during the period.  
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000
 (23,425) DfT Integrated Transport Block  (47,354)

0 DfT Cycling and Walking (113)
 (27,085) BEIS Local Growth Fund (87,798)
 (7,075) Growing Places Fund 0

 (13,164) BEIS -Gain Share (14,733)
 (2,961) Other Grants and Contributions (6,969)

 (403) Brexit Readiness (181)
 (9,568) ERDF & ESF (11,462)

 (22,056) Transforming Cities (17,323)
0 Brownfield Fund (10,346)
0 Getting Building Fund (2,593)
0 Additional Restrictions Grant (27,968)

 (80) Planning Delivery Fund (102)
 (30,434) Adult Education (51,241)
 (1,271) Households into Work (944)
 (1,912) Homelessness (1,880)

 (139,432) Total (281,007)

Credited to Services

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000
 (95,400) Transport Levy  (97,404)
 (7,697) Mayoral Precept  (7,619)
 (1,000) Mayoral Capacity Grant  (1,000)
 (2,348) Gainshare Funding  (4,134)

0 Sales, Fees  & Charges  (2,219)
 (964) Capital Grants  (88)

 (107,409) Total  (112,464)

Credited to Taxation and Non Specific Grant 
Income

Page 297



 
 
 

102 

 

 

The Authority has received a number of grants and contributions that have conditions 
attached to them.  These have not yet been recognised as income and will only be 
credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement once all conditions 
are met.  The balances at the year-end are as follows: 
 

 
   
8. Pensions 

 
As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers, the Combined 
Authority makes contributions towards the cost of post-employment benefits.  Although 
these benefits will not actually be payable until employees retire, the Combined 
Authority has a commitment to make the payments (for those benefits) and to disclose 
them at the time that employees earn their future entitlement.  The Combined Authority 
participates in Merseyside Pension Fund administered locally by Wirral Council – this 
is a funded defined benefit final salary scheme, meaning that the Combined Authority 
and employees pay contributions into a fund, calculated at a level intended to balance 
the pensions liabilities with investment assets.  

  
Transactions Relating to Post Employment Benefits 

 
 The following transactions have been made in the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement within the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services to 
comply with the reporting requirements of IAS 19 in respect of defined benefits 
schemes. 

 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000
 (23,962) Gain Share  (34,104)

 (126) ERDF  (197)
 (132) ESF  (180)

 (7,626) DfT  (16,278)
 (1,719) Homelessness Grant  (796)

 (427) MHCLG Planning Delivery Grant  (325)
 (1,220) Households into Work  (275)

 (563) Low Carbon  (53,661)
 (11,668) Growing Places  (11,598)
 (7,944) Transforming Cities  (30,533)

0 Getting Building Fund  (10,482)
0 Additional Restrictions Grant  (17,084)

 (1,906) Adult Education Funding  (4,594)
 (273) EU Exit Preparation Fund  (273)
 (184) Miscellaneous  (452)

 (57,750) Total  (180,832)

Grants Receipts in Advance

Page 298



 
 
 

103 

 

 

  
 
The following transactions are then recognised in the Movement in Reserves as 
adjustments between the accounting basis and funding basis under Regulation.  
 

 
 
Pension Assets and Liabilities recognised in the Balance Sheet 

 
 The amount included in the Balance Sheet arising from the Combined Authority’s 

obligation in respect of its defined benefit plans is as follows: 
 

  
  

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

Net Cost of Service
1,528 Current service cost 2,347

411 Past service cost 0

Other Operating Expenditure
23 Administration expenses 38

Financing and Investments Income
68 Net interest expense 95

2,030 Total Post Employment Benefits Charged to the CIES 2,480

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

(2,030)
Reversal of net charges made to the Surplus or Deficit on 
the Provision of Services

(2,480)

709 Employers contribution payable to the Scheme 1,025

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000
(12,801) Benefit obligation at end of the period (18,963)

8,173 Fair Value of plan assets at end of the period 11,618
(4,628) Deficit as at 31 March (7,345)

Page 299



 
 
 

104 

 

 

 
Reconciliation of the movement in the Fair Value of Scheme (Plan) Assets 

  

 
  

Reconciliation of Present Value of Scheme Liabilities (Defined Benefit Obligations) 
 

           
  
  
 

  

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

4,447 Balance brought forward 31 March 8,173
129 Interest on plan assets 210

2,172 Remeasurement 1,375
(23) Administration expenses (38)
709 Employers contributions 1,025
366 Members contributions 578
373 Benefits/ transfers paid 295

8,173 Balance carried forward 1 April 11,618

2019/20  2020/21 
£’000 £’000 
(7,145) Balance brought forward 31 March (12,801) 
(1,528) Current service cost (2,347) 

(411) Past service cost 0 
(197) Interest on pension liabilities (305) 
(366) Member contribution (578) 

(2,781) Remeasurement (liabilities) (2,637) 
(373) Benefits/ transfers paid (295) 

(12,801) Balance carried forward 1 April (18,963) 

Page 300



 
 
 

105 

 

 

As at 31 March the assets comprised: 
  

 
 
Actuarial Assumptions 

 
 Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit 

method, an estimate of the pensions that will be payable in future years dependent on 
assumptions about mortality rates, salary levels etc.  The Local Government Pension 
Scheme liabilities have been assessed by Mercers, an independent firm of actuaries, 
estimates being based on the latest full valuation of the scheme.  The main 
assumptions used in their calculations are detailed in the table below: 

 
 
  

Quoted Unquoted Total Quoted Unquoted Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Equities

1,222 182 1,404 17 UK 1,739 267 2,006 17

1,973 866 2,839 35 Global 2,760 1,259 4,019 35

Bonds

167 0 167 2 UK Government 140 0 140 1

423 0 423 5 UK Corporate 382 0 382 3

519 0 519 6 UK Index Linked 917 0 917 8

0 0 0 0 Overseas Corporate 63 0 63 1

0 0 0 0 Derivative Contracts -40 0 -40 0

Property

0 438 438 5 UK Direct Property 0 533 533 5

19 124 143 2 UK Managed Property 22 207 229 2

0 188 188 2 Global Managed Property 0 273 273 2

Private Equity

1 89 90 1 UK 0 204 204 2

0 459 459 6 Global 0 637 637 5

Cash

155 0 155 2 Cash Instruments 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 Cash Accounts 280 0 280 2

Other

19 127 146 2 Hedge Funds UK 18 46 64 1

32 214 246 3 Hedge Funds Global 0 457 457 4

14 281 295 4 Infrastructure UK 17 441 458 4

0 240 240 3 Infrastructure Global 0 344 344 3

22 196 218 3 Opportunities UK 5 206 211 2

8 195 203 2 Opportunities Global 18 423 441 4

4,574 3,599 8,173 100 6,321 5,297 11,618 100

2019/20 2020/21

% of 
total

% of 
total

Page 301



 
 
 

106 

 

 

  
  

A sensitivity analysis has been provided by Mercers which provides an illustrative 
impact of marginal changes to the assumptions used in respect of the long-term 
discount rate, inflation and life expectancy.  The results of this sensitivity analysis are 
detailed below. 
 

 
 
Impact on the Authority’s Cashflows 

 
The objectives of the scheme are to keep employer’s contributions at as constant and 
affordable rate as possible.  Merseyside Pension Fund has agreed a strategy with the 
scheme’s actuary which was approved by the Pensions Committee in March 2017.  
Funding levels are monitored on an annual basis.   

 
 The scheme will need to take account of the national changes to the scheme under 

the Public Pensions Act 2013.  Under the Act, the Local Government Pension Scheme 
in England and Wales and the other main existing public service schemes may not 
provide benefits in relation to service after 31 March 2014 (or services after 31 March 
2015 for other main existing public service pension schemes in England and Wales).  
The Act provides for scheme regulations to be made within a common framework, to 

Base Assumptions

Rate of CPI inflation 2.10% 2.70%
Rate of increase in salaries 3.60% 4.20%
Rate of increase in pensions 2.20% 2.80%
Discount Rate 2.30% 2.20%

Mortality Assumptions

Life expectancy of male future pensioner aged 65 in 20 
years' time

22.5 22.6

Life expectancy of female future pensioner aged 65 in 20 
years' time

25.9 26.0

Life expectancy of male current pensioner aged 65 20.9 21.0
Life expectancy of female current pensioner aged 65 24.0 24.1

2019/20 2020/21

Central
+0.1% p.a. 
discount 

rate

+0.1% p.a. 
inflation

+0.1% p.a. 
pay growth

1 year 
increase in 

life 
expectancy

+1% 
change in 

20/21 
investment 

returns

-1% change 
in 20/21 

investment 
returns

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Liabilities (18,963) (18,511) (19,425) (19,073) (19,501) (18,963) (18,963)
Assets 11,618 11,618 11,618 11,618 11,618 11,744 11,492
Surplus/ (Deficit) (7,345) (6,893) (7,807) (7,455) (7,883) (7,219) (7,471)
Projected service cost next 
year

2,897 2,809 2,990 2,897 2,996 2,897 2,897

Projected net interest cost for 
next year

151 147 161 153 163 148 153

Page 302



 
 
 

107 

 

 

establish new career average revalued earnings schemes to pay pensions and other 
benefits to certain public servants.  

 
The Authority anticipates making pension contribution payments of £992k in 2021/22.  

 

Page 303



 
 
 

108 

 

 

9. Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
 

The Expenditure and Funding Analysis shows how annual expenditure is used and funded from resources by the Authority in comparison to those resources 
consumed or earned by the Authority in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices. It also shows how the expenditure is allocated between Services. 
Income and expenditure accounted for under generally accepted accounting practice is presented more fully in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. 

 

 
  
An organisational restructure took place in 2020/21 which resulted in the creation of a new directorate and realignment of services.  Consequently the 2019/20 comparators have been 
restated to reflect the new structure.

Net 
Expenditure 

Chargeable to 
the General 

Fund

Adjustments 
between 

funding and 
accounting 

basis

Net Expenditure 
in the CIES

Net 
Expenditure 

Chargeable to 
the General 

Fund

Adjustments 
between 

funding and 
accounting 

basis

Net Expenditure 
in the CIES

68,140 92,813 160,953 Integrated Transport Services 97,356 55,760 153,116
1,666 113 1,779 Commercial Development & Investment 1,054 152 1,206

2,767 495 3,262 Corporate Services & Corporate Costs 1,363 291 1,654

1,125 82 1,207 Corporate Development & Delivery 1,391 61 1,452
4,330 486 4,816 Policy, Strategy & Government Relations 4,114 322 4,436

823 0 823 Strategic Commissioning & Delivery 451 522 973
3,378 53 3,431 Metro Mayors Office & Mayoral Priorities 3,537 192 3,729

17,723 39,185 56,908 SIF Payments to Partners 267 (23,047) (22,780)

99,951 133,228 233,179 Net Cost of Services 109,533 34,253 143,786
(99,442) 101 (99,340) Other Income and Expenditure (103,000) 176 (102,824)

509 133,329 133,839 Surplus or deficit 6,534 34,429 40,962

(175,916) Opening Reserves Balance at 1 April (175,407)
509 Less/plus Surplus or Deficit in Year 6,534

(175,407) Closing Reserves at 31 March (168,873)

Restated 2019/20 £'000 2020/21 £'000

P
age 304



 
 
 

109 

 

 

Adjustments in Respect of 2020/21   
 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Adjustments from General 
Fund to arrive at the CIES

Adjustments 
for Capital 
Purposes

Net change 
for the 

Pensions 
Adjustments

Other 
Differences

Total 
Adjustments

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Integrated Transport Services 55,760 0 0 55,760
Commercial Development & 
Investment

0 152 0 152

Corporate Services & Corporate 
Costs

0 73 218 291

Corporate Development & 
Delivery

0 61 0 61

Policy, Strategy & Government 
Relations

0 322 0 322

Strategic Commissioning & 
Delivery

0 522 0 522

Metro Mayors Office & Mayoral 
Priorities

0 192 0 192

SIF Payments to Partners (23,047) 0 0 (23,047)

Net Cost of Services 32,713 1,322 218 34,253
Other Income & Expenditure 
from the Funding Analysis

(188) 133 231 176

Difference between General 
Fund surplus or deficit and 
CIES surplus or deficit

32,525 1,455 449 34,429

Page 305



 
 
 

110 

 

 

Adjustments in Respect of 2019/20 Restated 
 

 
 
An organisational restructure took place in 2020/21 which resulted in the creation of a 
new directorate and realignment of services.  Consequently the 2019/20 comparators 
have been restated to reflect the new structure. 

 
Adjustments for Capital Purposes 
 
This column adds in depreciation, impairment and revaluation gains and losses in the 
service line, adjusts for the statutory charge for Minimum Revenue Provision and other 
income contributions that are not chargeable under proper accounting practice. 
 
Other Differences 
 
These are the amounts debited or credited to the CIES and amounts payable/ 
receivable to be recognised under statute in respect of premiums and discounts. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Adjustments from General 
Fund to arrive at the CIES

Adjustments 
for Capital 
Purposes

Net change 
for the 

Pensions 
Adjustments

Other 
Differences

Total 
Adjustments

£’000 £’000                                                                                                                                                                   £’000

Integrated Transport Services 92,813 0 0 92,813
Commercial Development & 
Investment

0 113 0 113

Corporate Services & Corporate 
Costs

0 495 0 495

Corporate Development & 
Delivery

0 82 0 82

Policy, Strategy & Government 
Relations

0 486 0 486

Strategic Commissioning & 
Delivery

0 0 0 0

Metro Mayors Office & Mayoral 
Priorities

0 53 0 53

SIF Payments to Partners 39,185 0 0 39,185

Net Cost of Services 131,998 1,230 0 133,228
Other Income & Expenditure 
from the Funding Analysis

0 91 10 101

Difference between General 
Fund surplus or deficit and 
CIES surplus or deficit

131,998 1,321 10 133,329

Page 306



 
 
 

111 

 

 

Income and Expenditure Analysed by Type 
 

 
 
10. Mayoral Costs  
 

Included on the face of the CIES are the costs associated with the operation of the 
Mayor’s Office during 2020/21.  The table below provides a further breakdown of 
these costs. 

  

   
 
11. Audit Fees 
 

The table below discloses the fees paid to the Authority’s external auditor, Mazars in 
respect of its external audit and inspection work.  The audit fees in respect of the 
2019/20 have been restated to reflect the additional fees incurred in respect of the 
2019/20 audit. These additional costs arose as a consequence of additional work 
undertaken by the auditors which was required to complete the audit for that year. 

  

2019/20 
Restated   2020/21 

£’000   £’000 
48 Audit of statutory accounts 36 

48  Total 36 
 
  

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £'000

Expenditure
7,777 Employee benefits expenses 13,659

494,002 Other services expenses 434,538
9,478 Depreciation, amortisation, impairment 10,060

10,520 Interest payments 11,985
521,777 Total expenditure 470,242

Income
(44,707) Fees, charges and other service income (33,131)
(2,543) Interest and investment income (2,678)

(340,688) Government grants and contributions (393,471)
(387,938) Total income (429,280)

133,839 (Surplus) or deficit on the Provision of Services 40,962

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

91 Mayoral Allowance 93
524 Mayoral Office & Political Support Staffing Costs 479
59 Non Staff Cost 10

2,757 Net spend on Mayoral Priorities 3,473
3,430 Total 4,055

Page 307



 
 
 

112 

 

 

12. Officers Remuneration 
 
 Senior Officers Remuneration 
 

The table below details the remuneration of the senior leadership team of the CA.  
 

   
(i) Chief Executive & Director General was appointed as Head of Paid Service for 

the Combined Authority on a fixed term contract with effect from 16 November 
2018. Under the terms of this contract, the post holder continues to fulfil the 
role of Chief Executive for Merseytravel and consequently the salary costs are 
split between the two organisations. 
 

(ii) Director of Corporate Services (Merseytravel) appointed as LCRCA Director of 
Corporate Services 17 November 2017. Under the contract the post holder is 
required to fulfil the role of Director of Corporate Services for Merseytravel and 
consequently the salary costs are split between the two organisations. 

 
(iii) The Director of Corporate Development and Delivery has a remit which spans 

both Merseytravel and Combined Authority services, consequently the cost of 
her salary has been split between the two organisations accordingly in 2020/21. 
 

(iv) The Interim Director of Strategic Commissioning & Delivery was appointed on 
the 16th November 2020 following an internal realignment of functions. 

 
 
 

Salary

Employers 
Pension 

Contribution
Total 

Remuneration
£’000 £’000 £’000

2020/21 102 17 119

2019/20 95 14 109

2020/21 64 9 73

2019/20 63 9 72

2020/21 67 11 78

2019/20 0 0 0

2020/21 103 14 117

2019/20 97 15 112

2020/21 163 22 186

2019/20 159 24 183

2020/21 87 14 101

2019/20 60 16 76

2020/21 102 0 102

2019/20 0 0 0
Interim Director of Strategic Commissioning 
and Delivery (iv)

Director of Corporate Development & 
Delivery (iii)

Director of Commercial Development & 
Investment 

  

Chief Executive(i)

Director of Corporate Services (ii)

Monitoring Officer 

Director of Policy, Strategy & Government 
Relations 

Page 308



 
 
 

113 

 

 

Employee Remuneration 
 

The number of employees (excluding directors) in receipt of remuneration for the year 
of £50,000 or more is detailed below. For the purpose of this note, remuneration 
includes allowances, bonuses and severance pay but excludes employer’s pension 
contributions.  
 

 
 
The Corporate Services function of the CA which comprises Legal, Procurement, 
Finance, Internal Audit and PMO, are services provided to both Merseytravel and the 
CA. The cost of these services is currently budgeted for within Merseytravel and 
therefore staff are reflected within the Merseytravel accounts remuneration note. An 
appropriate proportion of these costs are recharged into the CA to reflect the costs 
associated with this function. 
 

13. Related Party Transactions 
 
 The Authority is required to disclose material transactions with related parties – bodies 

or individuals that have the potential to control or influence or to be controlled or 
influenced by the Authority. 

 
 A comprehensive disclosure in respect of the LCRCA is included within the Authority 

Group accounts.  In the spirit of streamlining the accounts and avoiding repetition the 
detail is not presented here and readers of the accounts are referred to in note 14 of 
the group accounts.   

 
From a single entity perspective, the most significant related party for the LCRCA is 
Merseytravel. Details of the material expenditure with Merseytravel is included within 
note 27, CA Group Companies of the Authority Group accounts. 
 
 
 
 

  

Remuneration Range 2020/21 2019/20
£50,000 to £54,999 8 1
£55,000 to £59,999 5 1
£60,000 to £64,999 5 0
£65,000 to £69,999 2 4
£70,000 to £74,999 5 3
£75,000 to £79,999 0 0
£80,000 to £84,999 1 0
£85,000 to £89,999 6 6
£90,000 to £94,999 0 0
£95,000 to £99,999 0 0
£100,000 to £104,000 0 0
£105,000 to £109,999 0 0
£110,000 to £114,999 1 0
£115,000 to £124,999 0 0
Total 33 15

Page 309



 
 
 

114 

 

 

14. Mersey Tunnels 
 

Operation of the Mersey Tunnels has been delegated by the Authority to Merseytravel. 
To meet the cost of operating the tunnels, Merseytravel is provided with a grant from 
the Authority which is in turn funded from tunnel tolls income. 

 
The Mersey Tunnels Act 2004 permits any operating surplus to be utilised by the 
Authority to achieve public transport policies in its local transport plan. However, in the 
financial year 2020/21 there was no operating surplus (2019/20 £19.9 million). 

 
During the year there was no call on the Tunnels Reserve and Renewals Fund to 
support the Tunnels capital programme. The balance on the reserve as at 31 March 
2021 was £5.4m. 

Page 310



 
 
 

115 

 

 

15. Property Plant and Equipment 

 Movement on Balances 2020/21 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Infrastructure 
Assets

Freehold 
Property

F&F 
Leasehold 
Property

Vehicles, 
Plant and 
Machinery

Surplus 
Assets

Assets Under 
Construction

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

As at 1 April 2020 324,332 1,605 5,142 5,707 52 651 337,489

Additions 2,554 295 0 1,210 0 1,917 5,976

As at 31 March 2021 326,886 1,900 5,142 6,918 52 2,568 343,465

As at 1 April 2020 62,414 0 985 1,531 1 0 64,931

Depreciation 9,248 46 197 568 1 0 10,060

As at 31 March 2021 71,663 46 1,182 2,099 2 0 74,991

As at 31 March 2021 255,223 1,854 3,960 4,819 50 2,568 268,473

As at 31 March 2020 261,917 1,605 4,157 4,176 51 651 272,557

Cost or valuation

Depreciation and Impairment

Net Book Value

P
age 311



 
 
 

116 

 

 

Movement on Balances 2019/20 
 

 
 
 
 

Infrastructure 
Assets

Freehold 
Property

F&F 
Leasehold 
Property

Vehicles, 
Plant and 
Machinery

Surplus 
Assets

Assets Under 
Construction

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

As at 1 April 2019 318,848 1,581 5,142 5,414 52 0 331,037

Additions 5,484 24 0 293 0 651 6,452

As at 31 March 2020 324,332 1,605 5,142 5,707 52 651 337,489

As at 1 April 2019 53,788 0 788 1,146 0 0 55,722

Depreciation 8,626 268 197 385 1 0 9,478

Revaluation inc/(dec) recognised in the Revaluation Reserve 0 (268) 0 0 0 0 (268)

As at 31 March 2020 62,414 0 985 1,531 1 0 64,932

As at 31 March 2020 261,917 1,605 4,157 4,176 51 651 272,557

As at 31 March 2019 265,060 1,581 4,354 4,268 52 0 275,315

Depreciation and Impairment

Net Book Value

Cost or valuation

P
age 312



 
 
 

117 

 

 

Depreciation 
 
 The following useful lives and depreciation rates have been used in the calculation of 

depreciation: 
 

• Infrastructure assets useful lives are determined on acquisition and 
considered thereafter as part of the annual impairment review.  The 
current maximum useful life is 72 years. 

• Freehold and Leasehold property useful lives are based on estimated 
remaining life    as provided by the valuer as part of the valuation 
process.  The maximum useful life in this category is 28 years.  

• Vehicles, plant and machinery useful lives are determined on 
acquisition and considered thereafter as part of the annual impairment 
review.  The current maximum useful life is 20 years. 

 
 Revaluations 
 
 The Authority carries out a rolling programme that ensures that all property plant and 

equipment required to be measured at current value is revalued at least every five 
years.  All valuations are carried out externally.  Valuations of land and buildings are 
carried out in accordance with the methodologies and bases for estimation set out in 
the professional standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors 

 
 The significant assumptions applied in estimating the current values of property, plant 

and equipment are: 
 That no deleterious material was used in the construction of any property and 

that none has been subsequently incorporated. 
 That the properties are not subject to any unusual or especially onerous 

restrictions, encumbrances or outgoings and that good titles can be shown. 
 That the properties and their values are unaffected by any matters which would 

be revealed by a local search or inspection of any register and that the use and 
occupation are both legal. 

 That inspection of those parts which have not been inspected would not cause 
alteration to the opinion of value. 

 That the land and properties are not contaminated nor adversely affected by 
radon. 

 
Infrastructure assets (gross book value £326.886m), short life plant machinery and 
vehicles (gross book value £12.060m) and assets under construction (gross book 
value £2.568m) are carried at historical cost.  The remaining categories of property, 
plant and equipment (gross book value £1.952m) are carried at current value with the 
last full valuation being undertaken at 31 March 2019.   
 
A full valuation exercise was undertaken at 31 March 2019.  In the 2019/20 financial 
year a desktop valuation was undertaken on 70% by value of the property portfolio.  
The percentage increase arising from this valuation exercise was applied across the 
remainder of the portfolio as an estimate of the movement in property values in the 
financial year. In the 2020/21 financial year an estimate of the movement in values was 
calculated making use of indices provided by the external valuer.  These estimates did 
not indicate a material movement and therefore the properties have not been revalued 
in the 2020/21 financial year.  
 
 

Page 313



 
 
 

118 

 

 

Capital Commitments 
 
 As at 31 March 2021, the Authority has entered into a number of contracts for the 

construction or enhancement of property, plant and equipment in 2021/22 and future 
years budgeted to cost £92.530m.  Similar commitments at 31 March 2020 were 
£153.040m. 

 
 The major commitments are: 
 

 Festival Gardens - £26.548m 
 Digital Infrastructure Project - £10.913m 
 MTC Project in a Box - £9.895m 
Halsnead Garden Village - £7.542m 

  
16.  Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing 
 
 The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table below 

together with the resources that have been used to finance it.  Where capital 
expenditure is to be financed in future years by charges to revenue as assets are used 
by the Authority, the expenditure results in an increase in the Capital Finance 
Requirement (CFR), a measure of the capital expenditure incurred historically by the 
authority that has yet to be financed.  The CFR is analysed in the second part of this 
note.  

  

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

2020/21 2019/20
£’000 £’000

Opening Capital Financing Requirement 421,519 285,418

Capital investment  
PPE 5,976 6,452
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute 211,070 223,255
Loan Expenditure 4,024 12,837

Sources of Finance  
Government grants and other contributions (174,097) (88,192)
Direct revenue contributions (5,788) (5,430)
Minimum Revenue Provision (7,568) (8,014)
Use of Reserves (4,840) (4,807)

Closing Capital Financing Requirement 450,296 421,519

Explanation of movements in year:  
Increase/(decrease)  in underlying need to borrow 28,777 136,101
Increase/(decrease)  in Capital Financing Requirement 28,777 136,101

Page 314



 
 
 

119 

 

 

17.  Long Term Debtors 
 

  
 
The loan made to Merseytravel to fund the acquisition of the Beatles Story is repayable 
in annual instalments and will expire in 2032/33.  Principal repayments in 2020/21 were 
£170k (£162k 2019/20).  The loan is extinguished on consolidation into the group 
position. 

 
18. Short Term Debtors 
 

  
   
19. Short Term Creditors 
 

 
  

£92.365m 2020/21, (£83.861m 2019/20), is held by LCRCA and invested on behalf of 
the Merseytravel Group.  This is included within the analysis above in other payables 
and is further disclosed in note 22. 

 
20.  Provisions 
  

 

As at 31 
March 
2020 

Expenditure 
charged to 
provision in 

year 

Increase/ 
(decrease) 

in 
provision 

As at 31 
March 
2021 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Employment Related Provision  (39) 0 39  (0) 
Contractual Provisions  (136) 0 0  (136) 
Government Initiatives  (200) 0 0  (200) 
Capital Expenditure  (909) 0 0  (909) 

Total  (1,284) 0 39  (1,246) 

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

2,747
Loan to Merseytravel for acquisition of the Beatles 
Story 

2,569

34,972 Chrysalis      34,972 
7,627 Other Debtors 38,230

45,346 Balance as at 31 March 75,771

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

11 Trade Receivables 177
66 Prepayments 175

8,813 Other 12,976
8,891 Balance as at 31 March 13,328

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

(10) Trade Payables (976)
(141,614) Other Payables (167,357)
(141,624) Balance as at 31 March (168,333)

Page 315



 
 
 

120 

 

 

Employment related provisions relate to pension obligations and provisions arising 
from job evaluation/ employment harmonisation. 
 
Contractual provisions relate to insurance claims. 
 
Government initiatives relate to the purchase of carbon credits. 
 
Capital expenditure provision relates to possible clawback of ERDF grant.  
 
Provisions have been analysed by management between those likely to be settled in 
less than one year and those that have a longer duration.  The table below provides 
an analysis of the closing balances between long and short term provisions.  
 

 
 
21. Leases 
 
 Authority as Lessee 
 

2019/20  2020/21 

£’000 £’000 

3,540 Not later than one year 3,566 

14,160 Between one and five years 14,263 

60,180 Over five years 57,051 

77,880 Total 74,880 
 

The expenditure charged in the comprehensive income and expenditure statement 
during the year in relation to these leases was: 

 

 
 
Authority as Lessor 

 

 

As at 31 March 
2020

As at 31 March 
2021

£’000 £’000
Short Term Provisions  (238)  (200)
Long Term Provisions  (1,046)  (1,046)
Total  (1,284)  (1,246)

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

3,540 Minimum lease payments 3,566
(1,086) Sublease payments receivable (722)

2,453 Total 2,844

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

(1,119) Not later than one year (1,119)
(4,280) Between one and five years (3,691)
(1,736) Over five years (1,654)
(7,135) Total (6,464)

Page 316



 
 
 

121 

 

 

22.  Financial Instruments 

Categories of Financial Instruments 
 

 
 
Income and Expenses through the CIES 

 

 
 
 
 

Current Non Current Current Non Current

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Financial Assets at 
Amortised Cost:

           216,703 0 Investments            235,228 0
8,824              45,346 Debtors              13,153 75,771

54,564 0 Cash & Cash Equivalents              98,360 0

280,092 45,346 Total Financial Assets 346,741 75,771

Financial Liabilities at 
Amortised Cost:

(16,910) (340,576) Borrowing (16,965) (323,612)

(83,861) 0
Amounts due to Merseytravel 
Group

(92,365)

(57,764) (6,300) Creditors (75,968) (6,000)

(158,535) (346,876) Total Financial Liabilities (185,298) (329,612)

Income & Expense through the CIES

Financial 
Liabilities

Financial 
Assets

Financial 
Liabilities

Financial 
Assets

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
10,520 0 Interest Expense 11,985 0

0 (2,543) Interest Income 0 (2,678)

10,520 (2,543)
Net (Income)/Expense for 
the Year

11,985 (2,678)

31 March 2020 Restated 31 March 2021

31 March 2020 31 March 2021

Financial 
Liabilities

Financial 
Assets

Financial 
Liabilities

Financial 
Assets

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
10,520 0 Interest Expense 11,985 0

0 (2,543) Interest Income 0 (2,678)

10,520 (2,543)
Net (Income)/Expense for 
the Year

11,985 (2,678)

31 March 2020 31 March 2021

Page 317



 
 
 

122 

 

 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

 
 
Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities 

 

 
 

Note 24 to the group accounts provides a detailed analysis of loans outstanding and 
the nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments. The 2019/20 
disclosure of amounts due to Merseytravel Group has been restated to reflect balances 
held with all group companies.  This restatement has not impacted upon the total 
financial liabilities previously reported. 

 
23. Long Term Liabilities 
 

 
 
24. Contingent Assets and Liabilities 
 
 The Authority has no contingent assets and liabilities. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

29,377 72,183

25,187 26,177
54,564 98,360

Short Term Deposits with Banks and Building Societies
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and Bank Current Account

Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Financial Assets
216,703 216,896 Short term investments 235,228 235,260
54,564 54,564 Cash and cash equivalents 98,360 98,360

Financial Liabilities
 (156,872)  (219,281) PWLB Debt  (148,480)  (221,068)
 (13,730)  (14,999) Wirral MBC  (11,442)  (10,236)

 (186,885)  (165,997) EIB Debt  (180,656)  (161,625)

 (83,861)  (83,861) Amounts due to Merseytravel  (92,365)  (92,365)

31 March 2020 31 March 2021

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

(4,628)  (7,345)
(6,300)  (6,000)

(10,928)  (13,345)

Pension Liability
Lease incentive
Balance as at 31 March

Page 318



 
 
 

123 

 

 

25. Cashflow Statement 
 
 Cash Flow Statement Operating Activities 
 
 The cash flows for operating activities include the following items: 

  
 

The surplus or deficit on provision of services has been adjusted for the following 
non-cash movements and investing activities which are reported in the following 
notes: 

 

  
 

Cash Flow Statement Investing Activities 
 

 
 
Cash Flow Statement Financing Activities 
 

2019/20  2020/21 
£’000 £’000 
 190,000  Cash receipt of long term borrowing 0 
(13,744) Repayment of short and long term borrowing  (16,909) 
176,256 Total (16,909) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

(2,220) Interest Received (1,133)
14,336 Interest Paid 11,985

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

9,477 Depreciation, amortisation and revaluation losses 10,060

62,006
Increase/(decrease) in creditors, provisions and 
pension liability

150,909

6,112 (Increase)/decrease in debtors (4,205)
448 (Increase)/decrease in inventories 62

0
Other non-cash items charged to the net surplus on 
the provision of services

0

78,043 Total 156,826

2019/20 2020/21
£’000 £’000

(6,493)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets

 (5,976)

(91,345) Purchases and proceeds of short term investments  (18,525)
(6,166) Other receipts/payments from investing activities  (30,569)

(104,004) Total (55,070)

Page 319



 
 
 

124 

 

 

 
 

 GLOSSARY OF FINANCIAL TERMS 

 
Accounting Policies 
Those specific principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices applied that specify how the 
effects of transactions and other events are to be reflected in the financial statements. 
 
Accruals 
The concept that income and expenditure are recognised as they are earned or incurred, not 
as money is received or paid. 
 
Agent/Agency 
Where the organisation is acting as an intermediary, as opposed to on its own behalf. 
 
Amortisation 
The accounting technique of recognising a cost or item of income in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement or the Movement in Reserves Statement over a period of 
years rather than when the initial payment is made. 
Its purpose is to charge/credit the cost/income over the accounting periods that gain benefit 
for the respective item. 
The technique is supported by relevant accounting policies and practices. 
 
Amortised Cost 
A method of determining the Balance Sheet carrying amount and periodic charges to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement of a financial instrument based on the 
expected cash flows of that instrument. 
 
Capital Expenditure 
Expenditure on the acquisition or enhancement of a non-current asset or capital advances 
and loans to other individuals or other third parties. 
 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 
Introduced as a result of the Prudential Framework for Capital Accounting and measures the 
underlying need of the organisation to borrow for expenditure of a capital nature. 
 
Capital Receipts 
The proceeds from the sale of capital assets or repayment of capital advances. 
 
Carrying Amount 
The amount at which an asset is recognised after deducting any accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses. 
 
Cash Equivalents 
Short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 
which are subject to insignificant changes in value. 
 
Cash Flows 
Inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents. 
 
 
 

Page 320



 
 
 

125 

 

 

 
Community Assets 
Assets that the Authority intends to hold in perpetuity, that have no determinable useful life 
and that may have restrictions on their disposal.  Examples include parks and public open 
spaces. 
 
Contingent Asset 
An asset arising from past events where its existence can only be confirmed by one or more 
uncertain events not wholly within the control of the organisation. 
 
Contingent Liability 
A condition which exists at the balance sheet date, where the outcome will be confirmed only 
on the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events.  Where a 
material loss can be estimated with reasonable accuracy a contingent liability is accrued in 
the financial statements.  If, however, a loss cannot be accurately estimated or the event is 
not considered sufficiently certain, it will be disclosed in a note to the balance sheet. 
 
Creditors 
Financial liabilities arising from the contractual obligation to pay cash in the future for goods 
or services or other benefits that have been received or supplied. 
 
Credit Risk 
The possibility that one party to a financial instrument will fail to meet their contractual 
obligations, causing a loss to the other party. 
 
Current Replacement Cost 
The cost the organisation would incur to acquire the asset on the reporting date. 
 
Current Service Cost (Pensions) 
The increase in the present value of liabilities resulting from employee service in the period. 
 
Curtailment (Pensions) 
An event that reduces the expected years of future service of present employees or reduces 
for a number of employees the accrual of defined benefits for some or all of their future service.  
Curtailments include: 
 
(i)  termination of employees services earlier than expected, for example as a result of 

closing or discontinuing a segment of a business; and 
(ii)  termination of, or amendment to the terms of, a defined benefit plan so that some or 

all future service by current employees will no longer qualify for benefits or will qualify 
only for reduced benefits. 

 
Debtors 
Financial assets arising from the obligation to a future cash receipt for goods or services or 
other benefits that have been delivered or provided. 
 
Defined Benefit Plan 
A pension or other retirement benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan.  Usually, the 
plan rules define the benefits independently of the contributions payable, and the benefits are 
not directly related to the investments of the plan.  The plan may be funded or un-funded 
(including notionally funded). 
 
 

Page 321



 
 
 

126 

 

 

 
Depreciated Replacement Cost (DRC) 
A method of valuation which provides the current cost of replacing an asset with its modern 
equivalent less deductions for all physical deterioration and all relevant forms of obsolescence. 
 
Depreciation 
The measure of the wearing out, consumption or other reduction in the useful life of a non-
current asset over its useful economic life. 
 
Discretionary Benefits 
Retirement benefits which the employer has no legal, contractual or constructive obligation to 
award and which are awarded under the organisation's discretionary powers. 
 
Existing Use Value (EUV) 
The estimated amount for which a property should exchange on the date of valuation between 
a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arms-length transaction after proper marketing wherein 
the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion assuming that 
the buyer is granted vacant possession of all parts of the property and disregarding potential 
alternative uses and any other characteristics that would cause its market value to differ from 
that needed to replace the remaining service potential at least cost. 
 
Fair Value 
The fair value of an asset is the price at which it could be exchanged in an arm's length 
transaction, less, where applicable, any grants receivable towards the purchase or use of the 
asset. 
 
Financial Instrument 
A contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another.  The term covers both financial assets and financial liabilities and 
includes both the most straightforward financial assets such as trade receivables (debtors) 
and trade payables (creditors) and the most complex ones such as derivatives. 
 
Typical financial instruments are:- 
 
(i) Liabilities 

 Trade payables 
 Borrowings 
 Financial Guarantees 

(ii) Assets 
 Bank deposits 
 Trade receivables 
 Loans receivable 
 Investments 

 
Finance Lease 
A lease that transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of a non-current 
asset to the lessee, with the asset then recognised the lessee’s Balance Sheet. 
 
Financing Activities 
Activities that result in changes to the size and composition of the principal, received from or 
repaid to external providers of finance. 
 
 

Page 322



 
 
 

127 

 

 

 
Going Concern 
An assumption that the functions of the Authority will continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. 
 
Government Grants and Contributions 
Assistance in the form of cash or transfers of resources to an Authority in return for past or 
future compliance with certain conditions relating to the operation of activities of the Authority. 
 
Heritage Assets 
The Heritage Assets are assets that are held by the organisation principally for their 
contribution to knowledge, understanding and appreciation of the Authority’s history and/or 
culture. 
 
Historical Cost 
Deemed to be the carrying amount of an asset as at 1 April 2007 or at the date of acquisition, 
whichever date is the later, and adjusted for subsequent depreciation or impairment (if 
applicable). 
 
IAS19 
This International Accounting Standard (IAS) is based on the principle that an organisation 
should account for retirement benefits when it is committed to give them, even if the actual 
giving will be many years into the future. 
 
Impairment 
A reduction in the value of a non-current asset below its carrying amount on the balance sheet. 
 
Infrastructure Assets 
A class of non-current assets that are inalienable.  Examples of infrastructure assets are 
bridges, roads and footpaths. 
 
Intangible Fixed Asset 
"Non-financial" fixed assets that do not have physical substance but are identifiable and are 
controlled by the organisation through custody or legal rights e.g. software licences. 
 
Interest on Plan Assets (Pensions) 
The annual investment return on the fund assets based on an average of the expected long-
term return. 
 
Interest on Plan Liabilities (Pensions) 
The expected increase during the period in the present value of liabilities as the benefits move 
one year closer to being paid. 
 
Inventories 
The amount of unused or unconsumed stocks held in expectation of future use or resale. 
 
Investing Activities 
The acquisition and disposal of long-term assets and other investments not included in cash 
equivalents. 
 
Liquidity Risk 
The possibility that one party will be unable to raise funds to meet its commitments associated 
with financial instruments. 

Page 323



 
 
 

128 

 

 

 
Market Risk 
The possibility that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
interest rates, market prices, foreign currency exchange rates, etc. 
 
Market Value 
The estimated amount for which a property should exchange on the date of valuation between 
a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arms-length transaction after proper marketing wherein 
the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion. 
 
Material/Materiality 
Omissions or mis-statements are material if they could, individually or collectively, influence 
the decisions or assessments of users made on the basis of the financial statements.  
Materiality depends on the size of the omission or mis-statement judged in the surrounding 
circumstances.  The nature or size of the item, or a combination of both, could be the 
determining factor. 
 
Net Book Value 
The amount at which fixed assets are included in the balance sheet, i.e. their historical cost or 
current value less the cumulative amount provided for depreciation. 
 
Net Realisable Value 
The open market value of the asset in its existing use (or open market value in the case of 
non-operational assets), less the expenses to be incurred in realising the asset. 
 
Non-Current Assets 
Assets that yield benefits to the Authority and the services it provides for a period of more than 
one year. 
 
Non-Operational Assets 
Non-current assets held by an Authority but not directly occupied, used or consumed in the 
delivery of services, or for the service or strategic objectives of the Authority. 
 
Operating Activities 
Activities of the Authority that are not investing or financing activities. 
 
Operating Leases 
A lease that does not transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of a non-
current asset to the lessee.  The asset is recognised on the lessor’s Balance Sheet.  
Expenditure financed by operating leasing does not count against capital allocations. 
 
Past Service Cost/Gain (Pensions) 
The increase or reduction in the present value of liabilities arising from decisions in the period 
whose effect relates to years of service earned in earlier periods. 
 
Plan Liabilities (Or Plan Defined Benefit Obligations) 
The liabilities of a defined benefit plan for outgoings due after the valuation date.  Plan liabilities 
measured using the projected unit credit method reflect the benefits that the employer is 
committed to provide for service up to the valuation date. 
 
Price Risk 
The risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in market 
prices. 

Page 324



 
 
 

129 

 

 

 
 
Projected Unit Credit (Actuarial Cost) Method 
An accrued benefits valuation method in which the plan’s liabilities make allowance for 
projected earnings.  An accrued benefits valuation method is a valuation method in which the 
plan liabilities at the valuation date relate to:- 
 
(i)  the benefits for pensioners and deferred pensioners (i.e. individuals who have ceased 

to be active members but are entitled to benefits payable at a later date) and their 
dependants, allowing where appropriate for future increases; and 

(ii)  the accrued benefits for members in service on the valuation date. 
 
The accrued benefits are the benefits for service up to a given point in time, whether vested 
rights or not.  Guidance on the method is given in the Guidance Note GN26 issued by the 
Faculty and Institute of Actuaries.  Under this method, the current service cost will increase as 
members of the plan approach retirement. 
 
Provisions 
A liability of uncertain timing or amount. 
 
REFCUS (Revenue Expenditure Financed From Capital Under Statute) 
Expenditure that is classified as revenue in accordance with proper accounting practices, but 
which statute determines may be financed by Capital sources of funding. 
 
Related Parties 
Related parties are those individuals and entities that the Council either has the potential to 
influence or control (or be influenced or controlled by).  Related include central government, 
other bodies, its members and its chief officers. 
 
Related Party Transaction 
A related party transaction is the transfer of assets or liabilities or the performance of services 
by, to or for a related party irrespective of whether a charge is made.  Related party 
transactions include the provision of services to a related party. 
 
The materiality of related party transactions should be judged not only in terms of their 
significance to the authority, but also in relation to its related party. 
 
Re-Measurement (Pensions) 
The changes in estimated assets and liabilities, assessed by the actuary and arising because: 
 
(i)  events have not coincided with the actuarial assumptions made for the last valuation 

(experience gains and losses); or 
(ii)  the actuarial assumptions have changed. 
 
Remuneration 
The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require the disclosure of amounts paid to Officers 
and define remuneration as:- 
 
‘……..all amounts paid to or receivable by a person, and includes sums due by way of expense 
allowance (so far as those sums are chargeable to United Kingdom income tax), and the 
estimated money value of any other benefits received by an employee otherwise than in cash.’ 
 
 

Page 325



 
 
 

130 

 

 

 
 
Retirement Benefits 
All forms of consideration given by an employer in exchange for services rendered by 
employees that are payable after the completion of employment.  Retirement benefits do not 
include termination benefits payable as a result of either:- 
 
(i)  an employer's decision to terminate an employee's employment before the normal 

retirement date; or 
(ii)  an employee's decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits, 

because these are not given in exchange for services rendered by employees. 
 
Revenue Expenditure 
This is money spent on the day-to-day running costs of providing services and includes 
salaries, goods and services. 
 
It is usually of a constantly recurring nature and produces no permanent asset. 
 
Senior Employees 
Senior employees are defined under the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, however 
within Liverpool City Region Combined Authority this is deemed to be the Statutory Post 
holders and Directors. 
 
Settlement (Pensions) 
An irrevocable action that relieves the employer of the primary responsibility for a pension 
obligation and eliminates significant risks relating to the obligation and the assets used to 
effect the settlement.  Settlement includes the transfer of scheme assets and liabilities relating 
to a group of employees leaving the Authority's scheme. 
 
Termination Benefits 
Amounts payable as a result of either: 
 
(i)  an employer’s decision to terminate an employee’s employment before the normal 

retirement date; or 
(ii)  an employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits. 
 
Useful Life 
The period over which the Authority will derive benefits from the use of a non-current asset. 
 

Page 326


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of the Last Meeting
	6 Cycle of Meetings and Forward Plan 2021-22
	Work Programme

	7 Insurance Claims Review
	8 Internal Audit Update
	Enc. 1 for Internal Audit Update

	9 Risk Management Update
	Enc. 1 for Risk Management Update
	Enc. 2 for Risk Management Update

	10 Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2020-21
	Enc. 1 for Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2020-21

	11 Code of Corporate Governance
	Enc. 1 for Code of Corporate Governance

	12 LCR Combined Authority External Audit 2020-21 Audit Strategy
	LCRCA Audit Strategy Memorandum 2020-21

	13 LCRCA Statement of Accounts 2020/21
	Enc. 1 for LCRCA Statement of Accounts 2020/21


